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a€cewould,a€ a€mexpects,a€a€ceplans,a€ a€oeanticipates,a€ a€mebelieves,a€ d€eestimates,a€ a€ceprojects,a€
d€cepredicts,a€a€cepotential, 4€ or the negative of those terms, and similar expressions and comparable terminology
intended to identify forward-lookingstatements. These statements reflect the Companya€™s current views with respect
to future events and are based on assumptions andsubject to risks and uncertainties including those set forth below and
under Part I, Item 1A, a€ceRisk Factorsa€ in this AnnualReport on Form 10-K. Given these uncertainties, you should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These forward-lookingstatements represent the
Companya€™s estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, exceptas
required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or review publicly any forward-looking statements,
whether as a resultof new information, future events or otherwise after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
You should read this Annual Reporton Form 10-K and the documents referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
and filed as exhibits completely and with the understandingthat the Companya€™s actual future results may be
materially different from what the Company expects. The Company qualifies all ofits forward-looking statements by
these cautionary statements. Such statements may include, but are not limited to, statements concerningthe
following:A A—our lack of operating history and history of operating losses;A A—our need for significant additional
capital and our ability to satisfy our capital needs;A 4—our ability to complete required clinical trials of our products
and obtain approval from the FDA or other regulatory agencies in differentjurisdictions;A 4— our ability to maintain the
listingof our common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market;A &—our ability to maintain or protect the validity of our
patents and other intellectual property;A a—our ability to retain key executive members;A 4—our ability to internally
develop new inventions and intellectual property;A A—interpretations of current laws and the passages of future
laws;A 4—acceptance of our business model by investors;A &— The emergence and effectof competing or
complementary products, including the ability of our future products to compete effectively;A a—the accuracy of our
estimates regarding expenses and capital requirements; andA A—our ability to adequately support growth.A 3 A

A PARTIA Item1. Business.A OverviewA SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (A€cewe,a€ a€ceus,a€ 4€ceour,a€ or the
d€ceCompanya€), is a clinical stage,oncology-focused biotechnology company with a proprietary platform for innovating
biologic medicines of single- or bifunctional action.Known as FHABA® (Fully Human Albumin Binding), the technology
utilizes a fully human single chain antibody fragmentthat binds to and a€oehitch-hikesa€ on human serum albumin
(HSA) for transport to target tissues. We designed the FHABconstruct to improve drug accumulation in tumors, as well
as to extend the duration of activity in the body. FHAB developmentcandidates are produced in a mammalian cell
culture, which enables glycosylation and a biological structure similar to the natural cytokinesin vivo. We believe our
FHAB technology, for which we received a U.S. patent in June 2021, is a distinguishing featureof our biopharmaceutical
platform that is well suited for future drug development across a range of human disease areas, including
oncology,autoimmune, pathogenic, inflammatory, and hematological conditions.A Ourcurrent internal pipeline
development activities are focused on cytokines, a class of cell signaling proteins that, among other importantfunctions,
serve as potent immunomodulatory agents. Working both independently and synergistically, specific cytokines have
shown theability to modulate the activation and maturation of immune cells that fight cancer and pathogens. However,
cytokines on their own donot preferentially accumulate in specific tissues and are quickly eliminated from the body. The
conventional approach to achieving atreatment effect with cytokine therapy typically requires the administration of
high and frequent doses. This can result in a reducedtreatment effect accompanied by the potential for systemic
toxicity, which poses challenges to the therapeutic application of this classof drugs.A Wehave built an efficient R&D
platform that includes a network of outsourced vendors to help remediate expenses and improve executiontimelines.
Most of the vendors are strategic collaborators that offer us a preferred status with negotiated costs. The major
advantagesof this approach include optimized direct investment into projects with expenses that can be rapidly scaled
up or down depending on thenumber of projects. The cost advantages of our platform start at the vendor network
selection process, with CMC being one of the mostexpensive components of the initial drug development step. We have
chosen a strategic CMC collaborator in India and has negotiated thecost to be significantly less than the expense
incurred from a similar US- or Europe-based vendor. We are conducting two of our threeongoing clinical trials in
Australia, which carries a substantial cost reduction relative to US trials via the Australian governmenta€™ sR&D tax
credit program. We are also coordinating the Indian and Australian execution with top R&D vendors from the US,
England,Germany, and Switzerland, with the objective of directing the bulk of our operating expense infrastructure
towards our drug developmentpipeline.A 4 A A PipelineA Wehave a pipeline of therapeutic compounds focused
primarily on oncology indications of high unmet medical need.A A 4— Our lead proprietary asset, SON-1010, is a fully



human single-chain version of Interleukin 12 (IL-12), covalently linked to the FHAB construct, for which we are
pursuing clinical development in solid tumors. We have completed a non-human primate (NHP) toxicity study,
conducted under current Good Laboratory Practices (cGLP), and have successfully manufactured both liquid and
lyophilized forms of the drug product for clinical use. In March 2022, the FDA cleared our Investigational New Drug
(IND) application for SON-1010. This allowed us to initiate a U.S. clinical trial (SB101) in oncology patients with solid
tumors during the second calendar quarter of 2022. In September 2021, we created a wholly-owned Australian
subsidiary, SonnetBio Pty Ltd (a&€ceSubsidiarya€), for the purpose of conducting certain clinical trials. We received
approval and initiated a clinical study (SB102) of SON-1010 in Australian healthy volunteers during the third calendar
quarter of 2022. Interim safety and tolerability data from the SB101 and SB102 studies were reported in April 2023 and
the data from SB102 was published in February 2024. We announced the topline safety data from SB101 and
completion of dose escalation in December 2024, establishing the MTD as 1200 ng/kg. Clinical benefit, defined as stable
disease for at least 4 months, was seen in 48% of the patients, including one who had a partial response to SON-1010 at
the highest dose. In January 2023, we announced a collaboration agreement with Roche for the clinical evaluation of
SON-1010 with atezolizumab (TecentrigA®). We have entered into a Master Clinical Trial and Supply Agreement
(MCSA) with Roche, along with ancillary Quality and Safety Agreements, to study the safety and efficacy of the
combination of SON-1010 and atezolizumab in a platinum-resistant ovarian cancer (PROC) patient setting. Further, we
and Roche will provide SON-1010 and atezolizumab, respectively, for use in the Phase 1b/ 2a combination safety, dose-
escalation, and efficacy study (SB221). That trial consists of a modified 3+3 dose-escalation design in Part 1 to establish
the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of SON-1010 with a fixed dose of atezolizumab. Clinical benefit in PROC will be
confirmed in an expansion group to establish the recommended Phase 2 dose (RP2D). Part 2 of the study will then
investigate SON-1010 monotherapy or its use in combination with atezolizumab with the standard of care (SOC) for
PROC in a randomized comparison to show proof-of-concept (POC). As part of our ongoing cost-cutting evaluations, all
antiviral development with SON-1010 has been suspended. On September 18, 2024, we announced the completion of
enrollment and initiation of dosing in our Phase 1 SB101 clinical trial of SON-1010 in adult patients with advanced solid
tumors. We expect to report topline efficacy data from this study in the first half of calendar year 2025. SB101 is our
open-label, adaptive-design dose-escalation study to assess the safety, tolerability, and PK/PD of SON-1010
administered to patients with advanced solid tumors. The study enrolled 24 subjects. Primary outcome measures for the
study are to evaluate the safety and tolerability of SON-1010 and establish the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of SON-
1010. A A 34— We acquired the global development rights to a fully human version of Interleukin 6 (IL-6), in April 2020.
We refer to this candidate as SON-080, for its target indications of Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy
(CIPN) and Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy (DPN). Our CIPN Phase 1b/2a clinical trial, SB211, was started in October
2022 but has been terminated. Enrollment of the first portion of SB211 study was completed, which allowed the DSMB
to complete its review of the preliminary safety data during the first calendar quarter of 2024. In May 2021, we entered
into a license agreement with New Life Therapeutics Pte., Ltd (3€eNew Lifea€) of Singapore (the a€eNew Life
Agreementa€), pursuant to which we agreed to be jointly responsible with New Life for developing SON-080 in DPN
with the objective of evaluating an ex-US pilot efficacy study after analyzing the CIPN safety data. On December 2,
2024, New Life provided written notice to us of New Lifea€™s intention to exercise its Give Back Option (as defined
herein) under the New Life Agreement, subject to the negotiation and mutual agreement of the terms of such Give Back
Option by us and New Life. We were informed by New Life that is has elected to move its business in a different
direction. In addition, on October 8, 2024, we signed a licensing agreement with an India-based company, Alkem
Laboratories Limited (a€ceAlkema€), providing it with the right to develop and commercialize SON-080 in DPN and/or
CIPN in India (the 4€oeAlkem Agreementd€). A A A A 4&— SON-1210 (IL12-FHAB-IL15), our lead bifunctional
compound, combines the FHAB construct with single-chain IL-12 and fully human Interleukin 15 (IL-15). This compound
is being developed for solid tumor indications, including colorectal cancer. In February 2023, we announced the
successful completion of two IND-enabling toxicology studies with SON-1210 in NHPs. In August 2024, we announced a
clinical collaboration agreement to commence an investigator-initiated and funded Phase 1/2a study of SON-1210 in
combination with chemotherapy for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. We are prepared to initiate commercial
development of SON-1210, pending the outcome of any partnering activity. A Inour discovery pipeline, we are
investigating:A A 4— SON-1400 (IL18BPR-FHAB) and SON-1411 (IL18BPR-FHAB-IL12). On June 13, 2024, we
announced the generation and in vitro characterization of two novel drug candidates, SON-1411 (IL18BPR-FHAB-IL12)
and SON-1400 (IL18BPR-FHAB), each containing a modified version of recombinant human interleukin-18 (IL-18BPR)
linked to the FHAB. SON-1411 is a proprietary bifunctional fusion protein consisting of IL-18 BPR combined with single-
chain wild-type IL-12, linked to our FHAB platform, which will replace SON-1410 as a development target. SON-1400 is
a monofunctional fusion protein comprising the same IL-18BPR domain linked to the FHAB. IL-18 can regulate both
innate and adaptive immune responses through its effects on natural killer (NK) cells, monocytes, dendritic cells, T
cells, and B cells. IL-18 acts synergistically with other pro-inflammatory cytokines to promote interferon-i3 (IFN-3)
production by NK cells and T cells. Systemic administration of IL-18 has been shown to have anti-tumor activity in
several animal models. Moreover, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) express more IL-18 receptors than other T cells.
However, IL-18 clinical trials have shown that, although it is well tolerated, IL-18 has poor efficacy in the treatment of
cancers, most likely due in large part to the high co-expression of IL-18 binding protein (IL-18BP) in the TME. In
particular, IL-18BP serves as a a€cedecoy receptora€ that binds to IL-18 with higher affinity, compared with the IL-
18Rc complex, thereby causing a negative feedback loop with IL-18 and inhibiting IL-18-mediated TIL activation. Thus,
there exists a potential for the discovery of IL-18 variant compositions that could harness the therapeutic potential of
IL-18 for the treatment of cancers. Our strategy for amino acid modifications to rIL-18 was based on a compilation of
literature review, 3D X-ray crystallography structures, and computer modeling analysis. Subsequently, certain IL-18
variant sequences were synthesized, engineered into expression constructs and manufactured at small scale in either
CHO cell culture or E. coli. Highly purified milligram quantities of SON-1411 or SON-1400 were analyzed in vitro for IL-
18Rc or IL-18BP binding activities, respectively, using the HEK-Bluea, ¢ and Bright-Glo Luciferaseda, ¢ IL-18Rc reporter
assays. In vitro results for at least one variant of IL-18 showed equivalent binding to the IL-18 Rc, compared to the wild-
type IL-18 reference molecule, concomitant with no or reduced binding to IL-18BP. A 5A A A 4— SON-3015 (anti-IL6-
FHAB-anti-TGFi?), a bifunctional combination of anti-I1.6 and anti-Tumor Growth Factor beta (TGFi?) was being
developed for tumor and bone metastases. The early-stage bifunctional drug has been generated and has been stored
for future use with in vivo mouse studies. We elected to place the SON-3015 development program on hold for expense
reduction purposes. A Weface numerous challenges and uncertainties with respect to the development and
commercialization of our therapeutic compounds, includingour FHAB technology. Please see d€eRisk Factorsa€



contained elsewhere in this prospectus, and the sections entitleda€ceRisk Factorsa€ in the documents incorporated by
reference into this prospectus.A LeadClinical Programs UpdateA SON-1010:Targeted Immune Activation Cancer
Therapy, Turning 4€~Colda€™ Tumors &€ Hota€™, Initially Targeting Solid Tumors andPROCA Phase1 Trial (SB101
Trial): Advanced Solid Tumors (Monotherapy)A Thisfirst-in-human study is primarily designed to evaluate the safety,
tolerability, PK, and PD of multiple ascending doses of SON-1010in cancer patients and is being conducted at several
sites across the United States. We recently completed enrollment and dose escalationin the Phase 1 SB101 clinical trial
of SON-1010 (IL12-FHAB) in adult patients with advanced solid tumors. We reported that resultsof SON-1010 at the
highest dose have been formally evaluated by the Safety Review Committee. We also announced topline safety dataand
the completion of dose escalation in December 2024, establishing the MTD as 1200 ng/kg. Clinical benefit, defined as
stabledisease for at least 4 months, was seen in 48% of the patients, including one who had a partial response to SON-
1010 at the highest dose.A Phaselb/2a Trial (SB221 Trial): Advanced Solid Tumors and PROC (Combo with
Atezolizumab)A Thesecond trial is a global Phase 1b/2a multicenter, dose-escalation and randomized proof-of-concept
study to assess the safety, tolerability,PK, PD, and efficacy of SON-1010 administered subcutaneously (SC), either alone
or in combination with atezolizumab given intravenously(IV) (in collaboration with Genentech, a member of the Roche
Group). This study was recently expanded to include the MTD of SON-1010from SB101. Enrollment remains ongoing
and an update on safety at the MTD in that trial is expected in Q1 2025.A ProgramHighlights:A A a— PK data reveals
about 10-fold extended half-life for SON-1010 compared with rhIL-12 and suggests tumor targeting by the FHAB. A a—
Dose-related IFNI3 response. A &— The SON-1010 trials have collectively enrolled 70 subjects, with 10 of 21 patients
(48%) with cancer suggesting clinical benefit of SON-1010 monotherapy (Stable Disease at 4 months). One patient had
a partial response to SON-1010 at the highest dose. A 4— Patients have received up to 25 cycles of SON-1010 as
monotherapy and up to 10 cycles of SON-1010 with atezolizumab (TecentrigA®) without dose-limiting toxicity at any
dose level. A 4— Toxicity is minimized in both trials with the use of a 4€~desensitizingd€™ first dose that takes
advantage of the known tachyphylaxis with rhIL-12, which allows higher maintenance doses and potential
improvements in efficacy. A 4&— Favorable safety profile. A 4— Dose escalation has been completed and the MTD
established at 1200 ng/kg. A UpcomingMilestones:A A 4— Phase 1: Solid Tumors (Monotherapy) A A 4—< H1 calendar
year 2025: Topline Efficacy Data A A 4— Phase 1b/2a: PROC (Combo with Atezolizumab) A A 4—< Q1 calendar year
2025: Additional Safety Data A 4—< H2 calendar year 2025: RP2D & Topline Efficacy Data A SON-080:Low dose of
rhIL-6 for CIPN and DPNA Phaselb/2a Trial (SB211 Trial): CIPNA TheSB211 study is a double-blind, randomized,
controlled trial of SON-080 conducted at two sites in Australia in patients with persistentCIPN using a new proprietary
version of recombinant human Interleukin-6 (rhIL-6) that builds upon previous work with atexakin alfa. Thegoal of the
Phase 1b portion of the SB211 study was to confirm safety and tolerability before continued development in Phase 2. As
previouslyannounced in March 2024, a data and safety monitoring board reviewed the unblinded safety and tolerability
of SON-080 in the first ninepatients and concluded that the symptoms were tolerable in the initial patients and the
study could proceed to Phase 2.A InOctober 2024, we entered into the Alkem Agreement with Alkem for the research,
development, manufacturing, marketing, and commercializationof our SON-080 molecule for the treatment of DPN in
India and the manufacturing, marketing, and commercialization of SON-080 for CIPNand autonomic neuropathy in
India. Alkem will conduct all clinical trials it believes appropriate to obtain regulatory approval in Indiaof SON-080 for
the treatment of DPN.A Phaselb Data Highlights:A A 4— SON-080 demonstrated to be well-tolerated at both 20 Apg
and 60 Apg/dAose, which was about 10-fold lower than the MTD for IL-6 that was established in previous clinical
evaluations. A 4a— Pain and quality of life survey results suggest the potential for rapid improvement of peripheral
neuropathy symptoms and post-dosing durability with both doses, compared to placebo controls.

A UpcomingMilestones:A A 4— Subsequent to partnership established with Alkem, preparation plans are being made
to support initiation of a Phase 2 clinical trial in DPN, a mechanistically synergistic and larger, high-value indication
with unmet medical need. A SON-1210:Proprietary, Bifunctional Version of Human Interleukins 12 (IL-12) and 15 (IL-
15), Configured Using Our FHAB Platform, inCombination with Chemotherapy for the Treatment of Advanced Solid
Tumors and Metastatic Pancreatic CancerA Aspreviously announced, we successfully completed two IND-enabling
toxicology studies of SON-1210 in non-human primates (NHPs), which demonstratedno overt toxicity in the GLP study
apart from the expected and mild, on-target changes in hematology and clinical chemistry parametersthat resolved
completely within 14 to 21 days post-dosing. A significant increase in interferon gamma (IFNI3), which was
controlledand prolonged, was noted as early as one day following administration, with no apparent increase in other
proinflammatory cytokines.IFNI3 is a well-known pharmacodynamic biomarker that is required for anti-tumor efficacy in
preclinical models. Other signs of cytokineimbalance, or uncontrolled increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines (including
TNF-I+, IL-11?, and IL-6) were notably absent fromall dose levels tested in the study.A InAugust 2024, we entered into
the Sarcoma Agreement with the Sarcoma Oncology Center to conduct an investigator-initiated Phase 1/2a clinicalstudy
to evaluate SON-1210 in combination with several chemotherapeutic agents including but not limited to NALIRIFOX
(the combinationof liposomal irinotecan, 5-fluorouracil/leucovorin, and oxaliplatin) for the specific treatment of
metastatic pancreatic cancer. TheNALIRIFOX regimen is U.S. FDA-approved for the treatment of metastatic pancreatic
cancer in the front-line and refractory settings.A UpcomingMilestones:A A 4— Q1 calendar year 2025: IND Submission
A 4— H1 calendar year 2025: 1st Patient Dosed in Investigator-Initiated Phase 1/2a StudyA StrategyA Ourgoal is to
rapidly advance our pipeline and leverage our therapeutic FHAB platform to become a leader in the discovery,
development,and commercialization of biologic drugs. Since our founding, we have remained focused on rapidly
progressing pipeline candidates towardsthe clinic, while also working to establish collaborations with suitable partners.
As partnership conversations evolve, we intend toprioritize our expense allocation on assets with the greatest strategic
interest. To this end, we have reduced operating expenses duringfiscal year 2023 and intends to negotiate a licensing
deal that will help fund future pipeline expansion. As one example of a projectin its early stages that was announced in
October 2022, Janssena€™ s evaluation of three of our pipeline compounds, SON-1010, SON-1210and SON-1410, in
combination with its cell therapy products remains ongoing.A FHABprogram advancement: SON-1010 has entered
Phase 1b/2a clinical development to establish maximum tolerated dose (MTD) and to assessclinical benefit in platinum-
resistant ovarian cancer (PROC). Regarding our first bifunctional candidate, SON-1210, two IND-enablingtoxicology
studies in NHPs have been successfully completed and we are prepared to initiate the regulatory authorization process,
pendingthe outcome of any partnering activity.A ProgressSON-080 into the next phase of clinical development: SON-
080 is a fully human version of low dose IL-6 being studied for chemotherapy-inducedperipheral neuropathy (CIPN). IL-
6 has successfully been studied in Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials in cancer patients and we initiateda pilot efficacy
Phase 1b/2a study in CIPN patients during the second half of 2022 (SB211). The first portion of SB211 to assess
primarilythe safety of SON-080 administration was successfully completed.A Manufacturingplatform: Our compounds



are produced using an industry standard mammalian cell (Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO)) host cell line thatallows for
rapid scale-up and commercial manufacturing using state-of-the-art manufacturing processes and technologies. The
mammaliancell culture system enables glycosylation and a similar biological structure to the natural cytokines in vivo,
which reduces thechance of immunogenicity. The manufacture of cytokines for clinical applications, namely their
production and purification, poses distincttechnical challenges. To this end, we have developed a proprietary
continuous intensive perfusion manufacturing process, including aproprietary ligand for efficient down-stream
processing, as well as stable lyophilized formulations, for which we are seeking intellectualproperty protection for
certain of these manufacturing and downstream process development steps.A Regulatorystrategy: We believe that our
drug candidates are significantly differentiated from existing therapies and represent potential breakthroughsin
biopharmaceutical drug development. We will endeavor to seek breakthrough therapy designations with regulatory
agencies, which couldpotentially lead to accelerated clinical development timelines.A Pipelinelicensing opportunities:
We are pursuing partnering opportunities with leading biopharmaceutical companies for the development
andcommercialization of our pipeline assets.A FHABtechnology expansion: We are exploring FHAB technology licenses
with external partners interested in expanding its therapeuticdeployment, which we believe could lead to the
platforma€™s application in other areas, such as vaccines, antibody drug conjugates,and as a supplement to chimeric
antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell technology in vivo. As soon as supportive data are available, provisionalpatents will be
filed to secure exclusivity with FHAB in these fields.A 6 A A TheFHAB TechnologyA Ourproprietary FHAB technology
was engineered to address several important shortcomings of existing approaches to biopharmaceuticaldrug
development. We designed the FHAB domain as a plug-and-play, modular construct for innovating new chemical
entities thatis readily reconfigured for different therapeutic payloads. As is the case with all biologic drugs, dose level
and frequency of administrationare critical variables that oftentimes present barriers to the development process. After
injection, large molecule therapeutics, includingpeptides, proteins, fusion proteins, antibodies, and the like, must
remain intact and be capable of reaching their designated targetsinside the body, without exceeding specific toxicity
thresholds. Finally, they must also be produced using commercially attractive means.A Ourplatform technology was
designed to harness HSA as a therapeutic shuttling molecule. HSA is naturally present in the bloodstream andthe
predominant protein in blood plasma. Albumin is a source of energy for inflamed, hypermetabolic tissues, including
tumors. Due tothe active need for nutrients, cancer cells overexpress albumin-binding proteins such as the 4€~Secreted
Protein Acidic and Richin Cysteined€™ (SPARC) and gp60 (albondin glycoprotein).A Pursuantto a Discovery
Collaboration Agreement, dated July 23, 2012, and to an Amendment of Discovery Collaboration Agreement, dated May
7, 2019(together, the d€ceCollaboration Agreementa€), XOMA (US) LLC (4€eXOMA&€) granted us a non-exclusive,
non-transferrablelicense and/or right to use certain materials, technologies and information related to the discovery,
optimization, and development ofantibodies and related proteins and to develop and commercialize products
thereunder (each, a a€ceProducta€). The CollaborationAgreement included a license to use a fully human bacteriophage
library that was designed to generate fully human single-chain antibodyvariable fragments (scFv) comprising a full
repertoire of human heavy and light chains for use in panning biological sequences for specificfunctions. Applying
stringent criteria, we panned millions of scFv binders to HSA to generate our FHAB, which binds to HSA,a globular
protein having three major functional domains. It is known that albumin domains 1 and 3 are involved in the binding to
FcRn.This allowed us to select and characterize scFv binders that are specific to domain 2, a foundational aspect of our
FHAB platform.A Weare obligated to make contingent milestone payments to XOMA totaling $3.75 million on a Product-
by-Product basis upon the achievementof certain development and approval milestones related to a Product. To that
point, the next projected clinical development milestoneof $750K is expected to be initiation of enrollment of a Product
(i.e., SON-1010) in a Phase 2 Trial. We have also agreed to payXOMA low single-digit royalties on net sales of Products
sold by us. Royalties on each Product are payable on a country-by-country basisuntil the later of (i) twelve (12) years
after the First Commercial Sale (as defined in the Collaboration Agreement), and (ii) the dateof expiration of the last
valid claim in the last-to-expire of the issued patents covered by the Collaboration Agreement. In addition,we have the
right to reduce the rate of the royalty on a Product-by-Product basis by paying XOMA a specified amount. The
CollaborationAgreement may be terminated by either party for cause and contains customary indemnification
provisions.A OurFHAB has demonstrated a high binding affinity to serum albumin across species (human, mouse and
cynomolgus monkey), with little-to-noimmunogenicity, and retains the benefits of neonatal FcRn-mediated recycling of
albumin for extending serum half-life. Unlike monoclonalantibodies (mAbs), this binding occurs without invoking ADCC
(antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity) or CDC (complement-dependentcytotoxicity). The FHAB construct physically
binds serum albumin (Figure 1) through an ionic, hydrophobic mechanism, whichwe believe offers a distinct advantage
over technologies that rely on chemical, covalent binding. Once broken, a covalent bond cannotreform, whereas our
FHAB is designed with the ability to bind, unbind and rebind to albumin in dynamic equilibrium. As albuminalso binds
to the albumin receptors gp60 and SPARC, FHAB leverages innate biological mechanisms for targeted delivery to
andaccumulation of the therapeutic payload in the tumor microenvironment.A Preclinicalradiolabeling studies have
validated the tumor targeting attributes of the FHAB construct, where accumulation was demonstratedin tumors
compared to the same construct without FHAB, and was transient in liver, kidney, and other organs, as
expected.Importantly, radiolabeled FHAB also demonstrated measurable accumulation in the draining lymph nodes.
These findings haveimportant implications for therapeutic applications of any mono- (ILx-FHAB) or bifunctional (ILx-
FHAB-ILy) moleculesdemonstrating enhanced tumor targeting and accumulation, as well as the potential for improved
efficacy.A 7 A A Anotherunique advantage of our FHAB is its linker design (Figure 1) that is used for attaching one or
two large molecule therapeuticpayloads for single or bifunctional activity. Our G4S (glycine, serine) peptide linkers are
flexible, while being long enough to preventsteric hindrance and can assume a rod-like configuration for enhanced
penetration of tight tissue matrices. In addition to maintainingdistance between the therapeutic functional domains, our
linkers are fully human and non-immunogenic across the linker structure, includingat the payload binding region. In
bifunctional constructs, the orientation of the therapeutic payloads can be manipulated to improvepotential treatment
effects.A A Figure 1: Our FHAB bindsto a unique site on albumin without interfering with its physiologic functions.
Albumin is the most abundant protein in human serum,primarily due to binding to the FcRn, which extends the half-life.
Tumor vessels have abundant FcRn and GP60 receptors that provide targetingof the FHAB. SPARC is present in the
tumor microenvironment of many solid tumors, enhancing the retention of the FHABcomplex in the tumor.A Asa final
key design component, FHAB is produced in mammalian cell culture, specifically Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO)
cells,which enables glycosylation for reducing or potentially eliminating immunogenicity. Using CHO, we have created
several different geneticfusion constructs with various low molecular weight therapeutic proteins (e.g., recombinant
cytokines or antibodies, such as IL-12, IL-15,IL-18, anti-IL-6, and anti-TGFi2). Recombinant therapeutic proteins,



including cytokines, have shown great therapeutic potentialand are quite potent but can lack tissue specificity, which
can lead to toxicity. Due to their small size (< 50 kDa), cytokines alsosuffer from a shorter circulation half-life (minutes-
to-hours versus 21 days for albumin) compared to monoclonal antibodies. In mouseand NHP models, FHAB-derived
compounds have demonstrated substantially greater serum half-lives, improved tissue accumulation,and have marked
tumor reduction activity when compared to their respective naked recombinant cytokines.A Insummary, our FHAB
technology underpins a modular, versatile scaffold that can be customized to yield a broad array of multi-
targetedtherapeutic candidates. Relative to existing albumin binding technologies, FHAB is differentiated by possessing
a linear,rod-like shape designed for better target tissue penetration, a fully human design to reduce immunogenicity,
mammalian glycosylation,and FcRn binding for longer serum half-life. Importantly, FHAB-derived therapeutics have the
potential for targeted deliveryto tumor and lymphatic tissue, reduced toxicity, and wider therapeutic windows, with the
added benefit of utilizing a tailored single-or bifunctional mechanism of action.A 8 A A ExpandedApplications of the
FHAB Technology:A Immunotherapy:We believe that our FHAB platform can innovate biologic drugs that target specific
tissues while also increasing therapeutichalf-life. As the FHAB construct is designed to enable the simultaneous
deployment of two synergistic immunotherapy compounds,we envision a path to previously untapped
immunotherapeutic advancements.A DrugConjugation: With the FHAB technology, various drug compounds can be
linked to the FHAB scaffold in combinationsthat extend beyond our first-wave pipeline of cytokines, which presents
opportunities for development across myriad disease areas.A Vaccines:Vaccine developers are seeking to improve
vaccine efficiency by conjugating vaccines to natural carriers, such as albumin. We believethe FHAB platform, with its
modular scaffold structure, could be an efficient vehicle for delivering vaccines to lymph nodes,improving penetration
and presentation, and extending half-life.A CART-cell Therapy: CAR T-cell therapy involves genetically modifying a
patienta€™s own T cells to recognize cancer cells for moreeffectively targeting and killing tumors. We believe our
targeted constructs utilizing interleukins could be systemically co-administeredto enhance CAR T-cell

efficacy.A PipelineOverviewA Thefollowing table summarizes information about pipeline programs where we have
disclosed specific target indications:A A SON-1010A IL-12is a circulating cytokine that has been shown to exert multiple
effects on innate and adaptive immunity. These immune functions are criticalin attacking cancer cells and pathogens.
IL-12 is a heterodimeric cytokine produced by dendritic cells, monocytes, and macrophages, alsoknown as antigen
presenting cells (APCs). IL-12 has been shown to induce interferon gamma (IFN-E£) secretion by T cells and
naturalkiller (NK) cells, promote the expansion and survival of activated T and NK cells, supplement the cytolytic
activity of cytotoxic T cells,support the differentiation of Th1l helper-effector cells and enhance antibody dependent
cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). IL-12 has alsobeen shown to stimulate in vitro antitumor activity of lymphocytes from
patients with cancer and in vivo anti-tumor activityin murine tumor models of melanoma, colon carcinoma, mammary
carcinoma, and sarcoma.A PreclinicalStudies in MiceA Initially,the murine version of SON-1010 (mIL12-FHAB)
demonstrated a larger reduction of tumor growth preclinically compared to recombinantmIL-12 without FHAB
(naked/standalone IL-12) in a mouse model of melanoma. Figure 2, from this mouse melanoma study, illustratesa 30-to-
50-fold increase in tumor reduction with mIL12-FHAB compared to standalone mIL-12.A 9 A A Furthermore,in the
same model, mIL12-FHAB accumulated in tumors in higher concentrations and remained in the serum, spleen, and
tumorsignificantly longer than mIL-12 without FHAB, potentially enabling less frequent administration and at lower
doses.A A Figure2: The molar equivalent for IL-12 (0.9Apg) is IL12-FHAB (1.3 Apg) and they have similar bioactivity in
vitro; however, in vivo,IL12- FHAB is approximately 35-fold more potent than IL-12 (at day 10, 1.3Apg IL12-FHAB > IL-
12 30Ang).A Inanother preclinical study using the B16F10 tumor model, mIL12-FHAB demonstrated an improved dose
response versus recombinantmurine IL-12, along with increased survival duration (Figure 3 and Figure 4). Results from
this study suggest that mIL12-FHABmay have a greater effect on reducing tumor volume and extending survival versus
standalone mIL-12.A A Figure3: Analysis of tumor volumes shows dose-dependent decreases in tumors in both mIL-12
and mIL12-FHAB-treatedmice, as compared to vehicle control. IL12-FHAB-treated mice showed statistically significant
decreases in tumor volumes whenanalyzed against equimolar-dosed, mIL-12-treated mice. Results suggest IL-12 anti-
tumor activity is potentially enhanced withthe extension of serum half-life by FHAB linkage.A 10 A A InFigure 4, a
Kaplan-Meier analysis was performed to compare survival between animals treated with either mIL12-FHAB or mIL-
12.These data illustrate a correlation between the decrease in tumor growth (Figure 3) and an increase in survival
duration (Figure 4).In this study, the slower growth of tumors in animals treated with mIL12-FHAB correlated with a
longer survival time, as comparedto more rapid tumor growth observed with naked mIL-12 treatment. Survivability at
the lowest doses of mIL.12-FHAB (3Ang)was equivalent to the highest dose of mIL-12 (30Apg). All doses of mIL12-FHAB
showed a 50% survival increase over vehicleat 14 and 17.5 days.A A Figure4: Kaplan-Meier evaluation of mouse B16F
tumor survivability shows an increase in survival with IL.12- FHAB treatment. Doses of 10Angand 20Ang of standalone
mlL-12 exhibited 50% survival at 2 and 4 days over vehicle control (10 days). All doses of IL12- FHAB showed50%
survival over vehicle at 14 and 17.5 days. Survivability at the lowest doses of IL12- FHAB were equivalent to highest
dose standalonelL-12A NonhumanPrimate Studies of SON-1010A Wehave completed in vitro pharmacology studies of
affinity and binding kinetics that demonstrate species cross-reactivity of SON-1010in serum albumin for hamster, rat,
cynomolgus monkey and human. The results show that SON-1010 displays species specificity to cynomolgusmonkey and
human subjects, which will guide species selection for further preclinical toxicology work. A humanized mouse model
(SCID)study designed to evaluate PK/PD and dose response is completed. This work informed our decision about dosing
in a nonhuman primate (NHP)study.A InFebruary 2021, we announced the successful completion of a NHP non-GLP
repeat-dose toxicology study of SON-1010, the data from whichwere used to inform the design of the cGLP toxicity
study in preparation for IND submission. The objectives of the non-GLP study wereto evaluate the toxicity of SON-1010
in a repeat dose regimen at several dose levels and to gather critical data for the design of furtherIND-enabling safety
and toxicity studies. The study included both intravenous (IV) and SC routes of administration with a total of
twoinjections given 14 days apart. The highest dosage rate utilized in this study was greater than 50 times the
anticipated clinical levelof exposure to patients. Study results included:A A 4— Repeat dosing by IV and SC routes of
administration was tolerated at both dose levels examined. As is typically observed with IL-12 administration, the white
blood cell count dropped, and liver enzymes (ALT and AST) were elevated. These were transient effects that returned to
baseline within 7 days following the second dose. A &— SON-1010-related changes in the physiological observations,
body weight, pathology, cytokines and immunophenotyping were seen, all of which were consistent with those on-target
effects previously observed in single dose studies. A 11 A A A 4— A significant increase in IFN-I3 levels, a key
pleiotropic cytokine associated with anti-tumor activity, was observed following the initial dose of SON-1010 with lower
IFN-I3 levels observed following the second dose. This trend follows the published data from other studies of IL-12 in
both humans and NHPs. Signs of cytokine imbalance, or uncontrolled increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including



TNF-i+, IL-112, and IL-6 were notably absent from all dose levels tested in the study. A &— Pharmacokinetic analysis
indicated a mean serum half-life of approximately 40 hours in animals administered SON-1010 via SC injection. This is
consistent with data from the previously conducted dose escalation phase of the study, which demonstrates a
substantial improvement in half-life compared to the 13-19-hour half-life of naked, recombinant human IL-12. A 4—
These results build on those from the work with the B16F10 mouse model of melanoma, where the mouse version of
SON-1010 showed a 20-fold reduction in the dosage required to achieve a similar therapeutic effect compared to mouse
IL-12. Taken together, we believe the observed extended half-life, improved therapeutic window and reduced dosing
requirement, made possible by our FHAB technology, represent key advantages of SON-1010 as a potential immune
oncology therapeutic. A InMay 2021, we announced the successful completion of a cGLP repeat-dose study of SON-
1010 in NHPs. The objectives of the study were toevaluate the toxicity of SON-1010 in NHP using a subcutaneous (SC),
repeat-dose regimen at three different dose levels versus untreatedcontrols and to evaluate the potential reversibility of
any adverse findings. Study results included:A A 4— The No Observed Adverse Event Level (NOAEL) following
repeated administration in NHP was more than 50 times the anticipated equivalent human clinical dose with no
evidence of cytokine release syndrome. A &— Pharmacokinetic (PK) analysis of serum samples confirmed an enhanced
profile of IL12-FHAB over recombinant human IL-12, with a half-life around 40 hours in NHP. A 4— A significant
increase in IFN-I3, a key pleiotropic cytokine associated with anti-tumor mechanisms, was observed following dosing
with IL12-FHAB. A 4— SON-1010 related changes in clinical observations, body weight, clinical pathology, cytokines,
and immunophenotyping were seen, all of which were consistent with on-target effects previously observed in
nonhuman primates. A 4— By Day 38, all study subjects recovered to baseline (pre-study) laboratory values. A 4—
Repeat dosing administration was tolerated at all dose levels examined. A BiodistributionStudiesA InSeptember 2023,
we announced the completion of two independent in vivo proof-of-concept (POC) studies to show the biodistributionof
interleukin-FHAB molecules to the tumor microenvironment (TME), using labs with expertise in radiolabeling biologics
andin vivo biodistribution analysis. The labs employed different radiolabeling methodologies (99mTc or 89Zr)for mIL-12
and mIL12-FHAB, either with or without a polyhistidine tag (His-Tag). The two studies were completed using
theB16F10 mouse melanoma model to measure the accumulation of radiolabeled product and tumor volume inhibition
over various time points.Both studies indicated that mIL.12-FHAB had significantly higher tumor accumulation, 2.5-4.7
times higher on average at thelonger time points, and increased retention when compared to mIL-12. Accumulation was
demonstrated in tumors compared to normal mice,and was transient in liver, kidney, and other organs, as expected.
Importantly, radiolabeled mIL.12-FHAB also demonstratedmeasurable accumulation in the draining lymph nodes.
Overall, these findings have important implications for therapeutic applicationsof any mono- (ILx-FHAB) or bi-functional
(ILx-FHAB-ILy) molecules demonstrating enhanced tumor targeting and accumulation,as well as the potential for
improved efficacy that could lead to a variety of drug candidates.A ManufacturingDevelopmentA Manufacturingwork on
the master cell bank expressing SON-1010, formulation development, and process development activities have all been
completed,in addition to drug product presentation (liquid or lyophilized). Multiple cGMP drug product lots have been
successfully manufacturedand provide inventory for ongoing clinical trials.A 12 A A SON-1010in the

ClinicA Weinitiated the first-in-human (FIH), Phase 1 trial (SB101) to assess the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) for
adult patients withadvanced solid tumors and platinum-resistant ovarian cancer (PROC) in April 2022 and we presented
initial data from the study atAACR in April 2023. More patients will be enrolled in the expansion portion of the study to
confirm a recommended Phase 2 dose(RP2D). The very first patient dosed, with an aggressive endometrial sarcoma,
had substantial tumor shrinkage with completeresolution of her ascites at one point, and was clinically and
radiographically stable for nearly two years. Dosing in the first 3cohorts was initially performed every 4 weeks but was
subsequently done every 3 weeks in the latter cohorts to enhance safety athigher doses. On September 18, 2024, we
announced the completion of dose-escalation enrollment in our Phase 1 SB101 clinical trialof SON-1010 in adult
patients with advanced solid tumors. We expect to report topline efficacy data in the first half of calendar year

2025.A Westarted a single-ascending dose (SAD) Phase 1 clinical study (SB102) in Australian healthy volunteers in July
2022 to carefully studythe PK and PD without interference from the impact of chemotherapy. Data from the SB102
study were reported during the calendar firstquarter of 2023 and were published in February 2024. Typical dose-
related increases were seen with SON-1010 in the serum using a validatedelectrochemiluminescence assay (Meso Scale
Diagnostics (MSD)) after SC administration. Mean serum concentration versus time profilesfollowing the single SC
injection of SON-1010 are presented for the first week. Between the SON-1010 lowest- (50 ng/kg) and highest-(300
ng/kg) dose cohorts (a 6x escalation in dose), the serum Cmax increased by 4.5%, and the time to reach that (Tmax)was
approximately 11 h. This was associated with a corresponding 4.5A— increase in the exposure area under the
concentration timecurve (AUC) from time zero to the time of last observable concentration (AUCO-t), and the shape of
the curves indicated typicaltwo-compartment elimination kinetics (Figure 5). The mean TAY: across all dose cohorts was
104 h, and the serum concentrationsfor the majority of the participants remained above the lower limit of quantitation
(LLOQ) for 336 h. The mean Cmax valueincreased in a less than proportional manner between dose cohorts, yielding
nonlinear PK.A TheMSD assay was also used to study repeat dosing in patients with advanced solid tumors in study
SB101, including dose escalation up tothe same maximum dose used in SB102. Interestingly, the SON-1010
concentration curves, compared with a single dose in healthy volunteersshowed an atypically dissimilar contour (Figure
5). Single-compartment elimination kinetics were noted in patients with cancer, comparedto the two-compartment
elimination kinetics observed in the healthy volunteers. The unusual PK results comparing these two clinical
studiessuggest the potential for an improved local immune response due to accumulation in the TME in patients, which
could make SON-1010 moreeffective than prior efforts with systemic immunotherapy using rIL-12. The dose
relationship also suggests target-mediated drug disposition(TMDD), perhaps due to the retention of SON-1010 caused
by albumin binding to SPARC and its slow release from the tumor tissue.A 13 A A A Figure5: SON-1010 levels were
assessed frequently after dosing, then followed at the times indicated in each study. Subjects in study SB102received a
single dose, while patients in study SB101 were administered a fixed dose of SON-1010 (in the first two groups) or a
desensitizingfirst dose followed by a higher maintenance dose (in the last two groups) in the next cycle. Error bars
(geometric mean CV%) are shownfor the lowest and highest groups, respectively.A Amongthe cytokine PD responses,
the observed increases in IFN-Ef were most pronounced and were dose-related, controlled, and prolonged.SON-1010
induced IFN-EE£ in all active-drug subjects, which peaked at 24 to 48 hours then returned to baseline after 2 weeks
(Figure6). IFN-E£ was the most prominent cytokine responding. The mean Cmax value disproportionately increased
between the widerange of doses tested, peaking at 977 pg/mL in the highest dose cohort (300 ng/kg). The time taken to
achieve maximal IFN-E£ bloodconcentrations varied greatly between cohorts and did not correlate with the dose, with
the mean time required to peak ranging from 28.8to 85.0 hours. The AUCO-t also increased disproportionately following



the cohort doses and rose to 106,000 h*pg/mL in thehighest-dose cohort. However, the partial areas under the
concentration-time curve from time zero to 24 h, 48 h, and 168 h increasedin a dose-dependent manner. The Cmax and
AUC PK parameters in SB101 were similar after the second dose compared to the firstdose in SB102, while the IFN-E£
PD parameters of Cmax and AUC were suppressed in SB101, presumably by induction of theintracellular suppressors of
cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins.A Therewere small transient increases in IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and TNF-i+ after dosing
but no consistent pattern was seen with IL-112,1L-2, or IL-4, and there was no evidence of cytokine release syndrome
(CRS). Safety was consistent with what has been reported previously;adverse events have generally been
mild/moderate, transient in nature, and have all been tolerable.A 14 A A A Figure6: Cytokine levels were assessed
frequently after dosing for PD, then followed on the days indicated for the rest of the SB102 study.A APhase 1b/2a trial
(SB221) of SON-1010 in combination with atezolizumab is in progress. This trial is a multicenter, dose-escalation,and
randomized proof-of-concept study being conducted in the US and Australia that targets platinum-resistant ovarian
cancer (PROC).The goal is to assess the safety, tolerability, PK, PD, and efficacy of SON-1010 administered
subcutaneously (SC), either alone or incombination with atezolizumab given intravenously (IV). SON-1010 has been safe
and tolerable at all doses tested to date. Adverse eventshave generally been mild/moderate and transient in nature,
with no study discontinuations for safety reasons. In addition, adverse effectshave been less numerous and less intense
with subsequent doses.A Safetyin both of the active cancer trials has been reviewed by their respective Safety Review
Committees at each step during dose escalation.Both trials use a a€ desensitizinga€™ first dose to take advantage of
the known tachyphylaxis with rhIL-12, which minimizes toxicityand allows higher maintenance doses. No dose-limiting
toxicities or related serious adverse events have occurred to date. The safetyand toxicity profile that has developed is
typical for a Phase 1 oncology trial, with the majority of adverse events (AEs) being reportedas mild. All have been
transient, with no evidence of cytokine release syndrome. Of the 25 cancer patients dosed to date and evaluablefor
follow-up at the latest cutoff, 15 (60%) had stable disease at their first follow-up scan, 8 of whom were progressing at
study entry.At four months follow-up, 8 of 23 evaluable patients remained stable at the second CT scan, suggesting
clinical benefit of SON-1010 in35% of the patients.A SON-080for Chemotherapy Induced Peripheral

NeuropathyA Throughour pipeline expansion efforts, we have identified IL-6 as a cytokine with important biological
properties when delivered as a standalonemolecule. Our lead clinical stage asset, SON-080, is the native human version
of IL-6 that is also manufactured in Chinese Hamster Ovary(CHO) cells. A previous version of recombinant IL-6 has
been studied in Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials in cancer patients with thrombocytopeniaand in healthy volunteers.
Our comparable version will advance to the next stage of development in chemotherapy-induced peripheral
neuropathy(CIPN), a common side effect of treatment with antineoplastic agents in cancer. CIPN is a debilitating
condition that manifests itselfas pain, numbness and tingling in the extremities. It has been reported in as many as 70%
of patients undergoing specific cancer regimensand is a leading cause of patients prematurely aborting chemotherapy.
In animal experiments designed to replicate the clinical symptomsof CIPN, recombinant IL-6 presented disease-
modifying characteristics, including the potential to repair damaged nerves.A 15 A A Basedon the preclinical work, we
believe that SON-080 can potentially regenerate damaged nerves, thereby addressing not only the pain-
relatedsymptoms, but also the profound discomfort and motor disability CIPN patients often experience. In the nervous
system, IL-6 has exhibitedneurotrophic-like properties, inducing anti-apoptotic gene expression, protecting neurons
from toxic injuries, and promoting nerve regenerationand remyelination. IL-6 has demonstrated the potential to elicit
nerve regrowth and to re-establish both normal nerve function (Figure7) and sensations (Figure 6) in various preclinical
models of CIPN induced by cisplatin, taxol, or vincristine. Activity from treatmentwith SON-080 was also observed in
preclinical models of type 2 diabetic neuropathy, outlining the potential for benefit in DPN, and otherdiseases affecting
the nervous system or other organs. This broad activity suggests that the SON-080 mechanism of action might not
berestricted to a given class of chemotherapeutic drugs and could elicit a universal neuroprotective-neurorestorative
response. Additionally,preclinical data point to the potential of SON-080 to elicit both preventive and curative activity in
neuropathies (Figure 8). This introducesthe possibility of treating cancer survivors who still suffer from neuropathies, a
population representing between 10% and 60% of the14 million cancer survivors in the US.A A Figure7: Activity of IL-6
on neuropathy induced by taxol or cisplatin in rats measured at the histological (IENFD) or physiological(SNCV)
levels.A A Figure8: Data show preventive and curative activity potentiating restoration of normal sensitivity (here, using
a behavioral response to hotstimulus in cisplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy).A 16 A A IL-6has been studied in
Phase 1 and Phase 2 studies in over 200 cancer patients with chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia. Trial
enrolleesreceived SC doses ranging from 0.25 to 32 Apg/kg, either daily or thrice weekly. In these trials, where solid
tumor cancers werepresent in more than 75% of the patients treated, the cumulative doses of IL-6 averaged in the 8000
I%g range (122 - 54880 1%g),and the mean duration of treatment equaled 28 days. One of the trials covered six
chemotherapy cycles, with an IL-6 treatment periodextending to 203 days. An exacerbation of either cancer or
neuropathy was not observed in any of these trials.A TheMTD of SON-080 was determined in four studies by means of
cohort dose escalations of sequential IL-6 dose groups utilizing establishedcommon toxicity criteria. When administered
daily, the MTD following daily SC injection was determined to be between 3 and 8 I¥4g/kg;when given 3 times per week,
the MTD was estimated to be > 10 1%g/kg. The most clinically relevant toxicities that defined the treatment-
limitingdose in these studies were flu-like symptoms and neurocortical toxicity, manifested by somnolence, restlessness,
confusion, hallucination,and disorientation. We anticipate using a dose of SON-080 that is 50-fold less than the prior IL-
6 MTD and expect a more benign adverseevent profile going forward.A Thesedata form the basis for our clinical trials
in CIPN conducted in Australia. We defined the two doses used to be significantly below theMTD, as supported by
preclinical studies. For comparison, our target dose was to provide a cumulative dose that is 25 times below themean
cumulative dose reached for a similar period of dosing. We also believe that SON-080 has significant potential for
treating otherneuropathies, including DPN, as well as other diseases of the nervous system, and we are currently
evaluating forward development pathsfor these opportunities. We initiated an ex-US Phase 1b/2a pilot-scale efficacy
study with SON-080 in CIPN in July 2022. The Data SafetyMonitoring Board (DSMB) reviewed the initial safety findings
after enrollment was completed in Part 1. Data from that study was announcedin July 2024, showing safety, tolerability
and preliminary evidence of improvement in symptoms.A SON-080for Diabetic Peripheral NeuropathyA Inaddition to
our CIPN program with SON-080, our DPN program may, subject to data collected from our planned CIPN studies with
SON-080,explore the clinical utility of IL-6 in diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN). DPN is currently diagnosed in
50%-80% of the diabetic patientpopulation. According to World Health Organization (WHO) projections, the prevalence
of diabetes is estimated to exceed 350 million peoplein 2030. Neuropathy is progressive and develops over the
continuum of diabetes. The condition involves intractable pain with no obviousorigin, as well as non-pain-related
symptoms such as loss of balance, lack of sensation, and autonomic dysfunctions, among others. Thesedeficits impair



quality of life and lead to a reduction of life expectancy. Diabetic foot ulcers are a major cost associated with
diabeticmedical care and are also directly linked to the development of DPN.A Notwithstandingthe seriousness of the
condition, current treatments only address the pain component of DPN, leaving disease progression and non-pain-
relatedsymptoms unaddressed. Furthermore, the few drugs currently used to reduce pain (i.e. Cymbalta, Lyrica,
cannabinoids, opioids) are onlypartially efficacious and are associated with major side effects, which typically delays
their introduction into a patienta€™s care.For these reasons, DPN remains a substantial unmet medical need with high
commercial market potential.A Exercisehas long been recognized by WHO and caregivers as an effective means of
treating and potentially preventing diabetes and several pilotstudies have provided evidence to support its role in
improving DPN. However, a majority of diabetic patients are physically unable toperform exercise. Regular exercise is
known to improve diabetes-associated markers such as HbAlc and glucose homeostasis, to ameliorateheart rate
variability and to stimulate recovery of both nerve function and blood flow. Recent evidence demonstrates that IL-6 is
releasedduring exercise and mediates some of the beneficial effects of physical activity. We have completed preclinical
work in animal modelsof DPN in which exogenous administration of IL-6 exhibited restorative activity in epidermal
nerve density, nerve function, blood flow,and reactions to painful or disturbing stimuli. In this context, SON-080 may
become a future pivotal disease-modifying therapy for thetreatment of DPN.A Invitro data on oligodendrocytes or
organotypic cultures have shown that IL-6 potentially induces myelin gene expression by Schwanncells or
oligodendrocytes (Figure 9).A A Figure9: Illustration of survival (A) and differentiation of oligodendrocytes as assessed
by myelin basic protein (MBP), proteolipid protein(PLP) and its spliced variant expression (B).A Valerioet al, Mol Cell
Neurosci 21 (2002) 602-615.A Pizziet al, Mol Cell Neurosci 25 (2004) 301-311.A Theneuroprotective activity of IL-6 has
been evaluated in various paradigms, including excitotoxicity. As well as protecting neurons, IL-6potentially promotes
axonal regeneration and restoration of functional synapses (Figure 10).A 17 A A A Figurel011: Axonal regeneration
activity in hemi-sectioned slices of the hippocampus (A), with increased expression of growth-associated protein43
(GAP43) in injured slices but not in normal slices (NL) (B). Axonal regeneration activity across the lesion (C) and
functional recovery(D) of suppressed (A) excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP).Hakkoum et al, ] Neurochem 100
(2007) 747-757.A Theactivity of IL-6 in preclinical models of DPN has been evaluated by three independent
laboratories. This work has shown that IL-6 exhibitspositive activity in neuropathy in a dose-dependent manner and may
also help restore normal physiological parameters after neuropathyis well established (i.e. four weeks after the
induction of diabetes and consequential neuropathy). The beneficial activity is observedon motor (Figure 11A) and
sensory (Figure 11B) nerve function (conduction velocity), and behaviorally by measuring thermal (Figure 11C)and
tactile (Figure 11D) perceptions. In addition to the direct effects on myelin and axons previously observed in vitro, IL-
6has also been observed to have activity in restoring microvascular blood flow in the nerve in vivo (Figure 11E), which
is a majordriver of diabetic neuropathies. Histological analyses of nerves in animals receiving preventive treatment with
IL-6 during the developmentof neuropathy suggest that IL-6 exhibits protective activity on myelin and may play a role in
preserving nerve fiber integrity, as wellas nerve conduction velocity and the perception of sensations.A 18 A

A A Figurel1: Curative treatment with IL-6 in rats with established diabetic neuropathy induced by streptozotocin.
Cameron et al, Exp Neurol 207(2007) 23-29.A Beyondthe oncology indication, 15 pilot studies totaling 167 subjects,
including 27 patients with type 2 diabetes, were conducted by independentacademic groups not affiliated with us to
evaluate the role of IL-6 in exercise and metabolism. The peer-reviewed results suggest thatlow dose IL-6 mimics
several beneficial aspects of exercise, including expression of anti-inflammatory molecules, increased lipid
metabolism,decreased insulin secretion, and activation of the STAT3 signaling pathway in muscle.A Webelieve these
data provide strong support for the clinical development of IL-6 in DPN. Through its mechanism of action and
potentialdisease modifying activity, low dose IL-6 may offer a therapeutic solution for neuropathic symptoms, as well as
for cardiac autonomicneuropathies (CAN), in diabetic patients. We intend to use data collected from our CIPN studies
with SON-080 to inform our decision aboutpotential next development steps for SON-080 in DPN.A 19 A A SON-
080:Alkem AgreementA InOctober 2024, we announced the execution of the Alkem Agreement with Alkem for the
treatment of DPN in India as well as themanufacturing, marketing and commercialization of SON-080 for the treatment
of CIPN and autonomic neuropathy in India. Pursuant tothe terms of the Alkem Agreement, Alkem will bear the cost of
certain expenses, including conducting clinical studies, preparing andfiling regulatory applications and undertaking
other developmental and regulatory activities for commercializing SON-080 for DPN inIndia. Alkem has agreed to pay
us, within 12 weeks of the Effective Date of the Alkem Agreement, a $1.0 million upfrontnon-refundable cash payment,
of which $0.5 million was paid in October 2024, which after tax withholdings resulted in a net paymentof $0.4 million,
as well as potential additional milestone payments totaling up to $1.0 million subject to the achievement ofcertain
development and regulatory milestones. In addition, Alkem is obligated to pay us a royalty equal to a percentage in the
lowdouble digits of net sales less Alkema€™ s actual cost of goods sold and Alkema€™s sales and marketing and related
expensesof SON-080 in India until the first commercial sale of a competitive Intermittent Low Dose IL-6 compound as
set forth in the AlkemAgreement.A SON-080:New Life Therapeutics AgreementA InMay 2021, we announced the
execution of the New Life Agreement, described in detail below which resulted in the out-license of our IL-6(SON-080)
asset for DPN to New Life. The licensed territory includes the 10 ASEAN countries of Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia,
Thailand, The Philippines, Cambodia, Brunei, Vietnam, Myanmar, and Lao PDR. In June and July of 2021, we amended
the New Life Agreement to makeSonnet BioTherapeutics, CH, SA (rather than Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc.) the party
to the New Life Agreement (First Amendment) and wealso made Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc. the Guarantor of
performance under the New Life Agreement (Second Amendment), respectively. Inaddition to the initial $0.5 million
received by us upon signing of the LOI in August 2020, an additional $0.5 million non-refundableupfront payment was
received by us upon execution of the New Life Agreement. According to the terms of the New Life Agreement, we
couldreceive a $1.0 million deferred license fee within 30 days of the achievement of an early commercial sales
milestone, a total of up t0$19.0 million in milestone payments and a tiered royalty ranging from 12% to 30% on
commercial sales. On December 2, 2024, New Life providedus with written notice of its intention to exercise its Give
Back Option pursuant to the New Life Agreement. We were informed by NewLife that is has elected to move its
business in a different direction. We are negotiating the terms of the Give Back Option withNew Life. If we and New
Life are unable to reach a mutual agreement on such terms, the Give Back Option will expire unexercised, NewLife will
retain the rights granted subject to the terms and conditions of the New Life Agreement and the New Life Agreement
will remainin effect unless otherwise terminated by either us or New Life pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
New Life Agreement. In October2024, we entered into the Alkem Agreement for the development of SON-080 in DPN.
The data generated from this collaboration will informour decision about moving SON-080 forward into the next phase
of DPN development.A SON-1210A SON-1210,our lead bifunctional construct, combines IL-12 and IL-15 conjugated to



FHAB. These cytokines were selected based on synergisticbiologic activity. IL-12 is known to increase IL-15Ri+
receptor and IFN-E£, activate NK and TH1 (tumor killing) cells,and decreases Tregs. IL-15 acts through its specific
receptor, IL15RI+, which is expressed on antigen-presenting dendritic cells(APC), monocytes, and macrophages. In
addition to the potential antitumor properties of IL-12 described above, we believe IL-15 can potentiallyadd the
following complementary activity:A A 4— Induce differentiation and proliferation of T, natural killer (NK), and B cells
A a4— Enhance cytolytic activity of CD8+ T cells A 4&— Induce long-lasting CD8+ memory T cells enhancing immune
surveillance against cancer for month/years A a— Stimulate differentiation and immunoglobulin synthesis by B cells A
d— Induce maturation of dendritic cells A a— Upregulate IL-121?1 receptor expression A Wehave conducted a number
of preclinical studies with SON-1210 and the murine version (mIL12-FHAB-hIL15) and this work was publishedin
December 2023. Mice injected once or three times with the doses indicated had suppressed tumor growth in the
B16F10 melanoma modelcompared to controls (Figure 12). Compared to placebo-treated mice, mIL12-FHAB-hIL15
mice showed slower tumor growth in adose-dependent manner. A single dose of 5 I¥4g was fully effective, whereas a
single dose of 10 I%g did not further slow the tumorvolume increase. The 3x group showed an even more effective
response, with tumor growth delayed until day 14. All groups treated withmono- or bifunctional cytokine(s) linked to
FHAB showed significant growth inhibition, starting on day 4. A time-to-eventefficacy approach in the mice revealed an
increase in survival following mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 treatment, with 1 I%g inducing12-day median survival, whereas 10
iv4g induced 19-day survival, compared to 10 days in the tumor-bearing placebo mice. The median survivalwith a single
mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 dose of 5 1%g was 18.5 days, which was prolonged to 21 days after 3 doses. Thus, there wasa clear
dose-dependent effect of mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 treatment on survival (p < 0.01).A 20 A A A Figure12: These data show
an enhanced reduction in tumor growth with mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 compared to concomitantly administered,naked mIL-
12 and hIL-15 in a mouse model of melanoma.A Analysisof PD cytokine response 3 days after dosing (Figure 13) showed
that mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 increased IFN-E£, IL-10, IL-12, IL-6,and TNFi+ levels in a dose-dependent manner compared
to the tumor-bearing placebo group, with no evidence of cytokine release syndrome.There was a substantial increase in
IFN-E£ levels with a single dose of mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 to over 2000 pg/mL at 3 days,whereas mild increases were
observed in other cytokines. Two doses of 5 I%g increased the peak response to almost 9000 pg/mL. By day8, the
cytokine response pattern was sustained but generally dampened, with maximal IFN-E£ levels returning to 500 pg/mL
after asingle dose or 2100 pg/mL after three doses of mIL12-FHAB-hIL15 at 5 i¥4g. However, TNFa levels remained
elevated.A A Figure13: The combination of IL-12 and IL-15 in cis linked to the FHAB displayed synergistic activity,
leading to enhancedIFN-Ef£ activity versus the combined cytokines or IL12-FHAB alone in a mouse model of
melanoma.A InFebruary 2023, we announced the successful completion of two IND-enabling toxicology studies with
SON-1210 in NHPs. A NHP non-GLP doseescalation study of SON-1210 was completed in September 2022, and a GLP
repeat dose NHP study was completed in the fourth calendar quarterof 2022. The cGMP manufacturing for bulk drug is
complete, and a lyophilized formulation of drug product was manufactured in early 2023to support the FIH clinical
study. The initial tox material supported the non-GLP study, while the GLP study was being performed on thesame lot of
GMP drug as intended for the Phase 1 clinical study. The regulatory authorization process for SON-1210 is scheduled to
commencepending the outcome of any partnering activity.A 21 A A SON-1210:Sarcoma Oncology Center

AgreementA OnAugust 19, 2024, we announced that we had entered into a Master Clinical Collaboration Agreement
(the 4€ceSarcoma Agreementa€)with the Sarcoma Oncology Center, to advance the development of SON-1210, our
bifunctional IL.12-FHAB-IL.15 asset. Preclinical data publishedon December 20, 2023 demonstrated the potential of
SON-1210 for solid tumor immunotherapy. An Innovative Immuno-Oncology Consortium (&€ceIIOCa€)led by oncology
experts funded by the Sarcoma Oncology Center will conduct an investigator-initiated Phase 1b/2a study of SON-1210.
Underthe terms of the Sarcoma Agreement, the IIOC, in collaboration with us, will prepare a protocol and conduct
clinical study to evaluateSON-1210 in combination with several chemotherapeutic agents for the specific treatment of
metastatic pancreatic cancer. We will providethe study drug, SON-1210, and support operational services for the
planned Phase 1b/2a study.A DiscoveryAssets: SON-1410 (IL18-FHAB-IL12) and SON-3015 (Anti-IL6-FHAB-Anti-
TGFi2)A InAugust 2021, we announced the selection of a novel development candidate after completing comparative
studies in a mouse melanoma model.The candidate represents our second bifunctional compound integrating IL-12 and
IL18 with our FHAB platform. The target indicationsfor SON-1410 will be melanoma and renal cancers.A I11.18-FHAB-
IL12showed statistically significant tumor size reduction in a mouse melanoma study compared with the placebo, as
well as a dose response.The data demonstrated:A Compound A Day 0, Single Dose Tumor @ 100 mm3 A Day 8 Tumor
Volume (mm3 +/- SEM), N=8 A Day 8 Percentage Tumor Shrinkage A Placebo A NA A 1747 +/-301 A A - A IL18-
FHAB-IL12 A 1 Apg A 918 +/- 130 A A 47% A IL18-FHAB-IL12 A 5Apg A 619 +/- 141 A A 65% A A Aseparate
mouse study was also performed comparing the selected version of IL.18-FHAB-IL12 with two other candidates,
GMCSF-FHAB-IL18and GMCSF-FHAB-IL12. The comparison data indicated significantly greater reduction in tumor
volume, along with higher IFN-I3levels and immune cell responses (NK, NKT, Th1, and cytotoxic CD8 T cells) using
IL18-FHAB-IL12, compared with GMCSF-FHAB-IL12or GMCSF-FHAB-IL18. Preclinical development continues for SON-
1410 (IL18-FHAB-IL12), where cell line developmentfor GMP application is underway. After some delays in 2023,
process development activities will continue into 2024, with the potentialto generate a drug suitable for GLP non-
clinical studies in NHPA€™s, and subsequent human studies.A TGF-1?/IL-6biology is a strong predictor of overall
survival in cancer, and combined targeting to suppress IL-6 and TGFTZ signaling using SON-3015may represent a
promising strategy for treating tumor and bone metastases. TGFI? is released from degraded bone, and enhances IL-
6production, contributing to the vicious circle of bone metastasis. High FcRn expression in the bone environment would
result in accumulationin the bone of the dual construct anti-IL6-FHAB-anti-TGFI?, thereby potentially inhibiting or
blocking bone metastases.We have elected to place the SON-3015 development program on hold for expense reduction
purposes.A Weface numerous challenges and uncertainties with respect to the development and commercialization of
our therapeutic compounds, includingour FHAB technology. Please see a€eRisk Factorsa€ contained elsewhere in this
report, and the sections entitled a&€ceRiskFactorsa€ in the documents incorporated by reference into this report.A 22 A
A CompetitionA Thepharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies,
intense competition and a strong emphasison proprietary products. While we believe that our technology, development
experience and scientific knowledge provide us with competitiveadvantages, we face potential competition from many
different sources, including large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academicinstitutions, government
agencies and other public and private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection
andestablish collaborative arrangements for the research, development, manufacturing and commercialization of
cancer immunotherapies. Anyproduct candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with
new immunotherapies that may become available inthe future.A Wecompete in the segments of the pharmaceutical,



biotechnology and other related markets that develop immuno-oncology treatments. Thereare many other companies
that have commercialized and/or are developing immuno-oncology treatments for cancer including large
pharmaceuticaland biotechnology companies, such as Amgen, AstraZeneca/MedImmune, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Merck,
Novartis, Pfizer and Roche/Genentech.A Weface significant competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies that target the use of specific cytokines or other largemolecules as immunomodulating therapies in the
cancer setting. These generally include, single- or bi-specific antibodies, fusion proteins,antibody drug conjugates and
targeted vaccines.A Withrespect to SON-080, we are aware of other companies developing products to treat CIPN,
including but not limited to Kyorin Pharmaceuticalsand Trevana; however, we believe we are the only company
studying the use of a disease-modifying cytokine for the indication. RegardingDPN, there are several companies selling
commercially approved drugs, including but not limited to Eli Lilly, Ono Pharmaceuticals, Pfizer,Collegium
Pharmaceuticals and Daiichi Sankyo, as well as a number of companies with compounds in clinical development,
including butnot limited to Avanir Pharmaceuticals, Pfizer, Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Applied Therapeutics, and
Helixsmith.A Withrespect to our first FHAB-derived candidate, SON-1010, we are aware of other competing IL-12
programs, which include, butare not limited to those being developed by Xilio Therapeutics, Werewolf Therapeutics,
Dragonfly Therapeutics, Krystal Biotech and Precigen.We believe that our FHAB integrated IL-12 is tumor-targeted
with an enhanced PK profile that differentiates it from the competition.A Withrespect to our earlier stage pipeline FHAB
product candidates SON-1210, SON-1411 and SON-3105, we are not aware of any othercompeting companies working
on these specific bifunctional programs.A Manyof the companies against which we are competing or against which we
may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resourcesand expertise in research and development,
manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvalsand marketing approved
drugs than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic industries mayresult
in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage
companies may alsoprove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and
established companies. These competitorsalso compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and
management personnel and establishing clinical trial sitesand enrolling subjects for our clinical trials, as well as in
acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs.A Wecould see a reduction or elimination of
our commercial opportunity if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer,more effective, have
fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we or our
collaboratorsmay develop. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or foreign regulatory approval for their products more
rapidly than we may obtain approvalfor ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market
position before we or our collaborators are able to enterthe market. The key competitive factors affecting the success of
all our product candidates, if approved, are likely to be their efficacy,safety, convenience, price, the effectiveness of
companion diagnostics, if required, the level of biosimilar or generic competition andthe availability of reimbursement
from government and other third-party payors.A ManufacturingA Werely on contract development and manufacturing
organizations, or CDMOs, to produce our drug candidates in accordance with the FDAa€ ™ scurrent Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulations for use in our clinical trials. The manufacture of biopharmaceuticals is
subjectto extensive cGMP regulations, which impose various procedural and documentation requirements and govern
all areas of record keeping,production processes and controls, personnel and quality control. Our pipeline molecules
are manufactured using the standard industrialChinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) platform with common bio-chemical
engineering from readily available raw materials.A 23 A A Tomeet our projected needs for clinical supplies to support
our activities through regulatory approval and commercial manufacturing,the one of the CDMOs with whom we
currently work has increased their scale of production, and is building a cGMP manufacturing sitein the United States,
available by Q3 calendar year 2024. The landscape for CDMOs is strong and there are multiple potential sources
forcontract manufacturing. We have not yet engaged alternate suppliers since our current CDMO is able to scale
production and continuesto successfully manufacture our pipeline. Our relationships with CDMOs are managed by
internal personnel with extensive experiencein pharmaceutical development and manufacturing.A Licenseand Other
Commercial ArrangementsA JanssenPharmaceuticals (Johnson & Johnson)A InOctober 2022, we announced a
collaboration agreement with Janssen Biotech, Inc. (Janssen), one of the Janssen Pharmaceutical Companiesof Johnson
& Johnson, where in vitro and in vivo efficacy of SON-1010 (IL12-FHAB), SON-1210 (IL12-FHAB-IL15)and SON-1410
(IL18-FHAB-IL12) will be evaluated in combination with certain Janssen proprietary cell therapy assets. The
agreementwas facilitated by Johnson & Johnson Innovation. Under the terms of the agreement, we will supply the three
referenced compoundsfor use in head-to-head in vitro and in vivo efficacy studies. If successful and subject to provisions
of the agreement,Janssen could exercise its option and we could then seek a license and/or an expanded
collaboration.A AlkemLaboratories LimitedA OnOctober 8, 2024, we entered into the Alkem Agreement with Alkem.
Pursuant to the Alkem Agreement, we granted Alkem an exclusive license (with the rightto sublicense) to research,
develop, manufacture, import, export, market, use and commercialize pharmaceutical products containing ourIL-6
(SON-080) asset (or any derivatives, fragments or conjugates thereof) (the &4€ceCompoundsa€) (such products, the
d€ceProductsa€)for the treatment of diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) (the 4€eDPN Fielda€) and to manufacture,
import, export, market, useand commercialize Products for the treatment of chemotherapy-induced peripheral
neuropathy (CIPN) and autonomic neuropathy (togetherwith the DPN Field, collectively, the d€ceFieldsa€) in India (the
d€eExclusive Territorya€). Except as provided forin the Alkem Agreement, we agreed not to develop, use, sell, offer or
otherwise commercialize any Compounds or Products for use in theDPN Field in the Exclusive Territory during the term
of the Alkem Agreement. We retain all rights to manufacture Compounds and Productsanywhere in the world. We shall
enter into a follow-on supply agreement with Alkem pursuant to which we shall manufacture for Alkem Compoundsand
Products for development and commercialization thereof in accordance with the Alkem Agreement on terms to be
negotiated by the parties.Pursuant to the terms of the Alkem Agreement, Alkem will bear the cost of, and be responsible
for, among other things, conducting clinicalstudies and additional non-clinical studies (if any, subject to both
partiesa€™ approval), preparing and filing applications forregulatory approval and undertaking other developmental
and regulatory activities for commercializing Products in the DPN Field in theExclusive Territory. Alkem will own and
maintain all regulatory filings and approvals for Products in the Exclusive Territory. Upon paymentof a Clinical Data
Access Fee (as defined in the Alkem Agreement), we will have rights to access and use the data generated by the
clinicaltrials conducted in connection with the Alkem Agreement.A Inconsideration of the license and other rights
granted by us, Alkem agreed to pay us, within 12 weeks of the effective date of theLicense Agreement, a $1.0 million
upfront non-refundable cash payment, of which $0.5 million was paid in October 2024, which aftertax withholdings
resulted in a net payment of $0.4 million, as well as potential additional milestone payments totaling up to$1.0 million



subject to the achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones. In addition, during the Royalty Term
(asdefined below), Alkem is obligated to pay us a royalty equal to a percentage in the low double digits of net sales
lessAlkema€™ s actual cost of goods sold and Alkema€™s sales and marketing and related expenses of Products in the
ExclusiveTerritory. The a€ceRoyalty Terma€ means, on a Product-by-Product basis in the Exclusive Territory, the period
commencing onthe date of the First Commercial Sale (as defined in the License Agreement) of such Product in the
Exclusive Territory andcontinuing until Alkem ceases Commercialization (as defined in the Alkem Agreement) of such
Product in the DPN Field. The RoyaltyTerm shall expire upon the first commercial sale of a competitive Intermittent
Low-Dose IL6 compound as set forth in the AlkemAgreement.A 24 A A Weretain the sole responsibility to pay our third
party licensors to the extent such obligations are applicable to the rights granted toAlkem with respect to the Products
and shall remain liable for all obligations under the license related to the Compounds and Productsbetween us and
ARES Trading SA. The Alkem Agreement will remain in effect in perpetuity until terminated as a result of breach,
bankruptcyor upon 90 days prior written notice, in each case as set forth in the Alkem Agreement. Pursuant to the
Alkem Agreement, the partiesagreed to form a joint development committee to provide strategic oversight of the
partiesa€™ collaboration activities under theAlkem Agreement, including to coordinate the development of Products in
the Exclusive Territory. The Alkem Agreement also contains customaryrepresentations, warranties and covenants by
both parties, as well as customary provisions relating to indemnification, confidentialityand other

matters.A SarcomaOncology CenterA OnAugust 19, 2024, we announced that we had entered into a Master Clinical
Collaboration Agreement (the &€oeSarcoma Agreementa€)with the Sarcoma Oncology Center, to advance the
development of SON-1210, our bifunctional IL12-FHAB-IL15 asset. Preclinicaldata published on December 20, 2023 has
demonstrated the potential of SON-1210 for solid tumor immunotherapy. An Innovative Immuno-OncologyConsortium
(3€eII0Ca£) led by oncology experts funded by the Sarcoma Oncology Center will conduct an investigator-
initiatedPhase 1b/2a study of SON-1210 in pancreatic cancer, an indication with significant unmet medical need. Under
the terms of theSarcoma Agreement, the IIOC, led by Dr. Sant Chawla, Director of the Sarcoma Oncology Center, in
collaboration with us, will preparea protocol and conduct an investigator-initiated Phase 1b/2a clinical study to evaluate
SON-1210 in combination with several chemotherapeuticagents including but not limited to the combination of
liposomal irinotecan, 5-fluorouracil/leucovorin, and oxaliplatin (3€eNALIRIFOXa€)for the specific treatment of
metastatic pancreatic cancer. NALIRIFOX is the U.S. FDA regimen approved for the treatment of metastaticpancreatic
cancer in the front-line setting. We will provide the study drug, SON-1210, and support operational services for the
plannedPhase 1b/2a study.A RocheA InJanuary 2023, we announced a collaboration agreement with Roche for the
clinical evaluation of SON-1010 with atezolizumab (TecentriqA@).Wes have entered into a Master Clinical Trial and
Supply Agreement (a€eMCSAa€) with Roche, along with ancillary Quality andSafety Agreements, to study the safety
and efficacy of the combination of SON-1010 and atezolizumab in a platinum-resistant ovarian cancer(a€cecPROCA€)
patient setting. Further, we and Roche will provide SON-1010 and atezolizumab, respectively, for use in the
Phaselb/Phase 2a combination safety, dose-escalation, and efficacy study (SB221).A NewLifeA InMay 2021, we entered
into the New Life Agreement with New Life. Under the New Life Agreement, we granted New Life an exclusivelicense
(with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize pharmaceutical preparations containing a specific
recombinanthuman IL-6, SON-080 (the &€ceCompounda€) (such preparations, the 4€ceProductsa€) for the prevention,
treatment orpalliation of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in humans (the 4€eDPN Fielda€) in Malaysia, Singapore,
Indonesia, Thailand,Philippines, Vietnam, Brunei, Myanmar, Lao PDR and Cambodia (the &€ceExclusive Territorya€).
New Life had the ability toexercise an option to expand (1) the field of the exclusive license to include the prevention,
treatment or palliation ofchemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy in humans (the € CIPN Fielda€), which option
is non-exclusive and also expiredon December 31, 2021; and/or (2) the territorial scope of the license to include the
Peoplea€™ s Republic of China, Hong Kongand/or India, which option is exclusive and expired on December 31, 2021. In
June and July of 2021, we amended the New LifeAgreement to make Sonnet BioTherapeutics CH SA (rather than
Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc.) the party to the New Life Agreement (FirstAmendment) and we also made Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc. the Guarantor of performance under the New Life Agreement (SecondAmendment),
respectively.A Wewill retain all rights to manufacture Compounds and Products anywhere in the world. New Life and us
shall enter into a follow-onsupply agreement pursuant to which we shall supply to New Life Products for development
and commercialization thereof in the DPNField (if applicable) (and the CIPN Field, if applicable) in the Exclusive
Territory on terms to be negotiated by the parties. Wewill also assist in transferring certain preclinical and clinical
development know-how that is instrumental in New Lifea€ ™ sability to benefit from the license.A 25 A A NewLife will
bear the cost of, and be responsible for, among other things, conducting clinical studies and additional non-
clinicalstudies and other developmental and regulatory activities for commercializing Products in the DPN Field (if
applicable) (and theCIPN Field, if applicable) in the Exclusive Territory.A NewLife paid us a $0.5 million non-refundable
upfront cash payment in August 2020 upon executing a letter of intent to negotiate a licenseagreement and a $0.5
million non-refundable upfront cash payment in June 2021 in connection with the execution of the New Life
Agreement.New Life is also obligated to pay a non-refundable deferred license fee of an additional $1.0 million at the
time of the satisfactionof certain milestones, as well as potential additional milestone payments to us of up to $19.0
million subject to the achievement ofcertain development and commercialization milestones. In addition, during the
Royalty Term (as defined below), New Life is obligatedto pay us tiered double digit royalties ranging from 12% to 30%
based on annual net sales of Products in the Exclusive Territory. Thed€eRoyalty Terma€ means, on a Product-by-
Product and a country-by-country basis in the Exclusive Territory, the period commencingon the date of the first
commercial sale (subject to certain conditions) of such Product in such country in the Exclusive Territory andcontinuing
until New Life ceases commercialization of such Product in the DPN Field (or CIPN Field, if applicable).A TheNew Life
Agreement will remain in effect on a Product-by-Product, country-by-country basis and will expire upon the expiration
of theRoyalty Term for the last-to-expire Product in the last-to-expire country, subject to (i) each partya€™s early
termination rightsincluding for material breach or insolvency or bankruptcy of the other party and (ii) our Buy Back
Option and New Lifed€™s Give BackOption (as defined below).A Inaddition, New Life granted to us an exclusive option
to buy back the rights granted by us to New Life (the &€ceBuy Back Optionda€)and we granted New Life the right to give
back the rights with respect to Products in the DPN Field and/or the CIPN Field (if applicable)in one or more countries
in the Exclusive Territory on terms to be agreed upon (the 4€eGive Back Optiona€), which options willexpire upon the
initiation of a Phase III Trial for the applicable Product. On December 2, 2024, New Life provided us with written
noticeof its intention to exercise its Give Back Option pursuant to the New Life Agreement. We were informed by New
Life that is has electedto move its business in a different direction. We are negotiating the terms of the Give Back
Option with New Life. If we and NewLife are unable to reach a mutual agreement on such terms, the Give Back Option



will expire unexercised, New Life will retain the rightsgranted subject to the terms and conditions of the New Life
Agreement and the New Life Agreement will remain in effect unless otherwiseterminated by either us or New Life
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the New Life Agreement.A XOMAA We(as successor-in-interest to
Oncobiologics, Inc. (&€eOncobiologicsa€), after Oncobiologics spun-off certain assets into us andconcurrently
distributed all of its shares in us on a pro rata basis to Oncobiologicsa€™ s stockholders on April 6, 2015) and
XOMA(US) LLC (4€eXOMAA&€) are party to a Discovery Collaboration Agreement, dated July 23, 2012 and an
Amendment of Discovery CollaborationAgreement, dated May 7, 2019 (together, the a€ceCollaboration Agreementa€)
pursuant to which XOMA granted us a non-exclusive,non-transferrable license and/or right to use certain materials,
technologies and related information related to discovery, optimizationand development of antibodies and related
proteins and to develop and commercialize products thereunder (each, a &€meProducta€).We are obligated to make
contingent milestone payments to XOMA totaling $3.75 million on a Product-by-Product basis upon the achievementof
certain development and approval milestones related to a Product. To that point, we have paid $500,000 for initiation of
enrollmentof a Product (i.e., SON-1010) in a Phase 1 Trial. We have also agreed to pay XOMA low single-digit royalties
on net sales of Productssold by us. Royalties on each Product are payable on a country-by-country basis until the later of
(i) a specified period of time afterthe First Commercial Sale (as defined in the Collaboration Agreement), and (ii) the
date of expiration of the last valid claim in thelast-to-expire of the issued patents covered by the Collaboration
Agreement. In addition, we have the right to reduce the rate of theroyalty on a Product-by-Product basis by paying
XOMA a specified amount. The Collaboration Agreement may be terminated by either partyfor cause and contains
customary indemnification provisions.A ARESA OnAugust 28, 2015, Relief, now one of our wholly owned subsidiaries,
signed a License Agreement (the 4€®ARES License Agreementa€)with Ares Trading, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Merck KGaA (&€=ARESa€). Under the terms of the ARES License Agreement, AREShas granted us a sublicensable,
exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing license on proprietary patents to research, develop, use and
commercializeproducts (each, a a€ceProducta€) using atexakin alfa (a€ceAtexakina€), a low dose formulation of human
IL-6 in peripheralneuropathies and vascular complications. Three patents are included in the ARES License Agreement
that protect the use of Atexakin totreat i) diabetic neuropathy, ii) chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy and iii)
vascular complications.A 26 A A Pursuantto the ARES License Agreement, we will pay ARES high single-digit royalties
on net sales of Products sold by us. Royalties are payableon a Product-by-Product and country-by-country basis until the
later of (i) a specified period of time after the First Commercial Sale(as defined in the ARES License Agreement) in such
country, and (ii) the last date on which such product is covered by a valid claimin such country. If a Product is not
covered by a valid claim in a country or such valid claim has expired or been invalidated beforethe twelfth (12th)
anniversary of the date of the First Commercial Sale of such Product in such country, then the royalty rate will
bereduced by fifty percent (50%). We will also pay ARES a sublicensing fee that is a percentage of the proceeds
received from a sublicensingevent (a€ceSublicensing Receiptsa€) using a sliding scale (which percentage decreases at
later stages of clinical developmentat which the sublicensing event occurs) that starts in the low double digits and
decreases to the high single digits. The ARES LicenseAgreement may be terminated by us for convenience at any time
or by either party upon a breach by the other party. The Ares License agreementcontains customary indemnification
provisions.A TheAres License Agreement was amended effective November 1, 2021, in order to clarify the application of
some of the terms and conditionscontained therein related to sublicensing. In particular:A A 4— We are now
authorized to grant sublicenses to third parties without the prior written consent of ARES, providing that the financial
condition of any such sublicenses reflects fair market value as determined by us in good faith. A a— Because the initial
conditions by which we would remunerate ARES out of Sublicensing Receipts were unclear, the ARES License
Agreement was clarified such that we will now have to pay ARES a percentage of all Sublicensing Receipts in case the
relevant sublicense agreement is signed before or after completion of the first Phase 1 clinical trial (as opposed to
payment only in case the relevant sublicense agreement is signed after completion of the first Phase 1 clinical trial, as
was set in the original ARES License Agreement). A a— It was agreed that the foregoing clarification would only apply
to future sublicensing agreements, and with respect to the royalties (but not the milestone payments) that may be
generated from the New Life Agreement. A IntellectualPropertyA Withrespect to our patent portfolio, we have five
issued patents (U.S., Japan, China, New Zealand and Russia), and we have filed patentapplications in nine (9) other
major markets which are directed to numerous fusion proteins that include the Fully Human AlbuminBinding (FHAB)
domain. If granted, these resulting patents would expire on dates ranging from 2038 to 2041, subject topatent term
extensions under certain circumstances. The patent application filings include:A A a4— National filings corresponding
to W0/2018/151868 (PCT/US2018/00085) - This application is directed to fully human a€ceAlbumin BindingDomain
(FHAB) Fusion Proteins,a€ including fusion proteins with scFva€™s (e.g., anti-TGFi2, PD-L1, TNF,IL-1, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8,
etc.), fusion proteins with cytokines (e.g., IL-2-FHAB, IL-12-FHAB, IL-15-FHAB,IL-7-FHAB, etc.) and combinations of
two cytokines, such as IL-12-FHAB-IL-15, GM-CSF-FHAB-IL-18, andIL-18-FHAB-IL-12; and methods of treatments using
such FHAB fusion proteins. A patent was issued in the UnitedStates on June 8, 2021, as U.S. Patent No. 11,028,166. A
patent was issued in Japan on December 23, 2022, as Japanese Patent No. 7200138.A patent was issued in Russia on
December 21, 2022, as Russian Patent No. 2786444. A patent was issued in New Zealand on October 3, 2023,as New
Zealand Patent No. 756674. A patent was issued in China on April 26, 2024, as Chinese Patent No. Z1.201880016019.1.
U.S. PatentNo. 11,028,166 is currently estimated to expire on March 26, 2039, while Japanese Patent No. 7200138,
Russian Patent No. 2786444, ChinesePatent No. Z1L.201880016019.1 and New Zealand Patent No. 756674 are estimated
to expire on February 20, 2038. As of October 22, 2024, theEuropean Patent Office sent a Communication under Rule
71(3) EPC indicating that their office intends to grant this major territory patentin those European countries selected
by us. Thus, we have opted to pursue EP patent validation using the classic national EP validationprocedure whereby
countries that we wish to have validated (i.e., patent filings and requisite foreign patent translations) areselected and
the necessary documentation submitted to the EU patent office. Applications are also pending in Australia, Brazil,
Canada,Europe, Hong Kong, and India. Continuation and divisional applications are pending in the United States and
Japan, respectively.A 27 A A A 4— U.S. Patent No. 11,028,166 and the PCT patent application (PCT/US2018/00085),
titled &€ceAlbumin Binding Domain Fusion Proteins&€originally received an application filing date of February 20, 2018,
which is four days after the one-year anniversary of the filingdate of U.S. provisional patent applications U.S.
62/459,975 and U.S. 62/459,981 to which both the U.S. patent and the PCT patent applicationclaim a priority benefit. A
request to restore the priority benefit to the filing date of U.S. provisional patent applications U.S. 62/459,975and U.S.
62/459,981 was granted for the U.S. patent and PCT patent application. Subsequently, national phase patent
applications werefiled from the PCT patent application in Australia, Brazil, Canada, Europe, India, Japan, New Zealand
and Russia. However, due to differencesin the patent laws in these jurisdictions, the priority claims to U.S. 62/459,975



and U.S. 62/459,981 have thus far only been acceptedin Australia, Europe, India, Japan, New Zealand, and Russia. A A
A A 4— On June 11, 2024, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office granted our patent No. 12,006,361, titled,
d€ceAlbumin Binding Domain FusionProteins,a€ covering composition of matter for our product candidate SON-1210,
our proprietary, bifunctional version of IL-12 andIL-15, configured using our FHAB platform. The granted patent is a
Continuation of Patent No. 11,028,166 issued in June 2021. A A A A a4— US provisional application directed to anti-
IL6-FHAB fusion proteins, including anti-IL6-FHAB, anti-IL6-FHAB-anti-TGFi?,and anti-IL6-FHAB-anti-IL8 fusion
proteins; and methods of treatments using such fusion proteins was re-filed as US 63/245,702on September 22, 2021.
However, due in large part to scientific challenges, the supportive data was not obtained within the one-yearperiod
after filing the provisional patent, and therefore, the patent was abandoned. A A A A 4— US provisional application
directed to Antigen/Albumin Binding Domain Conjugates, and methods of treatments using such conjugates wasre-filed
as US 63/187,278 on May 11, 2021. Data in support of the provisional patent claims was not generated, and therefore,
this patentwas abandoned. A A A A 4— US provisional application directed to Method of Treating Age-Related Frailty
with Interleukin-6 was filed June 4, 2021, as Applicationno. 63/197,097 and converted to a PCT application
(PCT/US22/32215; Publication No. W02022/25688) on June 3, 2022, then to a US NationalStage application (U.S. Pat.
Appl. No. 18/566,029) on November 30, 2023. A A A A 4— US provisional application directed to Antibody-Based
Drug Conjugates was filed December 7, 2021, as Application no. 63/286,996. Thisprovisional patent was abandoned due
to insufficient supportive data within the one-year timeframe. A A A A 4— US provisional patent application directed
to IL-12-Albumin-Binding Domain Fusion Protein Formulations and Methods of Use Thereof filedon May 27, 2022, as
Application no. 63/346,368. This provisional patent was converted to a PCT application (PCT/US2023/067566) on
May26, 2023. A A A A a— US provisional patent application directed to Low Dose IL-6 Formulations and Methods of
Use Thereof was filed on September 30, 2022,as Application no. 63/377,971. This provisional patent was converted to a
PCT application (PCT/US2023/075593; Publication No. WO02024/073718)on September 29, 2023.A A A A 4— US
provisional patent application directed to Methods for the Treatment of Cancer with Recombinant IL-12 Albumin
Binding Domain FusionProteins filed on November 2, 2022, as Application no. 63/421,846. This provisional patent was
converted to a PCT application (PCT/US2023/078366;Publication No. W02024/097767) on November 1, 2023. A A A
A a4— US provisional patent application directed to Methods of Making Recombinant IL-12/IL-15 Albumin Binding
Domain Fusion Proteins was filedon April 12, 2024 as Application no. 63/633,641. A A A A a— US provisional patent
application directed to Methods of Making Recombinant IL-12 Albumin Binding Domain Fusion Proteins was filed
onMarch 14, 2023, as Application no. 63/490,202, and converted to a PCT application (PCT/US2024/19798; Publication
No. W02024-192171) onMarch 13, 2024. A A A A a— US provisional patent application directed to Antibody-Based
Drug Conjugates was filed October 21, 2024, as Application no. 63/709,765. A A A A 4— US provisional patent
applications directed to Interleukin 18 (IL-18) Variants and Fusion Proteins Comprising Same were filed December29,
2023, as Application no. 63/616,148, and June 10, 2024, as Application no. 63/658,322. A patent titled d€celInterleukin
18 (IL-18)Variants and Fusion Proteins Comprising Same was issued in the United States on November 5, 2024, as U.S.
Patent No. 12134635.A 28 A A A a— US provisional patent application directed to Methods For The Treatment Of
Diabetes-Associated Autonomic Neuropathy was filed March 6,2024, as Application no. 63/561,924.A Withrespect to our
trademark portfolio, we received international registrational approval with the World Intellectual Property Office
(WIPO)for the Sonnet BioTherapeutics and FHAB marks, each having an Effective Date of September 17, 2020. Further,
both marks werepublished by the European Union Intellectual Property Office (EUIPO), having Effective Dates of Nov.
30, 2020 and December 6, 2020, respectively.In 2021, the USPTO issued Notices of Allowance for both marks,
indicating that both applications have successfully completed the oppositionperiod and have matured to registration
with the submission acceptable Statements of Use. To that end, the USPTO issued a Notice of Allowanceof the
Statement of Use for each of the Sonnet BioTherapeutics and FHAB applications and the Sonnet BioTherapeutics mark
alreadyreceived a Certificate of Registration under Registration no. 6,790,475.A A 4— The Switzerland Trademark
Office granted protection to the Sonnet BioTherapeutics and FHAB marks on September 14, 2021, andOct. 26, 2021,
respectively, and are protected under International Trademark Registration nos. 1558330 and 1558471. A A A A a—
The Canadian Intellectual Property Office granted protection to the Sonnet BioTherapeutics mark on June 8, 2022 and
is protected underinternational Trademark Registration no. 1558330 while the FHAB mark is protected under
International Trademark Registrationno. 15584471, for which the 18-month opposition period began on November 16,
2022. A 4— In addition to Switzerland and Canada, the Sonnet BioTherapeutics mark was also granted protection in
Australia, European Union, Japan,Mexico, South Korea and the United Kingdom, in each case having a Registration no.
of 1558330, an Effective Registration date of Sept.17, 2020 and a renewal date of September 17, 2030. Likewise, the
FHAB mark was granted protection in Australia, China, EuropeanUnion, Japan, Mexico, South Korea and the United
Kingdom, in each case having a Registration no. of 1558471, a Granted Protection Dateof September 17, 2020 and
renewal date of Sept. 17, 2030. A A A A 4— Although the Sonnet BioTherapeutics mark was initially rejected in China
due to potential non-use claims directed to certain competingcompanies, our intellectual property law firm is quite
confident that since the initial Class 42 rejection was successfully cancelled,two new trademark applications for this
same mark were also registered and/or published in 2021 could also be overcome; however, we wona€ ™ tbe able to
initiate non-use cancellation filings against these marks until 2025, which is the anticipated timeframe by which these
pendingclass 42 applications are likely to become registered in China.A EmployeesA Asof September 30, 2024, we had
13 full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collectivebargaining
agreement, and we believe our relationship with our employees is good. Additionally, we utilize independent
contractors andother third parties to assist with various aspects of its business.A GovernmentRegulationA Theresearch,
development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, advertising,
promotion,distribution, marketing, post-approval monitoring and reporting, and import and export of pharmaceutical
products, including biologicalproducts, are extensively regulated by government authorities in the United States, at the
federal, state and local level, and othercountries and jurisdictions. Some jurisdictions also regulate the pricing of
pharmaceutical products. The processes for obtaining marketingapprovals in the United States and in foreign countries
and jurisdictions, along with subsequent compliance with applicable statutesand regulations and other regulatory
authorities, require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.A 29 A A Licensureand Regulation of
Biologics in the United StatesA Inthe United States, biological products, or biologics, are regulated under the Public
Health Service Act, or PHSA, and the Federal Food,Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and their implementing
regulations. The failure to comply with the applicable requirements at any timeduring the product development process
may subject an applicant to delays in the conduct of a study, regulatory review and approval,and/or administrative or
judicial sanctions. These sanctions may include, without limitation, the FDAa€™ s refusal to allow an applicantto



proceed with clinical testing, refusal to approve pending applications, license suspension or revocation, withdrawal of
an approval,product recalls, product seizures, suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, investigations
and civil and criminalpenalties. Biological product candidates must be granted a biological license by the FDA before
they may be legally marketed in the UnitedStates.A Theprocess required by the FDA to obtain a biological license in the
United States generally involves the following:A &—Completion of extensive nonclinical, or preclinical, laboratory tests
and preclinical animal trials and applicable requirements for thehumane use of laboratory animals and formulation
studies in accordance with applicable regulations, including good laboratory practices,or GLPs;A &—Submission to the
FDA of an investigational new drug, or IND, application prior to initiation of any human clinical trials. Permissionto
proceed must be received before the beginning of such trials;A &—Performance of adequate and well-controlled human
clinical trials to establish the safety, potency and purity of the product candidatefor each proposed indication, in
accordance with the FDA&€™s regulation generally referred to as the good clinical practices, orGCP and any additional
requirements for the protection of human research subjects and their health information, to establish the safetyand
efficacy of the proposed biological product for its intended use. The FDA may also impose clinical holds on biological
product candidateat any time before or during our clinical trials due to safety concerns or non-compliance. If the FDA
imposes a clinical hold, trialsmay not recommence without FDA authorization and then only under terms authorized by
the FDA;A a—Preparation and submission to the FDA of a Biologic License Application, or BLA, for a biologic product
requesting marketing for oneor more proposed indications, including submission of detailed information on the
manufacture and composition of the product in clinicaldevelopment and proposed labeling;A 4&—Review of the product
by an FDA advisory committee, as determined by the FDA review division;A 4—Satisfactory completion of one or more
FDA inspections of the manufacturing facility or facilities, including those of third parties,at which the product, or
components thereof, are produced to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP,
requirementsand to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to preserve the producta€™s identity,
strength, quality andpurity;A &—Satisfactory completion of one or more FDA audits of the clinical study sites to assure
compliance with GCPs, and the integrity of clinicaldata in support of the BLA;A 4&—Payment of user fees and securing
FDA approval of the BLA and licensure of the new biologic product;A &—Compliance with any post-approval
requirements, including the potential requirement to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy,or REMS,
and any post-approval studies required by the FDA.A NonclinicalStudies and Investigational New Drug

ApplicationA Eachproduct candidate must undergo nonclinical testing before testing in humans. These tests include
laboratory evaluations of product chemistry,formulation and stability, as well as animal studies to evaluate the potential
for activity and toxicity and must be conducted in compliancewith applicable regulations. The results of the nonclinical
tests, together with manufacturing information and analytical data, are submittedto the FDA as part of an IND
application. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before thattime the FDA
raises concerns or questions about the product or conduct of the proposed clinical trial, including concerns that
humanresearch subjects will be exposed to unreasonable health risks. In that case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must
resolve any outstandingFDA concerns before the clinical trial can begin.A 30 A A Submissionof the IND may result in
the FDA not allowing the trial to commence or on the terms originally specified by the sponsor in the IND. Ifthe FDA
raises concerns or questions, it may choose to impose clinical holds on biological product candidates at any time before
or duringclinical trials due to safety concerns or non-compliance. If the FDA imposes a clinical hold, trials may not
recommence without FDA authorizationand only under terms authorized by the FDA.A HumanClinical Trials in Support
of a BLAA Clinicaltrials involve the administration of the investigational product candidate to healthy volunteers or
patients with the disease to be treatedunder the supervision of a qualified principal investigator in accordance with
GCP requirements. A protocol for each clinical trial andany subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the
FDA as part of the IND. A sponsor who wishes to conduct a clinical trialoutside the United States may, but need not,
obtain FDA authorization to conduct the clinical trial under an IND. If a foreign clinicaltrial is not conducted under an
IND, the sponsor may submit data from the clinical trial to the FDA in support of the BLA so long asthe clinical trial is
well-designed and well-conducted in accordance with GCP, including review and approval by an independent
ethicscommittee, and the FDA is able to validate the study data through an onsite inspection, if

necessary.A Further,each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by an institutional review board, or IRB, either
centrally or individually at eachinstitution at which the clinical trial will be conducted or, for trials conducted outside of
the United States, by an independent ethicscommittee referred to above. The IRB will consider, among other things,
clinical trial design, patient informed consent, ethical factorsand the safety of human subjects. An IRB must operate in
compliance with FDA regulations. The FDA, IRB, or the clinical trial sponsormay suspend or discontinue a clinical trial
at any time for various reasons, including a finding that the clinical trial is not beingconducted in accordance with FDA
requirements or the subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Clinicaltesting also must
satisfy extensive GCP rules and the requirements for informed consent. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseenby
an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring
board or committee.This group may recommend continuation of the study as planned, changes in study conduct, or
cessation of the study at designated checkpoints based on access to certain data from the study.A Clinicaltrials typically
are conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined. Additional studies may be required after
approval. A &—Phase 1: the biological product candidate is initially introduced into healthy human volunteers and tested
for safety. In thecase of some products for severe or life-threatening diseases, especially when the product may be too
inherently toxic to ethically administerto healthy volunteers, the initial human testing is often conducted in patients,
such as cancer patients.A &—Phase 2: the biological product candidate is evaluated in a limited patient population to
identify possible adverse effects andsafety risks, preliminary evaluate the efficacy of the product for specific targeted
diseases and determine dosage tolerance, optimaldosage and dosing schedule.A &—Phase 3: Clinical trials are
undertaken to further evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy, potency and safety in an expanded patientpopulation and
geographically dispersed clinical study sites. These trials are intended to establish the overall risk/benefit ratio ofthe
product and provide adequate basis for product labelling.A &—Phase 4: post-approval clinical trials, or Phase 4 clinical
trials, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. They provideadditional experience for the treatment of
patients in the intended therapeutic indication, particularly for long-term safety follow-up.If the FDA approves a
product while a company has ongoing clinical trials that were not necessary for approval, a company may be ableto use
the data from these clinical trials to meet all or part of any Phase 4 clinical trial requirement or to request a change in
theproduct labeling. Failure to exhibit due diligence with regard to conducting required Phase 4 clinical trials could
result in withdrawalof approval for products.A 31 A A Compliancewith cGMP RequirementsA Beforeapproving a BLA,
the FDA will typically inspect the facility(ies) where the product is manufactured to ensure full compliance of



themanufacturing processes and facilities with cGMP requirements and consistent production with required
specifications. Manufacturers andothers involved in the manufacture and distribution of products must also register
their establishments with the FDA and certain stateagencies. Both domestic and foreign manufacturing establishments
must register and provide additional information to the FDA upon theirinitial participation in the manufacturing
process. Any product manufactured by or imported from a facility that has not registered isdeemed misbranded under
the FDCA. Establishments may be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by government authorities.
Manufacturersmay have to provide records regarding their establishments.A Reviewand Approval of a BLAA Resultsof
product candidate development, nonclinical testing and clinical trials are submitted to the FDA as part of a BLA
requesting a licenseto market the product. The BLA must contain extensive and detailed information on the
manufacturing and composition of the product andproposed labeling as well as payment of a user fee. The FDA has 60
days after submission of the application to conduct an initial reviewto determine whether the BLA is sufficient to accept
for filing. Once the submission has been accepted for filing, the FDA begins itsin-depth review. The FDA has twelve
months in which to complete its initial review of a standard application (or six months for a priorityreview) and respond
to the applicant. The FDA does not always meet its goal dates and the review process may be significantly extendedby
FDA requests for additional information or clarification. The review process and the goal date may be extended by three
months ifthe FDA requests or if the applicant otherwise provides additional information or clarification regarding
information already providedin the submission within the last three months before the goal date.A Onthe basis of the
FDA&€™s evaluation of the application and accompanying information, the FDA may issue an approval letter,
denialletter, or a complete response letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with
specific prescribing informationfor specific indications. Under the PHSA, the FDA may approve a BLA if it determines
that the product is safe, pure and potent and thefacility where the product will be manufactured meets standards
designed to ensure that it continues to be safe, pure and potent. Ifthe application is not approved, the FDA may issue a
complete response letter, which will contain the conditions that must be met inorder to secure final approval of the
application, and when possible, will outline recommended actions the sponsor might take to obtainapproval of the
application. Sponsors that receive a complete response letter may submit to the FDA information that represents a
completeresponse to the issues identified by the FDA. Such resubmissions are classified under the Prescription Drug
User Fee Act, or PDUFA, aseither Class 1 or Class 2, based on the information submitted by an applicant in response to
an action letter. Under the goals and policiesagreed to by the FDA under PDUFA, the FDA has two months to review a
Class 1 resubmission and six months to review a Class 2 resubmission.The FDA will not approve an application until
issues identified in the complete response letter have been addressed. The FDA issues adenial letter if it determines
that the establishment or product does not meet the agencya€™ s requirements.A TheFDA may also refer the
application to an advisory committee for review, evaluation and non-binding recommendation as to whether the
applicationshould be approved. In particular, the FDA may refer applications for novel biologic products or biologic
products that present difficultquestions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee.A Ifthe FDA approves a new
product, the FDA may limit its approved indications for use as well as require that contraindications, warningsor
precautions be included in the product labeling. In addition, the FDA may call for post-approval studies, including Phase
4 clinicaltrials, to further assess the producta€™s safety after approval. The FDA may also require testing and
surveillance programs to monitorthe product after commercialization, or impose other conditions, including distribution
restrictions or other risk management mechanisms,including REMS, to help ensure that the benefits of the product
outweigh the potential risks. The FDA may prevent or limit further marketingof a product based on the results of post-
market studies or surveillance programs. After approval, many types of changes to the approvedproduct, such as adding
new indications, manufacturing changes and additional labeling claims, are subject to further testing requirementsand
FDA review and approval. A 32 A A FastTrack, Breakthrough Therapy and Priority Review DesignationsA TheFDA is
authorized to designate certain products for expedited review if they are intended to address an unmet medical need in
the treatmentof a serious or life-threatening disease or condition. These programs are referred to as (i) fast track
designation, (ii) breakthroughtherapy designation and (iii) priority review designation.A &—Fast Track Review: The FDA
may designate a product for fast track review if it is intended (alone or in combination with one ormore other products)
for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or condition, and it demonstrates the potential to
addressunmet medical needs for such a disease or condition. Sponsors may have greater interactions with the FDA and
the FDA may initiate reviewof sections of a fast track producta€™ s application before the application is complete. The
sponsor must also provide, and the FDAmust approve, a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and
the sponsor must pay applicable user fees. However, theFDA&€™ s time period goal for reviewing a fast track
application does not begin until the last section of the application is submitted.Fast track designation may be withdrawn
by the FDA.A A—Breakthrough Therapy: A product may be designated as a breakthrough therapy and be eligible for
expedited review if it is intended,alone or in combination with one or more other products, to treat a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and preliminaryclinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate
substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinicallysignificant endpoints, such as substantial
treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The FDA may take certain actionswith respect to
breakthrough therapies.A &—Priority Review: The FDA may designate a product for priority review if such product
treats a serious condition and, if approved,would provide a significant improvement in safety or effectiveness when
compared with other available therapies. This assessment is madeby the FDA on a case-by-case basis. A priority
designation is intended to direct overall attention and resources to the evaluation ofsuch applications, and to shorten
the FDAA€™ s goal for taking action on a marketing application from 10 to six months.A AcceleratedApproval

PathwayA TheFDA may grant accelerated approval to a product for a serious or life-threatening condition that provides
meaningful therapeutic advantageto patients over existing treatments based upon a determination that the product has
an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonablylikely to predict clinical benefit. The FDA may also grant
accelerated approval for such a condition when the product has an effect onan intermediate clinical endpoint that can
be measured earlier than an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, and thatis reasonably likely to predict
an effect on IMM or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence ofthe condition and the
availability or lack of alternative treatments. Products granted accelerated approval must meet the same
statutorystandards for safety and effectiveness as those granted traditional approval.A Forthe purposes of accelerated
approval, a surrogate endpoint is a marker, such as a laboratory measurement, radiographic image, physicalsign, or
other measure that is thought to predict clinical benefit but is not itself a measure of clinical benefit. Surrogate
endpointscan often be measured more easily or more rapidly than clinical endpoints. An intermediate clinical endpoint
is a measurement of a therapeuticeffect that is considered reasonably likely to predict the clinical benefit of a product,



such as an effect on IMM. The accelerated approvalpathway is most often used in settings in which the course of a
disease is long, and an extended period of time is required to measurethe intended clinical benefit of a product, even if
the effect on the surrogate or intermediate clinical endpoint occurs rapidly. Thus,accelerated approval has been used
extensively in the development and approval of products for treatment of a variety of cancers in whichthe goal of
therapy is generally to improve survival or decrease morbidity and the duration of the typical disease course requires
lengthyand sometimes large trials to demonstrate a clinical or survival benefit.A Theaccelerated approval pathway is
usually contingent on a sponsora€™s agreement to conduct, in a diligent manner, additional post-approvalconfirmatory
studies to verify and describe the producta€™s clinical benefit. As a result, a product candidate approved on this basisis
subject to rigorous post-marketing compliance requirements, including the completion of Phase 4 or post-approval
clinical trials toconfirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure to conduct required post-approval studies, or confirm
a clinical benefit duringpost-marketing studies, would allow the FDA to withdraw the product from the market on an
expedited basis. All promotional materialsfor product candidates approved under accelerated regulations are subject to
prior review by the FDA.A 33 A A Post-ApprovalRegulationA Evenif regulatory approval is granted, a marketed product
is subject to continuing comprehensive requirements under federal, state and foreignlaws and regulations, including
requirements and restrictions regarding adverse event reporting, recordkeeping, marketing, and compliancewith
cGMP. Adverse events reported after approval of a drug can result in additional restrictions on the use of a marketed
product orrequirements for additional post-marketing studies or clinical trials.A Maintainingsubstantial compliance
with applicable federal, state and local statutes and regulations requires the expenditure of substantial timeand
financial resources. Rigorous and extensive FDA regulation of biological products continues after approval, particularly
with respectto cGMP requirements. Biological product manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture
and distribution of approved biologicalproducts are required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain
state agencies and are subject to periodic unannouncedinspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for
compliance with cGMP requirements and other laws. We will rely, and expect to continueto rely, on third parties for the
production of clinical and commercial quantities of any products that we may commercialize. Manufacturersof our
products are required to comply with applicable requirements in the cGMP regulations, including quality control and
quality assuranceand maintenance of records and documentation. Other post-approval requirements applicable to
biological products include record-keepingrequirements, reporting of adverse effects and reporting updated safety and
efficacy information.A Discoveryof previously unknown problems or the failure to comply with the applicable regulatory
requirements relating to the manufacturer or promotionof an approved product may result in restrictions on the
marketing of a product or withdrawal of the product from the market as wellas significant administrative, civil or
criminal sanctions.A OrphanDrug DesignationA Orphandrug designation in the United States is designed to encourage
sponsors to develop products intended for rare diseases or conditions.In the United States, a rare disease or condition
is statutorily defined as a condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals inthe United States or that affects more
than 200,000 individuals in the United States and for which there is no reasonable expectationthat the cost of
developing and making available the product for the disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the productin
the United States.A Orphandrug designation qualifies a company for tax credits and market exclusivity for seven years
following the date of the producta€ ™ smarketing approval if granted by the FDA. An application for designation as an
orphan product can be made any time prior to the filingof an application for approval to market the product. A product
may be designated as an orphan drug by the FDA Office of Orphan ProductsDevelopment, or OOPD, based on an
acceptable application. The product must then go through the review and approval process like any otherproduct.
Orphan drug designations may be revoked based on a change in the incidence of the disease.A Asponsor may request
orphan drug designation of a previously unapproved product or a new orphan indication for an already marketed
product.In addition, a sponsor of a product that is otherwise the same product as an already approved orphan drug may
seek and obtain orphandrug designation for the subsequent product for the same rare disease or condition if it can
present a plausible hypothesis that itsproduct may be clinically superior to the first drug. More than one sponsor may
receive orphan drug designation for the same productfor the same rare disease or condition, but each sponsor seeking
orphan drug designation must file a complete request for designation.A Theperiod of exclusivity begins on the date that
the marketing application is approved by the FDA and applies only to the indication forwhich the product has been
designated. The FDA may approve a second application for the same product for a different use or a secondapplication
for a clinically superior version of the product for the same use. The FDA cannot, however, approve the same product
madeby another manufacturer for the same indication during the market exclusivity period unless it has the consent of
the sponsor or thesponsor is unable to provide sufficient quantities.A 34 A A PediatricResearchA Underthe Pediatric
Research Equity Act, certain applications for approval must include an assessment, generally based on clinical study
data,of the safety and effectiveness of the subject drug in relevant pediatric populations. The FDA may waive or defer
the requirement fora pediatric assessment, either at the companya€™s request or by the FDA&€™ s initiative. The FDA
may determine that a Risk Evaluationand Mitigation Strategy are necessary to ensure that the benefits of a new
product outweigh its risks. REMS may include various elements,ranging from a medication guide or patient package
insert to limitations on who may prescribe or dispense the drug, depending on whatthe FDA considers necessary for the
safe use of the drug. Sponsors are required to submit an initial pediatric study plan to their INDafter their end-of-phase
2 meeting with the FDAA Regulationand Procedures Governing Approval of Medicinal Products in the European
UnionA Inorder to market any product outside of the United States, a company also must comply with numerous
regulatory requirements of other countriesand jurisdictions. Whether or not it obtains FDA approval for a product, an
applicant will need to obtain the necessary approvals bythe comparable foreign regulatory authorities before it can
initiate clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries orjurisdictions.A ClinicalTrial ApprovalA Pursuantto
the currently applicable Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC and the Directive 2005/28/EC on GCP, a system for the
approval of clinicaltrials in the European Union has been implemented through national legislation of the Member
States. Under this system, an applicantmust obtain approval from the competent national authority of a European
Union Member State in which the clinical trial is to be conductedor in multiple Member States if the clinical trial is to
be conducted in a number of Member States. Furthermore, the applicant may onlystart a clinical trial at a specific study
site after the independent ethics committee has issued a favorable opinion. The clinical trialapplication, or CTA, must
be accompanied by an investigational medicinal product dossier with supporting information prescribed by
Directive2001/20/EC and Directive 2005/28/EC and corresponding national laws of the Member States and further
detailed in applicable guidancedocuments.A InApril 2014, the European Union adopted a new Clinical Trials Regulation
(EU) No 536/2014, which is set to replace the current ClinicalTrials Directive 2001/20/EC. It is expected that the new
Clinical Trials Regulation will apply in 2019 or 2020. It will overhaul thecurrent system of approvals for clinical trials in



the European Union. Specifically, the new regulation, which will be directly applicablein all Member States, aims at
simplifying and streamlining the approval of clinical trials in the European Union. For instance, the newClinical Trials
Regulation provides for a streamlined application procedure using a single entry point and strictly defined deadlinesfor
the assessment of clinical trial applications.A MarketingAuthorizationA Toobtain a marketing authorization for a
product under the European Union regulatory system, an applicant must submit an MAA, either undera centralized
procedure administered by the EMA or one of the procedures administered by competent authorities in European Union
MemberStates (decentralized procedure, national procedure, or mutual recognition procedure). A marketing
authorization may be granted onlyto an applicant established in the European Union. An applicant must demonstrate
compliance with all measures included in an EMA-approvedPediatric Investigation Plan, or PIP, covering all subsets of
the pediatric population, unless the EMA has granted a product-specificwaiver, class waiver, or a deferral for one or
more of the measures included in the PIP.A Thecentralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing
authorization by the European Commission that is valid for all EuropeanUnion Member States. It is compulsory for
specific products, including for medicines produced by certain biotechnological processes,products designated as
orphan medicinal products, advanced therapy products and products with a new active substance indicated for
thetreatment of certain diseases, including products for the treatment of cancer. For products with a new active
substance indicated forthe treatment of other diseases and products that are highly innovative or for which a
centralized process is in the interest of patients,the centralized procedure may be optional.A Underthe centralized
procedure, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or the CHMP, established at the EMA is responsible
forconducting the assessment of a product to define its risk/benefit profile. Under the centralized procedure, the
maximum timeframe forthe evaluation of an MAA is 210 days, excluding clock stops when additional information or
written or oral explanation is to be providedby the applicant in response to questions of the CHMP. Accelerated
evaluation may be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when amedicinal product is of major interest from the
point of view of public health and, in particular, from the viewpoint of therapeuticinnovation.A 35 A A Periodsof
Authorization and RenewalsA Amarketing authorization is valid for five years, in principle, and it may be renewed after
five years on the basis of a reevaluationof the risk benefit balance by the EMA or by the competent authority of the
authorizing Member State. Once renewed, the marketing authorizationis valid for an unlimited period, unless the
European Commission or the competent authority decides, on justified grounds relating topharmacovigilance, to
proceed with one additional five-year renewal period. Any authorization that is not followed by the placement ofthe
drug on the European Union market (in the case of the centralized procedure) or on the market of the authorizing
Member State withinthree years after authorization ceases to be valid.A RegulatoryRequirements after Marketing
AuthorizationA Followingapproval, the holder of the marketing authorization is required to comply with a range of
requirements applicable to the manufacturing, marketing, promotion and sale of the medicinal product. These include
compliance with the European Uniona€™s stringent pharmacovigilanceor safety reporting rules, pursuant to which
post-authorization studies and additional monitoring obligations can be imposed. In addition,the manufacturing of
authorized products, for which a separate manufacturera€™s license is mandatory, must also be conducted in
strictcompliance with the EMAa€™s GMP requirements and comparable requirements of other regulatory bodies in the
European Union, whichmandate the methods, facilities and controls used in manufacturing, processing and packing of
drugs to assure their safety and identity.Finally, the marketing and promotion of authorized products, including
industry-sponsored continuing medical education and advertisingdirected toward the prescribers of drugs and/or the
general public, are strictly regulated in the European Union under Directive 2001/83EC,as amended.A OrphanDrug
Designation and ExclusivityA Regulation(EC) No. 141/2000 and Regulation (EC) No. 847/2000 provide that a product
can be designated as an orphan drug by the European Commissionif its sponsor can establish: that the product is
intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of (1) a life-threatening or chronicallydebilitating condition affecting
not more than five in ten thousand persons in the European Union when the application is made, or (2)a life-
threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition in the European Union and that without incentives it
is unlikelythat the marketing of the drug in the European Union would generate sufficient return to justify the
necessary investment. For eitherof these conditions, the applicant must demonstrate that there exists no satisfactory
method of diagnosis, prevention, or treatment ofthe condition in question that has been authorized in the European
Union or, if such method exists, the drug has to be of significantbenefit compared to products available for the
condition. An orphan drug designation provides benefits such as fee reductions, regulatoryassistance and the possibility
to apply for a centralized European Union marketing authorization. Marketing authorization for an orphandrug leads to
a ten-year period of market exclusivity. The market exclusivity period may however be reduced to six years if, at the
endof the fifth year, it is established that the product no longer meets the criteria for orphan drug

designation.A CombinationProducts in the United StatesA Certainproducts, the combination products, may be
comprised of components that would normally be regulated under different types of regulatoryauthorities and
frequently by different centers at the FDA. A combination product may be (i) a product comprised of two or more
regulatedcomponents that are physically, chemically, or otherwise combined or mixed and produced as a single entity;
(i) two or more separateproducts packaged together in a single package or as a unit and comprised of drug and device
products, device and biological products,or biological and drug products; (iii) drug, or device, or biological product
packaged separately that according to its investigationalplan or proposed labeling is intended for use only with an
approved individually specified drug, or device, or biological product whereboth are required to achieve the intended
use, indication, or effect and where upon approval of the proposed product the labeling ofthe approved product would
need to be changed, e.g., to reflect a change in intended use, dosage form, strength, route of administration,or
significant change in dose; or (iv) any investigational drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that
according toits proposed labeling is for use only with another individually specified investigational drug, device, or
biological product where bothare required to achieve the intended use, indication, or effect. The FDA is charged with
assigning a center with primary jurisdiction,or a lead center, for review of a combination product, this determination
being based on the a€ceprimary mode of actiona€ ofthe combination product. Sponsors may request a jurisdiction
determination by submitting a Request for Designation to the office of CombinationDrug Products.A 36 A

A Mergerwith Chanticleer and Acquisition of ReliefA ThisAnnual Report on Form 10-K is filed by Sonnet
BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (4€ceSonnet Holdings,a€ d€cewe,a€ a€ceus,a€a€meour,a€ or the &€eCompanya€),
formerly known as Chanticleer Holdings, Inc. Until March 31, 2020, the Company wasin the business of owning,
operating and franchising fast casual dining concepts domestically and internationally. As previously disclosed,on April
1, 2020, the Company completed its merger transaction with Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc. (3€ceSonneta€), pursuant
towhich Sonnet became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the 4€ceMergera€). On April 1, 2020, in connection



with the Merger,the Company changed its name to 4&€ceSonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.4€ Sonnet was
incorporated as a New Jersey corporationon April 6, 2015.A TheMerger was treated by the Company as a reverse
merger and accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. generallyaccepted accounting principles
(4€0eU.S. GAAPA€). For accounting purposes, Sonnet is considered to have acquired the Company.A Inconnection with
and prior to the Merger, the Company contributed and transferred to Amergent Hospitality Group, Inc.
(a€ceAmergenta€),a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, all of the assets and liabilities relating to
the Companya€™s restaurantbusiness. The dividend, which together with the contribution and transfer of the
Companya€™s restaurant business described above,is referred to as the &€ceSpin-Off.a€ Prior to the Spin-Off,
Amergent engaged in no business or operations.A Asa result of the Spin-Off and the Merger, since April 1, 2020, the
Company has operated through Sonnet and its direct and indirect subsidiariesand the ongoing business of the Company
is the Sonnet business.A Inaddition, in connection with and prior to the Merger, on April 1, 2020, Sonnet completed its
acquisition of the global development rightsfor Atexakin Alfa (low dose formulation of Interleukin-6, IL-6, now a€ceSON-
080a€) from Relief Therapeutics Holding SA (a€eReliefHoldinga€) through its acquisition of Relief Holdinga€™s
wholly-owned subsidiary, Relief Therapeutics SA (a€ceReliefa€),in exchange for the issuance to Relief Holding of shares
of Sonnet common stock that converted into an aggregate of 2,460 shares of Companycommon stock in the

Merger.A RecentOfferingsA December2024 Registered Direct and PIPE OfferingA OnDecember 9, 2024, we entered
into a securities purchase agreement for a registered direct offering, pursuant to which we sold anaggregate of (i)
768,000 shares of common stock, and (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 317,325 shares
ofcommon stock. Pursuant to the registered direct purchase agreement, in a concurrent private placement, we also sold
warrants topurchase up to 1,085,325 shares of common stock. Each registered direct share (or registered direct pre-
funded warrant in lieuthereof) was sold in the registered direct offering together with one registered direct common
warrant at a combined offering priceof $2.23, priced at-the-market under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market. The
registered direct pre-funded warrants had an exciseprice of $0.0001 per share, were immediately exercisable and were
exercised in full on December 10, 2024.. The registered directcommon warrants have an exercise price of $2.10 per
share, are immediately exercisable and will expire five years from the date ofissuance.A Inaddition, on December 9,
2024, we also entered into a securities purchase agreement for a concurrent private placement with anexisting
securityholder, pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of (i) 127,500 shares of commonstock, (ii) pre-funded warrants
to purchase up to an aggregate of 545,500 shares of common stock, and (iii) common warrants topurchase up to an
aggregate of 673,000 shares of common stock. Each private placement share (or private placement pre-funded
warrantin lieu thereof) was sold in the private placement together with one private placement common warrant at a
combined offering price of$2.23, priced at-the-market under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market. The private
placement pre-funded warrants have an exciseprice of $0.0001 per share, are immediately exercisable and may be
exercised at any time from the closing date of the privateplacement until all of the private placement pre-funded
warrants are exercised in full. The private placement common warrants havean exercise price of $2.10 per share, are
immediately exercisable and will expire five years from the date of issuance.A Theregistered direct offering and the
concurrent private placement closed on December 10, 2024 for aggregate gross proceeds to us of approximately$3.9
million, before deducting the placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses paid by us.A November2024
Underwritten Public Offering A OnNovember 6, 2024, we entered into an underwriting agreement with Chardan, as the
underwriter, pursuant to which we agreed to sell toChardan, in a firm commitment underwritten public offering, an
aggregate of (i) 155,000 shares of common stock, (ii) pre-funded warrantsto purchase up to 956,111 shares of common
stock, and (iii) accompanying warrants to purchase up to 2,222,222 shares of common stockat the combined public
offering price of $4.50 per share and accompanying common warrant and $4.4999 per pre-funded warrant and
accompanyingcommon warrant, in each case less underwriting discounts and commissions. The offering closed on
November 7, 2024. Pursuant to the underwritingagreement, we agreed to pay Chardan (i) a commission of 7.0% of the
gross proceeds of the offering, (ii) all reasonable out-of-pocketexpenses of Chardan relating to the offering, including a
maximum of $125,000 for the fees and disbursements of counsel to Chardan, and(iii) a non-accountable expense
allowance equal to 1% of the gross proceeds of the offering. The net proceeds to us from the offeringwere
approximately $4.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses.
We expect touse the proceeds from the offering for research and development, including clinical trials, working capital,
the repayment of all ora portion of our liabilities, and general corporate purposes.A WarrantInducement

OfferingA OnJune 19, 2024, we entered into inducement offer letter agreements with holders of certain existing
warrants issued in October 2023 havingan original exercise price of $12.80 per share to purchase up to an aggregate of
353,562 shares of our common stock at a reduced exerciseprice of $9.60 per share (the &€ceWarrant Inducement
Offeringa€). The Warrant Inducement Offering closed on June 21, 2024, resultingin gross proceeds to us of $3.4 million
and net proceeds of $2.9 million. Also, in connection with the Warrant Inducement Offering, we(i) issued to holders who
participated in the transaction new common stock warrants to purchase an aggregate of 703,125 shares of
commonstock, (ii) reduced the exercise price of existing warrants to purchase 354,994 shares of common stock for
those holders who did notexercise warrants in the transaction from $12.80 per share to $9.60 per share for the
remaining term of the warrants, and (iii) reducedthe exercise price of certain existing warrants issued in June 2023 to
purchase 28,409 shares of common stock from $118.7824 per shareto $12.40 per share and extended the expiration
date of these warrants from December 30, 2026 to June 21, 2029. The new common stockwarrants are immediately
exercisable at a price of $12.40 per share and expire five years from the date of issuance. Warrants to purchasel4,142
shares of common stock were issued to the placement agent as compensation for its services related to the Warrant
Inducement Offering.These common stock warrants are immediately exercisable at a price of $14.88 per share and
expire five years from the date of issuance.A NasdaqgLetters and Reverse Stock SplitA OnAugust 5, 2024, we received a
letter from the Listing Qualifications Staff (the &€ceStaffa€) of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (&€ceTheNasdaq Stock
Marketa€) indicating that, based upon our non-compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement set forth
inNasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market (the 4€ceBid Price
Requirementa€), the Staffhad determined to delist our securities from The Nasdaq Capital Market unless we timely
request a hearing before the Nasdaq Hearing Panel(the a€cePaneld€). The Nasdaq Listing Rules require listed
securities to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share and,based upon the closing bid price of our common
stock for the last 30 consecutive business days, we no longer meet this requirement. Becausewe effected one or more
reverse stock splits over the prior two-year period with a cumulative ratio of 250 shares or more to one, theStaff did not
grant additional time for us to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement.A OnAugust 28, 2024, we received
notice from The Nasdaq Stock Market that the Panel had granted us an exception until October 15, 2024



(thea€eExceptiona€) to effect a reverse stock split of our common stock once approved by our stockholders, and regain
compliancewith the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market under
the Bid Price Requirement. In theevent we failed to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement by October 15,
2024, our securities would have been delisted fromThe Nasdaq Capital Market. The Exception was granted following
the Panela€™ s review of an expired review questionnaire submittedby us to Nasdaq on August 19, 2024.A Atour annual
meeting of stockholders held on September 12, 2024, our stockholders voted to approve an amendment to our
Certificate of Incorporation,as amended (the 4€ceCertificate of Incorporationa€), to effect a reverse stock split of our
issued and outstanding shares ofcommon stock, at a specific ratio, ranging from one-for-two (1:2) to one-for-twelve
(1:12), at any time prior to the one-year anniversarydate of the Annual Meeting, with the exact ratio to be determined
by our Board. On September 25, 2024, we filed a Certificate of Amendmentto our Certificate of Incorporation, as
amended, with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, effected at 12:01 a.m. EasternTime on September 30,
2024, a one-for-eight (1:8) reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock. On Octoberl6,
2024, we received a letter from The Nasdaq Stock Market stating that because our shares had a closing bid price above
$1.00 per sharefor 11 consecutive trading days, our common stock had regained compliance with the Bid Price
Requirement of $1.00 per share for continuedlisting on The Nasdaq Capital Market, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule
5550(a)(2). We will be subject to a mandatory panel monitorfor a period of one year from October 16, 2024. If, within
that one-year monitoring period, the Staff finds us again out of compliancewith the Minimum Bid Price Requirement,
notwithstanding Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(2), then the Staff will issue a delist determinationletter and we will have
an opportunity to request a new hearing with the initial Panel or a newly convened Panel if the initial Panelis
unavailable.A Corporateand Available InformationA We were organized on October 21, 1999, under its original name,
Tulvine Systems, Inc., under the laws of the State of Delaware. OnApril 25, 2005, Tulvine Systems, Inc. formed a wholly
owned subsidiary, Chanticleer Holdings, Inc., and on May 2, 2005, Tulvine Systems,Inc. merged with, and changed its
name to, Chanticleer Holdings, Inc. On April 1, 2020, we completed our business combinationwith Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc. (d4€ceSonneta€), in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated asof
October 10, 2019, as amended, by and among us, Sonnet and Biosub Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(&€®eMergerSuba€) (the a€eMerger Agreementa€), pursuant to which Merger Sub merged with and into Sonnet, with
Sonnet surviving asa wholly owned subsidiary of us (the &4€ceMergera€). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, we
issued sharesof common stock to Sonneta€™s stockholders at an exchange rate of 0.106572 shares for each share of
Sonnet common stock outstandingimmediately prior to the Merger. In connection with the Merger, we changed our
name from a€oeChanticleer Holdings, Inc.a€to a€ceSonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.,4€ and the business
conducted by us became the business conducted by Sonnet.A Ourprincipal executive offices are located at 100 Overlook
Center, Suite 102, Princeton, New Jersey 08540. Our telephone number is (609)375-2227 and the corporate website
address is https://www.sonnetbio.com/. We included the website address in this Annual Report on Form10-K only as an
inactive textual reference and do not intend it to be an active link to our website. The information on the website isnot
incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.A 37 A A ThisAnnual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports, as wellas other documents
we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (4€0ceSEC&€), are available free of charge throughthe
Investors section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
furnishedto the SEC. The public can obtain documents that we file with the SEC at www.sec.gov.A Item1A. Risk
Factors.A Aninvestment in our securities involves a high degree of risk including the risk of a loss of your entire
investment. You should carefullyconsider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information
contained in this report and the other reports filed byus with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 4€eSECa€).
The risks set forth below are not the only ones facing us. Additionalrisks and uncertainties may exist that could also
adversely affect our business, operations and financial condition. If any of the followingrisks actually materialize, our
business, financial condition and/or operations could suffer. In such event, the value of our commonstock could decline,
and you could lose all or a substantial portion of the money that you pay for our securities.A Summaryof Risk FactorsA
A a— We have a history of significant operating losses and expect to incur significant and increasing losses for the
foreseeable future, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability. A &— Our recurring losses from operations
have raised substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. A 4&— We will need significant
additional capital, and if we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate
our product discovery and development programs or commercialization efforts. A &— We are substantially dependent
on the success of our internal development programs and our product pipeline candidates may not successfully
complete clinical trials, receive regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized. A a— We are at an early stage
in our development efforts, our product candidates represent a new category of medicines and may be subject to
heightened regulatory scrutiny until they are established as a therapeutic modality. A &— We may not satisfy The
Nasdaq Capital Marketa€™s requirements for continuedlisting of our common stock in the future. If we cannot satisfy
these requirements, The Nasdaq Capital Market could delist our commonstock. A 4— Even if we complete the
necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time consuming and
uncertain and may prevent us or any collaborators from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of some or all of
our product candidates. As a result, we cannot predict when or if, and in which territories, we, or any collaborators, will
obtain marketing approval to commercialize a product candidate. A 4— We face significant competition and if our
competitors develop and market products that are more effective, safer or less expensive than the product candidates
we develop, our commercial opportunities will be negatively impacted. A &— The commercial success of any current or
future product candidate will depend upon the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, payors and others
in the medical community. A 4— For certain product candidates, we may depend on development and
commercialization collaborators to develop and conduct clinical trials with, obtain regulatory approvals for, and if
approved, market and sell product candidates. If such collaborators fail to perform as expected, the potential for us to
generate future revenue from such product candidates would be significantly reduced and our business would be
harmed. A 4— We will rely on third parties, including independent clinical investigators and CROs, to conduct and
sponsor some of the clinical trials of our product candidates. Any failure by a third party to meet its obligations with
respect to the clinical development of our product candidates may delay or impair our ability to obtain regulatory
approval for our product candidates. A 4— If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual
property protection for our products and product candidates, or if the scope of the patent and other intellectual
property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize products
similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products and product candidates may be



adversely affected. A &— We expect to expand our organization, and as a result, we may encounter difficulties in
managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations. A &— We do not expect to pay cash dividends in the
foreseeable future and therefore investors should not anticipate cash dividends on their investment. A 38 A

A RisksRelated to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional CapitalA Wehave a history of significant operating
losses and expect to incur significant and increasing losses for the foreseeable future, andwe may never achieve or
maintain profitability.A Wedo not expect to generate revenue or profitability that is necessary to finance our operations
in the short term. Our net losses forthe fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $7.4
million and $18.8 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2024, we hadan accumulated deficit of approximately
$117.7 million.A Todate, we have not commercialized any products or generated any revenues from the sale of
products, and absent the realization of sufficientrevenues from product sales, we may never attain profitability in the
future. We have devoted substantially all of our financial resourcesand efforts to research and development, including
preclinical studies and our clinical trials. Our net losses may fluctuate significantlyfrom quarter to quarter and year to
year. Net losses and negative cash flows have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect onour shareholdersa€™
(deficit) equity and working capital.A Weanticipate that our expenses will increase if and as we:A A a4— continue to
develop and conduct clinical trials with respect to our lead product candidate, SON-080, and our other product
candidates; A A A A a— initiate and continue research, preclinical and clinical development efforts for any future
product candidates; A A A A 4— seek to discover and develop additional product candidates and further expand our
clinical product pipeline; A A A A 4— seek marketing and regulatory approvals for any product candidates that
successfully complete clinical trials; A A A A 4— require the manufacture of larger quantities of product candidates
for clinical development and, potentially, commercialization; A A A A 4— maintain, expand and protect our
intellectual property portfolio; A A A A a— expand our research and development infrastructure, including hiring and
retaining additional personnel, such as clinical, quality control and scientific personnel; A A A A 4— establish sales,
marketing, distribution and other commercial infrastructure in the future to commercialize products for which we
obtain marketing approval, if any; A A A A d— add operational, financial and management information systems and
personnel, including personnel to support our product development and commercialization and help us comply with our
obligations as a public company; and A A A A 4— add equipment and physical infrastructure to support our research
and development. A Ourability to become and remain profitable depends on our ability to license our products and
generate revenue. Generating product revenuewill depend on our ability to obtain marketing approval for, and
successfully commercialize, one or more of our product candidates.A Successfulcommercialization will require
achievement of key milestones, including completing clinical trials of our product candidates, obtainingmarketing
approval for these product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we, or any
collaborators,may obtain marketing approval, satisfying any post-marketing requirements and obtaining reimbursement
for our products from private insuranceor government payors. Because of the uncertainties and risks associated with
these activities, we are unable to accurately predict thetiming and amount of revenues, and if or when we might
achieve profitability. We and any collaborators may never succeed in these activitiesand, even if we do, or any
collaborators do, we may never generate revenues that are large enough for us to achieve profitability. Evenif we do
achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.A 39 A

A Ourfailure to become and remain profitable would depress the market price of our common stock and could impair
our ability to raise capital,expand our business, diversify our product offerings or continue our operations. If we
continue to suffer losses, investors may not receiveany return on their investment and may lose their entire
investment.A Ourlimited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date
and to assess our future viability.A Ourbusiness commenced operations in 2015. Our operations to date have been
limited to financing and staffing our company, developing ourtechnology, conducting preclinical research and early-
stage clinical trials for our product candidates and pursuing strategic collaborationsto advance our product candidates.
We have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully conduct late-stage clinical trials, obtainmarketing approvals,
manufacture a commercial-scale product, or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales
andmarketing activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Accordingly, you should consider our
prospects in light of thecosts, uncertainties, delays and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in the early
stages of development, especially clinical-stagebiopharmaceutical companies such as ours. Any predictions you make
about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as theywould be if we had a longer operating history or a
history of successfully developing and commercializing pharmaceutical products.A Wemay encounter unforeseen
expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known or unknown factors in achieving our business
objectives.We will eventually need to transition from a company with a development focus to a company capable of
supporting commercial activities.We may not be successful in such a transition.A Weexpect our financial condition and
operating results to continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to yeardue to a variety of
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, you should not rely upon the results of any quarterlyor
annual periods as indications of future operating performance.A Ourrecurring losses from operations have raised
substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern.A Wehave incurred recurring losses and negative
cash flows from operations activities since inception and we expect to generate losses andnegative cash flows from
operations for the foreseeable future primarily due to research and development costs for our potential
productcandidates. As of September 30, 2024, we had cash of $0.1 million and stockholdersa€™ deficit of $0.5 million.
We believe our cashat September 30, 2024, together with the approximate $7.7 million received after September 30,
2024 through the sale of shares of ourcommon stock and warrants through a combination of offerings, will fund our
projected operations into July 2025. We also received$0.7 million from the R&D Tax Incentive Program in Australia and
Alkem has also agreed to pay us a $1.0 million upfront non-refundablecash payment within 12 weeks of the effective
date of the Alkem Agreement, of which $0.5 million has been paid.A Substantialadditional financing will be needed by
us to fund our operations. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continueas a going concern. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplatesthe
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The consolidated financial
statements donot include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.A Wewill require
additional capital in the future through equity or debt financings, partnerships, collaborations, or other sources to
carryout our planned development activities. If additional capital is not secured when required, we may need to delay or
curtail our operationsuntil such funding is received. Various internal and external factors will affect whether and when
our product candidates become approvedfor marketing and successful commercialization. The regulatory approval and
market acceptance of our products candidates, length of timeand cost of developing and commercializing these product



candidates and/or failure of them at any stage of the approval process willmaterially affect our financial condition and
future operations.A 40 A A Operationssince inception have consisted primarily of organizing us, securing financing,
developing its technologies through performing researchand development and conducting preclinical studies. We face
risks associated with companies whose products are in development. Theserisks include the need for additional
financing to complete its research and development, achieving its research and development objectives,defending its
intellectual property rights, recruiting and retaining skilled personnel, and dependence on key members of
management.A Ourability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to raise additional equity or debt
capital or spin-off non-core assetsto raise additional cash. Should we be unable to raise sufficient additional capital, we
may be required to undertake cost-cutting measuresincluding delaying or discontinuing certain clinical

activities.A Thesource, timing and availability of any future financing will depend principally upon market conditions,
and, more specifically, on theprogress of our clinical development programs. Funding may not be available when
needed, at all, or on terms acceptable to us. Lack ofnecessary funds may require us, among other things, to delay, scale
back or eliminate some or all of our planned clinical trials. Thesefactors among others create a substantial doubt about
our ability to continue as a going concern.A Wewill need substantial additional funding, and if we are unable to raise
capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminateour product discovery and development programs
or commercialization efforts.A Developingpharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical
trials, is a very time-consuming, expensive and uncertainprocess that takes years to complete. For example, for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we used $8.6 million and $21.3 million, respectively,in net cash for
our operating activities, substantially all of which related to research and development activities. We expect our
expensesto increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we initiate new clinical trials of, initiate
new research andpreclinical development efforts for and seek marketing approval for, our current product candidates
or any future product candidates.In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we may
incur significant commercialization expenses relatedto product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution to the
extent that such sales, marketing, manufacturing and distributionare not the responsibility of a collaborator.
Furthermore, as a result of the Merger, we will continue to incur significant costs associatedwith operating as a public
company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our
continuingoperations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we may be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate ourresearch and development programs or any future commercialization efforts.A Wewill be
required to expend significant funds in order to advance the development of the product candidates in our pipeline, as
well asother product candidates we may seek to develop. In addition, while we may seek one or more collaborators for
future development of ourproduct candidates, we may not be able to enter into a collaboration for any of our product
candidates for such indications on suitableterms, on a timely basis or at all. In any event, our existing cash will not be
sufficient to fund all of the efforts that we plan toundertake or to fund the completion of development of any of our
product candidates. Accordingly, we will be required to obtain furtherfunding through public or private equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations and licensing arrangements or other sources. We donot have any committed
external source of funds. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or atall. Our
failure to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to
pursueour business strategy.A 41 A A Ourestimate may prove to be wrong, and we could use our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect. Further, changing circumstances,some of which may be beyond our control,
could cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate, and wemay need to seek additional
funds sooner than planned. Our future funding requirements, both short-term and long-term, will depend onmany
factors, including:A A a— the scope, progress, timing, costs and results of clinical trials of, and research and
preclinical development efforts for, our current and future product candidates; A A A A a— our ability to enter into,
and the terms and timing of, any collaborations, licensing or other arrangements; A A A A 4— our ability to identify
one or more future product candidates for our pipeline; A A A A a— the number of future product candidates that we
pursue and their development requirements; A A A A 4— the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulatory
approvals; A A 4— the costs of commercialization activities for any of our product candidates that receive marketing
approval to the extent such costs are not the responsibility of any collaborators, including the costs and timing of
establishing product sales, marketing, distribution and manufacturing capabilities; A A A A 4— the receipt of
marketing approval, revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our current and future product candidates; A A
A A a— our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our research and development and establish a
commercial infrastructure; A A A A 4— the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining
and protecting our intellectual property rights including enforcing and defending intellectual property related claims;
and A A A A 4— the costs of operating as a public company. A Raisingadditional capital may cause dilution to our
existing shareholders, restrict our operations or cause us to relinquish valuable rights.A Wewill seek additional capital
through a combination of public and private equity offerings, debt financings, strategic partnershipsand alliances,
licensing arrangements or monetization transactions. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the saleof
equity, convertible debt securities or other equity-based derivative securities, your ownership interest will be diluted
and theterms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a

shareholder.A Anyindebtedness we incur would result in increased fixed payment obligations and could involve
restrictive covenants, such as limitationson our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or
license intellectual property rights and other operatingrestrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct
our business. Furthermore, the issuance of additional securities, whetherequity or debt, by us, or the possibility of such
issuance, may cause the market price of our common stock to decline and existing shareholdersmay not agree with our
financing plans or the terms of such financings. If we raise additional funds through strategic partnerships
andalliances, licensing arrangements or monetization transactions with third parties, we may have to relinquish
valuable rights to our technologies,or our product candidates, or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us. Adequate
additional financing may not be available to us onacceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise additional funds
when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminateour product development or future
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwiseprefer to
develop and market ourselves.A 42 A A RisksRelated to the Discovery, Development and Regulatory Approval of Our
Product CandidatesA Weare substantially dependent on the success of our internal development programs and our
product pipeline candidates may not successfullycomplete clinical trials, receive regulatory approval or be successfully
commercialized.A Ourfuture success will depend heavily on the success of our internal development programs and of
product candidates from our pipeline program.A Ourability to successfully commercialize our pipeline and our other



product candidates will depend on, among other things, our ability to:A A 4— successfully complete preclinical studies
and clinical trials; A A A A 4— receive regulatory approvals from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(4€0eFDAA€), the European Medicines Agency (A4€ceEMAA€) and other similar regulatory authorities; A A A A a—
establish and maintain collaborations with third parties for the development and/or commercialization of our product
candidates, or otherwise build and maintain strong development, sales, distribution and marketing capabilities that are
sufficient to develop products and launch commercial sales of any approved products; A A A A 4— obtain coverage
and adequate reimbursement from payors such as government health care systems and insurance companies and
achieve commercially attractive levels of pricing; A A A A d— secure acceptance of our product candidates from
physicians, health care payors, patients and the medical community; A A A A 4— produce, through a validated
process, in manufacturing facilities inspected and approved by regulatory authorities, including the FDA, sufficiently
large quantities of our product candidates to permit successful commercialization; A A A A 4— manage our spending
as expenses increase due to clinical trials and commercialization; and A A A A 4— obtain and enforce sufficient
intellectual property rights for any approved products and product candidates. A Ofthe large number of drugs in
development in the pharmaceutical industry, only a small percentage result in the submission of a new drugapplication,
or NDA, or biologics licensing application, or BLA, to the FDA and even fewer are approved for commercialization.
Furthermore,even if we do receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates, any such approval may be
subject to limitations on the indicateduses or patient populations for which we may market the product. Accordingly,
even if we are able to obtain the requisite financing tocontinue to fund our development programs, we cannot assure
you that our product candidates will be successfully developed or commercialized.If we are unable to develop, or obtain
regulatory approval for, or, if approved, to successfully commercialize our product candidates,we may not be able to
generate sufficient revenue to continue our business.A Weare at an early stage in our development efforts, our product
candidates represent a new category of medicines and may be subject toheightened regulatory scrutiny until they are
established as a therapeutic modality.A Ourpipeline product candidates represent a new therapeutic modality of
including engaging a Fully Human Albumin Binding Domain to delivertherapeutic products. Our product candidates
may not demonstrate in patients any or all of the pharmacological benefits we believe theymay possess. We have not yet
succeeded and may never succeed in demonstrating efficacy and safety for these or any other product candidatesin
clinical trials or in obtaining marketing approval thereafter.A Regulatoryauthorities do not have experience with our
product candidate and may require evidence of safety and efficacy that goes beyond what wehave included in our
development plans. In such a case, development of our product candidates may be more costly or time-consuming
thanexpected, and our candidate products may not prove to be viable.A Ifwe are unsuccessful in our development
efforts, we may not be able to advance the development of our product candidates, commercializeproducts, raise
capital, expand our business or continue our operations.A 43 A A Ourproduct candidates and those of any
collaborators will need to undergo preclinical and clinical trials that are time-consuming and expensive,the outcomes of
which are unpredictable, and for which there is a high risk of failure. If preclinical or clinical trials of our or
theirproduct candidates fail to satisfactorily demonstrate safety and efficacy to the FDA, the EMA and any other
comparable regulatory authority,additional costs may be incurred or delays experienced in completing, the
development of these product candidates, or their developmentmay be abandoned.A TheFDA in the United States, the
EMA in the European Union and the European Economic Area, and other comparable regulatory authorities inother
jurisdictions must approve new product candidates before they can be marketed, promoted or sold in those territories.
We have notpreviously submitted an IND or BLA to the FDA or similar drug approval filings to comparable foreign
regulatory authorities for any ofour product candidates. We must provide these regulatory authorities with data from
preclinical studies and clinical trials that demonstratethat our product candidates are safe and effective for a specific
indication before they can be approved for commercial distribution.We cannot be certain that our clinical trials for our
product candidates will be successful or that any of our product candidates willreceive approval from the FDA, the EMA
or any other comparable regulatory authority.A Preclinicalstudies and clinical trials are long, expensive and
unpredictable processes that can be subject to extensive delays. We cannot guaranteethat any clinical trials will be
conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. It may take several years and require significantexpenditures
to complete the preclinical studies and clinical trials necessary to commercialize a product candidate, and delays or
failureare inherently unpredictable and can occur at any stage. We may also be required to conduct additional clinical
trials or other testingof our product candidates beyond the trials and testing that we contemplate, which may lead to us
incurring additional unplanned costsor result in delays in clinical development. In addition, we may be required to
redesign or otherwise modify our plans with respect toan ongoing or planned clinical trial, and changing the design of a
clinical trial can be expensive and time consuming. An unfavorableoutcome in one or more trials would be a major
setback for our product candidates and for us. An unfavorable outcome in one or more trialsmay require us to delay,
reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more product development programs, which could have a material
adverseeffect on our business, financial position, results of operations and future growth prospects.A Manyof the
factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to
the denialof marketing approval for our product candidates. The FDA, EMA or any other comparable regulatory
authority may disagree with our clinicaltrial design and our interpretation of data from clinical trials, or may change the
requirements for approval even after it has reviewedand commented on the design for our clinical trials.A Inconnection
with clinical trials of our product candidates, we face a number of risks, including risks that:A A a— a product
candidate is ineffective or inferior to existing approved products for the same indications; A A A A 4— a product
candidate causes or is associated with unacceptable toxicity or has unacceptable side effects; A A A A 4— patients
may die or suffer adverse effects for reasons that may or may not be related to the product candidate being tested; A A

A A a— the results may not confirm the positive results of earlier trials; A A A A 4— the results may not meet the
level of statistical significance required by the FDA, the EMA or other relevant regulatory agencies to establish the
safety and efficacy of our product candidates for continued trial or marketing approval; and A A A A 4— our
collaborators may be unable or unwilling to perform under their contracts. A Furthermore,we sometimes estimate for
planning purposes the timing of the accomplishment of various scientific, clinical, regulatory and other
productdevelopment objectives. These milestones may include our expectations regarding the commencement or
completion of scientific studies,clinical trials, the submission of regulatory filings or commercialization objectives. From
time to time, we may publicly announce theexpected timing of some of these milestones, such as the completion of an
ongoing clinical trial, the initiation of other clinical programs,the receipt of marketing approval or a commercial launch
of a product. The achievement of many of these milestones may be outside ofour control. All of these milestones are
based on a variety of assumptions, which may cause the timing of achievement of the milestonesto vary considerably



from our estimates. If we fail to achieve milestones in the timeframes we expect, the commercialization of our
productcandidates may be delayed, we may not be entitled to receive certain contractual payments, which could have a
material adverse effecton our business, financial position, results of operations and future growth prospects.A 44 A

A Wemay find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials, which could delay or prevent us from proceeding with
clinical trialsof our product candidates.A Identifyingand qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials of our product
candidates is critical to our success. The timing of our clinicaltrials depends on our ability to recruit patients to
participate as well as the completion of required follow-up periods. Patients maybe unwilling to participate in our
clinical trials because of negative publicity from adverse events related to novel therapeutic approaches,competitive
clinical trials for similar patient populations, the existence of current treatments or for other reasons. Enrollment
risksare heightened with respect to certain indications that we may target for one or more of our product candidates
that may be rare diseases,which may limit the pool of patients that may be enrolled in our planned clinical trials. The
timeline for recruiting patients, conductingtrials and obtaining regulatory approval of our product candidates may be
delayed, which could result in increased costs, delays in advancingour product candidates, delays in testing the
effectiveness of our product candidates or termination of the clinical trials altogether.A Wemay not be able to identify,
recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with the required or desired characteristics,to complete our
clinical trials in a timely manner. For example, due to the nature of the indications that we are initially
targeting,patients with advanced disease progression may not be suitable candidates for treatment with our product
candidates and may be ineligiblefor enrollment in our clinical trials. Therefore, early diagnosis in patients with our
target diseases is critical to our success. Patientenrollment and trial completion is affected by factors including the:A

A a— size of the patient population and process for identifying subjects; A A A A 4— design of the trial protocol; A A
A A a— eligibility and exclusion criteria; A A A A a— safety profile, to date, of the product candidate under study; A
A A A a— perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study; A A A’ A 4— perceived risks and
benefits of our approach to treatment of diseases; A A A A a4— avallablhty of competing therapies and clinical trials;
A A A A a— severity of the disease under 1nvest1gat10n A A A A a— degree of progression of the subjecta€™s
disease at the time of enrollment; A A A A 4— proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective subJects;
A A A A a— ability to obtain and maintain subject consent; A A A A &— risk that enrolled subjects will drop out
before completion of the trial; A A A A 4— patient referral practices of physicians; and A A A A a4— ability to
monitor subjects adequately during and after treatment. A 45 A A Inaddition, clinical development for pilot scale
feasibility study of SON-080 is currently planned to take place outside of the U.S. Ourability to successfully initiate,
enroll and complete a clinical trial in any foreign country is subject to numerous risks unique toconducting business in
foreign countries, including:A A a— difficulty in establishing or managing relationships with academic partners or
contract research organizations, or CROs, and physicians; A A A A a— different standards for the conduct of clinical
trials; A A A A 4— the absence in some countries of established groups with sufficient regulatory expertise for review
of protocols related to our novel approach; A A A A 4— our inability to locate qualified local consultants, physicians
and partners; and A A A A 4— the potential burden of complying with a variety of foreign laws, medical standards and
regulatory requirements, including the regulation of pharmaceutical and biotechnology products and treatment. A Ifwe
have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical trials as planned, we may need to delay,
limit orterminate ongoing or planned clinical trials, any of which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, resultsof operations and prospect§.A Resultsof preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be
predictive of results of future clinical trials.A Theoutcome of preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be
predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and interim resultsof clinical trials do not necessarily predict success in
the results of completed clinical trials. Many companies in the pharmaceuticaland biotechnology industries have
suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials after achieving positive results in earlierdevelopment, and we
could face similar setbacks. For example, the Phase Ila trial of SON-080 was conducted outside of the U.S., and
thefindings may not be replicated in future trials at global clinical trial sites in a later stage clinical trial conducted by
us or ourcollaborators. The design of a clinical trial can determine whether its results will support approval of a product
and flaws in the designof a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced. We may be
unable to design and execute a clinicaltrial to support marketing approval.A Preclinicaland clinical data are often
susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses. Many companies that believed their product candidatesperformed
satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval for the
productcandidates. Even if we, or any collaborators, believe that the results of clinical trials for our product candidates
warrant marketingapproval, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree and may not grant
marketing approval of our product candidates.A Insome instances, there can be significant variability in safety or
efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same productcandidate due to numerous factors, including
changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type ofthe patient populations, changes in
and adherence to the dosing regimen and other clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout amongclinical trial
participants. If we fail to receive positive results in clinical trials of our product candidates, the development
timelineand regulatory approval and commercialization prospects for our most advanced product candidates, and,
correspondingly, our businessand financial prospects would be negatively impacted.A Ourcurrent or future product
candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties when used alone or in combination withother
approved products or investigational new drugs that could halt their clinical development, prevent their marketing
approval, limittheir commercial potential or result in significant negative consequences.A Undesirableor clinically
unmanageable side effects could occur and cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical
trialsand could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of marketing approval by the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatoryauthorities. Results of our trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side
effects or unexpected characteristics.A 46 A A Ifunacceptable side effects arise in the development of our product
candidates, we, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities,the Institutional Review Boards, or IRBs, or
independent ethics committees at the institutions in which our studies are conducted, orthe Data Safety Monitoring
Board, or DSMB, could suspend or terminate our clinical trials or the FDA or comparable foreign regulatoryauthorities
could order us to cease clinical trials or deny approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications.
Treatment-relatedside effects could also affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled subjects to complete the
trial, or result in potentialproduct liability claims. In addition, these side effects may not be appropriately recognized or
managed by the treating medical staff. We may be required to train medical personnel using our product candidates to
understand the side effect profiles for our clinical trialsand upon any commercialization of any of our product
candidates. Inadequate training in recognizing or managing the potential side effectsof our product candidates could



result in patient injury or death. Any of these occurrences may prevent us from achieving or maintainingmarket
acceptance of the affected product candidate and may harm our business, financial condition and prospects
significantly.A Moreover,clinical trials of our product candidates are conducted in carefully defined sets of patients who
have agreed to enter into clinicaltrials. Consequently, it is possible that our clinical trials may indicate an apparent
positive effect of a product candidate that isgreater than the actual positive effect, if any, or alternatively fail to identify
undesirable side effects. If, following approval ofa product candidate, we, or others, discover that the product is less
effective than previously believed or causes undesirable side effectsthat were not previously identified, any of the
following consequences could occur:A A a— regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product or seize
the product; A A A A 4— we, or any collaborators, may need to recall the product, or be required to change the way
the product is administered or conduct additional clinical trials; A A A A 4— additional restrictions may be imposed
on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the particular product; A A A A 4&— we may be subject to
fines, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties; A A A A 4— regulatory authorities may require the
addition of labeling statements, such as a boxed warning or a contraindication; A A A A 4— we, or any collaborators,
may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of the previously unidentified side effects for
distribution to patients; A A A A 4— we, or any collaborators, could be sued and held liable for harm caused to_
patients; A A A A a— the product may become less competitive; and A A A A a— our reputation may suffer. A Ifany
of our current or future product candidates fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy in clinical trials or do not gain
marketing approval,we will not be able to generate revenue and our business will be harmed. Any of these events could
harm our business and operations,and could negatively impact the price of our common stock.A Wemay not be
successful in our efforts to identify or discover additional product candidates.A Althoughwe intend to explore other
therapeutic opportunities in addition to the product candidates that we are currently developing, we may failto identify
other product candidates for clinical development for a number of reasons. For example, our research methodology may
notbe successful in identifying potential product candidates or those we identify may be shown to have harmful side
effects or other characteristicsthat make them unmarketable or unlikely to receive regulatory approval. Additional
product candidates will require additional, time-consumingdevelopment efforts prior to commercial sale, including
preclinical studies, clinical trials and approval by the FDA and/or applicableforeign regulatory authorities. All product
candidates are prone to the risks of failure that are inherent in pharmaceutical productdevelopment. If we fail to
identify and develop additional potential product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business and ourresults of
operations could be materially harmed.A 47 A A Wemay expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product
candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidatesor indications that may be more profitable or for
which there is a greater likelihood of success.A Becausewe have limited financial and managerial resources, we intend
to focus on developing product candidates for specific indications thatwe identify as most likely to succeed, in terms of
both their potential for marketing approval and commercialization. As a result, wemay forego or delay pursuit of
opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that may prove to have greater
commercialpotential.A Ourresource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products
or profitable market opportunities. Ourspending on current and future research and development programs and
product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commerciallyviable product candidates. If we do not
accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate,we may relinquish
valuable rights to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases
inwhich it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to the
product candidate.A Weface potential product liability, and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur
substantial liability and costs. Ifthe use of our product candidates harms patients, or is perceived to harm patients even
when such harm is unrelated to our product candidates,our regulatory approvals could be revoked or otherwise
negatively impacted and we could be subject to costly and damaging product liabilityclaims.A Theuse of our product
candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any products for which we obtain marketing approval expose us to therisk of
product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against us by patients, healthcare providers,
pharmaceuticalcompanies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our products. There is a risk that our
product candidates may induceadverse events. If we cannot successfully defend against product liability claims, we
could incur substantial liability and costs. Inaddition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims
may result in:A A 4— the impairment of our business reputation; A A A A 4— the withdrawal of clinical trial
participants; A A A A 4— substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants; A A A A a4— costs due to
related litigation; A A A A 4— the distraction of management&€™s attention from our primary business; A A A A a—
the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and A A A A &— decreased demand for our product candidates,
if approved for commercial sale. A Weintend to acquire product liability insurance coverage in light of our current
clinical programs; however, we may not be able to maintaininsurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient
amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. We intend to expand ourinsurance coverage each time we
commercialize an additional product; however, we may be unable to obtain product liability insuranceon commercially
reasonable terms or in adequate amounts. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits
basedon drugs or medical treatments that had unanticipated adverse effects. A successful product liability claim or
series of claims broughtagainst us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance
coverage, could adversely affect our resultsof operations and business.A Patientswith the diseases targeted by certain
of our product candidates, such as our lead indications in oncology, are often already in severeand advanced stages of
disease and have both known and unknown significant pre-existing and potentially life-threatening health risks.During
the course of treatment, patients may suffer adverse events, including death, for reasons that may be related to our
product candidates.Such events could subject us to costly litigation, require us to pay substantial amounts of money to
injured patients, delay, negativelyimpact or end our opportunity to receive or maintain regulatory approval to market
our products, or require us to suspend or abandonour commercialization efforts. Even in a circumstance in which we do
not believe that an adverse event is related to our products, theinvestigation into the circumstance may be time-
consuming or inconclusive. These investigations may interrupt our sales efforts, delayour regulatory approval process,
or impact and limit the type of regulatory approvals our product candidates receive or maintain. Asa result of these
factors, a product liability claim, even if successfully defended, could have a material adverse effect on our
business,financial condition or results of operations.A 48 A A Wemay seek designations for our product candidates
with the FDA and other comparable regulatory authorities that are intended to conferbenefits such as a faster
development process or an accelerated regulatory pathway, but there can be no assurance that we will
successfullyobtain such designations. In addition, even if one or more of our product candidates are granted such



designations, we may not be ableto realize the intended benefits of such designations.A TheFDA and other comparable
regulatory authorities offer certain designations for product candidates that are intended to encourage theresearch and
development of pharmaceutical products addressing conditions with significant unmet medical need. These
designations mayconfer benefits such as additional interaction with regulatory authorities, a potentially accelerated
regulatory pathway and priorityreview. There can be no assurance that we will successfully obtain such designation for
any of our other product candidates. In addition,while such designations could expedite the development or approval
process, they generally do not change the standards for approval.Even if we obtain such designations for one or more of
our product candidates, there can be no assurance that we will realize their intendedbenefits.A Forexample, we may
seek a Breakthrough Therapy Designation for one or more of our product candidates. A breakthrough therapy is
definedas a therapy that is intended, alone or in combination with one or more other therapies, to treat a serious or life-
threatening diseaseor condition, if preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the therapy may demonstrate substantial
improvement over existing therapieson one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment
effects observed early in clinical development. For therapiesthat have been designated as breakthrough therapies,
interaction and communication between the FDA and the sponsor of the trial can helpto identify the most efficient path
for clinical development while minimizing the number of patients placed in ineffective control regimens.Therapies
designated as breakthrough therapies by the FDA are also eligible for accelerated approval. Designation as a
breakthrough therapyis within the discretion of the FDA. Accordingly, even if we believe one of our product candidates
meets the criteria for designationas a breakthrough therapy, the FDA may disagree and instead determine not to make
such designation. In any event, the receipt of a BreakthroughTherapy Designation for a product candidate may not
result in a faster development process, review or approval compared to therapiesconsidered for approval under
conventional FDA procedures and does not assure ultimate approval by the FDA. In addition, even if oneor more of our
product candidates qualify as breakthrough therapies, the FDA may later decide that such product candidates no
longermeet the conditions for qualification.A Wemay also seek Fast Track Designation for some of our product
candidates. If a therapy is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threateningcondition and the therapy
demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition, the therapy sponsor may applyfor Fast
Track Designation. The FDA has broad discretion whether or not to grant this designation, so even if we believe a
particularproduct candidate is eligible for this designation, there can be no assurance that the FDA would decide to
grant it. Even if we do receiveFast Track Designation, we may not experience a faster development process, review or
approval compared to conventional FDA procedures,and receiving a Fast Track Designation does not provide assurance
of ultimate FDA approval. The FDA may withdraw Fast Track Designationif it believes that the designation is no longer
supported by data from our clinical development program.A 49 A A We may seek priority review designation forone or
more of our product candidates, but we might not receive such designation, and even if we do, such designation may
not lead toa faster regulatory review or approval process. A Ifthe FDA determines that a product candidate offers a
treatment for a serious condition and, if approved, the product would provide asignificant improvement in safety or
effectiveness, the FDA may designate the product candidate for priority review. A priority reviewdesignation means
that the goal for the FDA to review an application is six months, rather than the standard review period of ten
months.We may request priority review for our product candidates. The FDA has broad discretion with respect to
whether or not to grant priorityreview status to a product candidate, so even if we believe a particular product
candidate is eligible for such designation or status,in particular if such product candidate has received a Breakthrough
Therapy Designation, the FDA may decide not to grant it. Moreover,a priority review designation does not result in
expedited development and does not necessarily result in expedited regulatory reviewor approval process or necessarily
confer any advantage with respect to approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. Receiving priorityreview
from the FDA does not guarantee approval within the six-month review cycle or at all.A Obtainingand maintaining
marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successfulin obtaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in other

jurisdictions.A Obtainingand maintaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in one
jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will beable to obtain or maintain marketing approval in any other jurisdiction,
while a failure or delay in obtaining marketing approval inone jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the marketing
approval process in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketingapproval of a product candidate, comparable
regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketingand promotion of the
product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirementsand
administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including additional
preclinical studiesor clinical trials as clinical studies conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory
authorities in other jurisdictions.In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved
for reimbursement before it can be approved forsale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to
charge for our products is also subject to approval. We do nothave experience in obtaining reimbursement or pricing
approvals in international markets.A Obtainingmarketing approvals and compliance with regulatory requirements could
result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us andcould delay or prevent the introduction of our products in
certain countries outside of the United States. If we fail to comply withthe regulatory requirements in international
markets and/or receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reducedand our ability to realize the
full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed.A Thewidespread outbreak of communicable diseases
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.A Weface risks related
to health epidemics or outbreaks of communicable diseases, for example, the outbreak around the world of the
highlytransmissible and pathogenic coronavirus COVID-19. The outbreak of such communicable diseases could result in
a widespread health crisisthat could adversely affect general commercial activity and the economies and financial
markets of many countries. Many countries aroundthe world may impose quarantines and restrictions on travel and
mass gatherings to slow the spread of communicable diseases and closenon-essential businesses. Such events may
result in a period of business, supply and drug product manufacturing disruption, and in reducedoperations, any of
which could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.A Apandemic or outbreak could
result in difficulty securing clinical trial site locations, CROs, and/or trial monitors and other criticalvendors and
consultants supporting the trial. In addition, outbreaks or the perception of an outbreak near a clinical trial site
locationcould impact our ability to enroll patients. These situations could cause delays in our clinical trial plans and
could increase expectedcosts, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and its financial
condition. In particular, manufacturing ofour pipeline products may be delayed by related supply chain issues,
specifically supply of raw materials, including media, resins, andanalytical kits, compounded by international shipping



delays.A Whilethe potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of the widespread outbreak of communicable
diseases may be difficult to assessor predict, a widespread pandemic could result in significant disruption of global
financial markets, reducing our ability to accesscapital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity. In
addition, a recession or market correction resulting from thespread of any communicable disease could materially affect
our business and the value of our common stock.A 50 A A Anoutbreak may also affect the ability of our staff and the
parties we work with to carry out our non-clinical, clinical, and drug manufacturingactivities. We rely or may in the
future rely on clinical sites, investigators and other study staff, consultants, independent contractors,contract research
organizations and other third-party service providers to assist us in managing, monitoring and otherwise carrying
outour nonclinical studies and clinical trials. We also rely or may in the future rely on consultants, independent
contractors, contractmanufacturing organizations, and other third-party service providers to assist us in managing,
monitoring and otherwise carrying outour Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs) production, formulation, and drug
manufacturing activities. A widespread pandemic wouldaffect the ability of any of these external people, organizations,
or companies to devote sufficient time and resources to our programsor to travel to perform work for

us.A Potentialnegative impacts of the widespread outbreak of communicable diseases on the conduct of current or
future clinical studies include delaysin gaining feedback from regulatory agencies, starting new clinical studies, and
recruiting subjects to studies that are enrolling. Thepotential negative impacts also include inability to have study visits
at study sites, incomplete collection of safety and efficacy data,and higher rates of drop-out of subjects from ongoing
studies, delays in site entry of study data into the data base, delays in monitoringof study data because of restricted
physical access to study sites, delays in site responses to queries, delays in data-base lock, delaysin data analyses,
delays in time to top-line data, and delays in completing study reports. New communicable disease disruptions or
restrictionscould have the potential to negatively impact our non-clinical studies, clinical trials, and drug manufacturing
activities.A RisksRelated to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates and Other Regulatory Compliance

MattersA Evenif we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is
expensive, time consuming anduncertain and may prevent us or any collaborators from obtaining approvals for the
commercialization of some or all of our product candidates.As a result, we cannot predict when or if, and in which
territories, we, or any collaborators, will obtain marketing approval to commercializea product candidate.A Theprocess
of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. It may
take manyyears, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the
type, complexity andnovelty of the product candidates involved. Securing marketing approval requires the submission
of extensive preclinical and clinicaldata and supporting information to regulatory authorities for each therapeutic
indication to establish the product candidatea€ ™ ssafety and efficacy. Securing marketing approval also requires the
submission of information about the product manufacturing processto, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the
regulatory authorities. The FDA or other regulatory authorities may determinethat our product candidates are not safe
and effective, only moderately effective or have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicitiesor other characteristics
that preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. Any marketing approval
weultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved
product not commerciallyviable.A Inaddition, changes in marketing approval policies during the development period,
changes in or the enactment or promulgation of additionalstatutes, regulations or guidance or changes in regulatory
review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approvalor rejection of an application.
Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept anyapplication or
may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other
studies.Varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent
marketing approval ofa product candidate. We cannot commercialize a product until the appropriate regulatory
authorities have reviewed and approved the productcandidate. Even if our product candidates demonstrate safety and
efficacy in clinical trials, the regulatory agencies may not completetheir review processes in a timely manner, or we
may not be able to obtain regulatory approval. Additional delays may result if an FDAAdvisory Committee or other
regulatory authority recommends non-approval or restrictions on approval. In addition, we may experiencedelays or
rejections based upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action, or changes in
regulatoryagency policy during the period of product development, clinical trials and the review process. Any marketing
approval we ultimatelyobtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the
approved product commercially unviable.A 51 A A Moreover,principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as
scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive compensationin connection with such services.
Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to the FDA orother regulatory
authority. The FDA or other regulatory authority may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a
principalinvestigator has created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the study. The FDA or
other regulatory authoritymay therefore question the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site
and the utility of the clinical trialitself may be jeopardized. This could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our
marketing applications by the FDA or otherregulatory authority, as the case may be, and may ultimately lead to the
denial of marketing approval of one or more of our product candidates.A Inaddition, regulatory agencies may not
approve the labeling claims that are necessary or desirable for the successful commercializationof our product
candidates. For example, regulatory agencies may approve a product candidate for fewer or more limited indications
thanrequested or may grant approval subject to the performance of post-marketing studies. Regulators may approve a
product candidate fora smaller patient population, a different drug formulation or a different manufacturing process,
than we are seeking. If we are unableto obtain necessary regulatory approvals, or more limited regulatory approvals
than we expect, our business, prospects, financial conditionand results of operations may suffer.A Anydelay in obtaining
or failure to obtain required approvals could negatively impact our ability to generate revenue from the
particularproduct candidate, which likely would result in significant harm to our financial position and adversely impact
the price of our commonstock.A Wecurrently have no marketing, sales or distribution infrastructure with respect to our
product candidates. If we are unable to developour sales, marketing and distribution capability on our own or through
collaborations with marketing partners, we will not be successfulin commercializing our product

candidates.A Wecurrently have no marketing, sales or distribution capabilities and have limited sales or marketing
experience within our organization.If one or more of our product candidates is approved, we intend either to establish a
sales and marketing organization with technicalexpertise and supporting distribution capabilities to commercialize that
product candidate, or to outsource this function to a thirdparty. There are risks involved with either establishing our
own sales and marketing capabilities and entering into arrangements withthird parties to perform these



services.A Recruitingand training an internal commercial organization is expensive and time consuming and could delay
any product launch. Some or all of thesecosts may be incurred in advance of any approval of any of our product
candidates. If the commercial launch of a product candidate forwhich we recruit a sales force and establish marketing
capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurelyor unnecessarily incurred these
commercialization expenses. This may be costly and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain orreposition our
sales and marketing personnel. In addition, we may not be able to hire a sales force in the United States or other
targetmarket that is sufficient in size or has adequate expertise in the medical markets that we intend to _

target.A Factorsthat may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our product candidates on our own include:A &— the
inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel; A A 4— the inability
of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to prescribe any future
product that we may develop; A A 4— the lack of complementary treatments to be offered by sales personnel, which
may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines; and A A a—
unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization. A Ifwe enter
into arrangements with third parties to perform sales, marketing and distribution services, our product revenue or the
profitabilityto us from these revenue streams is likely to be lower than if we were to market and sell any product
candidates that we develop ourselves.In addition, we may not be successful in entering into arrangements with third
parties to sell and market our product candidates or maybe unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us. We likely
will have little control over such third parties and any of them mayfail to devote the necessary resources and attention
to sell and market our product candidates effectively. If we do not establish salesand marketing capabilities
successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we may not be successful in commercializingour
product candidates.A 52 A A Themarket opportunities for any current or future product candidate we develop, if and
when approved, may be limited to those patients whoare ineligible for established therapies or for whom prior therapies
have failed, and therefore may be small.A Cancertherapies are sometimes characterized as first-line, second-line, or
third-line, and the FDA often approves new therapies initially onlyfor third-line use. When cancer is detected early
enough, first-line therapy, usually chemotherapy, hormone therapy, surgery, radiationtherapy, immunotherapy or a
combination of these, is sometimes adequate to cure the cancer or prolong life without a cure. Second- andthird-line
therapies are administered to patients when prior therapy is not effective. We may initially seek approval of our
productcandidates we develop as a therapy for patients who have received one or more prior treatments. Subsequently,
for those products thatprove to be sufficiently beneficial, if any, we would expect to seek approval potentially as a first-
line therapy, but there is no guaranteethat product candidates we develop, even if approved, would be approved for
first-line therapy, and, prior to any such approvals, wemay have to conduct additional clinical trials.A Thenumber of
patients who have the cancers we are targeting may turn out to be lower than expected. Additionally, the potentially
addressablepatient population for our current programs or future product candidates may be limited, if and when
approved. Even if we obtain significantmarket share for any product candidate, if and when approved, if the potential
target populations are small, we may never achieve profitabilitywithout obtaining marketing approval for additional
indications, including use as first- or second-line therapy.A Evenif we receive marketing approval of a product
candidate, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatoryreview, which may result in
significant additional expense and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirementsor
experience unanticipated problems with our products, if approved.A Anymarketing approvals that we receive for any
current or future product candidate may be subject to limitations on the approved indicateduses for which the product
may be marketed or the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-markettesting and
surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA may also require a Risk Evaluation
andMitigation Strategy, or REMS, as a condition of approval of any product candidate, which could include
requirements for a medicationguide, physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as
restricted distribution methods, patient registriesand other risk minimization tools. If the FDA or a comparable foreign
regulatory authority approves a product candidate, the manufacturingprocesses, labeling, packaging, distribution,
adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import and export and recordkeeping for the product
candidate will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include, amongothers,
prohibitions on the promotion of an approved product for uses not included in the producta€™s approved labeling,
submissionsof safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance
with current Good ManufacturingPractice, or cGMP, and Good Clinical Practice, or GCP, for any clinical trials that we
conduct post-approval. Later discovery of previouslyunknown problems with any approved candidate, including adverse
events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-partymanufacturers or manufacturing processes, or
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:A 4— restrictions on the labeling,
distribution, marketing or manufacturing of the product, withdrawal of the product from the market, or product recalls;
A 53 A A a— untitled and warning letters, or holds on clinical trials; A A 4— refusal by the FDA to approve pendmg
applications or supplements to approved applications we filed or suspensmn or revocation of license approvals; A A a—
requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials; A A a— restrictions on coverage by third-party
payors; A A a— fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues; A A 4— suspension or withdrawal of
marketlng approvals; A A 4— product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of the product;
and A A 4— injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. A TheFDAA€™ s and other regulatory
authoritiesa€™ policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that couldprevent, limit or
delay marketing approval of a product. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulationthat
may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or
unable to adaptto changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not
able to maintain regulatory compliance,we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we may not
achieve or sustain profitability.A Weface significant competition and if our competitors develop and market products
that are more effective, safer or less expensive thanthe product candidates we develop, our commercial opportunities
will be negatively impacted.A Thelife sciences industry is highly competitive. We are currently developing therapeutics
that will compete, if approved, with other productsand therapies that currently exist, are being developed or will in the
future be developed, some of which we may not currently be aware.A Wehave competitors both in the United States and
internationally, including major multinational pharmaceutical companies, established biotechnologycompanies,
specialty pharmaceutical companies, universities and other research institutions. Many of our competitors have
significantlygreater financial, manufacturing, marketing, product development, technical and human resources than we
do. Large pharmaceutical companies,in particular, have extensive experience in clinical testing, obtaining marketing



approvals, recruiting patients and manufacturing pharmaceuticalproducts. These companies also have significantly
greater research and marketing capabilities than we do and may also have products thathave been approved or are in
late stages of development, and collaborative arrangements in our target markets with leading companiesand research
institutions. Established pharmaceutical companies may also invest heavily to accelerate discovery and development of
novelcompounds or to in-license novel compounds that could make the product candidates that we develop obsolete.
Mergers and acquisitionsin the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being
concentrated among a smaller number of ourcompetitors. As a result of all of these factors, our competitors may
succeed in obtaining patent protection and/or marketing approvalor discovering, developing and commercializing
products in our field before we do.A Thereis a large number of companies developing or marketing treatments for
cancer, including many major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.These treatments consist both of small
molecule drug products, such as traditional chemotherapy, as well as novel immunotherapies. Forexample, a number of
multinational companies as well as large biotechnology companies, including Astellas Pharma Inc., AstraZeneca,
Pfizer,Eli Lilly, Gilead Sciences, Immunity Bio, GlaxoSmithKline plc, Xilio and Werewolf Therapeutics are developing
programs for the targetsthat we are exploring for our pipeline programs.A Ourcommercial opportunities could be
reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer
or less severe effects, are more convenient, have a broader label, are marketed more effectively, are reimbursed or are
lessexpensive than any products that we may develop. Our competitors also may obtain FDA, EMA or other marketing
approval for their productsmore rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors
establishing a strong market position beforewe are able to enter the market. Even if the product candidate we develop
achieve marketing approval, they may be priced at a significantpremium over competitive products if any have been
approved by then, resulting in reduced competitiveness.A 54 A A Smallerand other early stage companies may also
prove to be significant competitors. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retainingqualified scientific
and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as wellas in
acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. In addition, the biopharmaceutical industry
is characterizedby rapid technological change. If we fail to stay at the forefront of technological change, we may be
unable to compete effectively.Technological advances or products developed by our competitors may render our
product candidates obsolete, less competitive or not economical.A Thecommercial success of any current or future
product candidate will depend upon the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients,payors and others in the
medical community.A Wehave never commercialized a product, and even if we obtain any regulatory approval for our
product candidates, the commercial successof our product candidates will depend in part on the medical community,
patients, and payors accepting our product candidates as effective,safe and cost-effective. Any product that we bring to
the market may not gain market acceptance by physicians, patients, payors and othersin the medical community.
Physicians are often reluctant to switch their patients from existing therapies even when new and potentiallymore
effective or convenient treatments enter the market. Further, patients often acclimate to the therapy that they are
currently takingand do not want to switch unless their physicians recommend switching products or they are required
to switch therapies due to lack ofreimbursement for existing therapies.A Thedegree of market acceptance of these
product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:A a— the potential
efficacy and potential advantages over alternative treatments; A A 4— the frequency and severity of any side effects,
including any limitations or warnings contained in a producta€™s approved labeling; A A 4— the frequency and o
severity of any side effects resulting from follow-up requirements for the administration of our product candidates; A A
a— the relative convenience and ease of administration; A A 4— the willingness of the target patient population to try
new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies; A A 4— the strength of marketing and distribution
support and timing of market introduction of competitive products; A A 4— publicity concerning our products or
competing products and treatments; and A A a— sufficient third-party insurance coverage and adequate
reimbursement. A Evenif a product candidate displays a favorable efficacy and safety profile in preclinical studies and
clinical trials, market acceptanceof the product, if approved for commercial sale, will not be known until after it is
launched. Our efforts to educate the medical communityand payors on the benefits of our product candidates may
require significant resources and may never be successful. Such efforts to educatethe marketplace may require more
resources than are required by the conventional technologies marketed by our competitors, particularlydue to the
novelty of our Sonnet approach. If these products do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not
generatesignificant product revenue and may not become profitable.A 55 A A If the market opportunities for our
productcandidates are smaller than we believe they are, our product revenues may be adversely affected and our
business may suffer. A Wecurrently focus our research and product development on treatments for oncology indications
and our product FHAB candidatesare designed to target solid tumors. Our understanding of both the number of people
who have these diseases, as well as the subset ofpeople with these diseases who have the potential to benefit from
treatment with our product candidates, are based on estimates. Theseestimates may prove to be incorrect and new
studies may reduce the estimated incidence or prevalence of these diseases. Patient identificationefforts also influence
the ability to address a patient population. If efforts in patient identification are unsuccessful or less impactfulthan
anticipated, we may not address the entirety of the opportunity we are seeking.A Theinsurance coverage and
reimbursement status of newly-approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverageand
reimbursement for any of our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those products and
decrease our abilityto generate revenue.A Weexpect the cost of our product candidates to be substantial, when and if
they achieve market approval. The availability and extent ofreimbursement by governmental and private payors is
essential for most patients to be able to afford expensive treatments. Sales of ourproduct candidates will depend
substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidateswill be paid by
private payors, such as private health coverage insurers, health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit and
similarhealthcare management organizations, or reimbursed by government health care programs, such as Medicare
and Medicaid. We may not be ableto provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and
reimbursement. If reimbursement is not available, or is availableonly at limited levels, we may not be able to
successfully commercialize our product candidates, even if approved. Even if coverage isprovided, the approved
reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain pricing sufficient to realizea
sufficient return on our investment.A Thereis significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and
reimbursement of newly approved products. In the United States, theprincipal decisions about coverage and
reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by the Centers for Medicare & MedicaidServices, or CMS, an
agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, as the CMS decides whether and to what extent



anew medicine will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare. Private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial
degree. It is difficultto predict what CMS will decide with respect to coverage and reimbursement for novel products
such as ours, as there is no body of establishedpractices and precedents for these new products. Coverage and
reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors,including the third-party payora€™s
determination that use of a product is: (1) a covered benefit under its health plan; (2) safe,effective and medically
necessary; (3) appropriate for the specific patient; (4) cost-effective; and (5) neither experimental nor investigational.In
the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors. As a
result, thecoverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide
scientific and clinical supportfor the use of our products to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and
adequate reimbursement will be applied consistentlyor obtained in the first instance. Even if we obtain coverage for a
given product, the resulting reimbursement payment rates might notbe adequate for us to achieve or sustain
profitability or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Third-party payorsmay limit coverage to
specific drug products on an approved list, also known as a formulary, which might not include all of the approveddrugs
for a particular indication.A Additionally,third-party payors may not cover, or provide adequate reimbursement for,
long-term follow-up evaluations required following the use ofproduct candidates. Patients are unlikely to use our
product candidates unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate tocover a significant portion of the cost
of our product candidates. Because our product candidates may have a higher cost of goods thanconventional therapies,
and may require long-term follow-up evaluations, the risk that coverage and reimbursement rates may be inadequatefor
us to achieve profitability may be greater. There is significant uncertainty related to insurance coverage and
reimbursement of newlyapproved products. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-party payors will decide with
respect to the coverage and reimbursementfor our product candidates.A Moreover,increasing efforts by governmental
and third-party payors in the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs may causesuch organizations
to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may not
coveror provide adequate payment for our product candidates. There has been increasing legislative and enforcement
interest in the UnitedStates with respect to specialty drug pricing practices. Specifically, there have been several
recent U.S. Congressional inquiries andproposed federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring
more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescriptiondrugs under Medicare, review the relationship
between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursementmethodologies
for drugs. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product candidates due
tothe trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations, cost
containment initiatives and additionallegislative changes.A 56 A A Outsidethe United States, certain countries,
including a number of member states of the European Union, set prices and reimbursement for
pharmaceuticalproducts, or medicinal products, as they are commonly referred to in the European Union. These
countries have broad discretion in settingprices and we cannot be sure that such prices and reimbursement will be
acceptable to us or our collaborators. If the regulatory authoritiesin these jurisdictions set prices or reimbursement
levels that are not commercially attractive for us or our collaborators, our revenuesfrom sales by us or our
collaborators, and the potential profitability of our drug products, in those countries would be negatively affected.An
increasing number of countries are taking initiatives to attempt to reduce large budget deficits by focusing cost-cutting
effortson pharmaceuticals for their state-run health care systems. These international price control efforts have
impacted all regions of theworld, but have been most drastic in the European Union. Additionally, some countries
require approval of the sale price of a productbefore it can be lawfully marketed. In many countries, the pricing review
period begins after marketing or product licensing approvalis granted. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in
some countries, we, or any collaborators, may be required to conduct a clinicaltrial that compares the cost-effectiveness
of our product to other available therapies. As a result, we might obtain marketing approvalfor a product in a particular
country, but then may experience delays in the reimbursement approval of our product or be subject to priceregulations
that would delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, which could negatively
impact therevenues we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that particular country.A Moreover,efforts
by governments and payors, in the United States and abroad, to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such
organizations tolimit both coverage and level of reimbursement for new products approved and, as a result, they may
not cover or provide adequate reimbursementfor our product candidates. There has been increasing legislative and
enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialtydrug practices. Specifically, there have been several
recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed federal and state legislationdesigned to, among other things, bring
more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, reviewthe relationship
between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies
for drugs.We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product candidates, due
to the trend toward managedhealthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional
legislative changes. The downward pressure onhealthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and other
treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasinglyhigh barriers are being erected to the entry of new
products. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope oramount, or if pricing is set at
unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed.A Ifthe FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities approve
generic versions of any of our product candidates that receive marketingapproval, or such authorities do not grant such
products appropriate periods of data exclusivity before approving generic versions ofsuch products, the sales of such
products could be adversely affected.A Inthe United States, manufacturers may seek approval of biosimilar versions of
biologics approved by the FDA under a BLA through submissionof abbreviated biologic license applications, or ABLAs.
In support of an ABLA, a biosimilar manufacturer generally must show that itsproduct is similar to the original biologic
product. Biosimilar products may be less costly to bring to market than the original biologicand companies that produce
biosimilar products are sometimes able to offer them at lower prices. Thus, following the introduction ofa biosimilar
product, a significant percentage of the sales of the original biologic may be lost to the biosimilar product, and the
priceof the original biologic product may be lowered.TheFDA may not accept for review or approve an ABLA for a
biosimilar product until any applicable period of non-patent exclusivity for theoriginal biologic has expired. The Public
Health Service (PHS) Act provides a period of twelve years of non-patent exclusivity for abiologic approved under a
BLA.A Competitionthat our products may face from biosimilar versions of our products could negatively impact our
future revenue, profitability and cashflows and substantially limit our ability to obtain a return on our investments in
those product candidates.A 57 A A Wemay be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and
abuse laws, false claims laws health information privacyand security laws, and other health care laws and regulations. If



we are unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such laws,we could face substantial penalties.A Ifwe obtain
FDA approval for any of our product candidates and begin commercializing those products in the United States, our
operationswill be directly, or indirectly through our prescribers, customers and purchasers, subject to various federal
and state fraud and abuselaws and regulations, including, without limitation, the federal Health Care Program Anti-
Kickback Statute, or Anti-Kickback Statute,the federal civil and criminal False Claims Act and Physician Payments
Sunshine Act and regulations. These laws will impact, among otherthings, our proposed sales, marketing and
educational programs. In addition, we may be subject to patient privacy laws by both the federalgovernment and the
states in which we conduct our business. The laws that will affect our operations include, but are not limited to:A a—
the Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and willfully
soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or
indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral of an individual, or the
purchase, lease, order, arrangement, or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service for which payment may
be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
d€ceRemunerationa€ has been interpreted broadly to include anything of value. A person or entity does not need to
have actual knowledge of the Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation. In
addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the Anti-
Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims Act, or FCA, or federal
civil money penalties. The Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between
pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers, and formulary managers on the other.
There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from
prosecution; A A a— the federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including the
FCA, which impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entities for, among other things: knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent;
knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false statement of record material to a false or fraudulent
claim or obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government. Manufacturers can be held liable
under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to d€cecausea€
the submission of false or fraudulent claims. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a &€cewhistleblowera€
to bring actions on behalf of the federal government alleging violations of the FCA and to share in any monetary
recovery; A A a— the beneficiary inducement provisions of the CMP Law, which prohibits, among other things, the
offering or giving of remuneration, which includes, without limitation, any transfer of items or services for free or for
less than fair market value (with limited exceptions), to a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary that the person knows or
should know is likely to influence the beneficiarya€™s selection of a particular supplier of items or services
reimbursable by a federal or state governmental program; A A 4— the federal Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit a person from
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or
obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises, any of the money or property owned by,
or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private) and
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making any
materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations in connection with the delivery of, or payment
for, healthcare benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters; similar to the Anti-Kickback Statute, a person
or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed
a violation; A 58 A A 4— HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act of 2009, and their respective implementing regulations, which impose requirements on certain healthcare
providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, known as covered entities, as well as their respective business
associates, individuals and entities that perform services on their behalf that involve the use or disclosure of
individually identifiable health information, relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable
health information; A A 4— the U.S. federal transparency requirements under the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or collectively, ACA, including the provision
commonly referred to as the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires applicable manufacturers of drugs,
devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Childrena€™s
Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to payments or other
transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors)
and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by the physicians described above and their
immediate family members. Beginning in 2022, applicable manufacturers also will be required to report information
regarding payments and transfers of value provided to physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse
specialists, certified nurse anesthetists, and certified nurse-midwives; A A 4— federal government price reporting
laws, which require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics in an accurate and timely manner to government
programs; and A A 4— federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace
activities and activities that potentially harm consumers. A Additionally,we are subject to state and foreign equivalents
of each of the healthcare laws and regulations described above, among others, some ofwhich may be broader in scope
and may apply regardless of the payer. Many U.S. states have adopted laws similar to the Anti-KickbackStatute and
False Claims Act, and may apply to our business practices, including, but not limited to, research, distribution, sales
ormarketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental payors,
including private insurers.In addition, some states have passed laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply
with the April 2003 Office of Inspector GeneralCompliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and/or
the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of Americad€™ sCode on Interactions with Healthcare Professionals.
Several states also impose other marketing restrictions or require pharmaceuticalcompanies to make marketing or
price disclosures to the state. There are ambiguities as to what is required to comply with these staterequirements and
if we fail to comply with an applicable state law requirement we could be subject to penalties. Finally, there are
stateand foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health information, many of which differ from each other in
significant ways andoften are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.A Becauseof the breadth
of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors available, it is possible
thatsome of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. Law enforcement
authorities are increasinglyfocused on enforcing fraud and abuse laws, and it is possible that some of our practices may
be challenged under these laws. Effortsto ensure that our current and future business arrangements with third parties,



and our business generally, will comply with applicablehealthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. If
our operations, including our arrangements with physicians and otherhealthcare providers, some of whom receive stock
options as compensation for services provided, are found to be in violation of any ofsuch laws or any other
governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including, without limitation,
administrative,civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, contractual damages, reputational harm,
diminished profits and future earnings,the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, exclusion from participation
in federal and state healthcare programs (such as Medicareand Medicaid), additional reporting requirements and/or
oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similaragreement to resolve allegations of non-
compliance with these laws, and individual imprisonment, any of which could adversely affectour ability to operate our
business and our financial results. Any action for violation of these laws, even if successfully defended,could cause a
pharmaceutical manufacturer to incur significant legal expenses and divert managementa€™s attention from the
operationof the business. Prohibitions or restrictions on sales or withdrawal of future marketed products could
materially affect business inan adverse way.A 59 A A Healthcarelegislative reform measures and constraints on
national budget social security systems may have a material adverse effect on our businessand results of

operations.A Payors,whether domestic or foreign, or governmental or private, are developing increasingly sophisticated
methods of controlling healthcarecosts and those methods are not always specifically adapted for new technologies
such as those we are developing. In both the UnitedStates and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number
of legislative and regulatory changes to the health care system thatcould impact our ability to sell our products
profitably. In particular, in the United States, the ACA was enacted in 2010 which, amongother things, subjects biologic
products to potential competition by lower-cost biosimilars; addresses a new methodology by which rebatesowed by
manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infused, instilled,
implantedor injected; increases the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug
Rebate Program; extends the MedicaidDrug Rebate program to utilization of prescriptions of individuals enrolled in
Medicaid managed care organizations; subjects manufacturersto new annual fees and taxes for certain branded
prescription drugs; and provides incentives to programs that increase the federal governmenta€ ™ scomparative
effectiveness research.A Sinceits enactment, there have been judicial, Congressional and executive challenges to
certain aspects of the ACA. While Congress has notpassed comprehensive repeal legislation, two bills affecting the
implementation of certain taxes under the ACA have been signed intolaw. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or TCJA,
includes a provision repealing, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibilitypayment imposed by the
ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is
commonlyreferred to as the a€ceindividual mandate.a€ Additionally, on January 22, 2018, President Trump signed a
continuing resolutionon appropriations for fiscal year 2018 that delayed the implementation of certain ACA-mandated
fees, including the so-called a€ceCadillaca€tax on certain high cost employer-sponsored insurance plans, the annual fee
imposed on certain high cost employer-sponsored insuranceplans, the annual fee imposed on certain health insurance
providers based on market share, and the medical device exercise tax on non-exemptmedical devices. Further, the
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, or BBA, among other things, amends the ACA, effective January 1, 2019, toincrease from
50 percent to 70 percent the point-of-sale discount that is owed by pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in
MedicarePart D and to close the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly referred to as the a€oedonut
hole.a€ More recently,in July 2018, CMS published a final rule permitting further collections and payments to and from
certain ACA qualified health plans andhealth insurance issuers under the ACA risk adjustment program in response to
the outcome of federal district court litigation regardingthe method CMS uses to determine this risk adjustment.
Congress also could consider additional legislation to repeal or replace otherelements of the ACA. Thus, the full impact
of the ACA, any law repealing or replacing elements of it, and the political uncertainty surroundingany repeal or
replacement legislation on our business remains unclear.A OnJune 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed the
most recent judicial challenge to the ACA brought by several states without specificallyruling on the constitutionality of
the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Courta€™s decision, President Biden issued an executive order toinitiate a special
enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance
coveragethrough the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review
and reconsider their existingpolicies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining
Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programsthat include work requirements, and policies that create
unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage throughMedicaid or the ACA. It is unclear how
other healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration or other efforts, if any, to challenge,repeal or replace the
ACA will impact our business.A Inaddition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United
States since the ACA was enacted. In August 2011, theBudget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created
measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on DeficitReduction, tasked with
recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.5 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unableto reach
required goals, thereby triggering the legislationa€™ s automatic reduction to several government programs. This
includesaggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in April
2013, and due to subsequentlegislative amendments, including the BBA, will remain in effect through 2027 unless
additional Congressional action is taken. In January2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, was signed into
law, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments toseveral providers, including hospitals and
cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the governmentto recover overpayments to
providers from three to five years.A 60 A A Also,there has been heightened governmental scrutiny recently over the
manner in which drug manufacturers set prices for their marketed products,which has resulted in several
Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among otherthings, bring
more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and
reformgovernment program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction
Act of 2022, or the IRA, wassigned into law. The IRA includes several provisions that may impact our business if we
ultimately have approved drugs. Provisions thatmay impact our business include a $2,000 out-of-pocket cap for
Medicare Part D beneficiaries, the imposition of new manufacturer financialliability on most drugs in Medicare Part D,
permitting the U.S. government to negotiate Medicare Part B and Part D pricing for certainhigh-cost drugs and
biologics without generic or biosimilar competition, requiring companies to pay rebates to Medicare for drug pricesthat
increase faster than inflation, and delaying the rebate rule that would require pass through of pharmacy benefit
manager rebatesto beneficiaries. In August 2023, the government selected the first 10 drugs to be put through the
Medicare drug price negotiation program,which is currently subject to several constitutional challenges. The outcomes



of most of these challenges on the IRA, and the effectof the IRA on our business and the healthcare industry in general,
are not yet known.A Therehave been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign,
federal and state levels directed atbroadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of
healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that maybe adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of these
governments and other payors to contain or reduce costs of healthcare and/orimpose price controls may adversely
affect:A 4— the demand for our product candidates, if we obtain regulatory approval; A A a— our ability to set a price
that we believe is fair for our products; A A a&— our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability; A
A a— the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and A A a— the availability of capital. A Anydenial in coverage or
reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar denial or reductionin
payments from private payors, which may adversely affect our future profitability.A Weare subject to the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, and other anti-corruption laws, as well as exportcontrol laws,
import and customs laws, trade and economic sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations.A Ouroperations
are subject to anti-corruption laws, including the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 A§201,
theU.S. Travel Act, and other anti-corruption laws that apply in countries where we do business. The Bribery Act, the
FCPA and these otherlaws generally prohibit us and our employees and intermediaries from authorizing, promising,
offering, or providing, directly or indirectly,improper or prohibited payments, or anything else of value, to government
officials or other persons to obtain or retain business orgain some other business advantage. Under the Bribery Act, we
may also be liable for failing to prevent a person associated with us fromcommitting a bribery offense. We and our
commercial partners operate in a number of jurisdictions that pose a high risk of potentialBribery Act or FCPA
violations, and we participate in collaborations and relationships with third parties whose corrupt or illegal
activitiescould potentially subject us to liability under the Bribery Act, FCPA or local anti-corruption laws, even if we do
not explicitly authorizeor have actual knowledge of such activities. In addition, we cannot predict the nature, scope or
effect of future regulatory requirementsto which our international operations might be subject or the manner in which
existing laws might be administered or interpreted.A Weare also subject to other laws and regulations governing our
international operations, including regulations administered by the governmentsof the United Kingdom and the United
States, and authorities in the European Union, including applicable export control regulations,economic sanctions and
embargoes on certain countries and persons, anti-money laundering laws, import and customs requirements and
currencyexchange regulations, collectively referred to as the Trade Control laws.A 61 A A Thereis no assurance that
we will be completely effective in ensuring our compliance with all applicable anti-corruption laws, including theBribery
Act, the FCPA or other legal requirements, including Trade Control laws. If we are not in compliance with the Bribery
Act, theFCPA and other anti-corruption laws or Trade Control laws, we may be subject to criminal and civil penalties,
disgorgement and othersanctions and remedial measures, and legal expenses, which could have an adverse impact on
our business, financial condition, resultsof operations and liquidity. Likewise, any investigation of any potential
violations of the Bribery Act, the FCPA, other anti-corruptionlaws or Trade Control laws by United Kingdom, United
States or other authorities could also have an adverse impact on our reputation,our business, results of operations and
financial condition.A Recentlyenacted and future policies and legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to
obtain marketing approval of and commercializeour product candidates and may affect the reimbursement made for
any product candidate for which we receive marketing approval.A Legislativeand regulatory actions affecting
government prescription drug procurement and reimbursement programs occur relatively frequently. Inthe United.
States, for example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (a€ePPACA4&€) was enacted in 2010 to expand
healthcarecoverage and made significant changes to drug reimbursement. Other legislative changes that affect the
pharmaceutical industry have beenproposed and adopted in the United States since PPACA was enacted. For example,
the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 included, among otherthings, a provision that authorizes Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (a€eCMSa€) to negotiate a a€cemaximum fairpricea€ for a limited number of high-cost, single-
source drugs every year, and another provision that requires drug companies topay rebates to Medicare if prices rise
faster than inflation. Complying with any new legislation could be time-intensive and expensive,resulting in a material
adverse effect on our business.A Inaddition, many states have proposed or enacted legislation that seeks to indirectly or
directly regulate pharmaceutical drug pricing,such as by requiring biopharmaceutical manufacturers to publicly report
proprietary pricing information or to place a maximum price ceilingon pharmaceutical products purchased by state
agencies. For example, in 2017, Californiad€™ s governor signed a prescription drugprice transparency state bill into
law, requiring prescription drug manufacturers to provide advance notice and explanation for priceincreases of certain
drugs that exceed a specified threshold. Both Congress and state legislatures are considering various bills thatwould
reform drug purchasing and price negotiations, allow greater use of utilization management tools to limit Medicare Part
D coverage,facilitate the import of lower-priced drugs from outside the United States and encourage the use of generic
drugs. Such initiatives andlegislation may cause added pricing pressures on our products.A Changesto the Medicaid
program at the federal or state level could also have a material adverse effect on our business. Proposals that
couldimpact coverage and reimbursement of our products, including giving states more flexibility to manage drugs
covered under the Medicaidprogram and permitting the re-importation of prescription medications from Canada or
other countries, could have a material adverse effectby limiting our productsa€™ use and coverage. Furthermore, state
Medicaid programs could request additional supplemental rebateson our products as a result of an increase in the
federal base Medicaid rebate. To the extent that private insurers or managed care programsfollow Medicaid coverage
and payment developments, they could use the enactment of these increased rebates to exert pricing pressureon our
products, and the adverse effects may be magnified by their adoption of lower payment schedules.A Wecannot predict
the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative
orexecutive action, either in the United States or abroad. We expect that additional state and federal health care reform
measures willbe adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay
for health care products andservices. Moreover, the Biden administration, including the Secretary of the United States
Department of Human and Health Services, hasindicated that lowering prescription drug prices is a priority, but we do
not yet know what steps the administration will take or whethersuch steps will be successful.A Otherproposed
regulatory actions affecting manufacturers could have a material adverse effect on our business. It is difficult to
predictthe impact, if any, of any such proposed legislative and regulatory actions or resulting state actions on the use
and reimbursement ofour products in the United States, but our results of operations may be adversely affected.A 62 A
A Ifwe fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or
penalties or incurcosts that could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.A Weare subject to
numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and



thehandling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of
hazardous and flammablematerials, including chemicals and biological materials. Our operations also produce
hazardous waste products. We generally contractwith third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We
cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from thesematerials. In the event of contamination or injury
resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resultingdamages, and any liability could
exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal finesand penalties.
Furthermore, environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more
stringent.We cannot predict the impact of such changes and cannot be certain of our future compliance. In addition, we
may incur substantial costsin order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations. These current or future laws and regulationsmay impair our research, development or production efforts.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantialfines, penalties or other

sanctions.A Althoughwe maintain workersa€™ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur
due to injuries to our employees resultingfrom the use of hazardous materials or other work-related injuries, this
insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potentialliabilities. In addition, we may incur substantial costs in
order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety lawsand regulations. These current or future
laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. Failure tocomply with these laws and
regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions or liabilities, which couldmaterially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.A RisksRelated to Our
International OperationsA Asone of our subsidiaries, Relief, is based outside of the United States, we are subject to
economic, political, regulatory and other risksassociated with international operations.A AsRelief Therapeutics SA

(&€ ®eReliefa€) is based in the Switzerland, our business is subject to risks associated with conductingbusiness outside
of the United States. Many of our suppliers and clinical trial relationships are located outside the United
States.Accordingly, our future results could be harmed by a variety of factors, including:é\ a— economic weakness,
including inflation, or political instability in particular non-U.S. economies and markets; A A a— differing and changing
regulatory requirements for product approvals; A A a— differing jurisdictions could present different issues for
securing, maintaining or obtaining freedom to operate in such jurisdictions; A 63 A A 4— potentially reduced
protection for intellectual property rights; A A a— difficulties in compliance with different, complex and changing laws,
regulations and court systems of multiple jurisdictions and compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws, treaties and
regulations; A A 4— changes in non-U.S. regulations and customs, tariffs and trade barriers; A A 4— changes in non-
U.S. currency exchange rates of the pound sterling, U.S. dollar, euro and currency controls; A A 4— trade protection
measures, import or export licensing requirements or other restrictive actions by governments; A A a— differing
reimbursement regimes and price controls in certain non-U.S. markets; A A 4— negative consequences from changes
in tax laws; A A 4— compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling
abroad, including, for example, the variable tax treatment in different jurisdictions of options granted under our share
option schemes or equity incentive plans; A A 4— workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more
common than in the United States; A A a4— litigation or administrative actions resulting from claims against us by
current or former employees or consultants individually or as part of class actions, including claims of wrongful
terminations, discrimination, misclassification or other violations of labor law or other alleged conduct; A A a—
difficulties associated with staffing and managing international operations, including differing labor relations; A A a—
production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and
A A a— business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters
including earthquakes, typhoons, floods and fires. A Europeandata collection is governed by restrictive regulations
governing the use, processing, and cross-border transfer of personal information.A Thecollection and use of personal
health data in the European Union was governed by the provisions of the Data Protection Directive, andwhich, as of
May 25, 2018, has been superseded by the GDPR. These directives impose several requirements relating to the consent
of theindividuals to whom the personal data relates, the information provided to the individuals, notification of data
processing obligationsto the competent national data protection authorities and the security and confidentiality of the
personal data. The Data ProtectionDirective and GDPR also impose strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of
the European Union to the United States. Failureto comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Directive, the
GDPR, and the related national data protection laws of the EuropeanUnion Member States may result in fines and other
administrative penalties. While the Data Protection Directive did not apply to organizationsbased outside the EU, the
GDPR has expanded its reach to include any business, regardless of its location, that provides goods or servicesto
residents in the EU. This expansion would incorporate any potential clinical trial activities in EU member states. The
GDPR imposesstrict requirements on controllers and processors of personal data, including special protections for
d€mesensitive informationa€which includes health and genetic information of data subjects residing in the EU. GDPR
grants individuals the opportunity to objectto the processing of their personal information, allows them to request
deletion of personal information in certain circumstances, andprovides the individual with an express right to seek legal
remedies in the event the individual believes his or her rights have beenviolated. Further, the GDPR imposes strict rules
on the transfer of personal data out of the European Union to the United States or otherregions that have not been
deemed to offer a€ceadequatea€ privacy protections. Failure to comply with the requirements of theGDPR and the
related national data protection laws of the European Union Member States, which may deviate slightly from the GDPR,
mayresult in fines of up to 4% of global revenues, or 4,— 20,000,000, whichever is greater. As a result of the
implementation of theGDPR, we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms ensuring compliance with the
new data protection rules.A 64 A A RisksRelated to Our Dependence on Third PartiesA Forcertain product candidates,
we may depend on development and commercialization collaborators to develop and conduct clinical trials with,obtain
regulatory approvals for, and if approved, market and sell product candidates. If such collaborators fail to perform as
expected,the potential for us to generate future revenue from such product candidates would be significantly reduced
and our business would beharmed.A Forcertain products candidates, we depend, or will depend, on our development
and commercial collaborators to develop, conduct clinicaltrials of, and, if approved, commercialize product
candidates.A Ourcurrent collaborations and any future collaborations that we enter into are subject to numerous risks,
including:A a4— collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to
the collaborations; A A 4— collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected or fail to fulfill their
responsibilities in a timely manner, or at all; A A 4— collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization
of any product candidates that achieve regulatory approval or may elect not to continue or renew development or
commercialization programs based on preclinical studies or clinical trial results, changes in the collaboratorsa€™



strategic focus or available funding or external factors, such as an acquisition, that divert resources or create
competing priorities; A A 4— collaborators may delay preclinical studies or clinical trials, provide insufficient funding
for clinical trials, stop a preclinical study or clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical
trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing; A A &— we may not have access to, or
may be restricted from disclosing, certain information regarding product candidates being developed or commercialized
under a collaboration and, consequently, may have limited ability to inform our shareholders about the status of such
product candidates; A 4— collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that
compete directly or indirectly with our product candidates if the collaborators believe that competitive products are
more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms that are more economically attractive
than ours; A A 4— the collaborations may not result in product candidates to develop and/or preclinical studies or
clinical trials conducted as part of the collaborations may not be successful; A A 4— product candidates developed
with collaborators may be viewed by our collaborators as competitive with their own product candidates or products,
which may cause collaborators to stop commercialization of our product candidates; A A 4— a collaborator with
marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval may not
commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of any such product candidate; and A A 4— collaborators
may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a
way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or
expose us to potential litigation. A Inaddition, certain collaboration and commercialization agreements provide our
collaborators with rights to terminate such agreements,which rights may or may not be subject to conditions, and which
rights, if exercised, would adversely affect our product developmentefforts and could make it difficult for us to attract
new collaborators. In that event, we would likely be required to limit the sizeand scope of efforts for the development
and commercialization of such product candidates or products; we would likely be required toseek additional financing
to fund further development or identify alternative strategic collaborations; our potential to generate futurerevenue
from royalties and milestone payments from such product candidates or products would be significantly reduced,
delayed or eliminated;and it could have an adverse effect on our business and future growth prospects. Our rights to
recover tangible and intangible assetsand intellectual property rights needed to advance a product candidate or
product after termination of a collaboration may be limitedby contract, and we may not be able to advance a program
post- termination.A 65 A A Ifconflicts arise with our development and commercialization collaborators or licensors,
they may act in their own self-interest, whichmay be adverse to the interests of our company.A Wemay in the future
experience disagreements with our development and commercialization collaborators or licensors. Conflicts may arisein
our collaboration and license arrangements with third parties due to one or more of the following:A 4— disputes with
respect to milestone, royalty and other payments that are believed due under the applicable agreements; A A a—
disagreements with respect to the ownership of intellectual property rights or scope of licenses; A A a—
disagreements with respect to the scope of any reporting obligations; A A 4&— unwillingness on the part of a
collaborator to keep us informed regarding the progress of its development and commercialization activities, or to
permit public disclosure of these activities; and A A 4— disputes with respect to a collaboratora€™s or our
development or commercialization efforts with respect to our products and product candidates. A Conflictswith our
development and commercialization collaborators or licensors could materially adversely affect our business, financial
conditionor results of operations and future growth prospects.A Wewill rely on third parties, including independent
clinical investigators and CROs, to conduct and sponsor some of the clinical trialsof our product candidates. Any failure
by a third party to meet its obligations with respect to the clinical development of our productcandidates may delay or
impair our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates.A Wewill be relying upon and plan to
continue to rely upon third parties, including independent clinical investigators, academic partners,regulatory affairs
consultants and third-party CROs, to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials, including in some
instancessponsoring such clinical trials, and to engage with regulatory authorities and monitor and manage data for our
ongoing preclinical andclinical programs. Given the breadth of clinical therapeutic areas for which we believe our
product candidates may have utility, we intendto continue to rely on external service providers rather than build
internal regulatory expertise.A Anyof these third parties may terminate their engagements with us under certain
circumstances. We may not be able to enter into alternativearrangements or do so on commercially reasonable terms.
In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new contract researchorganization begins work. As a result,
delays would likely occur, which could negatively impact our ability to meet our expected clinicaldevelopment timelines
and harm our business, financial condition and prospects.A Weremain responsible for ensuring that each of our
preclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the applicableprotocol and legal, regulatory and
scientific standards, and our reliance on these third parties does not relieve us of our regulatoryresponsibilities. We and
our third-party contractors and CROs are required to comply with GCP requirements, which are regulations
andguidelines enforced by the FDA, the Competent Authorities of the Member States of the European Economic Area,
or EEA, and comparableforeign regulatory authorities for all of our products in clinical development. Regulatory
authorities enforce these GCP requirementsthrough periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and
trial sites. If we fail to exercise adequate oversight overany of our academic partners or CROs or if we or any of our
academic partners or CROs do not successfully carry out their contractualduties or obligations, fail to meet expected
deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromiseddue to the failure to adhere to our
clinical protocols or regulatory requirements, or for any other reasons, the clinical data generatedin our clinical trials
may be deemed unreliable and the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to
performadditional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon a
regulatory inspection of us,our academic partners or our CROs or other third parties performing services in connection
with our clinical trials, such regulatoryauthority will determine that any of our clinical trials complies with GCP
regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conductedwith product produced under applicable CGMP
regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinicaltrials, which would delay the
regulatory approval process.A 66 A A Furthermore,the third parties conducting clinical trials on our behalf are not our
employees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreementswith such contractors, we cannot control
whether or not they devote sufficient time, skill and resources to our ongoing development programs.These contractors
may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be
conductingclinical trials or other drug development activities, which could impede their ability to devote appropriate
time to our clinical programs.If these third parties, including clinical investigators, do not successfully carry out their
contractual duties, meet expected deadlinesor conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or



our stated protocols, we may not be able to obtain, or maybe delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product
candidates. If that occurs, we will not be able to, or may be delayed inour efforts to, successfully commercialize our
product candidates.A Inaddition, with respect to investigator-sponsored trials that may be conducted, we would not
control the design or conduct of these trials,and it is possible that the FDA or EMA will not view these investigator-
sponsored trials as providing adequate support for future clinicaltrials or market approval, whether controlled by us or
third parties, for any one or more reasons, including elements of the design orexecution of the trials or safety concerns
or other trial results. We expect that such arrangements will provide us certain informationrights with respect to the
investigator-sponsored trials, including access to and the ability to use and reference the data, includingfor our own
regulatory submissions, resulting from the investigator-sponsored trials. However, we would not have control over the
timingand reporting of the data from investigator-sponsored trials, nor would we own the data from the investigator-
sponsored trials. If weare unable to confirm or replicate the results from the investigator-sponsored trials or if negative
results are obtained, we would likelybe further delayed or prevented from advancing further clinical

development.A Further,if investigators or institutions breach their obligations with respect to the clinical development
of our product candidates, or if thedata proves to be inadequate compared to the firsthand knowledge we might have
gained had the investigator-sponsored trials been sponsoredand conducted by us, then our ability to design and conduct
any future clinical trials ourselves may be adversely affected. Additionally,the FDA or EMA may disagree with the
sufficiency of our right of reference to the preclinical, manufacturing or clinical data generatedby these investigator-
sponsored trials, or our interpretation of preclinical, manufacturing or clinical data from these investigator-
sponsoredtrials. If so, the FDA or EMA may require us to obtain and submit additional preclinical, manufacturing, or
clinical data.A Weintend to rely on third parties to manufacture product candidates, which increases the risk that we
will not have sufficient quantitiesof such product candidates or products or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which
could delay, prevent or impair our developmentor commercialization efforts.A Wedo not own or operate manufacturing
facilities for the production of clinical or commercial supplies of the product candidates that weare developing or
evaluating in our development programs. We have limited personnel with experience in drug manufacturing and lack
theresources and the capabilities to manufacture any of our product candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. We
rely on third partiesfor supply of our product candidates, and our strategy is to outsource all manufacturing of our
product candidates and products to thirdparties.A Inorder to conduct clinical trials of product candidates, we will need
to have them manufactured in potentially large quantities. Our third-party manufacturers may be unable to successfully
increase the manufacturing capacity for any of our product candidates in a timely orcost- effective manner, or at all. In
addition, quality issues may arise during scale-up activities and at any other time. For example,ongoing data on the
stability of our product candidates may shorten the expiry of our product candidates and lead to clinical trial
materialsupply shortages, and potentially clinical trial delays. If these third-party manufacturers are unable to
successfully scale up the manufactureof our product candidates in sufficient quality and quantity, the development,
testing and clinical trials of that product candidatemay be delayed or infeasible, and regulatory approval or commercial
launch of that product candidate may be delayed or not obtained,which could significantly harm our business.A 67 A

A Ouruse of new third-party manufacturers increases the risk of delays in production or insufficient supplies of our
product candidates aswe transfer our manufacturing technology to these manufacturers and as they gain experience
manufacturing our product candidates. Evenafter a third-party manufacturer has gained significant experience in
manufacturing our product candidates or even if we believe we havesucceeded in optimizing the manufacturing
process, there can be no assurance that such manufacturer will produce sufficient quantitiesof our product candidates
in a timely manner or continuously over time, or at all.A Wemay be delayed if we need to change the manufacturing
process used by a third party. Further, if we change an approved manufacturingprocess, then we may be delayed if the
FDA or a comparable foreign authority needs to review the new manufacturing process before itmay be

used.A Weoperate an outsourced model for the manufacture of our product candidates, and contract with good
manufacturing practice, or GMP, licensedpharmaceutical contract development and manufacturing organizations. While
we have engaged several third-party vendors to provide clinicaland non-clinical supplies and fill-finish services, we do
not currently have any agreements with third-party manufacturers for long-termcommercial supplies. In the future, we
may be unable to enter into agreements with third-party manufacturers for commercial suppliesof any product
candidate that we develop, or may be unable to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to establish and
maintainarrangements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third- party manufacturers entails risks, including:A
a— reliance on third-parties for manufacturing process development, regulatory compliance and quality assurance; A
A a— limitations on supply availability resulting from capacity and scheduling constraints of third-parties;AA AA a— the
possible breach of manufacturing agreements by third-parties because of factors beyond our control; and A A a4— the
possible termination or non-renewal of the manufacturing agreements by the third-party, at a time that is costly or
inconvenient to us. A Third-partymanufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP requirements or similar
regulatory requirements outside the United States. Our failure,or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to
comply with applicable requirements could result in sanctions being imposed on us,including fines, injunctions, civil
penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recallsof product candidates or
products, operating restrictions and/or criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adverselyaffect
supplies of our product candidates. In addition, some of the product candidates we intend to develop, including SON-
080, use toxinsor other substances that can be produced only in specialized facilities with specific authorizations and
permits, and there can be noguarantee that we or our manufacturers can maintain such authorizations and permits.
These specialized requirements may also limit thenumber of potential manufacturers that we can engage to produce
our product candidates, and impair any efforts to transition to replacementmanufacturers.A Ourfuture product
candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and products for access
to manufacturingfacilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP requirements that
might be capable of manufacturing forus.A Ifthe third parties that we engage to supply any materials or manufacture
product for our preclinical tests and clinical trials shouldcease to continue to do so for any reason, we likely would
experience delays in advancing these tests and trials while we identify andqualify replacement suppliers or
manufacturers and we may be unable to obtain replacement supplies on terms that are favorable to us.In addition, if we
are not able to obtain adequate supplies of our product candidates or the substances used to manufacture them, itwill
be more difficult for us to develop our product candidates and compete effectively.A Ourcurrent and anticipated future
dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates may adversely affect our future profitmargins
and our ability to develop product candidates and commercialize any products that receive marketing approval on a
timely andcompetitive basis.A 68 A A Ourreliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which



increases the possibility that a competitor will discover themor that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or
disclosed.A Becausewe rely on third parties to manufacture our product candidates, and because we collaborate with
various organizations and academic institutionson the development of our product candidates, we must, at times, share
trade secrets with them. We seek to protect our proprietary technologyin part by entering into confidentiality
agreements and, if applicable, material transfer agreements, collaborative research agreements,consulting agreements
or other similar agreements with our collaborators, advisors, employees and consultants prior to beginning researchor
disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose our
confidentialinformation, such as trade secrets.A Despitethe contractual provisions employed when working with third
parties, the need to share trade secrets and other confidential informationincreases the risk that such trade secrets
become known by our competitors, are inadvertently incorporated into the technology of others,or are disclosed or used
in violation of these agreements. Given that our proprietary position is based, in part, on our know-how andtrade
secrets, a competitora€™s discovery of our trade secrets or other unauthorized use or disclosure would impair our
competitiveposition and may have a material adverse effect on our business.A Inaddition, these agreements typically
restrict the ability of our collaborators, advisors, employees and consultants to publish data potentiallyrelating to our
trade secrets. Our academic collaborators typically have rights to publish data, provided that we are notified in
advanceand may delay publication for a specified time in order to secure our intellectual property rights arising from
the collaboration. Inother cases, publication rights are controlled exclusively by us, although in some cases we may
share these rights with other parties.Despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets, our competitors may discover our
trade secrets, either through breach of these agreements,independent development or publication of information
including our trade secrets in cases where we do not have proprietary or otherwiseprotected rights at the time of
publication. A competitora€™s discovery of our trade secrets would impair our competitive positionand have an adverse
impact on our business.A RisksRelated to Our Intellectual PropertyA Ifwe are unable to obtain and maintain patent and
other intellectual property protection for our products and product candidates, or ifthe scope of the patent and other
intellectual property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could developand commercialize
products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products and product
candidatesmay be adversely affected.A Ourability to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to maintain
the proprietary nature of our technology and manufacturingprocesses. We rely on research, manufacturing and other
know-how, patents, trade secrets, license agreements and contractual provisionsto establish our intellectual property
rights and protect our products and product candidates. These legal means, however, afford onlylimited protection and
may not adequately protect our rights. As of December 17, 2024, our intellectual property portfolio includes 20total
pending patent applications and issued patents, inclusive of 5 issued patents in the U.S., Japan, China, Russia and New
Zealand,and 9 PCT applications within the 5007 patent family - also, 9 pending provisional applications covering
formulations, manufacturingprocesses and methods of use.A Incertain situations and as considered appropriate, we
have sought, and we intend to continue to seek to protect our proprietary positionby filing patent applications in the
United States and, in at least some cases, one or more countries outside the United States relatingto current and future
products and product candidates that are important to our business. However, we cannot predict whether the
patentapplications currently being pursued will issue as patents, or whether the claims of any resulting patents will
provide us with a competitiveadvantage or whether we will be able to successfully pursue patent applications in the
future relating to our current or future productsand product candidates. Moreover, the patent application and approval
process is expensive and time-consuming. We may not be able tofile and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent
applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. Furthermore, we, or anyfuture partners, collaborators, or
licensees, may fail to identify patentable aspects of inventions made in the course of developmentand commercialization
activities before it is too late to obtain patent protection on them. Therefore, we may miss potential opportunitiesto seek
additional patent protection. It is possible that defects of form in the preparation or filing of patent applications may
exist,or may arise in the future, for example with respect to proper priority claims, inventorship, claim scope, or
requests for patent termadjustments. If we fail to establish, maintain or protect such patents and other intellectual
property rights, such rights may be reducedor eliminated. If there are material defects in the form, preparation,
prosecution or enforcement of our patents or patent applications,such patents may be invalid and/or unenforceable, and
such applications may never result in valid, enforceable patents.A 69 A A Evenif they are unchallenged, our patents
and patent applications, if issued, may not provide us with any meaningful protection or preventcompetitors from
designing around our patent claims by developing similar or alternative technologies or therapeutics in a non-
infringingmanner. For example, a third party may develop a competitive therapy that provides benefits similar to one or
more of our product candidatesbut that falls outside the scope of our patent protection. If the patent protection
provided by the patents and patent applications wehold or pursue with respect to our product candidates is not
sufficiently broad to impede such competition, our ability to successfullycommercialize our product candidates could be
negatively affected.A Asdiscussed under the heading 4€ceBUSINESSA€, our PCT patent application having international
patent application number PCT/US2018/00085received an application filing date of February 20, 2018, which is four
days after the one year anniversary of the filing date of U.S.provisional patent applications U.S. 62/459,975 and U.S.
62/459,981 to which the PCT patent application claims a priority benefit dueto a computer issue at the PCT receiving
office. Despite the restoration of the priority benefit to the filing date of U.S. provisionalpatent applications (U.S.
62/459,975 and U.S. 62/459,981) by the PCT, some countries in which national stage patent applications werefiled from
this PCT patent application did not accept this restoration including Canada, and the restoration procedure is pending
inBrazil. In the event that priority is not restored, prior art may be available to these patent applications that may
otherwise not beavailable to other patent applications filed from PCT/US2018/00085. This could affect the scope or
breadth of the patent claims we arepursuing in Brazil, Canada, Hong Kong and India, or could result in no ability to
receive patents in these countries.A Otherparties, many of whom have substantially greater resources and have made
significant investments in competing technologies, have developedor may develop technologies that may be related or
competitive with our approach, and may have filed or may file patent applicationsand may have been issued or may be
issued patents with claims that overlap or conflict with our patent applications, either by claimingthe same
compositions, formulations or methods or by claiming subject matter that could dominate our patent position. In
addition, thelaws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. As
a result, any patents wemay obtain in the future may not provide us with adequate and continuing patent protection
sufficient to exclude others from commercializingproducts similar to our products and product candidates.A Thepatent
position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain. No consistent policy regarding
the breadthof claims allowed in biotechnology and pharmaceutical patents has emerged to date in the United States or



in many foreign jurisdictions.In addition, the determination of patent rights with respect to pharmaceutical compounds
commonly involves complex legal and factualquestions, which has in recent years been the subject of much litigation.
As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceabilityand commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain.
Our competitors may also seek approval to market their own products similarto or otherwise competitive with our
products. Alternatively, our competitors may seek to market generic versions of any approved productsby submitting
ANDAs to the FDA in which they claim that our patents are invalid, unenforceable or not infringed. In these
circumstances,we may need to defend or assert our patents, or both, including by filing lawsuits alleging patent
infringement. In any of these typesof proceedings, a court or other agency with jurisdiction may find our patents invalid
or unenforceable, or that our competitors arecompeting in a non-infringing manner. Thus, even if we have valid and
enforceable patents, these patents still may not provide protectionagainst competing products or processes sufficient to
achieve our business objectives.A Inthe future, one or more of our products and product candidates may be in-licensed
from third parties. Accordingly, in some cases, theavailability and scope of potential patent protection is limited based
on prior decisions by our licensors or the inventors, such asdecisions on when to file patent applications or whether to
file patent applications at all. Our failure to obtain, maintain, enforceor defend such intellectual property rights, for any
reason, could allow third parties, in particular, other established and better financedcompetitors having established
development, manufacturing and distribution capabilities, to make competing products or impact our abilityto develop,
manufacture and market our products and product candidates, even if approved, on a commercially viable basis, if at
all,which could have a material adverse effect on our business.A 70 A A Inaddition to patent protection, we expect to
rely heavily on trade secrets, know-how and other unpatented technology, which are difficultto protect. Although we
seek such protection in part by entering into confidentiality agreements with our vendors, employees, consultantsand
others who may have access to proprietary information, we cannot be certain that these agreements will not be
breached, adequateremedies for any breach would be available, or our trade secrets, know-how and other unpatented
proprietary technology will not otherwisebecome known to or be independently developed by our competitors. If we are
unsuccessful in protecting our intellectual property rights,sales of our products may suffer and our ability to generate
revenue could be severely impacted.A Issuedpatents covering our products and product candidates could be found
invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court or in administrativeproceedings. We may not be able to protect our trade
secrets in court.A Ifwe initiate legal proceedings against a third-party to enforce a patent covering one of our products
or product candidates, should sucha patent issue, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent covering our
product or product candidate is invalid or unenforceable.In patent litigation in the United States, defendant
counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds fora validity challenge could be an
alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness,written description
or non- enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected
withprosecution of the patent withheld information material to patentability from the USPTO, or made a misleading
statement, during prosecution.Third parties also may raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United
States or abroad, even outside the context oflitigation. Such mechanisms include re- examination, post grant review,
inter partes review and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions.An adverse determination in any of the foregoing
proceedings could result in the revocation or cancellation of, or amendment to, ourpatents in such a way that they no
longer cover our products or product candidates. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidityand
unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is
no invalidatingprior art, of which the patent examiner and we were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant or third
party were to prevail on a legalassertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we could lose at least part, and perhaps all, of
the patent protection on one or more ofour products and product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection could
have a material adverse impact on our business.A Inaddition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be
independently discovered by competitors. Competitors and other third partiescould purchase our products and product
candidates and attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive fromour development efforts,
willfully infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate our intellectual property rights, design around ourprotected
technology or develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside of our intellectual property rights. If any of
ourtrade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we
would have no right toprevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or information
to compete with us. If our trade secretsare not adequately protected or sufficient to provide an advantage over our
competitors, our competitive position could be adverselyaffected, as could our business. Additionally, if the steps taken
to maintain our trade secrets are deemed inadequate, we may have insufficientrecourse against third parties for
misappropriating our trade secrets.A Wemay be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of the
patents and other intellectual property.A Wemay be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other
third parties have an ownership interest in the patents and intellectualproperty that we own or that we may own or
license in the future. While it is our policy to require our employees and contractors whomay be involved in the
development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we maybe
unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who in fact develops intellectual property that we regard
as our own orsuch assignments may not be self-executing or may be breached. We could be subject to ownership
disputes arising, for example, from conflictingobligations of employees, consultants or others who are involved in
developing our products or product candidates. Litigation may benecessary to defend against any claims challenging
inventorship or ownership. If we or fail in defending any such claims, we may haveto pay monetary damages and may
lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, intellectualproperty, which
could adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.A 71 A A Obtainingand maintaining
patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirementsimposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for
non- compliance with these requirements.A Periodicmaintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other
governmental fees on patents and applications are required to be paidto the USPTO and various governmental patent
agencies outside of the United States in several stages over the lifetime of the patentsand applications. The USPTO and
various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary,fee
payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process and after a patent has issued. There are
situations inwhich non- compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in
partial or complete loss ofpatent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. The terms of one or more licenses that we enter into
the future may not provide us with theability to maintain or prosecute patents in the portfolio, and must therefore rely
on third parties to do so.A Ifwe do not obtain patent term extension and data exclusivity for our products and product



candidates, our business may be materially harmed.A Patentshave a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all
maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally20 years from its earliest U.S. non-
provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protectionit affords, is
limited. Even if patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired for a
productcandidate, we may be open to competition from competitive products. Given the amount of time required for the
development, testing andregulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire
before or shortly after such candidatesare commercialized. As a result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with
sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializingproducts similar or identical to ours.A Inthe future, if we obtain
an issued patent covering one of our present or future product candidates, depending upon the timing, durationand
specifics of any FDA marketing approval of such product candidates, such patent may be eligible for limited patent term
extensionunder the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or Hatch-Waxman Amendments.
The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permita patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost
during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent termextension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent
beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patentmay be extended and only those claims
covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be extended.A patent may only
be extended once and only based on a single approved product. However, we may not be granted an extension because
of,for example, failure to obtain a granted patent before approval of a product candidate, failure to exercise due
diligence during thetesting phase or regulatory review process, failure to apply within applicable deadlines, failure to
apply prior to expiration of relevantpatents or otherwise our failure to satisfy applicable requirements. A patent
licensed to us by a third party may not be available forpatent term extension. Moreover, the applicable time period or
the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request.If we are unable to obtain patent term extension
or the term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtainapproval of competing products
following our patent expiration, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially.A Changesin patent law in the
United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our abilityto
protect our products and product candidates.A Changesin either the patent laws or the interpretation of the patent laws
in the United States or other jurisdictions could increase the uncertaintiesand costs surrounding the prosecution of
patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. On September 16, 2011,the Leahy-Smith America
Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. When implemented, the Leahy-Smith Act included
severalsignificant changes to U.S. patent law that impacted how patent rights could be prosecuted, enforced and
defended. In particular, theLeahy-Smith Act also included provisions that switched the United States from a a€cefirst-to-
inventa€ system to a a€cefirst-to-filea€system, allowed third- party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent
prosecution and set forth additional procedures to attackthe validity of a patent by the USPTO administered post grant
proceedings. Under a first-to-file system, assuming the other requirementsfor patentability are met, the first inventor to
file a patent application generally will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardlessof whether another inventor
had made the invention earlier. The USPTO developed new regulations and procedures governing the administrationof
the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in
particular, thefirst to file provisions, only became effective on March 16, 2013. It remains unclear what, if any, impact
the Leahy-Smith Act will haveon the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation
could increase the uncertainties and costs surroundingthe prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement
or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverseeffect on our business.A 72 A A Inaddition,
the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of biologics and pharmaceuticals are
particularlyuncertain. Recent rulings from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit and the U.S. Supreme Court
have narrowed the scope ofpatent protection available in certain circumstances and weakened the rights of patent
owners in certain situations. This combinationof events has created uncertainty with respect to the validity and
enforceability of patents, once obtained. Depending on future actionsby the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the
USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable waysthat could have a material
adverse effect on our existing patent portfolio and our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual propertyin the
future.A Wecannot assure you that our efforts to seek patent protection for one or more of our products and product
candidates will not be negativelyimpacted by the decisions described above, rulings in other cases or changes in
guidance or procedures issued by the USPTO. We cannotfully predict what impact courtsa€™ decisions in historical and
future cases may have on the ability of life science companies toobtain or enforce patents relating to their products in
the future. These decisions, the guidance issued by the USPTO and rulings inother cases or changes in USPTO guidance
or procedures could have a material adverse effect on our existing patent rights and our abilityto protect and enforce
our intellectual property in the future.A Wemay not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the
world.A Filing,prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing patents on products and product candidates in all
countries throughout the world wouldbe prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries
outside the United States could be less extensivethan those in the United States. The requirements for patentability
may differ in certain countries, particularly in developing countries;thus, even in countries where we do pursue patent
protection, there can be no assurance that any patents will issue with claims thatcover our products. There can be no
assurance that we will obtain or maintain patent rights in or outside the United States under anyfuture license
agreements. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same
extentas federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from
practicing our inventionsin all countries outside the United States, even in jurisdictions where we pursue patent
protection, or from selling or importing productsmade using our inventions in and into the United States or other
jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictionswhere we have not pursued and obtained patent
protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringingproducts to territories where we
have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These productsmay compete with
our products and product candidates and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or
sufficientto prevent them from competing.A Manycompanies have encountered significant problems in protecting and
defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. Thelegal systems of certain countries, particularly certain
developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secretsand other intellectual property protection,
particularly those relating to biotechnology and pharmaceutical products, which could makeit difficult for us to stop the
infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rightsgenerally. For
example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to
thirdparties. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights, even if obtained, in foreign jurisdictions could result in



substantial costs and divertour efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of
being invalidated or interpreted narrowlyand our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third
parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail inany lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other
remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. While we intendto protect our intellectual property
rights in major markets for our products, we cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or maintainsimilar efforts in
all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market our products. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our
intellectualproperty rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the
intellectual property that wedevelop.A 73 A A Ifwe are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties,
such litigation could be costly and time consuming and couldprevent or delay us from developing or commercializing
our product candidates.A Ourcommercial success depends, in part, on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and
sell our product candidates without infringingthe intellectual property and other proprietary rights of third parties.
Third parties may have U.S. and non-U.S. issued patents andpending patent applications relating to compounds,
methods of manufacturing compounds and/or methods of use for the treatment of thedisease indications for which we
are developing our product candidates. If any third-party patents or patent applications are found tocover our product
candidates or their methods of use or manufacture, we and our collaborators or sublicensees may not be free to
manufactureor market our product candidates as planned without obtaining a license, which may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms,or at all. We may also be required to indemnify our collaborators or sublicensees in
such an event.A Thereis a substantial amount of intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries, and we may become partyto, or threatened with, litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding
intellectual property rights with respect to our productscandidates, including interference and post-grant proceedings
before the USPTO. There may be third-party patents or patent applicationswith claims to materials, formulations,
methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to the composition, use or manufactureof our product
candidates. We cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses including, but not limited to, the
identificationof relevant patents, the scope of patent claims or the expiration of relevant patents are complete or
thorough, nor can we be certainthat we have identified each and every patent and pending application in the United
States and abroad that is relevant to or necessaryfor the commercialization of our product candidates in any
jurisdiction. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, theremay be currently pending patent
applications which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may be accused of infringing.In
addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these
patents. Accordingly,third parties may assert infringement claims against us based intellectual property rights that
exist now or arise in the future. Theoutcome of intellectual property litigation is subject to uncertainties that cannot be
adequately quantified in advance. The pharmaceuticaland biotechnology industries have produced a significant number
of patents, and it may not always be clear to industry participants,including us, which patents cover various types of
products or methods of use or manufacture. The scope of protection afforded by a patentis subject to interpretation by
the courts, and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we were sued for patent infringement, wewould need to
demonstrate that our product candidates, products or methods either do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant
patentor that the patent claims are invalid or unenforceable, and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity is
difficult. For example,in the United States, proving invalidity requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to
overcome the presumption of validityenjoyed by issued patents. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may
incur substantial costs and the time and attentionof our management and scientific personnel could be diverted in
pursuing these proceedings, which could significantly harm our businessand operating results. In addition, we may not
have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.A Ifwe are found to infringe a third
partya€™s intellectual property rights, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease developing,manufacturing
or commercializing the infringing product candidate or product. Alternatively, we may be required to obtain a license
fromsuch third party in order to use the infringing technology and continue developing, manufacturing or marketing the
infringing productcandidate or product.A However,we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license,it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our
competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us; alternatively or additionallyit could include terms that
impede or destroy our ability to compete successfully in the commercial marketplace. In addition, we couldbe found
liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneysa€™ fees if we are found to have willfully
infringeda patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or force us
to cease some of our businessoperations, which could harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the
confidential information or trade secrets of thirdparties could have a similar negative impact on our business.A 74 A

A Wemay be subject to claims by third parties asserting that our employees or we have misappropriated their
intellectual property, or claimingownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.A Manyof our current
and former employees, including our senior management, were previously employed at universities or at other
biotechnologyor pharmaceutical companies, including some which may be competitors or potential competitors. Some
of these employees may be subjectto proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non- competition agreements, or similar
agreements, in connection with such previous employment.Although we try to ensure that our employees do not use the
proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we maybe subject to claims that we or these
employees have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietaryinformation, of any
such third party. Litigation may be necessary to defend against such claims. If we fail in defending any such claims,in
addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel or sustain
damages. Such intellectualproperty rights could be awarded to a third party, and we could be required to obtain a
license from such third party to commercializeour technology or products. Such a license may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we are successfulin defending against such claims, litigation could
result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.A Inaddition, while we typically require our employees,
consultants and contractors who may be involved in the development of intellectualproperty to execute agreements
assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement witheach party who
in fact develops intellectual property that we regard as our own, which may result in claims by or against us relatedto
the ownership of such intellectual property. If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying
monetarydamages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. Even if we are successful in prosecuting or
defending against such claims,litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our senior management
and scientific personnel.A Wemay become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and other intellectual
property rights, which could be expensive, time-consumingand unsuccessful.A Competitorsmay infringe our patents,



trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we maybe required
to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the time and attention of our
managementand scientific personnel. In addition, our patents may become, involved in inventorship, priority, or validity
disputes. To counter ordefend against such claims can be expensive and time-consuming, and our adversaries may have
the ability to dedicate substantially greaterresources to prosecuting these legal actions than we can. Any claims we
assert against perceived infringers could provoke these partiesto assert counterclaims against us alleging that we
infringe their patents, in addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents areinvalid or unenforceable, or

both.A Inan infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent is invalid or unenforceable, or may refuse to
stop the other party fromusing the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in
question. Accordingly, despite our efforts,we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or
misappropriating intellectual property rights we own or control.An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put
one or more of our owned or in-licensed patents at risk of being invalidatedor interpreted narrowly. Further, because of
the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,there is a risk that some
of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation.A Evenif resolved in
our favor, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award
onlymonetary damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to
intellectual propertyclaims may cause us to incur significant expenses and could distract our personnel from their
normal responsibilities. In addition, therecould be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other
interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analystsor investors perceive these results to be negative, it
could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Suchlitigation or proceedings could
substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activitiesor any future
sales, marketing, or distribution activities.A Wemay not have sufficient financial or other resources to conduct such
litigation or proceedings adequately. Some of our competitors maybe able to sustain the costs of such litigation or
proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resourcesand more mature and developed
intellectual property portfolios. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patentlitigation or other
proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.A 75 A A Ifwe fail to
comply with our obligations under any future intellectual property licenses with third parties, we could lose license
rightsthat are important to our business.A Inconnection with our efforts to build our product candidate pipeline, we may
enter into license agreements in the future. We expect thatsuch license agreements will impose, various diligence,
milestone payment, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. If we failto comply with our obligations under these
licenses, our licensors may have the right to terminate these license agreements, in whichevent we might not be able to
market any product that is covered by these agreements, or our licensors may convert the license to a non-
exclusivelicense, which could negatively impact the value of the product candidate being developed under the license
agreement. Termination ofthese license agreements or reduction or elimination of our licensed rights may also result in
our having to negotiate new or reinstatedlicenses with less favorable terms.A Ifour trademarks and trade names are not
adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our marks of interestand our business may
be adversely affected.A Ourtrademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic
or determined to be infringing on other marks.We rely on both registration and common law protection for our
trademarks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarksand trade names or may be forced to stop
using these names, which we need for name recognition by potential partners or customers inour markets of interest.
During trademark registration proceedings, we may receive rejections. Although we would be given an opportunityto
respond to those rejections, we may be unable to overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in
comparable agencies inmany foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark
applications and to seek to cancel registeredtrademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against
our trademarks, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings.If we are unable to establish name recognition
based on our trademarks and trade names, we may not be able to compete effectively andour business may be
adversely affected.A RisksRelated to Employee Matters and Managing GrowthA Weonly have a limited number of
employees to manage and operate our business.A Asof September 30, 2024, we had 13 full-time employees.
Additionally, we utilize independent contractors and other third parties to assistwith various aspects of our business.
Our focus on the development of our product candidates requires us to optimize cash utilizationand to manage and
operate our business in a highly efficient manner. We cannot assure you that we will be able to hire or retain
adequatestaffing levels to develop our product candidates or run our operations or to accomplish all of the objectives
that we otherwise wouldseek to accomplish.A Ourfuture success depends on our ability to retain key employees,
consultants and advisors and to attract, retain and motivate qualifiedpersonnel.A Weare highly dependent on principal
members of our executive team and key employees, the loss of whose services may adversely impact theachievement of
our objectives. While we have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers, any of them
couldleave our employment at any time. We do not maintain a€cekey persona€ insurance policies on the lives of these
individuals orthe lives of any of our other employees. The loss of the services of one or more of our current employees
might impede the achievementof our research, development and commercialization objectives. Furthermore, replacing
executive officers or other key employees may bedifficult and may take an extended period of time because of the
limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skillsand experience required to develop, gain
marketing approval of and commercialize products successfully.A Recruitingand retaining other qualified employees,
consultants and advisors for our business, including scientific and technical personnel, willalso be critical to our
success. There is currently a shortage of skilled executives in our industry, which is likely to continue. Asa result,
competition for skilled personnel is intense and the turnover rate can be high. We may not be able to attract and retain
personnelon acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for
individuals with similar skillsets. In addition, failure to succeed in preclinical or clinical trials may make it more
challenging to recruit and retain qualifiedpersonnel.A 76 A A Inaddition, we rely on consultants and advisors,
including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research anddevelopment and
commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by other entities and may have
commitments underconsulting or advisory contracts with those entities that may limit their availability to us. If we are
unable to continue to attractand retain highly qualified personnel, our ability to develop and commercialize our product
candidates will be limited.A Theinability to recruit or the loss of the services of any executive, key employee, consultant
or advisor may impede the progress of ourresearch, development and commercialization objectives.A Ouremployees,
independent contractors, consultants, collaborators and contract research organizations may engage in misconduct or



otherimproper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements, which could cause
significant liability forus and harm our reputation.A Weare exposed to the risk that our employees, independent
contractors, consultants, collaborators and contract research organizations mayengage in fraudulent conduct or other
illegal activity. Misconduct by those parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligentconduct or disclosure of
unauthorized activities to us that violates: (1) FDA regulations or similar regulations of comparable non-U.S.regulatory
authorities, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to such authorities,
(2) manufacturing standards, (3) federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations and similar laws
and regulations establishedand enforced by comparable non-U.S. regulatory authorities, and (4) laws that require the
reporting of financial information or dataaccurately. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the
healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulationsintended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-
dealing, bribery and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations restrictor prohibit a wide range of pricing,
discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other
businessarrangements. Employee or collaborator misconduct could also involve the improper use of, including trading
on, information obtainedin the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to
our reputation. While we have a codeof conduct and business ethics, it is not always possible to identify and deter
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect andprevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown
or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmentalinvestigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming
from a failure to be in compliance with such laws, standards or regulations. Ifany such actions are instituted against us,
and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions couldhave a significant impact
on our business and results of operations, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative
penalties,damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal
healthcare programs, additionalreporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity
agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegationsof non-compliance with these laws, imprisonment, contractual
damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, andcurtailment of our operations, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to operate our business and our resultsof operations.A Weexpect to
expand our organization, and as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt
our operations.A Weexpect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our
operations, particularly in the areas ofdrug manufacturing, regulatory affairs and sales, marketing and distribution, as
well as to support our public company operations. Tomanage these growth activities, we must continue to implement
and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, expand ourfacilities and continue to recruit and train
additional qualified personnel. Our management may need to devote a significant amount ofits attention to managing
these growth activities. Moreover, our expected growth could require us to relocate to geographic areas beyondthose
where we have been historically located. For example, we maintain an office in Princeton, New Jersey, at which many of
our finance,management and administrative personnel work. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited
experience of our management teamin managing a company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to
effectively manage the expansion or relocation of our operations,retain key employees, or identify, recruit and train
additional qualified personnel. Our inability to manage the expansion or relocationof our operations effectively may
result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, give rise to operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities,loss of
employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected growth could also require significant
capital expendituresand may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of additional
product candidates. If we are unable toeffectively manage our expected growth, our expenses may increase more than
expected, our ability to generate revenues could be reducedand we may not be able to implement our business strategy,
including the successful commercialization of our product candidates.A 77 A A RisksRelated to Our Common

StockA Themarket price of our common stock may be significantly volatile.A Themarket price for our common stock
may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to factors including the following:A a— actual or
anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results; A A 4— changes in financial or operational
estimates or projections; A A 4— conditions in markets generally, A A 4— changes in the economic performance or
market valuations of companies similar to ours; and A A a— general economic or political conditions in the United
States or elsewhere. A Inparticular, the market prices of biotechnology companies like ours have been highly volatile
due to factors, including, but not limitedto:A 4— any delay or failure to conduct a clinical trial for our product or
receive approval from the FDA and other regulatory agencies; A A 4— developments or disputes concerning a
companya€ ™s intellectual property rights; A A a— technological innovations of such companies or their competitors;
A A a— changes in market valuations of similar companies; A A 4— announcements by such companies or their
competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, capital commitments, new
technologies, or patents; and A A 4— failure to complete significant transactions or collaborate with vendors in
manufacturing a product. A Thesecurities market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations that are not related to the operating performanceof particular companies. These market fluctuations may
also materially and adversely affect the market price of shares of our commonstock.A Wemay not satisfy The Nasdaq
Capital Marketa€™s requirements for continued listing of our common stock in the future. If we cannotsatisfy these
requirements, The Nasdaq Capital Market could delist our common stock.A Ourcommon stock is listed on The Nasdaq
Capital Market under the symbol &4€0eSONN.a€ To continue to be listed on The NasdaqCapital Market, we are required
to satisfy a number of conditions. We have been in non-compliance with the listing requirements ofthe Nasdaq Capital
Market in the past, including the $1.00 minimum bid price and stockholdersa€™ equity requirements, and wecannot
assure you that we will be able to satisfy The Nasdaq Capital Market listing requirements in the future. If we are
delistedfrom The Nasdaq Capital Market, trading in our shares of common stock may be conducted, if available, on the
4€0e0TC BulletinBoard Servicea€ or, if available, via another market. In the event of such delisting, an investor would
likely find itsignificantly more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the value of the shares of our
common stock, andour ability to raise future capital through the sale of the shares of our common stock or other
securities convertible into orexercisable for our common stock could be severely limited. This could have a long-term
impact on our ability to raise futurecapital through the sale of our common stock.A 78 A A OnAugust 5, 2024, we
received a letter from the Staff of The Nasdaq Stock Market indicating that, based upon our non-compliance with
theBid Price Requirement, the Staff had determined to delist our securities from The Nasdaq Capital Market unless we
timely request a hearingbefore the Panel. The letter stated that the Nasdaq Listing Rules require listed securities to
maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00per share and, based upon the closing bid price of our common stock for the last
30 consecutive business days, we no longer meet thisrequirement. Because we effected one or more reverse stock splits



over the prior two-year period with a cumulative ratio of 250 sharesor more to one, the Staff did not grant additional
time for us to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement. On August 28, 2024,we received notice from The
Nasdaq Stock Market that the Panel had granted us the Exception to effect a reverse stock split of our commonstock
once approved by our stockholders, and regain compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement for
continued listing onThe Nasdaq Capital Market under the Bid Price Requirement. In the event we failed to regain
compliance with the Bid Price Requirementby October 15, 2024, our securities would have been delisted from The
Nasdaq Capital Market. The Exception was granted following thePanela€™s review of an expired review questionnaire
submitted by us to Nasdaq on August 19, 2024. At our annual meeting of stockholdersheld on September 12, 2024, our
stockholders approved an amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation and to effect a reverse stocksplit of our issued
and outstanding shares of common stock, at a specific ratio, ranging from one-for-two (1:2) to one-for-twelve (1:12),at
any time prior to the one-year anniversary date of the Annual Meeting, with the exact ratio to be determined by our
Board of Directors(the a€eBoarda€). On September 25, 2024, we filed a Certificate of Amendment to our Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended,with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, effected at 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on
September 30, 2024, a one-for-eight (1:8)reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock. On
October 16, 2024, we received a letter from The Nasdaq StockMarket stating that because our shares had a closing bid
price above $1.00 per share for 11 consecutive trading days, our common stockhad regained compliance with the Bid
Price Requirement of $1.00 per share for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, as setforth in Nasdaq Listing
Rule 5550(a)(2). However, we are still subject to a mandatory panel monitor for a period of one year from October16,
2024. If, within that one-year monitoring period, the Staff finds us again out of compliance with the Minimum Bid Price
Requirement,notwithstanding Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(2), then the Staff will issue a delist determination letter and
we will have an opportunityto request a new hearing with the initial Panel or a newly convened Panel if the initial Panel
is unavailable.A Wedo not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future and therefore investors should not
anticipate cash dividends on their investment.A OurBoard does not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable
future but instead intends to retain any and all earnings to finance thegrowth of the business. To date, we have not paid
any cash dividends and there can be no assurance that cash dividends will ever be paidon our common stock.A Weincur
significant costs and devote substantial management time as a result of operating as a public company, and we expect
those coststo increase.A Asa public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. For example,
we are required to comply with certain of therequirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and regulationssubsequently implemented by the SEC, including
the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changesin corporate governance
practices. We expect that compliance with these requirements will increase our legal and financial compliancecosts and
will make some activities more time consuming and costly. In addition, we expect that our management and other
personnel willneed to divert attention from operational and other business matters to devote substantial time to these
public company requirements.In particular, we expect to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management
effort toward ensuring compliance with the requirementsof Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We currently do not
have an internal audit function, and we have contracted for additionalaccounting and financial staff and may need to
hire or contract for additional accounting and financial staff in the future with appropriatepublic company experience
and technical accounting knowledge.A 79 A A Theremay be limitations on the effectiveness of our internal controls,
and a failure of our control systems to prevent error or fraud maymaterially harm our company.A Weare required,
pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by our management on, among other things, the
effectivenessof our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment will need to include disclosure of any
material weaknesses identifiedby our management in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness
is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies,in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interimconsolidated financial statements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.A Effectiveinternal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable and
timely financial reports and, together with adequatedisclosure controls and procedures, are designed to reasonably
detect and prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improvedcontrols, or difficulties encountered in
their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Undetected materialweaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting could lead to financial statement restatements and require us to incur
theexpense of remediation.A Moreover,we do not expect that disclosure controls or internal control over financial
reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A controlsystem, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control systema€ ™ sobjectives will be met. Further, the design of a
control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefitsof controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation ofcontrols can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Failure of our
controlsystems to detect or prevent error or fraud could materially adversely impact us.A Anyof the foregoing
occurrences, should they come to pass, could negatively impact the public perception of our company, which could
havea negative impact on our stock price.A Wemay be unable to complete our analysis of our internal controls over
financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controlsmay not be determined to be effective, which may
adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of ourcommon stock.A Wemay not be
able to complete our evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting. During the evaluation and
testingprocess, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will
be unable to assertthat our internal controls are effective.A Ifwe are unable to assert that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective, or, if applicable, our independent registeredpublic accounting firm is unable to express
an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor confidencein the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which would cause the price of our common stock to decline, and we may
besubject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC. We will also be required to disclose changes made in our internal
control and procedureson a quarterly basis.A Anti-takeoverprovisions under Delaware law could make an acquisition of
the combined company more difficult and may prevent attempts by the combinedcompany stockholders to replace or
remove the combined company management.A Becausethe combined company will be incorporated in Delaware, it is
governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General CorporationLaw, or the DGCL, which prohibits
stockholders owning in excess of 15% of the outstanding combined company voting stock from mergingor combining
with the combined company. Although we believe these provisions collectively will provide for an opportunity to
receivehigher bids by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with the combined companya€™s board of directors,
they would apply evenif the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions may



frustrate or prevent any attempts bythe combined companya€™s stockholders to replace or remove then current
management by making it more difficult for stockholders toreplace members of the board of directors, which is
responsible for appointing the members of management.A 80 A A Directorand officer liability is limited.A Aspermitted
by Delaware law, our bylaws limit the liability of our directors for monetary damages for breach of a directora€™s
fiduciaryduty except for liability in certain instances. As a result of our bylaw provisions and Delaware law, stockholders
may have limited rightsto recover against directors for breach of fiduciary duty.A GeneralRisk FactorsA Cyber-attacksor
other failures in telecommunications or information technology systems could result in information theft, data
corruption and significantdisruption of our business operations.A Weutilize information technology, or IT, systems and
networks to process, transmit and store electronic information in connection withour business activities. As use of
digital technologies has increased, cyber incidents, including deliberate attacks and attempts togain unauthorized
access to computer systems and networks, have increased in frequency and sophistication. These threats pose a riskto
the security of our systems and networks, the confidentiality and the availability and integrity of our data.A Ourcommon
stock could be further diluted as the result of the issuance of additional shares of common stock, convertible securities,
warrantsor options.A Inthe past, we have issued common stock, convertible securities (such as convertible notes) and
warrants in order to raise capital. Wehave also issued common stock as compensation for services and incentive
compensation for our employees, directors and certainvendors. As of December 17, 2024, we have 9,175 shares of
common stock reserved for issuance underlying restricted stock units,7,977 shares of common stock subject to
restricted stock awards granted but not yet issued, and 5,792,019 shares of common stockreserved for issuance upon
the exercise of outstanding warrants. We may increase the shares reserved for these purposes in thefuture. Our
issuance of additional common stock, convertible securities, options and warrants could affect the rights of
ourstockholders, could reduce the market price of our common stock or could result in adjustments to exercise prices of
outstandingwarrants (resulting in these securities becoming exercisable for, as the case may be, a greater number of
shares of our pommonstock), or could obligate us to issue additional shares of common stock to certain of our
stockholders.A Shareseligible for future sale may adversely affect the market.A Fromtime to time, certain of our
stockholders may be eligible to sell all or some of their shares of common stock by means of ordinary
brokeragetransactions in the open market pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act, subject to
certain limitations. In general,pursuant to Rule 144, stockholders who have been non-affiliates for the preceding three
months may sell shares of our common stock freelyafter six months subject only to the current public information
requirement. Affiliates may sell shares of our common stock after sixmonths subject to the Rule 144 volume, manner of
sale, current public information and notice requirements. Any substantial sales of ourcommon stock pursuant to Rule
144 may have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.A Item1B. Unresolved Staff
Comments.A Notapplicable.A Item1C. Cybersecurity.A CybersecurityRisk ManagementA Likemany companies, we face
significant and persistent cybersecurity risks. The small size of our organization and limited resources couldexacerbate
these risks. Our business strategy, results of operations, and financial condition have not, to date, been affected by
risksfrom cybersecurity threats. During the reporting period, we have not experienced any material cyber incidents, nor
have we experienceda series of immaterial incidents, which would require disclosure.A 81 A A Inthe ordinary course of
our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including intellectual property. To effectively prevent, detect,and
respond to cybersecurity threats, we maintain a cyber risk management strategy, which is comprised of a wide array of
policies, standards,architecture, processes, and governance. Under the guidance and supervision of our Chief Executive
Officer, we further limit risk bydelegating our information technology and cybersecurity to a leading third-party IT
consultant to safeguard our networks. Additionally,as an added layer of security, all of our data is stored on the

cloud.A Despitebeing a small organization, we are committed to maintaining governance and oversight of these risks
and to implementing standard operatingprocedures (4€eSOPsa€) and training to help us assess, identify, monitor and
respond to these risks. Employees are trained toavoid phishing emails, and our internal controls system is designed to
mitigate the risk of payments of fraudulent invoices.A GovernanceA Weaim to incorporate industry best practices for
companies of our size and financial strength throughout our cybersecurity program. OurBoard has ultimate oversight of
cybersecurity risk. The Chief Executive Officer reports to our Board. Our Chief Executive Officer providesperiodic
updates to the Board on (1) any critical cybersecurity risks; (2) ongoing cybersecurity initiatives and strategies; (3)
applicableregulatory requirements; and (4) industry standards. The Chief Executive Officer also notifies the Board of
any cybersecurity incidents(suspected or actual) and provides updates on the incidents as well as cybersecurity risk
mitigation activities as appropriate.A Item2. Properties.A TheCompany relies on short term office use contracts to
procure office and meeting space.A Item3. Legal Proceedings.A Weare not currently subject to any material legal
proceedings. However, we may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedingsarising in the ordinary
course of our business.A Item4. Mine Safety Disclosures.A Notapplicable.A 82 A A PARTIIA Item5. Market for
Registranta€™s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities.A MarketInformationA Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol
4€eSONN.4€A HoldersA Asof December 16, 2024, we had 52 holders of record of our common stock. The number of
record holders was determined from the recordsof the transfer agent and does not include beneficial owners of common
stock whose shares are held in the names of various security brokers,dealers, and registered clearing agencies. The
transfer agent of our common stock is Securities Transfer Corporation, 2901 N Dallas Parkway,Suite 380, Plano, TX
75093.A DividendsA Wehave never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We do not intend to declare
or pay cash dividends on our common stockfor the foreseeable future, but currently intend to retain any future earnings
to fund the development and growth of our business. Thepayment of cash dividends if any, on the common stock will
rest solely within the discretion of our Board and will depend, among otherthings, upon our earnings, capital
requirements, financial condition, and other relevant factors.A Item6. [Reserved]A 83 A A Item?7. Managementa€™s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.A Thefollowing Managementa€™ s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (4€ceMD&A4€) is intendedto help facilitate an
understanding of our financial condition and our historical results of operations for the periods presented. ThisMD&A
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this
Annual Reporton Form 10-K. This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
For a discussion on forward-lookingstatements, see the information set forth above under the caption 4€ceSpecial Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,a€ whichinformation is incorporated herein by reference.A OverviewA We are a
clinical stage,oncology-focused biotechnology company with a proprietary platform for innovating biologic medicines of
single or bifunctional action.Known as FHABA® (Fully Human Albumin Binding), the technology utilizes a fully human
single-chain variable fragment(scFv) that binds to and 4€cehitchhikesda€ on serum albumin for transport to target



tissues. We designed the construct to improvedrug accumulation in solid tumors, as well as to extend the duration of
activity in the body. FHAB development candidatescan be produced in mammalian cell culture, which enables
glycosylation of the interleukins, thereby reducing the risk of immunogenicity,as well as E. coli. We believe our FHAB
technology, for which we received an initial U.S. patent in June 2021 and a continuationof such patent in June 2024, is a
distinguishing feature of our biopharmaceutical platform. The approach is well suited for future drugdevelopment
across a range of human disease areas, including in oncology, autoimmune, pathogenic, inflammatory, and
hematological conditions.A Ourcurrent internal pipeline development activities are focused on cytokines, which are a
class of cell signaling molecules that serve aspotent immunomodulatory agents. Working both independently and
synergistically, specific cytokines have shown the ability to modulatethe activation and maturation of immune cells to
help fight cancer and pathogens. However, because they do not preferentially accumulatein specific tissues and are
quickly eliminated from the body, the conventional approach to achieving a treatment effect with cytokinetherapy
typically requires the administration of high and frequent doses. This can result in the potential for systemic toxicity,
whichposes challenges to the therapeutic application of this class of drugs.A Ourlead proprietary asset, SON-1010, is a
single-chain version of human Interleukin 12 (a€oeIL-124a€), covalently linked to the FHABconstruct, for which we are
pursuing clinical development in solid tumor indications, including ovarian cancer, non-small cell lung cancerand head
and neck cancer. In March 2022, the FDA cleared our Investigational New Drug (&€ceIND&€) application for SON-1010.
Thisallowed us to initiate a U.S. clinical trial (SB101) in oncology patients with solid tumors during the second calendar
quarter of 2022.In September 2021, we created a wholly-owned Australian subsidiary, SonnetBio Pty Ltd
(a€ceSubsidiarya€), for the purpose ofconducting certain clinical trials. We received approval and initiated an
Australian clinical study (SB102) of SON-1010 in healthy volunteersduring the third calendar quarter of 2022. Interim
safety and tolerability data from the SB101 and SB102 studies were reported in April2023 and the data from SB102 was
published in February 2024. We announced the topline safety data from SB101 and completionof dose escalation in
December 2024, establishing the MTD as 1200 ng/kg. Clinical benefit, defined as stable disease for at least 4
months,was seen in 48% of the patients, including one who had a partial response to SON-1010 at the highest

dose.A InJanuary 2023, we announced a collaboration agreement with Roche for the clinical evaluation of SON-1010
with atezolizumab (TecentrigA®).The companies have entered into a Master Clinical Supply Agreement (4€ceMCSAA&E),
along with associated Quality and Safety Agreements,to study the safety and efficacy of the combination of SON-1010
and atezolizumab in a platinum-resistant ovarian cancer (&€0ePROCa€)patient setting. Further, the companies will
provide SON-1010 and atezolizumab, respectively, for use in the Phase 1b/Phase 2a combinationsafety, dose-escalation,
and efficacy study (SB221). Part 1 of this 2-part study was approved in June 2023 by the local Human ResearchEthics
Committee in Australia under CT-2023-CTN-01399-1 and the Therapeutic Goods Administration has been notified. In
August 2023, theFDA accepted the IND for the use of SON-1010 in ovarian cancer. The SB221 trial consists of a
modified 3+3 dose-escalation design inPart 1 to establish the maximum tolerated dose (a&€0eMTDa€) of SON-1010 with
a fixed dose of atezolizumab. Clinical benefit inPROC will be confirmed in an expansion group to establish the
recommended Phase 2 dose (a&€0eRP2Da€). Part 2 of the study willthen investigate SON-1010 in combination with
atezolizumab versus the standard of care (a€"SOC&a€) for PROC in a randomized comparisonto show proof-of-concept
(3€eP0OCa€).A 84 A A Weacquired the global development rights to our most advanced compound, SON-080, a fully
human version of Interleukin 6 (a€meIL-64€),in April 2020 through our acquisition of the outstanding shares of Relief
Therapeutics SA. We are advancing SON-080 in target indicationsof Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy

(&€ CIPNa€) and Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy (a€eDPNa&a€). We receivedapproval to initiate an ex-U.S. Phase 1b/2a
study with SON-080 in CIPN in July 2022 and it was started in October 2022 but was recentlyterminated in April 2024.
Enrollment of the first portion of the SB211 study in chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN)
wascompleted, and the Data Safety Monitoring Board completed its review of the preliminary safety data during the
first calendar quarterof 2024, clearing the trial to proceed to Part 2. Pursuant to a license agreement (the a€eNew Life
Agreementa€) we entered intowith New Life Therapeutics Pte, Ltd. (3€eNew Lifea€) of Singapore in May 2021, we
agreed to be jointly responsible for developingSON-080 in DPN with New Life, with the objective to analyze the data
and to consider initiating a Phase 2 study, pending the outcomeof any partnering activity. On December 2, 2024, New
Life provided written notice to us of its intention to exercise its Give Back Optionunder the New Life Agreement, subject
to the negotiation and mutual agreement of the terms of such Give Back Option by us and New Life.We were informed
by New Life that is has elected to move its business in a different direction. On October 8, 2024, we enteredinto a
license agreement with Alkem for the development and commercialization of SON-080 in DPN and/or CIPN in India.
Pursuant to theterms of the Alkem Agreement, Alkem will bear the cost of, and be responsible for, among other things,
conducting clinical studies, preparingand filing applications for regulatory approval aiming at commercializing SON-
080 in the DPN Field in India.A SON-1210(IL12-FHAB-IL15), our lead bifunctional construct, combines FHAB with
single-chain human IL-12 and human Interleukin 15(&€elIL-15a€). This compound is being developed for solid tumor
indications, including colorectal cancer. In February 2023,we announced the successful completion of two IND-enabling
toxicology studies with SON-1210 in non-human primates. In August 2024,we announced a clinical collaboration
agreement to commence an investigator-initiated and funded Phase 1/2a study of SON-1210 incombination with
chemotherapy for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. We are prepared to initiate commercial development of SON-
1210, pending the outcome of any partnering activity.A SON-1411(IL18BPR-FHAB-IL12) is a bifunctional combination
of human Interleukin 18 (&€celL-18&€), which was modified to resistinteraction with the IL-18 inhibitor binding protein,
and single-chain human IL-12 for solid tumor cancers. Cell line development andprocess development are ongoing, with
early experimental drug supply suitable for formulation and analytical method development activities.After some delays
in 2023, activities will continue through 2024 with the potential to generate a drug suitable for preclinical studiesand
subsequent human studies.A Wehave completed sequence confirmation for SON-3015 (anti-IL6-FHAB-anti-TGFI2).
Early-stage bifunctional drug has been generated andis being stored for future use in in vivo mice studies. We have
elected to place the SON-3015 development program on hold for expensereduction purposes.A Aspart of the ongoing
cost-cutting evaluations, all antiviral development with SON-1010 has been suspended.A Wehave incurred recurring
operating losses and negative cash flows since inception. Our ability to generate product or licensingrevenue sufficient
to achieve profitability will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of oneor
more of our current or future product candidates. Our net losses were $7.4 million and $18.8 million for the years
endedSeptember 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of September 30, 2024, we had cash of $0.1 million. In November
2024 and December2024, we raised approximately $7.7 million through the sale of shares of our common stock and
warrants through a combination of offerings. In addition, in November 2024, we received $0.7 million from the R&DTax
Incentive Program in Australia and an upfront payment related to the Alkem Agreement in the amount of $0.5 million,



which after tax withholdings resulted in a net payment of $0.4 million to us.We expect to continue to incur significant
expenses and increasing operating losses for at least the next several years. We expectthat our expenses and capital
requirements will increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly ifand as we: :A A 4— conduct
additional clinical trials for product candidates; A A A A 4— continue to discover and develop additional product
candidates; A A A A a— acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies; A A A A 34— maintain,
expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; A A A A a4— hire additional clinical, scientific and commercial
personnel; A A A A 4— establish a commercial manufacturing source and secure supply chain capacity sufficient to
provide commercial quantities of any product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval; A 85 A A A &
— seek regulatory approval for product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials; A A A A 4— establish a
sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain regulatory
approval; and A A A A a4— add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including
personnel to support our product development and planned future commercialization efforts, as well as to support our
operation as a public reporting company. A Wewill not generate revenue from product sales, if any, unless and until we
receive licensing revenue and/or successfully complete clinicaldevelopment and obtain regulatory approval for our
product candidates. If we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidatesand do not enter into a
commercialization partnership, we expect to incur significant expenses related to developing our internal
commercializationcapability to support product sales, marketing and distribution. We will continue to incur significant
costs associated with operatingas a public company.A Asa result, we will need substantial additional funding to support
our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy. Untilsuch time as we can generate significant revenue from
product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through the saleof equity securities, including sales pursuant
to our ChEF Purchase Agreement (the a€cePurchase Agreementa€) with Chardan CapitalMarkets LLC (&€ceChardana€)
related to a 4€eChEF,a€ Chardana€™s committed equity facility (thea€ceFacilitya€), debt financings or other capital
sources, which may include collaborations with other companies or otherstrategic transactions. We may not be able to
raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when neededon favorable terms, or at all. If
we fail to raise capital or enter into such agreements as and when needed, we may have tosignificantly delay, reduce or
eliminate the development and commercialization of one or more of our product candidates or delay ourpursuit of
potential in-licenses or acquisitions.A Becauseof the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product
development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increasedexpenses or when or if we will be able to
achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate product sales, we may notbecome profitable. If we fail
to become profitable or are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis or raise additional capitalor enter into
collaboration or license agreements, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and be forced
toreduce or terminate operations.A Sinceour inception in 2015, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts and
financial resources to organizing and staffing the Company,business planning, raising capital, acquiring or discovering
product candidates and securing related intellectual property rights andconducting discovery, research and
development activities for product candidates. We do not have any products approved for sale and havenot generated
any revenue from product sales. We have funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from sales of common
stock,warrants and proceeds from the issuance of convertible debt.A 86 A A Componentsof Results of

OperationsA CollaborationRevenueA Collaborationrevenue is currently earned from the New Life Agreement entered
into with New Life in May 2021, which granted New Life rights to anexclusive license (with the right to sublicense) to
develop and commercialize pharmaceutical preparations containing a specific recombinanthuman IL-6, SON-080 (the
a€eCompounda€) (such preparations, the a€ceProductsa€) for the prevention, treatment or palliationof diabetic
peripheral neuropathy in humans (the 4€eDPN Fielda€) in the Exclusive Territory. We identified the following
obligationsunder the arrangement: (i) License to develop, market, import, use and commercialize the Product in the
Field in the Exclusive Territory(the a€meLicensea€); and (ii) transfer of know-how and clinical development and
regulatory activities (a€eR&D Activitiesa€).We determined that the License and the R&D Activities are not distinct
from each other and, therefore, combined these material promisesinto a single performance obligation. Under this
agreement, we received upfront cash payments totaling $1.0 million, which were fullyallocated to the single
performance obligation and are being recognized over the estimated performance period of R&D

services.A OperatingExpensesA Researchand Development ExpensesA Researchand development expenses consist
primarily of costs incurred in connection with the discovery and development of our product candidates.We expense
research and development costs as incurred and such costs include:A 4— employee-related expenses, including
salaries, share-based compensation and related benefits, for employees engaged in research and development
functions; A A a— expenses incurred in connection with the preclinical and clinical development of our product
candidates, including under agreements with third parties, such as consultants and clinical research organizations; A
A 4— the cost of manufacturing drug products for use in our preclinical studies and clinical trials, including under
agreements with third parties, such as consultants and contract manufacturing organizations; A A a— facilities,
depreciation and other expenses, which include direct or allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and
insurance; A A 4— costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and A A 4— payments made under
third-party licensing agreements. A Werecognize external development costs based on an evaluation of the progress to
completion of specific tasks using information providedby our service providers. This process involves reviewing open
contracts and purchase orders, communicating with their personnel to identifyservices that have been performed on
our behalf, and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for theservice when we have
not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual costs. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or servicesto be
received in the future for use in research and development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. Such amounts
are recognizedas an expense when the goods have been delivered or the services have been performed.A Ourdirect
research and development expenses consist primarily of external costs, such as fees paid to outside consultants, CROs,
CMOs andresearch laboratories in connection with preclinical development, process development, manufacturing and
clinical development activities.Our direct research and development expenses also include fees incurred under third-
party license agreements. We do not allocate employeecosts and costs associated with discovery efforts, laboratory
supplies and facilities, including depreciation or other indirect costs,to specific product candidates because these costs
are deployed across multiple programs and as such, are not separately classified.We use internal resources primarily to
conduct our research and discovery as well as for managing preclinical development, process
development,manufacturing and clinical development activities. These employees work across multiple programs and
therefore, we do not track costsby product candidate.A 87 A A Wewill continue to incur research and development
expenses for the foreseeable future as we attempt to advance development of our productcandidates. The successful



development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate orknow the
nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the remainder of the development of our
current pipelineor any future product candidates we may develop due to the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with clinical development, includingrisk and uncertainties related to: :A 4— the timing and progress of
preclinical and clinical development activities; A A 4— the number and scope of preclinical and clinical programs that
we decide to pursue; A A a— our ability to maintain our current research and development programs and to establish
new ones; A A 4— establishing an appropriate safety profile with investigational new drug-enabling studies; A A a—
successful patient enrollment in, and the initiation and completion of, clinical trials; A A 4— the successful completion
of clinical trials with safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfactory to the FDA or any comparable foreign
regulatory authority; A A 4— the receipt of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities; A A 4— the
timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals from apphcable regulatory authorities; A A 4— our ability to
establish new licensing or collaboration arrangements; A A 4— establishing agreements with third-party
manufacturers for clinical supply for our clinical trials and commercial manufacturing, if any of our product candidates
is approved; A A 4— development and timely delivery of clinical-grade and commercial-grade drug formulations that
can be used in our clinical trials and for commercial launch; A A a— obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing
patent claims and other intellectual property rights; A A 4— launching commercial sales of product candidates, if
approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; A A 4— maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of
the product candidates following approval; and A A 4— the potential impact of health epidemics or outbreaks of
communicable diseases on operations which may affect among other things, the timing of clinical trials, availability of
raw materials, and the ability to access and secure testing facilities. A Achange in the outcome of any of these variables
with respect to the development of our product candidates could significantly changethe costs and timing associated
with the development of that product candidate. We may never succeed in obtaining regulatory approvalfor any of our
product candidates.A Generaland Administrative ExpensesA Generaland administrative expenses consist primarily of
salaries and related costs for personnel, including share-based compensation, in executive,finance and administrative
functions. General and administrative expenses also include direct and allocated facility-related costs aswell as
professional fees for legal, patent, consulting, accounting, and audit services.A Ourgeneral and administrative expenses
will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support continued research activitiesand development of
product candidates. We will continue to incur increased accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance and
directorand officer insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public
company.A 88 A A OtherIncomeA Wehave participated in the State of New Jerseya€™s Technology Business Tax
Certificate Transfer Program (the a€cePrograma€)sponsored by the New Jersey Economic Development Authority. The
Program enables approved biotechnology companies with unused net operatinglosses and unused research and
development credits to sell these tax benefits for at least 80% of the value of the tax benefits to unaffiliated,profitable
corporate taxpayers in the state of New Jersey. Other income consists of net proceeds from the sale of New Jersey state
netoperating losses through the Program. We plan to sell additional net operating losses under the Program in the
future, subject to programavailability and state approval.A ForeignExchange LossA Foreignexchange loss consists of
exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. A Resultsof Operations
A Comparisonof the Years Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023A _Thefollowing table summarizes our results of
operations for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023: A A A Years ended September 30, AA A A A A 2024
2023A A ChangeA Collaboration revenueA $18,626A A $147,805A A $(129,179) Operating expenses:A AAAA
AAAA AAA Research and developmentA A 5,737,252A A A 11,814,690A A $(6,077,438) General and
administrativeA A 6,130,845A A A 7,125,732A A A (994,887) Total operating expenseA A 11,868,097A A

A 18,940,422A A A (7,072,325) Loss from operationsA A (11,849,471)A A (18,792,617)A A 6,943,146A Foreign
exchange gain (loss)A A 84,293A A A (40 077)A A 124,370A Other incomeA A 4,327,946A A A-AA A 4,327,946A
Net lossA $(7,437,232)A $(18,832,694)A $11,395,462A A CollaborationRevenueA Werecognized $18,626 of revenue
related to the New Life Agreement during the year ended September 30, 2024 compared to $0.1 million duringthe year
ended September 30, 2023. The decrease of $0.1 million was due to a delay in timing in the performance of R&D
services.A Researchand Development ExpensesA Researchand development expenses were $5.7 million for the year
ended September 30, 2024, compared to $11.8 million for the year endedSeptember 30, 2023. The decrease of $6.1
million was primarily due to the cancellation of accrued but unpaid bonuses that had beenawarded for fiscal years 2022
and 2023 in the amount of $1.0 million, as well as due to cost saving initiatives, as we are managingexpenses for
liquidity purposes and are tightening our focus on the research and development projects we have assessed to have
thegreatest near-term potential. In addition to transitioning product development activities to cost advantaged locations
such as Indiaand Australia, we have suspended antiviral development related to SON-1010 and reduced expenditures
on tertiary programs and thoserelated to SON-080 and SON-1210 while we seek partnering opportunities.A Generaland
Administrative ExpensesA Generaland administrative expenses were $6.1 million for the year ended September 30,
2024, compared to $7.1 million for the year ended September30, 2023. The decrease of $1.0 million relates primarily to
the cancellation of accrued but unpaid bonuses that had been awarded forfiscal years 2022 and 2023 in the amount of
$0.9 million, and cost saving initiatives, as we are managing expenses for liquidity purposes,and a decrease in
consulting expenses related to licensing, partially offset by costs incurred in connection with the Purchase
Agreement.A Other Income A Other income for the year ended September 30, 2024 of $4.3 million wasdue to net
proceeds received from the sale of New Jersey state net operating losses.A 89 A A Liquidityand Capital

ResourcesA Wehave funded operations to date primarily with proceeds from sales of common stock, warrants and
proceeds from the issuance of convertibledebt. We will likely offer additional securities for sale in response to market
conditions or other circumstances, including sales toChardan pursuant to the Facility, if we believe such a plan of
financing is required to advance our business plans and is in the bestinterests of our stockholders. There is no certainty
that equity or debt financing will be available in the future or that it will beat acceptable terms and at this time, it is not
possible to predict the outcome of these matters.A Wehave incurred net losses of $7.4 million and $18.8 million for the
years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We expect tocontinue to incur significant operational expenses
and net losses in the upcoming 12 months and beyond. Our net losses may fluctuatesignificantly from quarter to quarter
and year to year, depending on the stage and complexity of our R&D studies and related expenditures,the receipt of
additional payments on the licensing of our technology, if any, and the receipt of payments under any current or
futurecollaborations we may enter into.A Wehave evaluated whether there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about our abilityto continue as a going concern. We believe our cash of $0.1
million at September 30, 2024, net proceeds of $7.7 million from thesale of common stock and warrants in November

24A A



and December 2024, $0.7 million received from the R&D Tax Incentive Program inAustralia in November 2024 to
satisfy the incentive tax receivable, and $0.5 million received in October 2024 as an upfront paymentrelated to the
Alkem Agreement, which after tax withholdings resulted in a net payment of $0.4 million, will fund our projected
operations into July 2025. As a result, we expect to report cash and cash equivalents of approximately$5.2 million as of
December 31, 2024 and therefore we believe that our stockholdersa€™ equity is above $2.5 million as ofthe date of
filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Substantial additional financing will be needed by us to fund our
operations.These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.A Thefollowing table
summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:A A A Year ended September 30,A A A
2024A A 2023A Net cash used in operating activitiesA $(8,607,723)A $(21,341,842) Net cash used in investing
activitiesA A (12,000)A A (443,250) Net cash provided by financing activitiesA A 6,494,920A A A 21,006,472A Net
decrease in cashA $(2,124,803)A $(778,620) A OperatingActivitiesA Duringthe year ended September 30, 2024, we
used $8.6 million of cash in operating activities which was primarily attributable to our netloss of $7.4 million and a
$2.2 million net decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses primarily due to the decrease inresearch and
development expenses, offset by an increase of $0.5 million from a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets,
$0.4million in financing costs associated with the Purchase Agreement that are classified as financing activities and
$0.2 million inshare-based compensation expense.A Duringthe year ended September 30, 2023, we used $21.3 million
of cash in operating activities which was primarily attributable to our netloss of $18.8 million, a $0.5 million net
increase in prepaid expenses and other assets primarily due to cash outflows for research anddevelopment activities
and a $2.4 million net decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses primarily due to the decrease in researchand
development expenses, offset by $0.3 million in acquired in-process research and development and $0.2 million in
share-based compensationexpense.A InvestingActivitiesA Duringthe year ended September 30, 2024, we used $12,000
of cash in investing activities for the purchase of acquired in-process research anddevelopment.A Duringthe year ended
September 30, 2023, we used $0.4 million of cash in investing activities for the purchase of acquired in-process
researchand development.A 90 A A FinancingActivitiesA Duringthe year ended September 30, 2024, net cash provided
by financing activities was $6.5 million, consisting of $3.5 million in net proceedsfrom the sale of common stock through
the Purchase Agreement and in an underwritten public offering. In addition, we received proceedsof $3.0 million from
the exercise of warrants.A Duringthe year ended September 30, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was
$21.0 million, consisting primarily of net proceedsfrom the sale of common stock under an at-the-market facility and
through and underwritten public offering and a registered direct offering.A FundingRequirementsA Weexpect to
continue to incur significant expenses in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance preclinical
activitiesand clinical trials of product candidates in development. In addition, we expect to continue to incur costs
associated with operatingas a public company. The timing and amount of our operating expenditures will depend
largely on:A 4— the scope, number, initiation, progress, timing, costs, design, duration, any potential delays, and
results of clinical trials and nonclinical studies for our current or future product candidates; A A a4— the clinical
development plans we establish for these product candidates; A A 4— the number and characteristics of product
candidates and programs that we develop or may in-license; A 91 A A 4— the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory
reviews, approvals or other actions to meet regulatory requirements established by the FDA and comparable foreign
regulatory authorities, including the potential for the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to require that
we perform more studies for our product candidates than those that we currently expect; A A a— our ability to obtain
marketing approval for product candidates; A A a— the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent
claims and other intellectual property rights covering our product candidates; A A 4— our ability to maintain, expand
and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio, including the cost of defending intellectual property
disputes, including patent infringement actions brought by third parties against us or our product candidates; A A a—
the cost and timing of completion of commercial-scale outsourced manufacturing activities with respect to product
candidates; A A a— our ability to establish and maintain licensing, collaboration or similar arrangements on favorable
terms and whether and to what extent we retain development or commercialization responsibilities under any new
licensing, collaboration or similar arrangement; A A 4— the cost of establishing sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities for any product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval in regions where we choose to
commercialize our products on our own; A A 4— the success of any other business, product or technology that we
acquire or in which we invest; A A 4— the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing in businesses, product candidates
and technologies; A A 4— our need and ability to hire additional management and scientific and medical personnel; A
A a— the costs to operate as a public company in the United States, including the need to unplement additional
financial and reporting systems and other internal systems and infrastructure for our business; A A 4— market
acceptance of our product candidates, to the extent any are approved for commercial sale; A A 4— the effect of
competing technological and market developments; and A A 4— the potential impact of a widespread outbreak of any
communicable disease on our clinical trials and operations. A Untilsuch time, if ever, as we can generate substantial
product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination ofequity offerings, including sales to
Chardan pursuant to the Facility, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, andmarketing, distribution or
licensing arrangements with third parties. To the extent that we raise additional capital through thesale of equity or
convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of ours may be materially diluted, and the terms of suchsecurities
could include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. Debt financing
andpreferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our
ability to takespecified actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If
we raise funds throughcollaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with
third parties, we may have torelinquish valuable rights to technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or
product candidates or grant licenses onterms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds
through equity or debt financings or otherarrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce or
eliminate product development or future commercialization efforts,sell off assets, or grant rights to develop and market
product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop andmarket or wind up our business. A 92 A

A October2023 OfferingA OnOctober 26, 2023, we closed a public offering of common stock and certain warrants
through Chardan Capital Markets, LLC and LadenburgThalmann & Co. Inc. as underwriters, for net proceeds of $3.9
million through the issuance and sale of 163,281 shares of our commonstock and, to certain investors, pre-funded
warrants to purchase 192,187 shares of common stock, and accompanying common warrants topurchase up to an
aggregate of 710,931 shares of our common stock. Each share of common stock and pre-funded warrant to purchase
oneshare of common stock was sold together with a common warrant to purchase two shares of common stock. The



public offering price of eachshare of common stock and accompanying common warrant was $12.80 and the public
offering price of each pre-funded warrant and accompanyingcommon warrant was $12.7992. The common warrants
were immediately exercisable at a price of $12.80 per share of common stock, expirefive years from the date of
issuance and contain an alternative cashless exercise provision. In connection with the June 2024 inducementoffer
discussed further below, the exercise price was decreased to $9.60 per share of common stock for common warrants
that remainedunexercised at the time of the offer. The pre-funded warrants were immediately exercisable at any time,
until exercised in full, at aprice of $0.0001 per share of common stock. In addition, warrants to purchase 10,664 shares
of common stock were issued to the underwritersas compensation for their services related to the offering. These
common stock warrants have an exercise price of $16.00 per share andexpire five years from the date of

issuance.A CommittedEquity FacilityA OnMay 2, 2024, we entered into the Purchase Agreement and a Registration
Rights Agreement (the a€oeRegistration Rights Agreementa€),each with Chardan, related to the Facility. Pursuant to
the Purchase Agreement, we have the right from time to time at our option tosell to Chardan up to the lesser of (i)
$25.0 million in aggregate gross purchase price of newly issued shares of our common stock and(ii) 77,771 shares of
our common stock, which is equal to 19.99% of the shares of common stock outstanding immediately prior to the
executionof the Purchase Agreement (the a€ceExchange Capa€), unless (i) the average price of such shares sold to
Chardan under the Facilityequals or exceeds the base price set forth in the Purchase Agreement, so that the Exchange
Cap limitation would not apply to such issuancesand sales pursuant to the Purchase Agreement under the rules of the
Nasdaq Stock Market or (ii) our stockholders approve the issuanceof common stock pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement in excess of the Exchange Cap. As of September 30, 2024, our stockholders had voted to approve the
issuanceof common stock pursuant to the Purchase Agreement in excess of the Exchange Cap, and there is no limitation
on our right to sell up to$25.0 million of shares of our common stock. The Facility will allow us to raise primary
equityon a periodic basis at our sole discretion depending on a variety of factors including, among other things, market
conditions, the tradingprice of the common stock, and determinations by us regarding the use of proceeds of such
common stock. The purchase price of the sharesof common stock will be determined by reference to the Volume
Weighted Average Price (€ VWAPa&€) of the common stock duringthe applicable purchase period, less a fixed 4%
discount to such VWAP, and the total shares to be purchased on any day may not exceed20% of the trading volume of
our common stock during the applicable purchase period. The Purchase Agreement will be effective for a 36-
monthperiod ending May 16, 2027, unless earlier terminated upon the terms and conditions therein. During the year
ended September 30, 2024,we sold 4,706 shares of common stock pursuant to the Purchase Agreement for net
proceeds of $0.1 million.A June2024 Inducement OfferA OnJune 19, 2024, we entered into inducement offer letter
agreements with holders of certain existing warrants issued in October 2023 havingan original exercise price of $12.80
per share to purchase up to an aggregate of 353,562 shares of our common stock at a reduced exerciseprice of $9.60
per share. The transaction closed on June 21, 2024, resulting in gross proceeds of $3.4 million and net proceeds of
$2.9million. Due to beneficial ownership limitations, 187,500 shares of common stock related to the exercise of
warrants in this transactionare being held in abeyance as of June 30, 2024. Also in connection with this inducement
offer, we (i) issued to holders who participatedin the transaction new common stock warrants to purchase an aggregate
of 703,125 shares of common stock, (ii) reduced the exercise priceof existing warrants to purchase 354,994 shares of
common stock for those holders who did not exercise warrants in the transaction from$12.80 per share to $9.60 per
share for the remaining term of the warrants, and (iii) reduced the exercise price of certain existingwarrants issued in
June 2023 to purchase 28,409 shares of common stock from $118.78 per share to $12.40 per share and extended the
expirationdate of these warrants from December 30, 2026 to June 21, 2029. The new common stock warrants are
immediately exercisable at a priceof $12.40 per share and expire five years from the date of issuance. Warrants to
purchase 14,142 shares of common stock were issued tothe placement agent as compensation for its services related to
the offering. These common stock warrants are immediately exercisableat a price of $14.88 per share and expire five
years from the date of issuance.A 93 A A AlkemlLicensing AgreementA InOctober 2024, we announced the execution of
the Alkem Agreement for the treatment of peripheral neuropathy (DPN) in India as well asthe and the manufacturing,
marketing and commercialization of SON-080 for the treatment of chemotherapy-induced peripheralneuropathy (CIPN)
and autonomic neuropathy in India. Pursuant to the terms of the Alkem Agreement, Alkem will bear the cost ofcertain
expenses, including conducting clinical studies, preparing and filing regulatory applications and undertaking
otherdevelopmental and regulatory activities for commercializing SON-080 for DPN in India. Alkem has agreed to pay
us, within 12 weeks ofthe Effective Date of the Alkem Agreement, a $1.0 million upfront non-refundable cash payment,
of which $0.5 million has been paid,which after tax withholdings resulted in a net payment of $0.4 million, as well as
potential additional milestone payments totalingup to $1.0 million subject to the achievement of certain development
and regulatory milestones. In addition, Alkem is obligated topay us a royalty equal to a percentage in the low double
digits of net sales less Alkem&€™ s actual cost of goods sold andAlkema€™ s sales and marketing and related expenses
of SON-080 in India until the first commercial sale of a competitiveIntermitted Low Dose IL-6 compound as set forth in
the Alkem Agreement.A November2024 Underwritten Public Offering A OnNovember 6, 2024, we entered into an
underwriting agreement with Chardan, as the underwriter, pursuant to which we agreed to sell toChardan, in a firm
commitment underwritten public offering, an aggregate of (i) 155,000 shares of common stock, (ii) pre-funded
warrantsto purchase up to 956,111 shares of common stock, and (iii) accompanying warrants to purchase up to
2,222,222 shares of common stockat the combined public offering price of $4.50 per share and accompanying common
warrant and $4.4999 per pre-funded warrant and accompanyingcommon warrant, in each case less underwriting
discounts and commissions. The Offering closed on November 7, 2024. Pursuant to the underwritingagreement, we
agreed to pay Chardan (i) a commission of 7.0% of the gross proceeds of the offering, (ii) all reasonable out-of-
pocketexpenses of Chardan relating to the offering, including a maximum of $125,000 for the fees and disbursements of
counsel to Chardan, and(iii) a non-accountable expense allowance equal to 1% of the gross proceeds of the offering. The
net proceeds to us from the offeringwere approximately $4.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses. We expect touse the proceeds from the offering for research and
development, including clinical trials, working capital, the repayment of all ora portion of our liabilities, and general
corporate purposes.A December 2024 RegisteredDirect and PIPE OfferingA On December 9, 2024,we entered into a
securities purchase agreement for a registered direct offering, pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of (i)768,000
shares of common stock, and (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 317,325 shares of common
stock.Pursuant to the registered direct purchase agreement, in a concurrent private placement, we also sold warrants
to purchase up to1,085,325 shares of common stock. Each registered direct share (or registered direct pre-funded
warrant in lieu thereof) was sold inthe registered direct offering together with one registered direct common warrant at



a combined offering price of $2.23, pricedat-the-market under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market. The registered
direct pre-funded warrants had an excise price of $0.0001per share, were immediately exercisable and were exercised
in full as of December 10, 2024. The registered direct common warrantshave an exercise price of $2.10 per share, are
immediately exercisable and will expire five years from the date of issuance.A In addition, onDecember 9, 2024, we also
entered into a securities purchase agreement for a concurrent private placement with an existingsecurityholder,
pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of (i) 127,500 shares of common stock, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchaseup
to an aggregate of 545,500 shares of common stock, and (iii) common warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of
673,000 shares ofcommon stock. Each private placement share (or private placement pre-funded warrant in lieu
thereof) was sold in the privateplacement together with one private placement common warrant at a combined offering
price of $2.23, priced at-the-market under the rules ofthe Nasdaq Stock Market. The private placement pre-funded
warrants have an excise price of $0.0001 per share, are immediatelyexercisable and may be exercised at any time from
the closing date of the private placement until all of the private placementpre-funded warrants are exercised in full. The
private placement common warrants have an exercise price of $2.10 per share, areimmediately exercisable and will
expire five years from the date of issuance.A The registered direct offering and the concurrent private placement
closedon December 10, 2024 for aggregate gross proceeds to us of approximately $3.9 million, before deducting the
placement agent fees and estimatedoffering expenses paid by us.A ContractualObligations and

CommitmentsA Thefollowing summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2024 that will affect our
future liquidity. Our estimated futurecontractual obligations consist of operating lease liabilities. As of September 30,
2024, we had $93,614 in short-term operating leaseliabilities and $143,703 in long-term operating lease

liabilities.A Inaddition to the operating lease, we have entered into other contracts in the normal course of business
with certain CROs, CMOs and otherthird-parties for preclinical research studies and testing, clinical trials and
manufacturing services. These contracts do not containany minimum purchase commitments and are cancellable upon
prior notice and as a result, are not included in the table of contractualobligations and commitments above. Payments
due upon cancellation consist only of payments for services provided and expenses incurred,including non-cancellable
obligations to our service providers, up to the date of cancellation.A CriticalAccounting Policies and

EstimatesA Ourmanagementa€™s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based on
our consolidated financial statements,which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of
these consolidated financial statements requires us to makeestimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assetsand liabilities in our financial statements. On
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related tothe accrual for research and
development expenses. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, and variousother
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments aboutthe carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from theseestimates under different assumptions or conditions.A 94 A A Whileour significant
accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to the consolidated financial statements includedelsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policies are those most critical to
thejudgments and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.A Researchand
Development ExpensesA Researchand development expenses include all direct and indirect costs associated with the
development of our biopharmaceutical products. Theseexpenses include personnel costs, consulting fees, and payments
to third parties for research, development and manufacturing services.These costs are charged to expense as
incurred.A Atthe end of each reporting period, we compare payments made to third-party service providers to the
estimated progress toward completionof the related project, based on the measure of progress as defined in the
contract. Factors we consider in preparing the estimates includecosts incurred by the service provider, milestones
achieved, and other criteria related to the efforts of our service providers. Suchestimates are subject to change as
additional information becomes available. Depending on the timing of payment to the third-party serviceproviders and
the progress we estimate has been made as a result of the service provided, we will record a prepaid expense or
accruedliability related to these costs. Contingent development or regulatory milestone payments are recognized upon
the related resolutionof such contingencies. As of September 30, 2024, we did not make any material adjustments to
our prior estimates of accrued researchand development expensesA Recentlylssued Accounting

PronouncementsA Adescription of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial
position and results of operationsis disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report onAFormAlOA-K.A Item7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market

Risk.A Notapplicable.A 95 A A Item8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.A SONNETBIOTHERAPEUTICS
HOLDINGS, INC.A INDEXTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSA A Page A A Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG, LLP, Philadelphia, PA, Auditor Firm ID: 185) 97 Consolidated Balance
Sheets 99 Consolidated Statements of Operations 100 ConsolidatedStatements of Changes in Stockholdersa€™ Deficit
101 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 102 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 103 A 96 A A Reportof
Independent Registered Public Accounting FirmA Tothe Stockholders and Board of DirectorsSonnetBioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc.:A Opinionon the Consolidated Financial StatementsA Wehave audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) asof September 30, 2024 and
2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholdersa€™ deficit, and cash flowsfor the
years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidatedfinancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
September 30, 2024 and 2023,and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountingprinciples.A GoingConcernA Theaccompanying consolidated
financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussedin
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows
from operationssince inception and will require substantial additional financing to continue to fund its research and
development activities that raisesubstantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Managementa€™s
plans in regard to these matters are also describedin Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.A Basisfor OpinionA Theseconsolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Companya€™s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinionon these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company AccountingOversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federalsecurities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities



and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.A Weconducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtainreasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As partof our
audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressingan opinion on the effectiveness of the Companya€™ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion.A Ouraudits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whetherdue to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidenceregarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principlesused and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.A 97 A A CriticalAudit

MatterA Thecritical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the
consolidated financial statements thatwas communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and
that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are materialto the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communicationof a critical audit matter does not alter in
any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we arenot, by communicating the
critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts ordisclosures to
which it relates.A Prepaiddevelopment expenses and accrued research and development expenseA Asdiscussed in Notes
2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, research and development costs are expensed as incurred, which
includeamounts due to third parties for research, development, and manufacturing services. At the end of each
reporting period, the Companycompares the payments made to third-party service providers to the estimated progress
towards completion of the related project, basedon the measure of progress as defined in the contract. Factors the
Company considers in preparing the estimates include costs incurredby the service provider, milestones achieved, and
other criteria related to the efforts of its service providers. Depending on the timingof payments to the third-party
service providers and the progress the Company estimates has been made as a result of the services provided,the
Company will record a prepaid expense or accrued liability related to these costs. As of September 30, 2024, the
Company reportedprepaid expenses and other current assets of $1.2 million, a portion of which related to these costs,
and accrued research and developmentexpenses of $0.6 million.A Weidentified the evaluation of certain prepaid and
accrued research and development expenses for third-party service providers as a criticalaudit matter. Evaluating the
estimated progress toward completion of research and development projects, including the factors describedabove,
required especially subjective auditor judgment.A Thefollowing are the primary procedures we performed to address
this critical audit matter. To evaluate the Companya€™s estimate ofcosts incurred as of September 30, 2024, for a
selection of prepaid and accrued research and development expenses, we (1) examined theprovisions in the contracts,
invoices and communications received from third party service providers related to the project status; (2)sent
confirmations to the third-party service providers; and (3) inquired of the ipdividuals who are responsible for
monitoring and trackingthe status of research and development activities.A /s/ KPMG LLPA Wehave served as the
Companya€™s auditor since 2015.A Philadelphia,PennsylvaniaDecember17, 2024A 98 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc.ConsolidatedBalance SheetsA A A 2024A A 2023A A A September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A AssetsA
AAA AA Current assets:tA AAAA AAA Cash and cash equivalentsA $149,456A A $2,274,259A Prepaid expenses
and other current assetsA A 1,206,409A A A 1,677,396A Incentive tax receivableA A 762,078A A A 786,574A Total
current assetsA A 2,117,943A A A 4,738,229A Property and equipment, netA A 20,523A A A 33,366A Operating
lease right-of-use assetA A 123,417A A A 193,689A Deferred offering costsA A 15,000A A A 49,988A Other assetsA
A 494,147A A A 414,206A Total assetsA $2,771,030A A $5,429,478A Liabilities and stockholdersa€™ deficitA
AAAA AAA Current liabilitiessA AAAA AAA Accounts payableA $2,183,416A A $2,201,999A Accrued expenses
and other current liabilitiesA A 942,489A A A 3,230,922A Current portion of operating lease liabilityA A 84,291A A

A 73,048A Deferred incomeA A 4€”A A A 18,626A Total current liabilitiesA A 3,210,196A A A 5,524,595A Operating
lease liability, net of current portionA A 46,573A A A 130,863A Total liabilitiesA A 3,256,769A A A 5,655,458A
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5) A A-AAA A-A A Stockholdersa€™ deficit:A AAAA AAA Preferred stock,
$0.0001 par value: 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstandingA A 4€”A A A 4€”A Common stock,
$0.0001 par value: 125,000,000 shares authorized; 650,284 and 218,786 issued and outstanding at September 30, 2024
and 2023, respectivelyA A 65A A A 22A Additional paid-in capitalA A 117,195,181A A A 110,017,751A Accumulated
deficitA A (117,680,985)A A (110,243,753) Total stockholdersa€™ deficitA A (485,739)A A (225,980) Total liabilities
and stockholdersa€™ deficitA $2,771,030A A $5,429,478A A Seeaccompanying notes to consolidated financial
statementsA 99 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.ConsolidatedStatements of OperationsA A A 2024A A
2023A A A Years ended September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A Collaboration revenueA $18,626A A $147,805A
Operating expenses:A AAAA AAA Research and developmentA A 5,737,252A A A 11,814,690A General and
administrativeA A 6,130,845A A A 7,125,732A Total operating expenseA A 11,868,097A A A 18,940,422A Loss from
operationsA A (11,849,471)A A (18,792,617) Foreign exchange gain (loss)A A 84,293A A A (40,077) Other incomeA

A 4,327,946A A A a€”A NetlossA $(7,437,232)A $(18,832,694) AA AAAA AAA Per share information:A AAAA
A A A Net loss per share, basic and dilutedA $(11.35)A $(145.13) Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
dilutedA A 655,240A A A 129,760A A Seeaccompanying notes to consolidated financial statementsA 100 A

A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.ConsolidatedStatements of Changes in Stockholdersa€™ DeficitA A A

SharesA A AmountA A capitalA A deficitA A TotalA A A Common stockA A Additional paid-inA A AccumulatedA A
AA AA SharesA A AmountA A capitalA A deficitA A TotalA Balance at October 1, 2022A A 31,496A A $4A A
$88,872,336A A $(91,411,059)A $(2,538,719) Sale of common stock, net of issuance costsA A 104,159A A A 10A A

A 20,895,948A A A a€”A A A 20,895,958A Net share settlement of warrantsA A 64,928A A A6AA A (6)A Aa€”AA
A 4€”A Issuance of common stock on vesting of restricted stock units and restricted stock awardsA A 954A A

Aae”’AA Aae”’AA Aa€”’A A A a€”A Exercise of warrantsA A 17,249A A A2AA A847AA A a€”AA A 849A Share-
based compensationA A 4€”A A A 46€”A A A 248,626A A A a€”A A A 248,626A NetlossA A a€”AA Aa€”’AA
Aag”A A A(18,832,694)A A (18,832,694) Balance at September 30, 2023A A 218,786A A A22A A A110,017,751A A
A (110,243,753)A A (225,980) Balance A A 218,786A A A22A A A110,017,751A A A (110,243,753)A A (225,980)
Sale of common stock, net of issuance costsA A 167,987A A A17A A A 3,976,365A A A a€”"A A A 3,976,382A
Retirement of shares in connection with reverse stock splitA A (190)A A a€”A A A a€”A A A a€”A A A a€”A Issuance
of common stock on vesting of restricted stock units and restricted stock awardsA A 976A A A a€”A A A a€”A A



A a€”A A A 4€”A Net share settlement of warrantsA A 94,288A A A9A A A (9)A A 4€”A A A 4€”A Exercise and
modification of warrants, net of issuance costsA A 168,437A A A17AA A 2,969,884A A Aa€”A A A 2,969,901A
Share-based compensationA A 4€”A A A a6€”A A A 231,190A A A a€”A A A 231,190A NetlossA A a€”AA Aa€”’A A
Aae”A A A(7,437,232)A A (7,437,232) Balance at September 30, 2024A A 650,284A A $65A A $117,195,181A A
$(117,680,985)A $(485,739) BalanceA A 650,284A A $65A A $117,195,181A A $(117,680,985)A

$(485,739)A Seeaccompanying notes to consolidated financial statementsA 101 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc.ConsolidatedStatements of Cash FlowsA A A 2024A A 2023A A A Years ended September 30,A A A 2024A A
2023A Cash flows from operating activities:A AAA A AAA NetlossA $(7,437,232)A $(18,832,694) Adjustments to
reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:A AAA A A A A Acquired in-process research and
developmentA A 12,000A A A 282,000A DepreciationA A 12,843A A A 12,845A Amortization of operating lease right-
of-use assetA A 70,272A A A 62,905A Share-based compensationA A 231,190A A A 248,626A Financing costs related
to ChEF Purchase AgreementA A 370,426A A A 4€”A Non-cash financing costsA A 1,732A A A 4€”A Changes in
operating assets and liabilities:A AAAA A A A Prepaid expenses and other current assetsA A 470,987A A A (33,653)
Incentive tax receivableA A 24,496A A A (69,269) Other assetsA A (79,941)A A (414,206) Accounts payableA

A 48,423A A A (2,631,215) Accrued expenses and other current liabilitiesA A (2,241,246)A A 231,953A Deferred
incomeA A (18,626)A A (147,805) Operating lease liabilityA A (73,047)A A (51,329) Net cash used in operating
activitiesA A (8,607,723)A A (21,341,842) Cash flows from investing activities:A AAAA A A A Purchases of in-
process research and developmentA A (12, OOO)A A (443, 250) Net cash used in investing activitiesA A (12,000)A

A (443,250) Cash flows from f1nan01ng activities:A AAAA A A A Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costsA A 3,896,577A A A 21,006,371A Payment of deferred offering costsA A (15,000)A A 4€”A Payment of
financing costs related to ChEF Purchase AgreementA A (370,426)A A a€”A Proceeds from exercise of warrants, net
of issuance costsA A 2,983,769A A A 849A Repayments of related party notesA A &€”A A A (748) Net cash provided
by financing activitiesA A 6,494,920A A A 21,006,472A AA AAAA AAA Net decrease in cashA A (2,124,803)A

A (778,620) Cash, beginning of yearA A 2,274,259A A A 3,052,879A Cash, end of yearA $149,456A A $2,274, 259A
AA AAAA AAA Supplemental disclosure of non-cash operating, investing and financing activities: A AAAA AAA
Deferred offering costs charged against proceeds from sale of common stockA $4€”A A $32,340A Deferred offering
costs in accounts payable and accrued expensesA $a€”A A $49,988A Net settlement of warrantsA $9A A $52A
Common stock and warrant issuance costs in accounts payable and accrued expensesA $13,868A A $78,073A

A Seeaccompanying notes to consolidated financial statementsA 102 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto
Consolidated Financial StatementsA 1.0rganization and Description of BusinessA Descriptionof

businessA SonnetBioTherapeutics, Inc. (4€cePrior Sonneta€) was incorporated as a New Jersey corporation on April 6,
2015. Prior Sonnet completeda merger with publicly-held Chanticleer Holdings, Inc. (4€ceChanticleera€) on April 1,
2020. After the merger, Chanticleer changedits name to Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (4€ceSonneta€ or the
d€ceCompanya€). Sonnet is a clinical stage, oncology-focusedbiotechnology company with a proprietary platform for
innovating biologic medicines of single or bifunctional action. Known as FHABA® (Fully Human Albumin Binding), the
technology utilizes a fully human single chain antibody fragment (scFv) that binds to and a€oehitch-hikesa€on human
serum albumin (&€ceHSA&€) for transport to target tissues. Sonnet designed the construct to improve drug
accumulationin solid tumors, as well as to extend the duration of activity in the body. FHAB development candidates
can be produced inmammalian cell culture, which enables glycosylation of the interleukins, thereby reducing the risk of
immunogenicity, as well as E. coli.Sonnet believes its FHAB technology, for which it received a U.S. patent in June
2021, is a distinguishing feature of itsbiopharmaceutical platform. The approach is well suited for future drug
development across a range of human disease areas, includingin oncology, autoimmune, pathogenic, inflammatory, and
hematological conditions.A Sonneta€ ™ slead proprietary asset, SON-1010, is a fully human version of Interleukin 12
(a€ell-124€), covalently linked to the FHABconstruct, for which Sonnet is pursuing clinical development in solid tumor
indications, including ovarian cancer, non-small cell lungcancer and head and neck cancer. In March 2022, the FDA
cleared Sonneta€™s Investigational New Drug (a€oeINDa€) applicationfor SON-1010. This allowed the Company to
initiate a U.S. clinical trial (SB101) in oncology patients with solid tumors during the secondcalendar quarter of 2022.
In September 2021, the Company created a wholly-owned Australian subsidiary, SonnetBio Pty Ltd
(a€ceSubsidiarya€),for the purpose of conducting certain clinical trials. Sonnet received approval and initiated an
Australian clinical study (SB102) ofSON-1010 in healthy volunteers during the third calendar quarter of 2022. Interim
safety and tolerability data from the SB101 and SB102studies were reported in April 2023.A InJanuary 2023, Sonnet
announced a collaboration agreement with Roche for the clinical evaluation of SON-1010 with atezolizumab
(TecentrigA®).The companies have entered into a Master Clinical Trial and Supply Agreement (&€0eMCSA&€), along
with ancillary Quality and SafetyAgreements, to study the safety and efficacy of the combination of SON-1010 and
atezolizumab in a platinum-resistant ovarian cancer (3€ePROC4&€)patient setting. Further, the companies will provide
SON-1010 and atezolizumab, respectively, for use in the Phase 1b/Phase 2a combinationsafety, dose-escalation, and
proof-of-concept study (SB221). Part 1 of this 2-part study was approved in June 2023 by the local HumanResearch
Ethics Committee in Australia under CT-2023-CTN-01399-1 and the Therapeutic Goods Administration has been
notified. In August2023, the FDA accepted the IND for SB221. The trial consists of a modified 3+3 dose-escalation
design in Part 1 to establish the maximumtolerated dose (4€ceMTDa€) of SON-1010 with a fixed dose of atezolizumab.
Clinical benefit in PROC will be confirmed in an expansiongroup to establish the recommended Phase 2 dose
(a€eRP2Da€). Part 2 of the study will then investigate SON-1010 in combinationwith atezolizumab, or the standard of
care (4€0eSOCA€) for PROC in a randomized comparison to show proof-of-concept (4€0ePOCa€).A Aspart of the ongoing
cost-cutting efforts, all antiviral development with SON-1010 has been suspended.A TheCompany acquired the global
development rights to its most advanced compound, SON-080, a fully human version of Interleukin 6 (d€celIL-6a€),in
April 2020 through its acquisition of the outstanding shares of Relief Therapeutics SA. Sonnet is advancing SON-080 in
target indicationsof Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy (4€0eCIPN&€) and Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy
(a€eDPNa<€). Sonnet receivedapproval to initiate an ex-U.S. Phase 1b/2a study with SON-080 in CIPN during the third
quarter of 2022. The Data Safety Monitoring Board(a€ceDSMBa€) overseeing the study met during the first calendar
quarter of 2024 and cleared the trial to proceed to Part 2. Followingthe completion of the DSMB review, Sonnet
announced initial safety data from the CIPN study. Pursuant to a license agreement the Companyentered into with New
Life Therapeutics Pte, Ltd. (3€eNew Lifea€) of Singapore in May 2021, Sonnet and New Life would have been
jointlyresponsible for developing SON-080 in DPN. The objective will be to analyze the data and to consider initiating a
Phase 2 study, pendingthe outcome of any partnering activity.A SON-1210(IL12-FHAB-IL15), Sonneta€™s lead
bifunctional construct, combines FHAB with single-chain human IL-12 and human Interleukinl5 (a€oelIL-154a€). This



compound is being developed for solid tumor indications, including colorectal cancer. In February 2023,Sonnet
announced the successful completion of two IND-enabling toxicology studies with SON-1210 in non-human primates.
Sonnet is preparedto initiate the regulatory authorization process for SON-1210, pending the outcome of any
partnering activity.A SON-1411(IL18-FHAB-IL12) is a bifunctional combination of human Interleukin 18 (&€ceIL-184a€),
which was modified to resist interactionwith the IL-18 inhibitor binding protein, and single-chain human IL-12 for solid
tumor cancers. Cell line development and process developmentare ongoing, with early experimental drug supply
suitable for formulation and analytical method development activities. After some delaysin 2023, activities will continue
through 2024 with the potential to generate a drug suitable for preclinical studies and subsequenthuman

studies.A Sonnethas completed sequence confirmation for SON-3015 (anti-IL6-FHAB-anti-TGFi2). Early-stage
bifunctional drug has been generated andis being stored for future use in in vivo mice studies. The Company has
elected to place the SON-3015 development program on hold forexpense reduction purposes.A 103 A

A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA LiquidityA TheCompany has
incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and it expects to generate losses
fromoperations for the foreseeable future primarily due to research and development costs for its potential product
candidates. TheCompanya€™s cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2024 were $0.1million. This, combined with
approximately $7.7million raised through the sale of common stock and warrants in November and December 2024
(Note 10), $0.7million received in November 2024 to satisfy the incentive tax receivable (Note 10) and $0.5million
received in October 2024 as an upfront payment related to the Alkem Agreement, which after tax withholdings resulted
in a net payment of $0.4 million (Note 10), will fund the Companya€™s projected operations into July 2025. Substantial
additional financingwill be needed by the Company to fund its operations. These factors raise substantial doubt about
the Companya€™ s ability tocontinue as a going concern. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, whichcontemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the
normal course of business. However, substantial doubtabout the Companya€ ™ s ability to continue as a going concern
exists. The consolidated financial statements do not include anyadjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.A TheCompany plans to secure additional capital in the future through equity or debt financings,
partnerships, collaborations, or other sourcesto carry out the Companya€™s planned development activities. If
additional capital is not available when required, the Company mayneed to delay or curtail its operations until such
funding is received. Various internal and external factors will affect whether andwhen the Companya€™s product
candidates become approved for marketing and successful commercialization. The regulatory approval andmarket
acceptance of the Companya€™s product candidates, length of time and cost of developing and commercializing these
productcandidates and/or failure of them at any stage of the approval process will materially affect the Companya€™s
financial conditionand future operations.A Operationssince inception have consisted primarily of organizing the
Company, securing financing, developing technologies through research anddevelopment and conducting preclinical
studies. The Company faces risks associated with companies whose products are in development.These risks include
the need for additional financing to complete its research and development, achieving its research and
developmentobjectives, defending its intellectual property rights, recruiting and retaining skilled personnel, and
dependence on key members ofmanagement.A 104 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated
Financial StatementsA 2.Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesA a.Basis of presentationA Theaccompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(4€eU.S.GAAPa£). Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to U.S. GAAP as found in the
Accounting StandardsCodification (4€eASCa€) and Accounting Standards Updates (a€0eASUa&€) promulgated by the
Financial Accounting StandardsBoard (3€eFASBA4£).A b.ConsolidationA Theconsolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts andtransactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.A c.Use of estimatesA Thepreparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptionsthat affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates and assumptionsreflected in these
consolidated financial statements include the accrual of research and development expenses. Estimates and
assumptionsare periodically reviewed in-light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Changes in estimates
are recorded in the periodin which they become known. Actual results could differ from managementa€™s

estimates.A d.Segment informationA Operatingsegments are defined as components of an enterprise about which
separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chiefoperating decision maker, or decision-making
group, in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company views itsoperations and manages
its business in one segment.A e.Fair value of financial instrumentsA Managementbelieves that the carrying amounts of
the Companya€™s financial instruments, including accounts payable, approximate fair value dueto the short-term
nature of those instruments.A f.Property and equipmentA Propertyand equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Expendituresfor repairs and maintenance
that do not extend the estimated useful life or improve an asset are expensed as incurred. Upon retirementor sale, the
cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization of assets disposed of are removed from the accounts, and
anyresulting gain or loss is included in the consolidated statement of operations.A 105 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA g.Impairment of long-lived assetsA TheCompany reviews
long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicatethat the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparisonof the carrying amount of an asset to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by that asset. If the carrying amountof an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, then
an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which thecarrying value of the asset exceeds the estimated fair
value of the asset. There were no impairment charges recorded during the fiscalyears ended September 30, 2024 and
2023.A h.Deferred offering costsA Legaland other costs incurred in relation to equity offerings are capitalized as
deferred offering costs and charged against the proceedsfrom equity offerings when received. If a financing is
abandoned, deferred offering costs are expensed. As of September 30, 2024, theCompany had $15,000 in deferred
offering costs associated with a shelf registration statement. As of September 30, 2023, the Companyhad $49,988 in
deferred offering costs.A i.Incentive tax receivableA Subsidiaryis eligible to participate in an Australian research and
development tax incentive program. As part of this program, Subsidiary is eligibleto receive a cash refund from the
Australian Taxation Office for a percentage of the research and development costs expended by Subsidiaryin Australia.
Thecash refund is available to eligible companies with annual aggregate revenues of less than $20.0 million (Australian)
during the reimbursableperiod. The Company estimates the amount of cashrefund it expects to receive related to the



Australian research and development tax incentive program and records the incentive whenit is probable (i) the
Company will comply with relevant conditions of the program and (ii) the incentive will be received. As of
bothSeptember 30, 2024 and 2023, the Companya€™s estimate of the amount of cash refund it expects to receive for
eligible spending relatedto the Australian research and development tax incentive program was $0.8million. In
November 2024, the Company receiveda cash refund of $0.7 million, with the $0.1 million difference attributable to a
change in foreign exchange rates. In December 2023,the Company received a cash refund of $0.8 million. For each of
the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, $0.8million for the expected net cash refund relatedto the tax incentive
program was included in research and development expenses.A j.Derivative liabilityA TheCompany evaluates all
features contained in financing agreements to determine if there are any embedded derivatives that require
separateaccounting from the underlying agreement. An embedded derivative that requires separation is accounted for
as a separate asset or liabilityfrom the host agreement. The derivative asset or liability is accounted for at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized in theconsolidated statement of operations. The Company determined that certain
features under the ChEF Purchase Agreement (see Note 7) qualifiedas an embedded derivative. The derivative liability
is accounted for separately from the ChEF Purchase Agreement at fair value, whichhas been deemed de

minimus.A k.Collaboration revenueA Collaborationarrangements may contain multiple components, which may include
(i) licenses; (ii) research and development activities; and (iii) themanufacturing and supply of certain materials.
Payments pursuant to these arrangements may include non-refundable payments, upfront payments, milestone
payments upon the achievement of significant regulatory and development events, sales milestones and royalties on
product sales.The amount of variable consideration is constrained until it is probable that the revenue is not at a
significant risk of reversal ina future period.A Indetermining the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized as the
Company fulfills its obligations under a collaboration arrangement,the Company performs the following steps: (i)
identification of the promised goods or services in the contract; (ii) determination ofwhether the promised goods or
services are performance obligations, including whether they are capable of being distinct; (iii) measurementof the
transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the
performanceobligations; and (v) recognition of revenue as the Company satisfies each performance obligation.A 106 A
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judgment when evaluating whether contractual obligations represent distinct performance obligations,
allocatingtransaction price to performance obligations within a contract, determining when performance obligations
have been met, and assessingthe recognition of variable consideration. When consideration is received prior to the
Company completing its performance obligationunder the terms of a contract, a contract liability is recorded as
deferred income. Deferred income expected to be recognized as revenuewithin the twelve months following the balance
sheet date is classified as a current liability. In May 2021, the Company entered intoa License Agreement (the a€eNew
Life Agreementa€) with New Life. See Note 6 for further discussion of the New Life Agreement.A 1.Research and
development expenseA Researchand development expenses include all direct and indirect costs associated with the
development of the Companya€™s biopharmaceuticalproducts. These expenses include personnel costs, consulting
fees, and payments to third parties for research, development, and manufacturingservices. These costs are charged to
expense as incurred.A Atthe end of the reporting period, the Company compares payments made to third-party service
providers to the estimated progress towardcompletion of the related project, based on the measure of progress as
defined in the contract. Factors the Company considers in preparingthe estimates include costs incurred by the service
provider, milestones achieved, and other criteria related to the efforts of its serviceproviders. Such estimates are
subject to change as additional information becomes available. Depending on the timing of payment to theservice
providers and the progress that the Company estimates has been made as a result of the service provided, the Company
will recorda prepaid expense or accrued liability relating to these costs. Upfront milestone payments made to third
parties who perform researchand development services on the Companya€™ s behalf are expensed as services are
rendered. Contingent development or regulatory milestonepayments are recognized upon the related resolution of such
contingencies.A m.Foreign currencyA Transactiongains and losses resulting from exchange rate changes on
transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are includedin operations in the period in which the
transaction occurs and reported within the foreign exchange loss line item in the consolidatedstatements of
operations.A n.Share-based compensationA TheCompany measures equity classified share-based awards granted to
employees and non-employees based on the estimated fair value on thedate of grant and recognizes compensation
expense of those awards over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period of therespective award. The
Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. For share-based awards with service-based vesting conditions,
theCompany recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the service period. The Company classifies
share-based compensationexpense in its consolidated statements of operations in the same manner in which the award
recipienta€™ s payroll costs are classifiedor in which the award recipienta€™s service payments are classified.A 0.Other
incomeA TheCompany has participated in the State of New Jerseya€™s Technology Business Tax Certificate Transfer
Program (the a€cePrograma€)sponsored by the New Jersey Economic Development Authority. The Program enables
approved biotechnology companies with unused net operatinglosses and unused research and development credits to
sell these tax benefits for at least 80% of the value of the tax benefits to unaffiliated,profitable corporate taxpayers in
the state of New Jersey. The Company received net proceeds of $4.3 million during the year ended September30, 2024
from the sale of New Jersey state net operating losses through the Program, which is included in other income in the
consolidatedstatements of operations. No such proceeds were received during the year ended September 30, 2023.A
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taxesA TheCompany uses the asset-and-liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for theestimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets andliabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuredusing enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recoveredor settled. A valuation allowance
is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will notbe realized. The
Company recognizes the benefit of an uncertain tax position that it has taken or expects to take on its income tax
returnif such a position is more likely than not to be sustained.A q.Reverse stock splitA OnSeptember 30, 2024, the
Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, with the Secretaryof State of
the State of Delaware, which effected a 1-for-8 reverse stock split of the Companya€™s issued and outstanding sharesof
common stock. As a result of the reverse stock split, every 8 shares of common stock issued and outstanding was
converted into oneshare of common stock. The reverse stock split affected all stockholders uniformly and did not alter



any stockholdera€™s percentageinterest in the Companya€™s equity. No fractional shares were issued in connection
with the reverse stock split. Stockholders whowould otherwise be entitled to a fractional share of common stock were
instead entitled to receive a proportional cash payment. The reversestock split did not change the par value or
authorized number of shares of common stock. All common share and per share amounts presentedin the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.A r.Net
loss per shareA Basicnet loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstandingduring each period (and potential shares of common stock that are
exercisable for little or no consideration). Included in basic weighted-averagenumber of shares of common stock
outstanding during the year ended September 30, 2024 are the pre-funded October 2023 warrants to purchase99,687
shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.0008 per share and warrants exercised through the June 2024
inducement offerfor 187,500 shares of common stock that are being held in abeyance as of September 30, 2024 (see
Note 7). Included in basic weighted-averagenumber of shares of common stock outstanding during the year ended
September 30, 2023 are the Series B warrants to purchase 17 sharesof common stock with an exercise price of $0.25
per share, which were net share settled in November 2022.A Dilutedloss per share includes the effect, if any, from the
potential exercise or conversion of securities such as common stock warrants andstock options which would result in
the issuance of incremental shares of common stock. For diluted net loss per share, the weighted-averagenumber of
shares of common stock is the same for basic net loss per share due to the fact that when a net loss exists, dilutive
securitiesare not included in the calculation as the impact is anti-dilutive.A 108 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA Thefollowing potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from
the computation of diluted shares of common stock outstanding as theywould be anti-glilgt;ve:A Scheduleof Potentially
Dilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Diluted Shares A A 2024A A 2023A A A September 30,A A A
2024A A 2023A Common stock warrants August 2021A A 14,031A A A 16,039A Underwriter warrants August 2021A
A 284A A A 284A Chanticleer warrantsA A 6A A A 6A Series C warrantsA A 2,297A A A 4,591A Series 3 warrantsA
A 1,566A A A 1,566A Unvested restricted stock units and awardsA A 17,152A A A 288A Common stock warrants
February 2023A A 33,982A A A 33,982A Underwriter warrants February 2023A A 1,933A A A 5,523A Common stock
private placement warrants June 2023A A 28,409A A A 28,409A Placement agent warrants June 2023A A 852A A

A 852A Common stock warrants October 2023A A 354,994A A A a€”A Underwriter warrants October 2023A
A10,664A A A 4€”A Placement agent warrants June 2024A A 14,142A A A 4€”A Common stock warrants June 2024A
A 703,125A A A 4€”A Total anti-dilutive weighted average sharesA A 1,183,437A A A 91,540A A s.Recent accounting
pronouncementsA InNovember 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07,which is applicable to entities with a single reportable segment, will
primarily require enhanced disclosures about significant segmentexpenses and enhanced disclosures in interim periods.
The guidance in ASU 2023-07 will be applied retrospectively and is effective forannual reporting periods in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim reporting periods in fiscal years beginning afterDecember 31, 2024,
with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2023-07
willhave on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.A InDecember 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09,
Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 is intendedto improve income tax
disclosure requirements by requiring (1) consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in therate
reconciliation and (2) the disaggregation of income taxes paid by jurisdiction. The guidance makes several other
changes to theincome tax disclosure requirements. The guidance in ASU 2023-09 will be effective for annual reporting
periods in fiscal years beginningafter December 15, 2024. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the
adoption of ASU 2023-09 will have on its consolidatedfinancial statements and disclosures.A InNovember 2024, the
FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statementa€”Reporting Comprehensive Incomea€”Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures(Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which is intended to provide more
detailed information about specifiedcategories of expenses (purchases of inventory, employee compensation,
depreciation and amortization) included in certain expense captionspresented on the consolidated statement of
operations. The guidance in this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December15, 2026, and interim periods
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments maybe applied
either (1) prospectively to financial statements issued for periods after the effective date of this ASU or (2)
retrospectivelyto all prior periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that the adoptionof ASU 2024-03 will have on its consolidated financial statements and
disclosures.A 109 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA 3.Accrued
Expenses and Other Current LiabilitiesA Accruedexpenses and other current liabilities consisted of the

following:A Scheduleof Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities A A 2024A A 2023A A A September 30,A A A
2024A A 2023A Compensation and benefitsA $149,802A A $2,091,196A Research and developmentA A 617,545A A
A 913,145A Professional feesA A 173,319A A A 224,031A OtherA A 1,823A A A 2,550A Accrued expenses and other
current liabilitiesA $942,489A A $3,230,922A A Duringthe first quarter of 2024, the Company cancelled accrued but
unpaid bonuses that had been awarded for fiscal years 2022 and 2023, whichhas been accounted for as a change in
estimate. The cancellation of bonuses reduced research and development expenses by $1.0 millionand general and
administrative expenses by $0.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2024.A 4.LeasesA InDecember 2019, the
Company entered into a 36-month lease for office space in Princeton, New Jersey, which commenced February 1,
2020.In May 2022, the Company amended the existing lease agreement in order to increase the lease term by
approximately three years, whichhas been accounted for as a lease modification. The operating lease right-of-use asset
and liability were remeasured at the modificationdate, resulting in an increase to both balances of $0.2

millionA Thecomponents of lease expense for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 are as

follows:A Scheduleof Lease Expenses Lease expenseA 2024A A 2023A Operating lease expenseA $90,837A A
$90,837A Variable lease expenseA A 1,472A A A 5,978A Total lease costA $92,309A A $96,815A A AtSeptember 30,
2024, the weighted average remaining lease term was 1.6 years and the weighted average discount rate was

12%.A Cashflow information related to operating leases for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 is as
follows:A Schedule of Operating Lease Liabilities Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities:A 2024A A 2023A Operating cash flows from operating leasesA $93,614A A $79,259A A Futureminimum
lease payments under non-cancellable leases at September 30, 2024 are as follows:A Schedule of Future Minimum
Lease Payments AA A A Fiscal yearA A A 2025A $95,487A 2026A A 48,216A Total undiscounted lease paymentsA
A 143,703A Less: imputed interestA A (12,839) Total lease liabilitiesA $130,864A A 110 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA 5.Commitments and



ContingenciesA LegalproceedingsA Fromtime to time, the Company is a party to various lawsuits, claims, and other
legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of itsbusiness. While the outcomes of these matters are uncertain,
management does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matterswill have a material adverse effect on the
Companya€™s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.A LicenseagreementsA InJuly 2012,
the Company entered into a Discovery Collaboration Agreement (the &€ceCollaboration Agreementa€) with XOMA (US)
LLC(a€:=eXOMAAa£), pursuant to which XOMA granted to the Company a non-exclusive, non-transferable license and/or
right to use certainmaterials, technologies and related information related to discovery, optimization and development
of antibodies and related proteinsand to develop and commercialize products thereunder. The Company is obligated to
make contingent milestone payments to XOMA totaling$3.8 million on a product-by-product basis upon the achievement
of certain development and approval milestones related to a product.The Company has also agreed to pay XOMA low
single-digit royalties on net sales of products sold by the Company. Royalties on each productare payable on a country-
by-country basis until the later of (i) a specified period of time after the first commercial sale, and (ii)the date of
expiration of the last valid claim in the last-to-expire of the issued patents covered by the Collaboration Agreement.
Thefirst milestone was achieved in April 2022, at which time the Company incurred a $0.5 million license fee which was
recorded as acquiredin-process research and development. No license fees were incurred during the years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023.A InAugust 2015, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the 4€®©ARES License
Agreementa€) with Ares Trading, a wholly-ownedsubsidiary of Merck KGaA (4€eARES&€). Under the terms of the
ARES License Agreement, ARES has granted the Company a sublicensable,exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing license
on proprietary patents to research, develop, use and commercialize products using atexakinalfa (a€oeAtexakina€), a low
dose formulation of human IL-6 in peripheral neuropathies and vascular complications. Pursuant tothe ARES License
Agreement, the Company will pay ARES high single-digit royalties on net sales of products sold by the Company.
Royaltiesare payable on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis until the later of (i) a specified period of
time after the first conqmercialsale in such country, and (ii) the last date on which such product is covered by a valid
claim in such country.A InJanuary 2019, the Company entered into a Frame Services and License Agreement (the
a€eCellca Agreementa€) with Sartorius StedimCellca GMBH (a€ceCellcaa€), pursuant to which Cellca has granted the
Company a worldwide, non-exclusive, perpetual, non-transferablelicense to develop, manufacture or have
manufactured, use, sell, import, export and/or otherwise commercialize product based on Cellcad€™ swork to generate
a specified transfected cell line and develop an upstream production process for such cell line. The Cellca Agreementis
effective unless terminated by either party by giving six months notice, or by giving 14 days notice if terminated for
good cause.The Company is obligated to make milestone payments to Cellca totaling up to $0.7 million upon the
achievement of certain developmentand approval milestones if the Buy-Out Option is not exercised. The Company has a
Buy-Out Option that will be effective between the timeof completion of a clinical trial and the receipt of regulatory
approval for commercialization of product. The cost to exercise the Buy-OutOption increases on each anniversary of the
commencement date of the Buy-Out Option Period, and ranges from $0.1 million to $0.6 million.The cost to exercise the
Buy-Out Option will replace the $0.6 million contingent milestone payment due upon final regulatory approval.The first
milestone was achieved in April 2022, at which time the Company incurred a $0.1 million license fees which was
recorded asacquired in-process research and development. No license fees were incurred during the years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023.A 111 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial
StatementsA InOctober 2021, the Company entered into a Non-Exclusive License Agreement (the 4€ceBrink
Agreementa€) with Brink Biologics Inc.(&€0eBrinka€), pursuant to which Brink has granted the Company a non-
exclusive, non-transferable license and limited right tosublicense certain materials and related information to develop
cell-based assays for batch, quality control, stability, efficacy, potencyor any other type of assay required for production
and commercialization of products. During the product development phase, the Companywas obligated to make annual
product development license fee payments of approximately $0.1 million. In April 2023, the Brink Agreementwas
amended, effective November 2022, to reduce the annual license fee payments to $12,000 for storage. If materials are
removed fromstorage during the product development phase, the annual product development license fee of
approximately $0.1 million will apply. Ifa product achieves commercial status, the Company is obligated to make a
commercial product license fee payment of approximately $0.1million per commercial product. The amended
agreement has an initial term of one year and will automatically renew for one additionalyear unless terminated or
converted to a product development license. After the second year, the license will automatically convert toa full license
requiring a product development or a commercial product license fee unless the parties mutually agree to terminate
theagreement. The Company incurred $12,000 in license fees during each of the years ended September 30, 2024 and
2023, which were recordedas acquired in-process research and development and included in research and development
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.A InFebruary 2022, the Company entered into a Biological
Materials License Agreement (the a€ceInvivoGen Agreementa€) with InvivoGenSAS (&€celnvivoGena€), pursuant to
which InvivoGen has granted the Company a worldwide, non-exclusive license to use certainreporter cells for research,
development and/or quality control purposes. The InvivoGen Agreement has an initial term of three yearsand may be
extended for two additional three-year periods upon written notice by the Company and payment of an approximately
a,—0.1million fee per extension (approximately $0.1 million as of September 30, 2024). No license fees were incurred
for the years ended September30, 2024 and 2023.A InMarch 2022, the Company entered into a Material Transfer and
License Agreement (the a€ceProteoNic Agreementa€) with ProteoNicB.V. (a€ceProteoNica€), pursuant to which
ProteoNic has granted to the Company a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable(except as provided for in
the ProteoNic Agreement) license for certain materials, including plasmids and DNA sequences used to generatethe
vectors used in the Companya€™s cell lines, for the Companya€™s use in research, development and commercialization
of product.The Company incurred a $24,600 license fee upon obtaining the license. No license fees were incurred
during the years ended September30, 2024 and 2023. In January 2024, the Company terminated the ProteoNic
Agreement and has no further obligations under the arrangement.A 112 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA Collaboration AgreementA In August 2024, the Company entered into
a Master Clinical CollaborationAgreement (the 4€0eSOC Agreementa€) with the Sarcoma Oncology Center (a€eS0OCa€)
to advance the development of SON-1210.An Innovative Immuno Oncology Center funded by the SOC will conduct an
investigator-initiated Phase 1/2a study of SON-1210 in pancreaticcancer. The Company will provide the study drug and
provide support services for the study. If the Company establishes a partnership witha third party prior to the initiation
of the initial efficacy combination trial under this collaboration, the Company will incur to theSOC a one-time fee equal
to the greater of 5% or $1.5 million from the first upfront payment received from such third-party

partnership.A Researchand development agreementA InDecember 2021, the Company entered into a Research and



Development Agreement (the d€ceNavigo Agreementa€) with Navigo ProteinsGmbH (a€ceNavigoa€), pursuant to which
Navigo will perform specified evaluation and development procedures to evaluate certainmaterials to determine their
commercial potential. Under the terms of the Navigo Agreement, the Company has granted Navigo a royalty-free,non-
exclusive, worldwide, non-sublicensable, non-transferable right and license to use certain technology to perform the
evaluation anddevelopment activities, and Navigo has granted the Company (i) an exclusive, worldwide, perpetual,
irrevocable, sublicensable, transferable,royalty-free right and license to research, develop, use, sell, have sold,
distribute, import or otherwise commercially exploit certainmaterials, and (ii) a non-exclusive, worldwide, perpetual,
sublicensable, non-transferable right and license to make or have made suchmaterials. The Company incurred a $0.1
million technology access fee upon execution of the Navigo Agreement, at which time it was recordedas acquired in-
process research. The Company is obligated to make contingent milestone payments to Navigo, as amended in March
2023,totaling up to $1.0 million upon the achievement of certain evaluation and development milestones as outlined in
the Navigo Agreement.Certain evaluation milestones were achieved in 2023, totaling $0.3 million in license fees, which
were recorded as acquired in-processresearch and development and included as research and development expenses in
the consolidated statement of operations for the year endedSeptember 30, 2023. No milestones were achieved and no
license fees were incurred during the year ended September 30, 2024.A EmploymentagreementsA TheCompany has
entered into employment contracts with its officers and certain employees that provide for severance and continuation
ofbenefits in the event of termination of employment either by the Company without cause or by the employee for good
reason, both as definedin the contract. In addition, in the event of termination of employment following a change in
control, as defined, either by the Companywithout cause or by the employee for good reason, any unvested portion of
the employeea€™s initial stock option grant becomes immediatelyvested.A 6.Collaboration RevenueA Underthe New
Life Agreement, the Company granted New Life an exclusive license (with the right to sublicense) to develop
andcommercialize pharmaceutical preparations containing a specific recombinant human IL-6, SON-080 (the
a€oeCompounda€) (suchpreparations, the a€ceProductsa€) for the prevention, treatment or palliation of diabetic
peripheral neuropathy(a&€0ceDPNa€) in humans (the a€eDPN Fielda€) in Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia, Thailand,
Philippines, Vietnam,Brunei, Myanmar, Lao PDR and Cambodia (the a€oeExclusive Territorya€). New Life had the
option to expand (1) the field ofthe exclusive license to include the prevention, treatment or palliation of chemotherapy-
induced peripheral neuropathy in humans(the 4€ceCIPN Fielda€), which option was non-exclusive and expired on
December 31, 2021; and/or (2) the territorial scope ofthe license to include the Peoplea€™s Republic of China, Hong
Kong and/or India, which option was exclusive and expired onDecember 31, 2021.A TheCompany will retain all rights to
manufacture Compounds and Products anywhere in the world. The Company and New Life shall enter intoa follow-on
supply agreement pursuant to which the Company shall supply to New Life Products for development and
commercialization thereofin the DPN Field in the Exclusive Territory on terms to be negotiated by the parties. The
Company will also assist in transferring certainpreclinical and clinical development know-how that is instrumental in
New Lifea€™ s ability to benefit from the license.A NewLife will bear the cost of, and be responsible for, among other
things, conducting clinical studies and additional non-clinical studiesand other developmental and regulatory activities
for and commercializing Products in the DPN Field in the Exclusive Territory.A 113 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA NewLife paid the Company a $0.5 million non-refundable
upfront cash payment in August 2020 upon executing a letter of intent to negotiatea license agreement and a $0.5
million non-refundable upfront cash payment in June 2021 in connection with the execution of the New LifeAgreement.
New Life is also obligated to pay a non-refundable deferred license fee of an additional $1.0 million at the time of the
satisfactionof certain milestones, as well as potential additional milestone payments to the Company of up to $19.0
million subject to the achievementof certain development and commercialization milestones. In addition, during the
Royalty Term (as defined below), New Life is obligatedto pay the Company tiered double-digit royalties ranging from
12% to 30% based on annual net sales of Products in the Exclusive Territory.The 4€ceRoyalty Terma€ means, on a
Product-by-Product and a country-by-country basis in the Exclusive Territory, the period commencingon the date of the
first commercial sale (subject to certain conditions) of such Product in such country in the Exclusive Territory
andcontinuing until New Life ceases commercialization of such Product in the DIPN Field.A TheNew Life Agreement
will remain in effect on a Product-by-Product, country-by-country basis and will expire upon the expiration of theRoyalty
Term for the last-to-expire Product in the last-to-expire country, subject to (i) each partya€™s early termination
rightsincluding for material breach or insolvency or bankruptcy of the other party and (ii) the Companya€™s Buy Back
Option and New LifeA€ ™ sGive Back Option (as defined below).A Inaddition, New Life granted to the Company an
exclusive option to buy back the rights granted by the Company to New Life (thed€ceBuy Back Optiona€) and the
Company granted New Life the right to give back the rights with respect to Products in theDPN Field in one or more
countries in the Exclusive Territory on terms to be agreed upon (the 4€eGive Back Optiona€), whichoptions will expire
upon the initiation of a Phase III Trial for the applicable Product. On December 2, 2024, New Life provided theCompany
with written notice of its intention to exercise its Give Back Option pursuant to the New Life Agreement. The Company
isnegotiating the terms of the Give Back Option with New Life. If the Company and New Life are unable to reach a
mutual agreement onsuch terms, the Give Back Option will expire unexercised, New Life will retain the rights granted
subject to the terms andconditions of the New Life Agreement and the New Life Agreement will remain in effect unless
otherwise terminated by either theCompany or New Life pursuant to the terms and conditions of the New Life
Agreement.A RevenuerecognitionA TheCompany first assessed the New Life Agreement under ASC 808, Collaborative
Arrangements (&€0eASC 808a€), to determinewhether the New Life Agreement or units of accounts within the New Life
Agreement represent a collaborative arrangement based on therisks and rewards and activities of the parties. The
Company applied relevant guidance from ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers(a€eASC 6064a€), to
evaluate the appropriate accounting for the collaborative arrangement with New Life. In accordance withthis guidance,
the Company identified the following obligations under the arrangement: (i) License to develop, market, import, use
andcommercialize the Product in the Field in the Exclusive Territory (the a€ceLicensea€); and (ii) transfer of know-how
and clinicaldevelopment and regulatory activities (a&€eR&D Activitiesa€). The options to expand the CIPN Field and
territory as wellas the future supply agreement represent optional purchases, which are accounted for as separate
contracts. The Company evaluated theseseparate contracts and did not identify any material right to be present. The
Company determined that License and the R&D servicesare not distinct from each other and therefore combined these
material promises into a single performance obligation.A TheCompany determined the initial transaction price of the
single performance obligation to be $1.0 million, as the future development andcommercialization milestones, which
represent variable consideration, are subject to constraint at inception. At the end of each subsequentreporting period,
the Company will reevaluate the probability of achievement of the future development and commercialization



milestonessubject to constraint and, if necessary, will adjust its estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such
adjustments will be recordedon a cumulative catch-up basis. For the sales-based royalties, the Company will recognize
revenue when the related sales occur.A 114 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial
StatementsA Collaborationrevenue from the single performance obligation is being recognized over the estimated
performance of the R&D services. The Companyrecognized $18,626 and $0.1 million of collaboration revenue for the
years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.A Subsequent to September 30, 2024, New Life informed the
Company that it will exercise its Give Back Option under theNew Life Agreement. The Company and New Life are
currently negotiating the terms under which New Life will give back its license rights.A 7.Stockholdersa€™

DeficitA 2024eventsA OnMay 2, 2024, the Company entered into a ChEF Purchase Agreement (the &€cePurchase
Agreementa€) and a Registration RightsAgreement (the 4&€ceRegistration Rights Agreementa€), each with Chardan
Capital Markets LLC (a&€ceChardana€) relatedto a 4€eChEF,a€ Chardana€™s committed equity facility (the
a€ceFacilitya€). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement,the Company has the right from time to time at its option to sell to
Chardan up to the lesser of (i) $25.0million in aggregate gross purchase price of newly issued shares of the
Companya€™s common stock and (ii) 77,771shares of the Companya€™s common stock, which is equal to 19.99%of the
shares of common stock outstanding immediately prior to the execution of the Purchase Agreement (the
d€eExchangeCapa€), unless (i) the average price of such shares sold to Chardan under the Facility equals or exceeds
the base price setforth in the Purchase Agreement, so that the Exchange Cap limitation would not apply to such
issuances and sales pursuant to thePurchase Agreement under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market or (ii) the
Companya€™s stockholders approve the issuance ofcommon stock pursuant to the Purchase Agreement in excess of the
Exchange Cap. As of September 30, 2024, the Companya€ ™ sstockholders had voted to approve the issuance of common
stock pursuant to the Purchase Agreement in excess of the Exchange Cap, andthere is no limitation on the
Companya€™s right to sell up to $25.0million of shares of its common stock. The Facility will allow the Company to
raise primary equity on a periodic basis at its solediscretion depending on a variety of factors including, among other
things, market conditions, the trading price of the commonstock, and determinations by the Company regarding the use
of proceeds of such common stock. The purchase price of the shares ofcommon stock will be determined by reference to
the Volume Weighted Average Price (4€0eVWAPA€) of the common stock duringthe applicable purchase period, less a
fixed 4%discount to such VWAP, and the total shares to be purchased on any day may not exceed 20% of the trading
volume of theCompanya€™s common stock during the applicable purchase period. The Purchase Agreement will be
effective for a 36-month periodending May 16, 2027. Due to certain pricing and settlement provisions, the Purchase
Agreement qualifies as a standby purchase equityagreement and includes an embedded put option and an embedded
forward contract. The Company will account for the Purchase Agreementas a derivative measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. Thederivative associated with the
Purchase Agreement has been deemed de minimus. As a result, the Company will expense the differencebetween the
discounted purchase price of the settled forward and the fair value of the shares on the date of settlement as anon-cash
financing cost. During the year ended September 30, 2024, the Company sold 4,706shares of common stock pursuant to
the Purchase Agreement for net proceeds of $0.1million. The Company incurred $0.4million of costs in connection with
the Purchase Agreement during the year ended September 30, 2024, which are included in generaland administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.A OnOctober 26, 2023, the Company closed a public offering of
common stock and certain warrants through Chardan Capital Markets, LLC andLadenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. as
underwriters, for net proceeds of $3.9 million through the issuance and sale of 163,281 shares ofits common stock and,
to certain investors, pre-funded warrants to purchase 192,187 shares of common stock, and accompanying common
warrantsto purchase up to an aggregate of 710,931 shares of its common stock (the 4€0eOctober Offeringa€). Each
share of common stockand pre-funded warrant to purchase one share of common stock was sold together with a
common warrant to purchase two shares of commonstock. The public offering price of each share of common stock and
accompanying common warrant was $12.80 and the public offering priceof each pre-funded warrant and accompanying
common warrant was $12.7992. The common warrants were immediately exercisable at a priceof $12.80 per share of
common stock, expire five years from the date of issuance and contain an alternative cashless exercise provision.In
connection with the June 2024 inducement offer discussed further below, the exercise price was decreased to $9.60 per
share of commonstock for common warrants that remained unexercised at the time of the offer. The pre-funded
warrants were immediately exercisable atany time, until exercised in full, at a price of $0.0001 per share of common
stock. In addition, warrants to purchase 10,664 shares ofcommon stock were issued to the underwriters as
compensation for their services related to the offering. These common stock warrantshave an exercise price of $16.00
per share and expire five years from the date of issuance.A 115 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto
Consolidated Financial StatementsA 2023eventsA TheCompany entered into an At-the-Market Sales Agreement with
BTIG, LLC (4€eBTIGa€) on August 15, 2022 (the 4€0e2022 Sales Agreementa€).Pursuant to the 2022 Sales Agreement,
the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, through BTIG, as sales agent and/or principal,shares of its common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $25.0 million, subject to certain limitations on the amount ofcommon
stock that may be offered and sold by the Company set forth in the 2022 Sales Agreement. Due to the offering
limitations applicableto the Company, the Company filed prospectus supplements for the sale of shares of its common
stock for an aggregate offering price ofup to $7.8 million pursuant to the 2022 Sales Agreement. During the year ended
September 30,2023, the Company sold an aggregate of 17,087 shares of common stock pursuant to the 2022 Sales
Agreement with BTIG for gross proceedsof $5.7 million and net proceeds of $5.5 million. There are no registered shares
remainingto be sold under the 2022 Sales Agreement.A OnFebruary 10, 2023, the Company closed a public offering of
common stock and certain warrants through Chardan Capital Markets, LLC andEF Hutton, division of Benchmark
Investments LLC as underwriters, for gross proceeds of $15.0 million and net proceeds of $13.6 millionthrough the
issuance and sale of 66,277 shares of its common stock and, to certain investors, pre-funded warrants to purchase
12,636shares of common stock, and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 157,818 shares
of its common stock (the a€ceFebruaryOfferinga€). Each share of common stock and pre-funded warrant to purchase
one share of common stock was sold together with a commonwarrant to purchase two shares of common stock. The
public offering price of each share of common stock and accompanying common warrantwas $190.08 and the public
offering price of each pre-funded warrant and accompanying common warrant was $190.0624.A Thecommon stock
warrants are immediately exercisable at a price of $190.08 per share of common stock, expire five years from the date
ofissuance and contain an alternative cashless exercise provision whereby, subject to certain conditions, a warrant may
be exercised ina cashless transaction for shares of common stock at the rate of half a share of common stock per full
share otherwise issuable upona cash exercise. The pre-funded warrants were immediately exercisable at any time, until



exercised in full, at a price of $0.02 per shareof common stock. All of the pre-funded warrants have been

exercised.A Inaddition, warrants to purchase 5,523 shares of common stock were issued to the underwriters as
compensation for their services relatedto the offering. These common stock warrants have an exercise price of $237.60
per share and expire five years from the date of issuance.A OnJune 30, 2023, the Company closed a registered direct
offering of common stock (and common stock equivalents in lieu thereof) and a concurrentprivate placement of certain
common stock warrants through Chardan Capital Markets, LLC as placement agent, for gross proceeds of $2.3million
and net proceeds of $1.9 million through the issuance and sale of 20,795 shares of its common stock and, to certain
investors,pre-funded warrants to purchase 7,613 shares of common stock, and accompanying common warrants to
purchase up to an aggregate of 28,409shares of its common stock (the a€oeJune Offeringa€). Each share of common
stock and pre-funded warrant to purchase one shareof common stock was sold together with a common warrant to
purchase one share of common stock. The public offering price of each shareof common stock and accompanying
common warrant was $79.20.A Thecommon stock warrants were exercisable beginning December 30, 2023 at a price of
$118.78per share of common stock, had an original expiration of three and a half years from the date of issuance and
contain an alternativecashless exercise provision. In connection with the June 2024 inducement offer discussed further
below,the exercise price was decreased to $12.40 per share of common stock for common warrants and the expiration
date was extended by approximatelytwo and a half years. The pre-funded warrants were immediately exercisable at any
time, until exercised in full, at a price 0f$0.02per share of common stock. All of the pre-funded warrants have been
exercised.A Inaddition, warrants to purchase 852 shares of common stock were issued to the placement agent as
compensation for its services relatedto the offering. These common stock warrants have an exercise price of $118.78
per share and expire three and a half years from the dateof issuance.A 116 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA Commonstock warrantsA Asof September 30, 2024, the following
equity-classified warrants and related terms were outstanding:A Scheduleof Warrants OutstandingA A A Warrants
OutstandingA A Exercise PriceA A Expiration Date Common stock warrants August 2021A A 14,031A A $2,094.40A A
August 24, 2026 Underwriter warrants August 2021A A 284A A $2,618A A August 19, 2026 Chanticleer warrantsA
AGA A $144,144.00 - $224,224.00A A April 30, 2027 - December 17, 2028 Series C warrantsA A 2,297A A
$7,860.16A A October 16, 2025 Series 3 warrantsA A 1,566A A $717.024A A August 15, 2027 Common stock
warrants February 2023A A 33,982A A $190.08A A February 10, 2028 Underwriter warrants February 2023A

A 1,933A A $237.60A A February 8, 2028 Common stock private placement warrants June 2023A A 28,409A A
$12.4000A A June 21, 2029 Placement agent warrants June 2023A A 852A A $118.7824A A December 30, 2026
Common stock warrants October 2023A A 354,994A A $9.6000A A October 27, 2028 Pre-funded warrants October
2023A A 99,687A A $0.0008A A 4€” Underwriter warrants October 2023A A 10,664A A $16.0000A A October 24,
2028 Placement agent warrants June 2024A A 14,142A A $14.8800A A June 19, 2029 Common stock warrants June
2024A A 703,125A A $12.4000A A June 21, 2029 TotalA A 1,265,972AA AAAA A A OnJune 19, 2024, the Company
entered into inducement offer letter agreements with holders of certain existing warrants issued in October2023 having
an original exercise price of $12.80per share to purchaseup to an aggregate of 353,562shares of the

Companya€ ™ scommon stock at a reduced exercise price of $9.60per share. The transactionclosed on June 21, 2024,
resulting in net proceeds of the Company of $2.9million. Due to beneficialownership limitations, 187,500shares of
common stockrelated to the exercise of warrants in this transaction are being held in abeyance as of September 30,
2024. Also in connection withthis inducement offer, the Company (i) issued to holders who participated in the
transaction new common stock warrants to purchase anaggregate of 703,125shares of common stock,(ii) reduced the
exercise price of existing warrants to purchase 354.994shares of common stockfor those holders who did not exercise
warrants in the transaction from $12.80per share to $9.60per share for the remainingterm of the warrants, and (iii)
reduced the exercise price of certain existing warrants issued in June 2023 to purchase 28,409shares of common
stockfrom $118.78per share to $12.40per share and extendedthe expiration date of these warrants from December30,
2026 to June21, 2029. The new commonstock warrants are immediately exercisable at a price of $12.40per share and
expirefiveyears from the date ofissuance. Warrants to purchase 14,142shares of common stockwere issued to the
placement agent as compensation for its services related to the offering. These common stock warrants are
immediatelyexercisable at a price of $14.88per share and expirefiveyears from the date ofissuance. The incremental fair
value associated with the modification of certain existing June and October 2023 warrants to purchasecommon stock
has been accounted for in additional paid-in capital as an equity cost because the modification was done in order to
raiseequity by inducing the exercise of warrants.A Duringthe year ended September 30, 2024, an aggregate of 96,090
warrants were net share settled, resulting in the issuance of 94,288 sharesof common stock, 355,937 warrants were
exercised on a cash basis (including 187,500 warrants for which the related shares are being heldin abeyance as of
September 30, 2024 due to beneficial ownership limitations), resulting in proceeds of $3.0 million, and 4,302
warrantswere abandoned by the warrant holder.A Duringthe year ended September 30, 2023, 126,583 warrants were
net share settled, resulting in the issuance of 64,928 shares of common stock.A Duringthe year ended September 30,
2023, 17,249 warrants were exercised on a cash basis. The Company received de minimus proceeds in exchangefor the
issuance of common stock.A Duringthe year ended September 30, 2023, 33 private warrants expired.A 8.Share-Based
CompensationA InApril 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the 4€cePlana€).
OnJanuary 1, 2024, the total number of shares authorized under the Plan increased to 17,157. There were 5 shares
availablefor issuance under the Plan as of September 30, 2024. The Plan increases the amount of shares issuable under
the Plan by fourpercent of the outstanding shares of common stock at each January 1, each year. The Plan permits the
granting of share-based awards,including stock options, restricted stock units and awards, stock appreciation rights
and other types of awards as deemed appropriate,in each case, in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The terms of
the awards are determined by the Companya€™s Board of Directors.A 117 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA Restrictedstock units and awardsA OnJanuary 1, 2024, 9,175 restricted
stock units (3€eRSUsa€) and 7,977 restricted stock awards (a€eRSAsa€) were granted,100% of which vest on January
1, 2025. Any unvested RSUs or RSAs will be forfeited upon termination of services. The fair value of anRSU or RSA is
equal to the fair market value of the Companya€™s common stock on the date of grant. RSU and RSA expense is
amortizedstraight-line over the vesting period.A InMarch of 2021, an additional 19 RSUs were granted, 50% of which
vested on March 25, 2022 and the remaining 50% vested on March 25, 2023.In December of 2021, 259 RSUs were
granted, 100% of which vested on January 1, 2023. In December of 2022, 976 RSUs were granted, 100%of which vested
on January 1, 2024.A InJanuary 2023, 688 of the RSUs granted in December 2022 were cancelled and subsequently
reissued as restricted shares of the Company&€ ™ scommon stock (a€ceRestricted Stock Awardsa€ or &€®eRSAsa€). The
RSAs have the same vesting conditions as the originalRSUs issued in December 2022. The Company accounted for this



as a stock compensation modification resulting in $38,837 of incrementalexpense which was recognized over the
remaining vesting period.A Anyunvested RSUs or RSAs will be forfeited upon termination of services. The fair value of
an RSU or RSA is equal to the fair market valueof the Companya€™s common stock on the date of grant. RSU and RSA
expense is amortized straight-line over the vesting period.A TheCompany recorded share-based compensation expense
associated with the RSUs and RSAs in its accompanying consolidated statements of operationsas follows:A Scheduleof
Share-based Compensation ExpenseA A A 2024A A 2023A A A Years ended September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A
Research and developmentA $109,356A A $121,265A General and administrativeA A 121,834A A A 127,361A Share-
based compensationA $231,190A A $248,626A A Thefollowing table summarizes RSU activity under the

Plan:A Scheduleof Restricted Stock Units ActivityA AA A A A WeightedA AA AA A Average GrantA A A RSUA A
Date Fair ValueA Unvested balance at October 1, 2022A A 266A A $1,507.76A GrantedA A 976A A $171.77A
VestedA A (266)A $1,507.76A ForfeitedA A (688)A $170.72A Unvested balance at September 30, 2023A A 288A A
$174.26A GrantedA A 9,175A A $14.08A VestedA A (288)A $174.26A ForfeitedA A 3€”A A $3€”A Unvested
balance at September 30, 2024A A 9,175A A $14.08A A Asof September 30, 2024, total unrecognized compensation
expense relating to unvested RSUs granted was $32,314, which is expected to berecognized over a weighted-average
period of three months.A Thefollowing table summarizes RSA activity under the Plan:A Scheduleof Restricted Stock
Awards ActivityA AA AA A WeightedA AA AAA Average GrantA A A RSAA A Date Fair ValueA Unvested
balance at October 1, 2022A A 4€”A A $4€”A GrantedA A 688A A $226.16A Unvested balance at September 30,
2023A A 688A A $226.16A GrantedA A 7,977A A $14.08A VestedA A (688)A $226.16A Unvested balance at
September 30, 2024A A 7,977A A $14.08A A Asof September 30, 2024, total unrecognized compensation expense
relating to unvested RSAs granted was $28,080, which is expected to berecognized over a weighted-average period of
three months.A 118 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA 9.Income
TaxesA Asof September 30, 2024, the Company had $107.5 million, $24.4 million and $16.0 million of federal, state and
foreign net operating losses, respectively. The federalnet operating losses will begin to expire in 2030, the state net
operating losses will begin to expire in 2039 and the foreign net operating losses begin to expire in 2027. As of
September30, 2024, the Company has federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of $2.6
million and $0.5 million available to reducefuture tax liabilities which will begin to expire in 2035 and 2032,
respectively. Realization of the deferred tax asset is contingenton future taxable income and based upon the level of
historical losses, management has concluded that the deferred tax asset does notmeet the more-likely-than-not
threshold for realizability. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance continues to be recorded against theCompanya€™s
deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2024 and 2023. The valuation allowance decreased $0.6 million during the year
endedSeptember 30, 2024 and increased $5.8 million during the year ended September 30, 2023.A Dueto the change in
ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, the availability of the Companya€™s net operating loss
carryforwardsmay be subject to annual limitations, against taxable income in future periods, which could substantially
limit the eventual utilizationof such carryforwards. The Company has not analyzed the historical or potential impact of
its equity financings on beneficial ownershipand therefore no determination has been made whether the net operating
loss carryforwards are subject to any Internal Revenue Code Section382 limitation. To the extent there is a limitation,
there would be a reduction in the deferred tax assets with an offsetting reductionin the valuation

allowance.A Whenuncertain tax positions exist, the Company recognizes the tax benefit of tax positions to the extent
that the benefit will more likely-than-notbe realized. The determination as to whether the tax benefit will more-likely-
than-not be realized is based upon the technical meritsof the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts
and circumstances. The Company recognizes interest and penaltiesaccrued on any unrecognized tax benefits within the
provision for income taxes in its consolidated statements of operations. No unrecognizedtax benefits have been
recorded.A Thetax effects of the temporary differences that gave rise to deferred taxes were as follows:Schedule of
Deferred Tax Assets and LiabilitiesA A A A 2024A A 2023A A A September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A Deferred tax
assets:A AAAA AAA Net operating loss carryforwardsA $26,754,767A A $27,996,751A Research and development
credit carryforwardsA A 3,129,222A A A 3,106,675A AmortizationA A 5,791,883A A A 4,692,227A Share-based
compensationA A 19,357A A A 226A Operating lease liabilityA A 36,786A A A 57,319A Accrued expenses and
otherA A 26,977A A A 546,612A Section 163(j) disallowed interest expenseA A 761,450A A A 763,172A Gross
deferred tax assetsA A 36,520,442A A A 37,162,982A Less: valuation allowanceA A (36 480,967)A A (37,100, 582)
Deferred tax assetsA A 39,475A A A 62,400A Deferred tax liabilities:A AAAA A A A Property and equ1pmentA

A (4,782)A A (7,954) Operating lease right-of-use assetA A (34,693)A A (54,446) Net deferred tax assetsA $4€”A A
$a€”A A 119 A A SonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.Notesto Consolidated Financial StatementsA During the year
ended September 30, 2024, the Company sold New Jersey statenet operating losses in the amount of $49.4 million and
unused New Jersey state research and development tax credits in the amount 0f$0.3 million, resulting in the
recognition of other income of $4.4 million in the consolidated statement of operations. There were nosuch sales during
the year ended September 30, 2023.A TheCompany recorded no income tax expense or benefit for the years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023. A reconciliation of income tax (expense)benefit at the statutory federal income tax rate
and income taxes as reflected in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:Schedule of Effective Income Tax
Rate ReconciliationA A A 2024A A 2023A A A Years ended September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A U.S. federal
statutory rateA A (21.0)%A A (21.0)% State taxes, net of federal benefitA A (5.8)A A (7.1) Change in valuation
allowanceA A (8.3)A A 30.8A Research and development creditA A (4.6)A A (5.1) Permanent differencesA A 2.7A A
A (1.6) Foreign tax rate differentialA A 0.1A A A 0.3A State net operating lossesA A 4€”A A A 3.7A Sale of state net
operating losses and research and development creditsA A 51.5A A A 4€”A OtherA A (14.6)A A 4€”A Effective
income tax rateA A 4€”%A A 4€”% A InAugust 2022, the U.S. enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (4€0eIRAAE).
The IRA contains a number of tax-related provisionsthat will be effective for tax years beginning after December 31,
2022, including a corporate alternative minimum tax of 15% on certainlarge corporations and an excise tax of 1% on
corporate stock repurchases. The Company is currently evaluating the various provisionsof the IRA and does not
anticipate a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.A 10.Subsequent EventsA TheCompany has
evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through December 17, 2024, the date at which the
consolidated financialstatements were available to be issued.A OnOctober 8, 2024, the Company entered into a License
Agreement (the &€ceAlkem Agreementa€) with Alkem Laboratories Limited (&€oeAlkeméa€)to develop and commercialize
SON-080 for DPN in India. Under the terms of the Alkem Agreement, Alkem will pay Sonnet $1.0million in upfront
payments and up to an additional$1.0million in milestone payments. Additionally,the Company is entitled to receive a
royalty equal to a percentage in the low double digits of the net sales of the product upon commercializationof SON-080
in India, less certain expenses as set forth in the Alkem Agreement. Alkem will conduct all clinical trials that it



believesappropriate to obtain regulatory approval in India for SON-080 for the treatment of DPN. Upon payment of a
clinical data access fee forPhase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials, Sonnet will be able to use this data for partnering in any
geography outside of India. In October2024, the Company received $0.5million as an upfront payment related to
theAlkem Agreement, which after tax withholdings resulted in a net payment of $0.4million.A On November 6, 2024,
the Companyentered into an underwriting agreement with Chardan Capital Markets, LLC, pursuant to which the
Company sold, in a firm commitment underwrittenpublic offering, an aggregate of (i) 155,000shares of its common
stock, (ii) pre-funded warrantsto purchase up to 956,111shares of common stock , and (iii) accompanyingwarrants to
purchase up to 2,222,222shares of common stock, at the combined publicoffering price of $4.50per share and
accompanying warrant and $4.4999per pre-funded warrant and accompanying commonwarrant, in each case less
underwriting discounts and commissions. The Company raised net proceeds of approximately $4.2million from the
underwritten public offering.A On December 9, 2024, the Company entered into a definitive agreement withinstitutional
investors for the sale of 1,085,325 shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate 1,085,325
sharesof common stock in a registered direct offering. Each share of common stock (or pre-funded warrant in lieu
thereof) was sold in theregistered direct offering together with one common warrant at a combined offering price of
$2.23, priced at-the-market under the rulesof the Nasdaq Stock Market. The registered direct warrants have an
exercise price of $2.10 per share, are immediately exercisableand will expire five years from the date of issuance. The
Company has also entered into a definitive agreement with an existing investor,in a concurrent private placement, for
the sale of an aggregate of 673,000 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate673,000
shares of common stock. Each share of common stock (or pre-funded warrant in lieu thereof) was sold in the private
placement(a€ePIPE4&€) offering together with one common warrant at a combined offering price of $2.23, priced at-
the-market under the rulesof the Nasdaq Stock Market. The PIPE warrants had an exercise price of $2.10 per share,
were immediately exercisable and were exercised in full as of December 10, 2024. The Company raised net proceeds of
approximately $3.5 million from the registered direct and PIPEoffering.A 120 A A Item9. Changes in and
Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.A None.A Item9A. Controls and

Procedures.A ConclusionsRegarding the Evaluation of Our Disclosure ControlsA Wemaintain disclosure controls and
procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information required to bedisclosed in our
periodic reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the a€oeExchange Acta€) is
recorded,processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC&a€™ s rules and forms and
to provide reasonable assurancethat such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer,to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We carried
out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participationof our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operationof our disclosure controls and
procedures, as defined in Rule 13(a)-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our principalexecutive
officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures
wereeffective.A Managementa€ ™ sAnnual Report on Internal Control Over Financial ReportingA Ourmanagement is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f)and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assuranceof the reliability of financial reporting and of the preparation of financial statements for external
reporting purposes, in accordancewith U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.A Internalcontrol over financial
reporting includes policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabledetalil,
accurately and fairly reflect transactions and disposition of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
arerecorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles,and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of
its management and directors; and (3)provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assetsthat could have a material effect on tis financial

statements.A Underthe supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, we conductedan evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on criteria established in the framework inInternal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.Based on this evaluation, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of September 30,2024.A Becauseof its
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
ofany evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate
because of changes inconditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate.A ThisAnnual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered
public accounting firm because weare a d€cenon-accelerated filer,a4€ and may take advantage of certain exemptions
from various reporting requirements that areapplicable to public companies that are accelerated filers, including, but
not limited to, not being required to comply with theauditor attestation requirements of Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.A Changesin Internal Controls over Financial ReportingA Therewas no change in our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) under the Exchange Act)that occurred during the fourth
quarter ended September 30, 2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyaffect, our internal
control over financial reporting.A Item9B. Other Information.A (a) None.A (b)During the three months ended September
30, 2024, no director or a€ceofficera€ (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under theExchange Act) of the Company adoptedor
terminateda &€ceRule 10b5-1 trading arrangementa€ or &€cenon-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,a€ as each term is
defined inltem 408(a) of Regulation S-K.A Item9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent
Inspections.A Notapplicable.A 121 A A PARTIIIA Item10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate

Governance.A DirectorsA Thefollowing table sets forth certain information about our officers and our members of the
Board of Directors. Directors are elected to hold office untilthe next annual meeting of stockholders and until their
successors are elected and qualified.A DirectorsA AgeA Year First Became DirectorA Pankaj Mohan, Ph.DA 60A

A 2020A Nailesh Bhatt (1)(3)A 52A A 2020A Albert Dyrness (1)(2)(3)A 62A A 2020A Donald GriffithA 76A A 2020A
Raghu Rao (1)(2)(3)A 62A A 2020A Lori McNeillA 53A A 2022A A (1)Member of the Audit Committee of the

Board.A (2)Member of the Compensation Committee of the Board.A (3)Member of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Board.A Setforth below are brief biographical descriptions of the individuals currently
serving as our directors, based on informationfurnished to the Company by such individuals.A PankajMohan,

Ph.D.A PankajMohan, Ph.D. founded Sonnet in 2015 and has since served as a member of its board of directors, and
was appointed to our Board as Chairmanat the closing of the Merger. Dr. Mohan became the Chairman of Sonnet in



June 2018 and the Chief Executive Officer of Sonnet in January2019 and was appointed President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company at the closing of the Merger. From January 2011 to June 2018,he served as the President, Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of Oncobiologics, Inc. (now Outlook Therapeutics, Inc.; Nasdaq: OTLK),a company that
he founded in 2011. Previously, Dr. Mohan served as head of Business Operations and Portfolio Management of
BiologicsProcess and Product Development at Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and as a Director of Bioprocess
Engineering at Genentech, Inc. Priorto that, Dr. Mohan served as a senior manager at Eli Lilly and Company. From May
1993 to April 1996, Dr. Mohan served as Assistant Professor(Lecturer/Fellow) at the Advanced Centre for Biochemical
Engineering, University College London, London, United Kingdom. Dr. Mohan receiveda Ph.D. in Biochemical
Engineering from the School of Chemical Engineering, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom, a
Mastersin Financial Management from Middlesex University Business School, London, United Kingdom, an Executive
Management Program (AMP) fromFuqua School of Business at Duke University and a Bachelor of Chemical
Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology in Roorkee,India. He is also an author of an industry reference
book on bioprocess operations (McGraw Hill). The Company believes Dr. Mohan is capableof making valuable
contributions to the Board due to his extensive knowledge of the biopharmaceutical industry and his prior experienceas
an executive officer.A 122 A A NaileshBhattA NaileshBhatt has served on Sonneta€™ s board of directors since July
2018, and was appointed to our Board at the closing of the Merger.Since January 2018, Mr. Bhatt has been the Chief
Executive Officer of VGYAAN Pharmaceuticals LLC (a€ceVGYAANa&€), a companyfocused on developing and
commercializing clinically critical drugs. Mr. Bhatt was also a Board Member of VGYAAN until June 2023.Prior to that,
in November 2001, Mr. Bhatt founded Proximare and is its Managing Director. Proximare is a strategic advisory
firmfocused exclusively on the pharmaceutical industry. Mr. Bhatt also serves as a Board Member of Azurity
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., CoreRxPharma and Spectra Medical Devices. In June 2015, Mr. Bhatt founded Proximare
Lifesciences Fund. Mr. Bhatt pursued a Bachelor ofArts at Boston University with a major in Biology. The Company
believes Mr. Bhatt can make valuable contributions to the Board dueto his years of experience in the pharmaceutical
industry working with start-ups to Fortune 500 companies.A AlbertDyrnessA AlbertDyrness has served on Sonneta€™s
board of directors since October 2019, and was appointed to our Board at the closing of the Merger.Mr. Dyrness is a
recognized biopharmaceutical industry expert in bio-process engineering with expertise in upstream, downstream,
andfill/finish processes. Since July 2019, Mr. Dyrness has been the Managing Director of ADVENT Engineering
Services, Inc., a Trinity ConsultantsCompany, which serves as its life-sciences division. In 1988, Mr. Dyrness Co-
Founded ADVENT Engineering Services, Inc., an engineeringconsulting firm serving the energy and life sciences
industries. Starting with only 4 employees in the San Francisco Bay Area, ADVENThas grown to a staff of over 130
engineers with offices in Toronto, Canada, Singapore, Raleigh, North Carolina, Portland Oregon, Boston,Massachusetts,
Irvine and San Ramon, California. In 2016, Mr. Dyrness became President and Chief Technical Officer of ADVENT and,
in2017, guided the company to a merger with Trinity Consultants, a 700-person engineering consulting firm. He also
served as a member ofthe board of directors of Oncobiologics, Inc. (now Outlook Therapeutics, Inc.; Nasdaq: OTLK)
from December 2015 to September 2017. In1986, Mr. Dyrness graduated from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology where he studied mechanical engineering and entrepreneurism.The Company believes Mr. Dyrness is
capable of making valuable contributions to the Board due to his years of experience in a Nasdad-listedpublic company,
along with years of entrepreneurial experience, including in the biopharmaceutical industry.A DonaldGriffith,

CPAA DonaldGriffith, CPA has served on Sonneta€™s board of directors since its inception in April 2015, was Chairman
of the Sonnet board fromApril 2015 to June 2018, and was appointed to our Board at the closing of the Merger. Mr.
Griffith has served as Sonneta€™s FinancialController since January 1, 2019, and since the Merger serves as our
Controller. Prior to being Financial Controller, he served as Sonnetd€™ sChief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer from April 2015 to December 2016. Before that, Mr. Griffith was the Chief FinancialOfficer, Director and
Secretary of Oncobiologics Inc. (now Outlook Therapeutics; Nasdaq: OTLK) from 2011 to 2018. Mr. Griffith has over40
yearsa€™ experience in finance and accounting and is the founder and Partner of Stolz & Griffith, LLC, a New Jersey
accountingfirm. The Company believes Mr. Griffith is capable of making valuable contributions to the Board due to his
years of experience in financeas well as in the pharmaceutical industry.A RaghuRaoA RaghuRao has served on
Sonnetd€™ s board of directors since November 2019, and was appointed to our Board at the closing of the Merger.Mr.
Rao is a serial entrepreneur, strategic business advisor and angel investor. Mr. Rao has founded, scaled and had
successful exitswith several high-technology companies. In his 33-year career, Mr. Rao has advised clients on the
strategy and roll-out of high-profileprojects, such as USA.gov, TSA Screening Gateway, Cancer.gov and other
eGovernment initiatives. As the Vistage Princeton Chair, fromJuly 2012 to March 2017, Mr. Rao ran three high-
performing peer advisory boards for middle-market CEOs and business leaders of companieswith total revenues
exceeding $2 Billion. As the Chairman & President of InfoZen from August 1995 to July 2008, Mr. Rao has managedover
$1 Billion in U.S. Federal Government contracts. Mr. Rao is a 20-year Charter Member of The Indus Entrepreneurs
(TiE.org) and a5-year patron of the Indiaspora. He has held board positions at several companies including Cellix
BioSciences (Jan 2016 - Jan 2017),Paper Battery Company (Jan 2009 - Dec 2018), Kovid Group (Feb 2016 - Oct 2017) ,
WizNucleus (Jun 2010 - present) and InfoZen (Aug 1995- Jul 2008). Mr. Rao is active in social entrepreneurship and
community service. He co-founded the Hindu Jewish Coalition in December2012 and Forum for Religious Freedom in
March 2007, to preserve religious diversity worldwide. He has held non-profit board positionsat the Infinity Foundation
(New Jersey), Arsha Vidya Gurukulam (Pennsylvania) and the Family Services Agency (Maryland). Mr. Rao hasan MBA
in Finance from George Washington University (Dec 1991), an M.S. in Computer Science from Virginia Tech (Dec
1986), and a B.Tech.in Electrical Engineering from Indian Institute of Technology Madras (June 1984). The Company
believes Mr. Rao is capable of making valuablecontributions to the Board due to his 15 years of experience as an
executive, along with 25 years of entrepreneurial experience, includingin the biotech industry.A 123 A

A LoriMcNeillA LoriMcNeill has served on our Board since September 2022 and as Chairperson of our Business
Advisory Committee since September 2019. Ms.McNeill is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of McNeill
Consulting, LLC since 2016, a management consulting company focused ondeveloping leaders to be more effective and
ensuring that change management initiatives are seamless. Ms. McNeill has over twenty yearsa€™ experience in the
healthcare industry, thirteen of which were at Pfizer Inc., which included working as the Chief of Staff of
GlobalOperations in the Integrated Health Business unit. From 2020 to 2021, Ms. McNeill was the Chief Operating
Officer and Chairperson ofthe board of directors of Global PPE, Inc., a worldwide supplier of personal protective
equipment and safety supplies focused on healthcareand government entities to fight the COVID-19 pandemic. She has
been recognized by several institutions: Top 100 Global Women in Leadership- Global Council for the Promotion of
International Trade, 2021; Changemakers Summit Award Winner, 2021; The State of Women in Leadership- Cover



article for HR.com, 2020; and Pfizer International Innovation Excellence Award, 2011 and is currently Global
Chairperson of Womenomics.The Company believes Ms. McNeill is capable of making valuable contributions to the
Board due to her over 20 years of experience in thehealthcare industry, including in senior leadership

positions.A ExecutiveOfficersA Thefollowing table sets forth certain information about the current executive officers of
the Company:A Executive Officers A Age A Position and Office Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D. A 60 A President and Chief
Executive Officer Jay Cross A 54 A Chief Financial Officer John K. Cini, Ph.D. A 72 A Chief Scientific Officer Susan
Dexter A 69 A Chief Technical Officer Richard Kenney, M.D. A 66 A Chief Medical Officer A Setforth below are brief
biographical descriptions of the individuals currently serving as the Companya€™s executive officers, basedon
information furnished to the Company by such individuals.A PankajMohan, Ph.D.A Seedescription under

Directors.A JayCrossA JayCross joined Sonnet in May 2019 and has since served as its Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Business Officer, and was appointed ChiefFinancial Officer of the Company at the closing of the Merger. Prior to
Sonnet, Mr. Cross was a Managing Director with Chardan Capitala€ ™ shealthcare investment banking team from
November 2015 to March 2019, where he focused on biopharmaceuticals. Prior to that, from May2014 to June 2015,
Mr. Cross served as a Director with Alere Financial Partners and from May 2011 to October 2013 as a Senior Analystat
Balyasny Asset Management. He launched his career in finance in 1999 as an associate analyst covering biotechnology
on the healthcareequity research team at Hambrecht & Quist. Mr. Cross earned an M.P.H. from the Yale University
School of Medicine and a B.S. in psychologyfrom Washington & Lee University.A 124 A A JohnK. Cini, Ph.D.A JohnK.
Cini, Ph.D. co-founded Sonnet in 2015 and has since served as its Chief Scientific Officer, and was appointed Chief
Scientific Officerof the Company at the closing of the Merger, where he oversees and directs the Companya€™s
discovery and development programs. Hisrole includes the oversight of the selection process of cancer and immune
oncology targets and proof-of-concept testing. Prior to joiningSonnet, he was Vice President of Discovery and
Development Sciences at Oncobiologics, Inc. from January 2011 to April 2015. Dr. Cinihas successfully advanced more
than 20 novel monoclonal antibody products from discovery to IND. He is the holder of several novel productand
formulation patents and applications. He has also been directly involved in several successful novel biologics through
early discoveryresearch into development and manufacturing through clinical trials and commercialization. Previous
positions include Executive Directorat Mederex (acquired by Bristol-Myers Squibb in 2010), lead discovery scientific
roles at Johnson & Johnson (Ethicon, OrthoBioTech& Pharmaceutical Research), and Bayer. Dr. Cinia€™ s therapeutic
areas of expertise in system biology include oncology, immuneoncology, inflammation, osteoporosis, wound healing,
surgical adhesion and cellular aging. Dr. Cini has a PhD in Biochemistry from Universityof North

Texas.A SusanDexterA SusanDexter has served as a contract consultant to Sonnet in the capacity of Chief Technical
Officer since May 2019 and was appointed full-timeChief Technical Officer of the Company at the closing of the Merger
on April 1, 2020. Her role at Sonnet is to manage the operationsfor drug development from cell line development,
through cGMP manufacturing of drug substance and clinical drug product, regulatory submissionsto initiate human
clinical trials, and supply chain for labeling/packaging and distribution to clinical depots. All activities fall underthe
FDA&€™s Chemical Manufacturing and Controls for biological drugs (3€ceCMCAa&€). She is also responsible for drug
supplyand management of non-clinical animal studies in support of regulatory filings related to first-in-human studies.
She came to Sonnetwith more than thirty years of experience in biotechnology science, manufacturing and business
development, having been directly involvedin three start-up companies and multiple M&A activities. Her expertise in
CMC for biologics process development ranges from cellline development to process development through commercial
manufacturing. In her role as Managing Director at Latham Biopharm Group (&€ceLBGa€)from September 2008 until
the closing of the Merger, Ms. Dexter ran the Product Development service offering, managing the activitiesand
disciplines related to pre- clinical toxicology studies, and CMC-related activities including IND filings, Quality oversight
of cGMPactivities and other related CMC supply chain activities. She came to LBG from Xcellerex, Inc., a CDMO and
developer of single use technologyfor bioprocessing. She was Chief Business Officer at Xcellerex from April 2004 to
September 2008. Prior to Xcellerex, from July 1998to April 2004, she was VP of Business Development at The Dow
Chemical Companya€™s CDMO, an acquisition of Collaborative BioAlliance,facilitated by Ms. Dexter in 2000, and
Assoc. Director of Business Development at Celltech Biologics, purchased by Lonza Biologics, abiologics CDMO. She
worked at Celltech/Lonza from 1986 to July 1998. Ms. Dexter holds a double major with Honors in Immunology and
Marketingfrom American University, Washington, D.C., and certifications from Harvard University in 4€ " Negotiations
for Lawyersa€™ anda€”Finance for Non-financial Managersa€™. She was also Professor Emeritus at University
College, London, Department of Bioengineering,teaching a credited course lecture and workshop in &€ceProject
managing of a biologics facilitya€, to graduate, Ph.D. and post-graduateprofessionals, from 1999 to 2006. She has
served as a non-executive board member for Sartorius Stedim Biotech since 2015, compensationcommittee member
since 2019, and auditing committee member since 2022. In February 2023, Susan was appointed to the board of
directorsfor a London, UK based company Virocell, a technology developer and CDMO for manufacture of viral vectors
for cell and gene therapies.A RichardKenney, M.D.A RichardKenney, M.D. has served as the Companya€™s Chief
Medical Officer since April 2021. Dr. Kenney has more than 20 years of experiencein translational-stage development of
biologics, as well as the commercialization strategy and corporate management of preclinical, clinical-stageand
commercialized vaccines and immunotherapies. As President of ClinReg Biologics, he has provided strategic consulting
in clinicaland regulatory affairs of biologics and medical monitoring and pharmacovigilance in several capacities. As
such, Dr. Kenney also servesas the CMO for Public Health Vaccinesa€™ Marburg vaccine program. He previously
served as Chief Development Officer at X-VAX Technologyand before that had Chief Medical Officer roles at Immune
Design and Crucell Holland, where he led the clinical development and regulatoryaffairs groups. Dr. Kenney was a
researcher/reviewer for the FDA for over six years and did post-graduate training at Duke and NIH. Dr.Kenney received
a B.S. in Chemistry from George Washington University and his M.D. from Harvard Medical School. A 125 A

A Delinquent Section16(a) ReportsA Section16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the
Companya€™s directors and executive, officers, and personswho are beneficial owners of more than 10% of a
registered class of the Companya€™s equity securities, to file reports of ownershipand changes in ownership with the
SEC. These persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section16(a) forms they
file.A Basedsolely upon the review of copies of Forms 3, 4 and 5 furnished to us, we believe that all of our directors,
executive officers andany other applicable stockholders timely filed all reports required by Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act during the fiscal yearended September 30, 2024, except for the following: we filed Form 4s for Nailesh
Bhatt, Albert Dyrness, Raghu Rao, Lori McNeil, Pankaj Mohan, John Cini, Jay Cross, Susan Dexter, Rick Kenney
andDonald Griffith on December 5, 2024 to report the grants of restricted stock units on December 11, 2023.A Codeof
Business Conduct and EthicsA We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to its directors,



officers and employees. The purpose of the Codeof Business Conduct and Ethics is to deter wrongdoing and to provide
guidance to our directors, officers and employeesto help them recognize and deal with ethical issues, to provide
mechanisms to report unethical or illegal conduct and to contribute positivelyto the Companya€™s culture of honesty
and accountability. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly availableon our website at
https://www.sonnetbio.com/. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code of BusinessConduct and Ethics or
grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics toits
directors or executive officers, we intend to disclose the nature of such amendments or waiver on our website or in a
currentreport on a Current Report on Form 8-K.A InsiderTrading PolicyA TheBoard has adopted an Insider Trading
Policy governing the purchase, sale and other dispositions of our securities that applies to eachof our directors, officers,
employees, and other covered persons. The Board has adopted the Insider Trading Policyto ensure, among other things:
(i) that persons to whom the policy applies understand their obligations to preserve the confidentialityof undisclosed
a€eMaterial Informationa€ (as defined in the Insider Trading Policy); (ii) strict compliance by all insiderswith all
requirements relating to the reporting of insider trading and with respect to trading when in possession of undisclosed
d€eMaterialiInformationa€; and (iii) that individuals subject to scheduled and unscheduled blackout periods adhere to
the restrictions on tradingas set out in the policy. We seek to discourage our employees from frequent buying and
selling of securities for the purpose of realizingshort term profits and to acquire securities as long term investments
only. We believe that our Insider Trading Policy is reasonablydesigned to promote compliance with insider trading laws,
rules and regulations, and listing standards applicable to us.A Underour Insider Trading Policy, among other things,
short sales and certain forms of hedging or monetization transactions involving oursecurities are prohibited, including
zero-cost collars and forward sale contracts. In addition, persons subject to the policy aregenerally prohibited under our
Insider Trading Policy from pledging our securities in a margin account or as collateral for a loan,except in
circumstances that are pre-approved by our Chief Financial Officer. A copy of our Insider Trading Policy is filed
asExhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.A Policies and Practices Relatedto the Timing of Grants of Certain
Equity AwardsA Ata regularly scheduled meeting of our Board and Compensation Committee held in December of each
year, our Board andCompensation Committee has a long-standing practice to review our results for the most recently
completed fiscal year, review ourfinancial plan and strategy for the upcoming fiscal year. At these meetings the
Compensation Committee also reviews the performanceof our executive officers with the Chief Executive Officer and
based on those reviews, approves the grant of cash bonuses and equityawards for each individuala€™s performance
(other than the Chief Executive Officer) on the most recently completed fiscal year and establish theirsalaries for the
current fiscal year and recommends to the Board of Directors grants of cash bonuses and equity awards for the CEOon
the most recently completed fiscal year and any change to the Chief Executive Officera€™s salary for the current fiscal
year. After furtherreviews and discussions, the Board determines whether to approve the Compensation

Committeea€™ s recommendations as to grants ofcash bonuses and equity awards for the CEO on the most recently
completed fiscal year and any change to the Chief Executive Officera€™s salary forthe current fiscal year. Accordingly,
the grant date for those equity awards is typically the date of the December meeting of theCompensation Committee
and Board of Directors. The meeting date is generally set three months in advance. This timingcoincides with our
calendar-year-based performance management cycle, allowing managers to deliver the equity awardsclose in time to
performance appraisals. Our Board and Compensation Committee believe that maintaining a consistentgrant practice,
based on a date that is generally set three months in advance, is in the best interests of the Company as isstrengthens
the link between pay and performance while also minimizing the risk that awards are granted opportunistically for
thebenefit of employees.A Duringthese annual meetings, the Compensation Committee and our Board reviews market
data on how much equity similarly situated officersare receiving at companies as well as how much equity and the mix
of equity awards that should be granted to each executive officer inorder to be competitive with equity awards provided
to comparable officers at companies. Among the types of equity awards often grantedto our executive officers are
restricted stock units and restricted stock awards. These grants providea certain amount of equity to officers that will
vest as long as the officer continues to serve, aligning the officersa€™ interestswith those of our stockholders because
the grants will only have value to the extent the market value of equity increases from the priceper share on the date of
grant.A Thefollowing table presents information regarding awards issued to our Named Executive Officers in fiscal year
2023 during any periodbeginning four business days before the filing of a periodic report or current report disclosing
material non-public information andending one business day after the filing or furnishing of such report with the SEC.A
NameA Grant DateA Number of Securities Underlying the AwardA Exercise Price of the AwardA A Grant Date Fair
Value of the AwardA A Percentage Change in the Closing Market Price of the Securities Underlying the Award
Between the Trading Day Ending Immediately Prior to the Disclosure of Material Nonpublic Information and the
Trading Day Beginning Immediately Following the Disclosure of Material Nonpublic InformationA Pankaj Mohan,
Ph.D.A A 12/11/2023A 7,554A A-AA $87,551A A A-9.62% John Cini, Ph.D.A A 12/11/2023A 1,888A A-AA
$21,882A A A -9.62% Jay CrossA A 12/11/2023A 1,452A A-AA $16,829A A A -9.62%

A BoardCommitteesA AuditCommitteeA OurBoard has established an Audit Committee currently consisting of Messrs.
Bhatt (Chairman), Dyrness and Rao. The Audit Committeea€ ™ sprimary functions are to oversee and review: the
integrity of our consolidated financial statements and other financial information furnishedby us, our compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, our systems of internal accounting and financial controls, the
independentauditora€™s engagement, qualifications, performance, compensation and independence, related party
transactions, and compliance withour Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.A Eachmember of the Audit Committee is
d€windependenta€ as that term is defined under the applicable rules of the SEC and the applicablerules of The Nasdaq
Capital Market. Our Board has determined that each Audit Committee member has sufficient knowledge in financial
andauditing matters to serve on the Committee. Our Board determined that Mr. Rao is an a€ceaudit committee financial
expert,a€ asdefined under the applicable rules of the SEC and the applicable rules of The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our
Board has adopted an Audit CommitteeCharter, which is available for viewing at
https://www.sonnetbio.com/investors/corporate-governance/governance-documents. A 126 A

A CompensationCommitteeA TheCompensation Committee of the Board is currently composed of the following two non-
employee directors: Mr. Rao (Chairman) and Mr. Dyrness.None of these Compensation Committee members was an
officer or employee of the Company during the year ended September 30, 2024. Eachmember of the Compensation
Committee is a€eindependenta€ as that term is defined under the applicable rules of the SEC and theapplicable rules
of The Nasdaq Capital Market.A Theresponsibilities of the Compensation Committee include overseeing the evaluation
of our executive officers (including the Chief ExecutiveOfficer), determining the compensation of our executive officers,
and overseeing the management of risks associated therewith. The CompensationCommittee determines and approves



the Chief Executive Officera€™s compensation. The Compensation Committee develops and periodicallyreviews
compensation policies and practices applicable to executive officers, including the criteria upon which executive
compensationis based, the specific relationship of corporate performance to executive compensation and the
composition in terms of base salary, deferredcompensation and incentive or equity-based compensation and other
benefits. The Compensation Committee also administers our equity-basedplans and makes recommendations to the
Board with respect to actions that are subject to approval of the Board regarding such plans.The Compensation
Committee also reviews and makes recommendations to the Board with respect to the compensation of directors. The
CompensationCommittee monitors the risks associated with our compensation policies and practices as contemplated
by Item 402(s) of Regulation S-K.Our Board has adopted a Compensation Committee Charter, which is available for
viewing at https://www.sonnetbio.com/investors/corporate-governance/governance-documents.A Nominatingand
Corporate Governance CommitteeA TheNominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board is currently
composed of Messrs. Bhatt, Dyrness (Chairman) and Rao. None ofthese members was an officer or employee of the
Company during the year ended September 30, 2024. Each member of the Nominating and CorporateGovernance
Committee is a€eindependenta€ as that term is defined under the applicable rules of the SEC and the applicable
rulesof The Nasdaq Capital Stock Market. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee nominates individuals
to be elected to our Boardby our stockholders. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board
assesses potential candidates to fill perceived needson the Board for required skills, expertise, independence and other
factors.A TheNominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers recommendations from stockholders if
submitted in a timely manner in accordancewith the procedures set forth in our bylaws and will apply the same criteria
to all persons being considered. Our Board has adopted aNominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter,
which is available for viewing at https://www.sonnetbio.com/investors/corporate-governance/governance-

documents.A Item11. Executive Compensation.A SummaryCompensation TableA Thefollowing table shows the
compensation awarded to or earned by each person serving as our principal executive officer during fiscal year2024,
our two most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers as of September 30, 2024,
and up to twoadditional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided but for the fact that such individuals
were not serving as an executiveofficer as of September 30, 2024. The persons listed in the following table are referred
to herein as the &€ceNamed Executive Officers.4€A 127 A A SUMMARYCOMPENSATION TABLEA Name and
Principal PositionA YearA Salary ($)A A Bonus ($)A A Stock Awards ($)(1)A A _Option_ Awards ($)(1)A A All Other
Compensation ($)A A Total ($)A Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D.A 2024A A 538,998AA A-AA A87,628AA A-AA A-AA

A 626,626A President and Chief Executive Officer(2)A 2023A A 538,998A A A-AA A95724AA A-AA A-AA

A 634,722A John Cini, Ph.D.A 2024A A 397,750AA A-AA A 21,907A A A-AA A-AA A 419,657A Chief Scientific
OfficerA 2023A A 397,750AA A-AA A23,931AA A-AA A20,000AA A441,681A Jay CrossA 2024A
A388,725AA A-AA A16,852AA A-AA A1,228A A A 406,805A Chief Financial Officer(3)A 2023A A 388,725A A
A-AA A15,829AA A-AA A-AA A404,554A A (1)Represents the aggregate grant date fair value for grants made in
fiscal year 2024 and 2023 computed in accordance with Financial AccountingStandards Board (&€ceFASBa<€)
Accounting Standards Codification (4€eASCa€) Topic 718. This calculation does not giveeffect to any estimate of
forfeitures related to service-based vesting, but assumes that the executive will perform the requisite servicefor the
award to vest in full.A (2)Dr. Mohan became the Chairman of Sonnet in June 2018 and the Chief Executive Officer in
January 2019, and the Chairman, President andChief Executive Officer of the Company at the closing of the

Merger.A (3)Mr. Cross became the Chief Financial Officer of Sonnet in May 2019, and the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company at the closing ofthe Merger.A NarrativeDisclosure to Summary Compensation

TableA EmploymentAgreementsA Thematerial terms of each Named Executive Officera€™ s employment agreement or
arrangement are described below.A Weentered into an employment agreement with Dr. Mohan on December 31, 2018,
as amended (the a€ceMohan Agreementa€), setting forththe terms of his employment as Chief Executive Officer.
Pursuant to the employment agreement, Dr. Mohan is entitled to, among other things, (i) an annual gross base salary of
$490,000, (ii) eligibility for a bonus equal to 5.4% of gross revenue received by the Company froma strategic
transaction and (iii) for any year in which the bonus in the previous clause amounts to less than 50% of the base
salary,an additional performance-based cash bonus to bring the aggregate cash bonus for such year to up to 50% of the
base salary, as determinedby the Board. The employment agreement shall terminate in accordance with its terms.
Pursuant to Dr. Mohan&d€™ s employment agreement,if he is terminated without &4€ceCaused€ or for &€eGood Reasona€
within 2 months prior to or within 12 months followinga a€ceChange in Controla€, he is entitled to (i) his base salary for
18 months, (ii) a bonus equal to his performance bonus forthe year in which the termination occurs, divided by 12, and
then multiplied by 18, and (iii) if he timely continued coverage under COBRA,payment for COBRA premiums necessary
to continue coverage until the earliest of (a) 18 months following the termination date, (b) thedate he becomes eligible
for substantially equivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment,or (c)
the date he becomes ineligible for COBRA continuation coverage. If Dr. Mohan is terminated without 4€ceCausea€ or
fora€oeGood Reasona€ not coincident with a 4€ceChange in Controla€, he is entitled to (i) his base salary for 18 months,
(ii) any performance bonus for the performance year in which his termination occurs, and (iii) if he timely continued
coverage underCOBRA, payment for COBRA premiums necessary to continue coverage until the earliest of (a) 18
months following the termination date,(b) the date he becomes eligible for substantially equivalent health insurance
coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment,or (c) the date he becomes ineligible for COBRA
continuation coverage.A 128 A A Weentered into an employment agreement with Dr. Cini on January 10, 2020, as
amended (the 4€ceCini Agreementa€), setting forththe terms of his employment as Chief Scientific Officer. Pursuant to
the employment agreement, Dr. Cini is entitled to, among other things, (i) an annual gross base salary of $370,000, (ii)
eligibility for a bonus equal to 1.1% of gross revenue received by the Company froma strategic transaction and (iii) for
any year in which the bonus in the previous clause amounts to less than 35% of the base salary,an additional
performance-based cash bonus to bring the aggregate cash bonus for such year to up to 35% of the base salary, as
determinedby the Board. The employment agreement shall terminate in accordance with its terms. Pursuant to Dr.
Cinia€™s employment agreement,if he is terminated without &€ceCausea€ or for 4€0eGood Reasona€ within 2 months
prior to or within 12 months followinga a€ceChange in Controla€, he is entitled to (i) his base salary for 12 months and
(ii) if he timely continued coverage underCOBRA, payment for COBRA premiums necessary to continue coverage until
the earliest of (a) 18 months following the termination date,(b) the date he becomes eligible for substantially equivalent
health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment,or (c) the date he becomes ineligible
for COBRA continuation coverage. If Dr. Cini is terminated without 4€ceCausea€ or for a€ceGoodReasona€ not
coincident with a 4€ceChange in Controla€, he is entitled to (i) his base salary for 9 months and (ii) if hetimely



continued coverage under COBRA, payment for COBRA premiums necessary to continue coverage until the earliest of
(a) 12 monthsfollowing the termination date, (b) the date he becomes eligible for substantially equivalent health
insurance coverage in connectionwith new employment or self-employment, or (c) the date he becomes ineligible for
COBRA continuation coverage.A Weentered into an employment agreement with Mr. Cross on January 10, 2020 (the
d€eCross Agreementa€), setting forth the termsof his employment as Chief Financial Officer. Pursuant to the
employment agreement, Mr. Cross is entitled to, among other things, (i)an annual gross base salary of $365,000 and (ii)
eligibility for a performance-based cash bonus of up to 40% of the base salary, as determinedby the Board. The
employment agreement shall terminate in accordance with its terms. Pursuant to Mr. Crossa€™ s employment
agreement,if he is terminated without a€ceCausea€ or for 4€eGood Reasona€ within 2 months prior to or within 12
months followinga &€ceChange in Controla€, he is entitled to (i) his base salary for 12 months, (ii) any performance
bonus for the performanceyear in which his termination occurs, and (iii) if he timely continued coverage under COBRA,
payment for COBRA premiums necessary tocontinue coverage until the earliest of (a) 18 months following the
termination date, (b) the date he becomes eligible for substantiallyequivalent health insurance coverage in connection
with new employment or self-employment, or (c) the date he becomes ineligible forCOBRA continuation coverage. If Mr.
Cross is terminated without &€ceCausea€ or for a€eGood Reasona€ not coincident witha a€ceChange in Controla€, he
is entitled to (i) his base salary for 9 months, (ii) any performance bonus for the performanceyear in which his
termination occurs, and (iii) if he timely continued coverage under COBRA, payment for COBRA premiums necessary
tocontinue coverage until the earliest of (a) 12 months following the termination date, (b) the date he becomes eligible
for substantiallyequivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment, or (c)
the date he becomes ineligible forCOBRA continuation coverage.A OtherAgreementsA OnApril 1, 2020, we entered into
an employment agreement with Ms. Dexter (the a€meDexter Agreementa€), setting forth the termsof her employment as
Chief Technical Officer. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Ms. Dexter is entitled to, among other things, (i)an
annual gross base salary of $310,000 and (ii) eligibility for a performance-based cash bonus of up to 35% of the base
salary, as determinedby the Board. The employment agreement shall terminate in accordance with its terms. Pursuant
to Ms. Dextera€™s employment agreement,if she is terminated without a€ceCausea€ or for a4€0eGood Reasona€ within 2
months prior to or within 12 months followinga a€ceChange in Controla€, she is entitled to (i) her base salary for 12
months, (ii) any performance bonus for the performanceyear in which her termination occurs, and (iii) if she timely
continued coverage under COBRA, payment for COBRA premiums necessary tocontinue coverage until the earliest of
(a) 18 months following the termination date, (b) the date she becomes eligible for substantiallyequivalent health
insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment, or (c) the date she becomes ineligible
forCOBRA continuation coverage. If Ms. Dexter is terminated without &€ceCausea€ or for a€eGood Reasoné€ not
coincidentwith a &€ceChange in Controla€, she is entitled to (i) his base salary for 9 months, (ii) any performance bonus
for the performanceyear in which her termination occurs, and (iii) if she timely continued coverage under COBRA,
payment for COBRA premiums necessary tocontinue coverage until the earliest of (a) 12 months following the
termination date, (b) the date she becomes eligible for substantiallyequivalent health insurance coverage in connection
with new employment or self-employment, or (c) the date she becomes ineligible forCOBRA continuation

coverage.A OutstandingEquity Awards at Fiscal Year EndA Thefollowing table sets forth certain information, on an
award-by-award basis, concerning unexercised options to purchase common stock,restricted shares of common stock
and common stock that has not yet vested for each Named Executive Officer and outstanding as of September30,
2024.A 129 A A OUTSTANDINGEQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END - 2024A A A Stock AwardsA NameA Equity
incentive plan awards: Number of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not vested (#)A A Equity incentive
plan awards: Market or payout value of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not vested ($)A Pankaj Mohan,
Ph.D.A A 7,554.(1)A $49,857A AA AAAA AAA John Cini, Ph.D.A A 1,888(1)A $12,464A AA AAAA AAA Jay
CrossA A 1,452(1)A $9,588A A (1) Scheduled to vest on January 1, 2025. A DirectorCompensationA Non-
EmployeeDirector Compensation PolicyA Inconnection with the Merger, our Board approved a compensation policy for
our non-employee directors. Other than reimbursement for reasonableexpenses incurred in connection with attending
Board and committee meetings, this policy provides for the following cash compensation:A &—each non-employee
director is entitled to receive an annual fee from us of $35,000;A d—the chair of our Audit Committee will receive an
annual fee from us of $15,000;A a—the chair of our Compensation Committee will receive an annual fee from us of
$10,000;A A—the chair of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will receive an annual fee from us of
$8,000; andA 4—each non-chairperson member of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the
Nominating apd Corporate Governance Committeewill receive annual fees from us of $7,500, $5,000 and $4,000,
respectively.A Thefollowing table sets forth director compensation for the fiscal year ended September 30 2024, paid by
us (excluding compensation toour executive officer set forth in the summary compensation table above). Except as set
forth in the table below, the non-employeedirectors did not receive any cash or equity compensation during fiscal year
2024.A 130 A A DIRECTORCOMPENSATIONA NameA Fees Earned or Paid in Cash ($)A A Stock Awards ($)(1)A A
Optlon Awards ($)(1)A A All Other Compensatlon ($)A A Total ($)A Nailesh Bhatt(2)A A 54,000A A A4,328AA A-
AA A-AA A58,328A Albert Dyrness(3)A A55,500AA A4,328AA A-AA A-AA A59,828A Donald Griffith (4)A A -
AA A3,682AA A-AA A90,256A A A 93,938A Raghu Rao(5)A A 116,500A A A 4,328AA A-AA A-AA A120,828A
Lori McNeill(6)A A 60,000AA A4,328AA A-AA A-AA A 64,3284 A (1)Represents the aggregate grant date fair
value for grants made in 2024 computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. This calculationdoes not give effect
to any estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting, but assumes that the executive will perform therequisite
service for the award to vest in full.A (2)Mr. Bhatt holds an aggregate of 373 restricted stock units, as of September 30,
2024.A (3)Mr. Dyrness holds an aggregate of 373 restricted stock units, as of September 30, 2024.A (4)Mr. Griffith has
served as Sonneta€™s Financial Controller since January 1, 2019, and since the Merger serves as our Controller.The
amounts in the table above under a€ceAll Other Compensationa€ represent salary and bonus earned by Mr. Griffith for
the fiscalyear 2024. See the description of the employment agreement with Mr. Griffith below. Mr. Griffith holds an
aggregate of 317 restrictedstock units, as of September 30, 2024.A (5)Mr. Rao holds an aggregate of 373 restricted
stock units, as of September 30, 2024.A (6)Ms. McNeill holds an aggregate of 373 restricted stock units, as of
September 30, 2024.A OtherAgreement with a DirectorA Weentered into an employment agreement with Mr. Griffith on
January 1, 2019, setting forth the terms of his employment as Financial Controller.Pursuant to the employment
agreement, Mr. Griffith is entitled to, among other things, (i) an annual prorated gross base salary of $150,000and (ii)
eligibility for a target bonus equal to 25% of gross salary earned. The employment agreement has no specific term and
constitutesan at-will employment.A Item12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters.A SecurityOwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and ManagementA Thefollowing table



sets forth certain information as of December 16, 2024 with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock by
the following: (i) each of our current directors; (ii) each of our Named Executive Officers; (iii)all of the current executive
officers and directors as a group; and (iv) each person known by us to own beneficially morethan five percent (5%) of
the outstanding shares of the our common stock.A Forpurposes of the following table, beneficial ownership is
determined in accordance with the applicable SEC rules and the information isnot necessarily indicative of beneficial
ownership for any other purpose. Except as otherwise noted in the footnotes to the table, we believe that each person
or entity named in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock
shown as beneficially owned by that person or entity (or shares such power with his or her spouse). Underthe SECa€™s
rules, shares of the our common stock issuable under options that are exercisable on or within 60 days afterDecember
16, 2024 (d€cePresently Exercisable Optionsa€) are deemed outstanding and therefore included in the number of
sharesreported as beneficially owned by a person or entity named in the table and are used to compute the percentage
of the common stock beneficiallyowned by that person or entity. These shares are not, however, deemed outstanding for
computing the percentage of the common stock beneficiallyowned by any other person or entity.A Thepercentage of the
common stock beneficially owned by each person or entity named in the following table is based on 3,007,431 sharesof
common stock issued and outstanding as of December 16, 2024 plus any shares issuable upon exercise of Presently
ExercisableOptions held by such person or entity.A 131 A A Title of ClassA Name And Address of Beneficial Owner*A
Amount And Nature of Beneficial OwnershipA A Percent Of ClassA A A Named Executive Officers and Directors:A
AAAA AAA AA Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D.A A 23,960(1)A A**A A A Nailesh BhattA A 547A A A*A A A Albert
DyrnessA A 537A A A**A A A Donald GriffithA A 375A A A**A A A Raghu RaoA A 6,262(2)A A**A A A Lori
McNeillA A 394A A A**A A A John. K. Cini, Ph.D.A A2,116AA A**A AA Jay CrossA A 1,588A A A*A AA All
current executive officers and directors as a group (10 persons)A A 38,796A A A ** A * Unless otherwise indicated,
the address is c/o Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc., 100 Overlook Center, Suite 102, Princeton, New Jersey, 08540. A A ek
Less than 1%. A A (1) Includes (i) 377 shares of common stock held by the Mohan Family Office, over which Dr. Mohan
has shared power to vote and dispose with Swati Mohan, his spouse and (ii) 3 shares of common stock held individually
by Pankhuri Mohan, Dr. Mohana€™s child, over which Dr. Mohan has shared power to vote and dispose with Pankhuri
Mohan. Includes 8,593 shares of common stock currently issuable upon the exercise of warrants. A A (2) Includes
3,906 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants which are exercisable within 60 days of December 16,
2024. A EquityCompensation Plan InformationA Thefollowing table provides information as of September 30, 2024
regarding shares of our common stock that may be issuedunder our existing equity compensation plans, including our
2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the 4€0e2020 Pland€).A A A Equity Compensation Plan InformationA Plan
CategoryA (a) Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rightsA A (b)
Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rightsA A (c) Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a))A Equity
compensation plans approved by security holders (1)A A 17,152A A AN/AA A A -A Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holdersA A N/AAA AN/AAA A N/AA TotalA A 17,152AA A-AA A-A A (1) The weighted-
average exercise price does not reflect the shares that will be issued in connection with the settlement of RSUs and
RSAs, since RSUs and RSAs have no exercise price. Other than RSUs and RSAs, there were no outstanding options,
warrants, or rights under our equity compensation plan as of September 30, 2024. A 132 A A Item13. Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.A Otherthan compensation arrangements for our
Named Executive Officers and directors, we describe below each transaction and series ofsimilar transactions, since the
beginning of fiscal year 2023, to which we were a party or will be a party, in which:A 4— the amounts involved
exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of the smaller reporting companya€™s
total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years; and A 4— any of our directors, nominees for director,
executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our common stock, or any member of the immediate family of the
foregoing persons, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A Compensationarrangements for our Named
Executive Officers and directors are described in the section entitled &€ceExecutive

Compensationa€.A PublicOfferingA PankajMohan, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, purchased 4,296 shares of
common stock and warrants to purchase 8,593 shares ofcommon stock pursuant to an underwritten public offering by
the us at $12.80 per share and accompanying two warrants. The offering closedon October 27, 2023.A RaghuRao, a
director, purchased 1,953 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 3,906 shares of common stock pursuant to
an underwrittenpublic offering by the us at $12.80 per share and accompanying two warrants. The offering closed on
October 27, 2023.A IndemnificationAgreementsA We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our
current directors and executive officers. These agreements willrequire us to indemnify these individuals to the fullest
extent permitted under Delaware law against liabilities that may ariseby reason of their service to us, and to advance
expenses incurred as a result of any proceeding against them as to which theycould be indemnified. We also intend to
enter into indemnification agreements with our future directors and executive officers.A DirectorIndependenceA Our
Board currently consists of six directors. OurBoard has determined that Messrs. Bhatt, Dyrness and Rao and Ms.
McNeill are 4€ceindependenta€ as that term is defined under therules of The Nasdaq Stock Market.A Item14. Principal
Accountant Fees and Services.A Thefollowing table summarizes the fees for professional services rendered by KPMG
LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, for each of the respective last two fiscal Xea}*s:A Fee
CategoryA 2024A A 2023A Audit FeesA $668,000A A $540,000A Audit-Related FeesA A-A A A -A Tax FeesA

A 42,074A A A 61,565A All Other FeesA A -A A A -A Total FeesA $710,074A A $601,565A A 133 A

A AuditFeesA Representsfees for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our annual consolidated
financial statementsand reviews of our quarterly interim consolidated financial statements, as well as for fees
associated with registrationstatements, comfort letters and consents.A Audit-RelatedFeesA Wedid not incur any audit-
related fees from our independent auditors in 2024 or 2023.A TaxFeesA Taxfees are associated with tax compliance, tax
advice, tax planning and tax preparation services.A AllOther FeesA Feesrelated to products and services provided by
the principal accountant, other than the services reported in the above sections.A TheAudit Committee is responsible
for appointing, setting compensation and overseeing the work of the independent auditors. The Audit Committeeis
required to review and approve the proposed retention of independent auditors to perform any proposed auditing and
non-auditing servicesas outlined in its charter. The Audit Committee has not established policies and procedures
separate from its charter concerning thepre-approval of auditing and non-auditing related services. As required by
Section 10A of the Exchange Act, our Audit Committee has authorizedall auditing and non-auditing services provided by
KPMG LLP during 2024 and 2023 and the fees paid for such services. However, the pre-approvalrequirement may be
waived with respect to the provision of non-audit services for the Company if the 4€cede minimisa€ provisionsof Section



10A(i)(1)(B) of the Exchange Act are satisfied.A TheAudit Committee has considered whether the provision of Audit-
Related Fees, Tax Fees, and all other fees as described above is compatiblewith maintaining KPMG LLPa€™s
independence and has determined that such services for fiscal years 2024 and 2023 were compatible.All such services
were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act to the extent
thatrule was applicable.A TheAudit Committee is responsible for reviewing and discussing the audited consolidated
financial statements with management, discussingwith the independent registered public accountants the matters
required by Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing StandardNo. 1301 Communications with Audit
Committees, receiving written disclosures from the independent registered public accountantsrequired by the
applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered
publicaccountantsa€™ communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and discussing with the
independent registered publicaccountants their independence, and recommending to the Board that the audited
consolidated financial statements be included in ourAnnual Report on Form 10-K.A 134 A A PARTIVA Item15. Exhibits,
Financial Statement Schedules.A (a)(1)Financial Statements. The financial statements filed as part of this report are
listed on the Index to the Consolidated FinancialStatements.A (a)(2)Financial Statement Schedules. Schedules are
omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in theconsolidated financial statements or
notes thereto.A (a)(3)Exhibits. Reference is made to the Exhibit Index. The exhibits are included, or incorporated by
reference, in this Annual Reporton Form 10-K and are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-

K.A Item16. Form 10-K Summary.A None.A 135 A A SIGNATURESA Pursuantto the requirements of Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signedon its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.A A Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (Registrant) A A Date: December
17, 2024 /s/ Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D. A Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D. A President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer and duly authorized signatory) A A Date: December 17, 2024 /s/ Jay Cross A Jay Cross A Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) A SIGNATURESAND POWER OF ATTORNEYA KNOWALL BY
THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Pankaj Mohan,
Ph.D. and Jay Cross,and each of them, his true and lawful agent, proxy and attorney-in-fact, with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, for himand in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to (i) act on, sign and
file with the Securities and Exchange Commissionany and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K together
with all schedules and exhibits thereto, (ii) act on, sign and filesuch certificates, instruments, agreements and other
documents as may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith and, (iii)take any and all actions which may be
necessary or appropriate to be done, as fully for all intents and purposes as he might or coulddo in person, hereby
approving, ratifying and confirming all that such agent, proxy and attorney-in-fact or any of his substitutes maylawfully
do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.A Pursuantto the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this
report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrantand in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.A Signature A Title A Date A A A A A /s/ Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D. A President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman A December 17, 2024 Pankaj Mohan, Ph.D. A (Principal Executive Officer) A A A A A A A /s/ Jay Cross A
Chief Financial Officer A December 17, 2024 Jay Cross A (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) AAAAAA
A /s/ Albert Dyrness A Director A December 17, 2024 Albert Dyrness A AAAAAA A /s/Nailesh Bhatt A
Director A December 17, 2024 Nailesh Bhatt A A A A A A A A A /s/ Raghu Rao A Director A December 17, 2024
Raghu Rao AAAAAAAA /s/ Donald Griffith A Director A December 17, 2024 Donald GriffithA A A A A A A
A A /s/ Lori McNeill A Director A December 17, 2024 Lori McNeill A A A A A 136 A A INDEXTO EXHIBITSA
Exhibit No. A Description A A A 2.1 A Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 10, 2019, by and among the
Company, Sonnet Sub. and Merger Sub (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed
on October 11, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference).# A A A 2.2 A Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan
of Merger, dated February 7, 2020, by and among the Company, Sonnet Sub and Merger Sub (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the
Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 7, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). A A

A 2.3 A Share Exchange Agreement, between Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc. and Relief Therapeutics Holding SA, dated
August 9, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.10 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4
filed with the SEC on November 27, 2019).# A A A 3.1 A Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of Sonnet
BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the SEC on December 17, 2020). A A A 3.2 A Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and
Limitations of Series 3 Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 15, 2022). A A A 3.3 A Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights
and Limitations of Series 4 Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Companya€™s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 15, 2022). A A A 3.4 A Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc., dated September 16, 2022 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 19, 2022).
A A A 3.5 A Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of Sonnet BioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc., dated August 31, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 1, 2023). A A A 3.6 A Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc., dated September 25, 2024 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 30, 2024).
A A A 3.7 A Amended and Restated Bylaws, of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 15, 2022). A A A 4.1 A
Form of Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companya€™s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-178307), filed with the SEC on December 2, 2011). A A A 4.2 A Form of
Warrant dated May 4, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the SEC on May 5, 2017). A A A 4.3 A Spin-Off Entity Warrant, dated April 1, 2020 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 3, 2020). A A A
4.4 A Form of Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc. Converted Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 14, 2020). A A A 4.5 A Form of Series
A/B Warrants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A
filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020). A A A 4.6 A Form of Series C Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2020). A A A 4.7 A Registration
Rights Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and between the Company and certain investors named therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed with the



SEC on February 7, 2020). A 137 A A 4.8 A Description of Securitiesx A A A 4.9 A Form of Pre-Funded Warrant,
dated August 24, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC August 25, 2021). A A A 4.10 A Form of Underwriter Warrant, dated August 24, 2021 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Companya€™ s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on August 16,
2021). A A A 4.11 A Form of Common Warrant, dated August 24, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to
the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC August 25, 2021). A A A 4.12 A Form of Pre-
Funded Warrant dated February 10, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companya€™s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2023). A A A 4.13 A Form of Underwriter Warrant dated
February 10, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
February 13, 2023). A A A 4.14 A Form of Common Warrant dated February 10, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2023). A A A 4.15A
Form of Pre-Funded Warrant dated June 30, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companya€™s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 30, 2023). A A A 4.16 A Form of Warrant dated June 30, 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June
30, 2023). A A A 4.17 A Form of Placement Agent Warrant dated June 30, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 30, 2023). A A A 4.18 A Form of
Pre-Funded Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.14 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A as filed on
September 28, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference). A A A 4.19 A Form of Underwriter Warrant (filed as
Exhibit 4.15 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A as filed on September 28, 2023, and
incorporated herein by reference). A A A 4.20 A Form of Common Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.16 to the Companya€™s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A as filed on September 28, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference). AAA
4.21 A Form of Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 20, 2024). A A A 4.22 A Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 20, 2024). A A A
4.23 A Form of Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 of the Companya€™s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on November 6, 2024). A A A 4.24 A Form of Pre-Funded Warrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.23 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the
SEC on November 6, 2024). A A A 4.25 A Form of Registered Direct Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2024). A A A
4.26 A Form of Private Placement Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companya€™s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2024). A A A 4.27 A Form of Common Warrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 10, 2024).A 138 A A 10.1 A Common Stock Purchase Agreement, between GEM Global Yield Fund LLC
SCS and Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc., dated August 6, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the
Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on November 27, 2019). A A A 10.2 A
Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreement, between GEM Global Yield Fund LLC SCS and Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc., dated September 25, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Companya€™s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on November 27, 2019). A A A 10.3 A Side Letter and
Amendment No. 2 to Common Stock Purchase Agreement, between GEM Global Yield Fund LLC SCS, Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc. and Chanticleer Holdings, Inc., dated February 7, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.60 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020). A A A 10.4
A Employment Agreement, between Pankaj Mohan and Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc., dated December 31, 2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the
SEC on February 7, 2020). 4 A A A 10.5 A Employment Agreement, between John Cini and Sonnet BioTherapeutics,
Inc., dated January 10, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement
on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020). 4 A A A 10.6 A Employment Agreement, between Jay Cross
and Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc., dated January 10, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the
Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020). € A A A 10.7 A
Employment Agreement, between Susan Dexter and the Company, dated April 1, 2020 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 3, 2020). 4€ A 139 A A 10.8
A Offer Letter, between Donald Griffith and Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc., dated January 1, 2019 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the Companya€™ s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7,
2020). € A A A 10.9 A Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on May 20, 2020).
4€ A A A 10.10 A Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award (incorporated by reference to EXhlblt 10.1 to the
Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 9, 2020). 4 A A A 10.11 A License
Agreement, between Ares Trading SA and Relief Therapeutics SA, dated August 28, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.51 to the Companya€™ s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020).%%* A
A A 10.12 A Discovery Collaboration Agreement, between XOMA (US) LLC and Oncobiologics, Inc., dated July 23,
2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with
the SEC on February 7, 2020).** A A A 10.13 A Amendment of Discovery Collaboration Agreement, between XOMA
(US) LLC and Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc., dated May 7, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the
Companya€™s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020).**+ A A A 10.14 A
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2020, by and among Chanticleer Holdings, Inc., Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc. and the investors party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the Companya€™s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020). A A A 10.15 A Form of Warrant
Exercise and Omnibus Amendment Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2020, by and between Sonnet BioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc. and the Holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2020). A A A 10.16 A Assignment and Assumption Employment Agreements by
Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc., effective April 1, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 17, 2020).4€ A A A 10.17 A Amendment
No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, between Pankaj Mohan and the Company, dated November 23, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
December 17, 2020).4€ A A A 10.18 A Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, between John Cini
and the Company, dated November 23, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Companya€™s Annual



Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 17, 2020).4€ A A A 10.19 A Form of Indemnification
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on December 17, 2020).4€ A A A 10.20 A At-The-Market Sales Agreement, dated February 5, 2020, between the
Company and BTIG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February 5, 2021). A A A 10.21 A License Agreement, dated May 2, 2021, between Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc. and New Life Therapeutics PTE, LTD (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 17, 2021). A A A 10.22 A First Amendment
to License Agreement, dated June 11, 2021, between Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc. and New Life Therapeutics PTE, LTD
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on
December 17, 2021). A A A 10.23 A Second Amendment to License Agreement, dated July 7, 2021, among Sonnet
Biotherapeutics CH SA, Sonnet BioTherapeutics, Inc. and New Life Therapeutics PTE, Ltd. (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.23 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on December 17, 2021). A A A
10.24 A Amendment to License Agreement and Settlement, dated November 1, 2021, between ARES TRADING SA and
Sonnet BioTherapeutics CH SA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on December 17, 2021). A 140 A A 10.25 A At-The-Market Sales Agreement, dated
August 15, 2022, between the Company and BTIG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Companya€™s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 15, 2022). A A A 10.26 A Underwriting Agreement, dated
February 8, 2023, between the Company and Chardan Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1
to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2023). A A A 10.27 A Form of
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated June 28, 2023, by and between the Company and the Purchaser (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 30, 2023). A A
A 10.28 A ChEF Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2024, by and between Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.
and Chardan Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024). A A A 10.29 A Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2024,
by and between Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. and Chardan Capital Markets, LL.C (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024). A A A 10.30 A
Form of Inducement Letter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on June 20, 2024). A A A 10.31 A License Agreement, dated October 8, 2024, between Sonnet
BioTherapeutics, Inc., Sonnet BioTherapeutics CH SA and Alkem Laboratories Limited (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 9, 2024). A A A 10.32 A
Underwriting Agreement, dated November 6, 2024, between the Company and Chardan Capital Markets, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 8, 2024). A A A 10.33 A Form of Registered Direct Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 9,
2024, by and between the Company and the Purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companya€™s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2024). A A A 10.34 A Form of Private Placement
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 9, 2024, by and between the Company and the Purchasers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 10, 2024). A A A 19.1 A Insider Trading Policy.* A A A 21.1 A Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 14,
2023). A A A 23.1 A Consent of KPMG LLP.*A A A 24.1 A Power of attorney (included on the signature page).* A

A A 31.1 A Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.* A A A 31.2 A Certification of Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.*
A A A 32.1 A Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.** A A A 32.2 A Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.** A A A 97.1 A
Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with
the SEC on December 14, 2023). A A A 101.INS A Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not
appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.* A A A
101.SCH A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.* A A A 101.CAL A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase Document* A A A 101.DEF A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.*
A A A 101.LAB A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.* A A A 101.PRE A Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.* A A A 104 A Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as
inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).* A * Filed herewith. A A ** Furnished herewith. A A *** Filed herewith;
portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted portions
will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request. A A # The schedules and exhibits to this
agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request. A A 4€ Indicates a management
contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement. A 141 A A Exhibit4.8A DESCRIPTIONOF SONNET
BIOTHERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC.4€™S SECURITIESREGISTEREDPURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF
THESECURITIESEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934A Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (A€ceus,a€ 4€ceour,a€ a€cewed€ or
the &€ceCompanyéa€)has two classes of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended: our voting common stock,$0.0001 par value per share and preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per

share.A DESCRIPTIONOF CAPITAL STOCKA Thefollowing is a summary of information concerning capital stock of the
Company and does not purport to be complete. The summary issubject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to,
the Companya€™s certificate of incorporation, as amended (thea€cweCertificate of Incorporationa€), the Companya€™s
amended and restated bylaws (the a€eBylawsa€) and theDelaware General Corporation Law (the 4€0eDGCLA€). You
are urged to read our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and theapplicable provisions of the DGCL for additional
information.A GeneralA Ourauthorized capital stock consists of:A 4— 125,000,000 shares of common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share; and A A a— 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of which, as of the
date of this report, none of which shares have been designated. A Theadditional shares of our authorized stock available
for issuance may be issued at times and under circumstances so as to have a dilutiveeffect on earnings per share and on
the equity ownership of the holders of our Common Stock. The ability of our board of directors toissue additional shares
of stock could enhance the boardd€™ s ability to negotiate on behalf of the stockholders in a takeover situationbut could
also be used by the board to make a change-in-control more difficult, thereby denying stockholders the potential to sell



theirshares at a premium and entrenching current management. The following description is a summary of the material
provisions of our capitalstock. You should refer to our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, both of which are on file
with the SEC as exhibits to previous SECfilings, for additional information. The summary below is qualified by
provisions of applicable law.A CommonStockA Holdersof our Common Stock are each entitled to cast one vote for each
share held of record on all matters presented to stockholders. Cumulativevoting is not allowed; the holders of a majority
of our outstanding shares of Common Stock may elect all directors. Holders of our CommonStock are entitled to receive
such dividends as may be declared by our board out of funds legally available and, in the event of liquidation,to share
pro rata in any distribution of our assets after payment of liabilities. Our directors are not obligated to declare a
dividend.It is not anticipated that we will pau dividends in the foreseeable future. Holders of our do not have
preemptive rights to subscribeto any additional shares we may issue in the future. There are no conversion,
redemption, sinking fund or similar provisions regardingthe Common Stock. All outstanding shares of Common Stock
are fully paid and nonassessable.A Therights, preferences and privileges of holders of Common Stock are subject to the
rights of the holders of any outstanding shares of preferredstock.A A A A TransferAgent and RegistrarA Thetransfer
agent and registrar for our Common Stock is Securities Transfer Corporation. The transfer agent address is Securities
TransferCorporation, 2901 N Dallas Parkway, Suite 380, Plano, TX 75093, (469) 633-0101.A PreferredStockA Weare
authorized to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, all of which are undesignated. Our board of directors has
the authorityto issue preferred stock in one or more classes or series and to fix the designations, powers, preferences
and rights, and the qualifications,limitations or restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, conversion right, voting
rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferencesand the number of shares constituting any class or series, without
further vote or action by the stockholders. Although we have no presentplans to issue any other shares of preferred
stock, the issuance of shares of preferred stock, or the issuance of rights to purchasesuch shares, could decrease the
amount of earnings and assets available for distribution to the holders of common stock, could adverselyaffect the
rights and powers, including voting rights, of the common stock, and could have the effect of delaying, deterring or
preventinga change of control of us or an unsolicited acquisition proposal. The preferred stock may provide for an
adjustment of the conversionprice in the event of an issuance or deemed issuance at a price less than the applicable
conversion price, subject to certain exceptions.A Ifwe offer a specific series of preferred stock under this prospectus,
we will describe the terms of the preferred stock in the prospectussupplement for such offering and will file a copy of
the certificate establishing the terms of the preferred stock with the SEC. To theextent required, this description will
include:A a— the title and stated value; A A 4— the number of shares offered, the liquidation preference per share
and the purchase price; A A a— the dividend rate(s), period(s) and/or payment date(s), or method(s) of calculation for
such dividends; A A 4— whether dividends will be cumulative or non-cumulative and, if cumulative, the date from
which dividends will accumulate; A A a— the procedures for any auction and remarketing, if any; A A a— the
provisions for a sinking fund, if any; A A 4— the provisions for redemption, if applicable; A A 4— any listing of the
preferred stock on any securities exchange or market; A A 4— whether the preferred stock will be convertible into our
common stock, and, if applicable, the conversion price (or how it will be calculated) and conversion period; A A a—
whether the preferred stock will be exchangeable into debt securities, and, if applicable, the exchange price (or how it
will be calculated) and exchange period; A A a— voting rights, if any, of the preferred stock; A A 4— a discussion of
any material and/or special U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the preferred stock; A A 4— the
relative ranking and preferences of the preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights upon liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of our affairs; and A A a— any material limitations on issuance of any class or series of preferred stock
ranking senior to or on a parity with the series of preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of our affairs. A A A A TransferAgent and Registrar for Preferred StockA Thetransfer agent
and registrar for any series or class of preferred stock will be set forth in each applicable prospectus

supplement.A Anti-takeoverEffects of Delaware Law and our Certificate of Incorporation and BylawsA OurCertificate of
Incorporation and Bylaws, as amended contain provisions that could have the effect of discouraging potential
acquisitionproposals or tender offers or delaying or preventing a change of control. These provisions are as follows:A &
— they provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called by the President, the board of directors or at the
request by stockholders of record owning at least thirty-three and one-third (33 1/3%) percent of the issued and
outstanding voting shares of our Common Stock; A A 4— they do not include a provision for cumulative voting in the
election of directors. Under cumulative voting, a minority stockholder holding a sufficient number of shares may be able
to ensure the election of one or more directors. The absence of cumulative voting may have the effect of limiting the
ability of minority stockholders to effect changes in our board of directors; and A A 4— they allow us to issue, without
stockholder approval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock that could adversely affect the rights and powers of the
holders of our Common Stock. A Weare subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-takeover law.
Subject to certain exceptions, the statute prohibitsa publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a
d€cebusiness combinationa€ with an a€ceinterested stockholdera€for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder unless:A &4— prior to such date, the board of
directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder; A A 4— upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least eighty-five percent 85% of
the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of
determining the number of shares outstanding those shares owned (1) by persons who are directors and also officers
and (2) by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially
whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or A A 4— on or after such
date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of
stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent 66 2/3% of
the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder. A Generally,for purposes of Section 203, a
a€cebusiness combinationa€ includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resultingin a financial benefit
to the interested stockholder. An &€ceinterested stockholdera€ is a person who, together with affiliatesand associates,
owns or, within three (3) years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, owned fifteen percent
(15%)or more of a corporationa€™s outstanding voting securities.A PotentialEffects of Authorized but Unissued

StockA Wehave shares of Common Stock and preferred stock available for future issuance without stockholder
approval. We may utilize these additionalshares for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to
raise additional capital, to facilitate corporate acquisitionsor payment as a dividend on the capital stock.A Theexistence
of unissued and unreserved Common Stock and preferred stock may enable our board of directors to issue shares to



persons friendlyto current management or to issue preferred stock with terms that could render more difficult or
discourage a third-party attempt toobtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise,
thereby protecting the continuity of our management.In addition, the board of directors has the discretion to determine
designations, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, includingvoting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights,
redemption privileges and liquidation preferences of each series of preferred stock,all to the fullest extent permissible
under the DGCL and subject to any limitations set forth in our Certificate of Incorporation. Thepurpose of authorizing
the board of directors to issue preferred stock and to determine the rights and preferences applicable to suchpreferred
stock is to eliminate delays associated with a stockholder vote on specific issuances. The issuance of preferred stock,
whileproviding desirable flexibility in connection with possible financings, acquisitions and other corporate purposes,
could have the effectof making it more difficult for a third-party to acquire, or could discourage a third-party from
acquiring, a majority of our outstandingvoting stock.A NasdaqL1st1ngA Ourcommon stock is traded on The Nasdaq
Capital Market under the symbol 4€ceSONN.A&€A A A A Exhibit19.1A SONNETBIOTHERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS,
INC.INSIDERTRADING POLICYA AsAmended and Restated by the Board on December 16, 2024A Thefollowing Insider
Trading Policy (&€cePolicya€) has been approved by the Board of Directors (the &€ceBoarda€)of Sonnet BioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the &€ceCompanya€).A Twocopies of this Policy are being provided to you.
You must read, sign and retain a copy of this Policy and, annually, or otherwise uponrequest by the Company, re-
acknowledge it. Please address questions to the Companya€™s Chief Financial Officer as set forth below,who has
initially been designated as the &€oeCompliance Officera€ for this Policy, or such other person who is designatedby the
Board of Directors of the Company.A JayCrossChiefFinancial OfficerSonnetBioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc.jcross@sonnetbio.comA Whois Subject to this Policy?A (1)Company Insiders.A 4€ceCompanyInsidersa€ refers to all
directors, officers and employees of the Company. If you are receiving this Policy, you are considereda Company
Insider. The use of 4€ceyoud€ and a€ceyoura€ throughout this Policy speaks directly to CompanyInsiders.A (2)Family
Members and others living in your household.A 4€ceFamilyMembersa€ refers to any of the following:A &—Any of your
relatives, such as a child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, grandparent, spouse,
sibling and in-law, and any other person typically considered a relative, in each case, whose Trading (as defined below)
you either direct or control; andda—Anyone who lives in your household, whether or not they are your relative, and
whether or not you either direct or control their Trading.A Youare responsible for your Family Membersa€™ Trading
and therefore should inform your Family Members of the need to obtain your approvalbefore they Trade in Company
Securities (as defined below).A (3)Controlled Entities.A a€ceControlledEntitiesa€ are any entities or accounts, including
corporations, partnerships, retirement plans or trusts, which are under yourdirection or control, or where you or a
Family Member are a beneficiary. Trading by Controlled Entities should be treated as if you Tradeddirectly

yourself.A (4)Covered Persons.A a€ceCoveredPersonsa€ refers to Company Insiders and their Family Members and
Controlled Entities. A A A A Whatis Illegal and Prohibited Insider Trading?A Generally,illegal and prohibited insider
trading occurs when a person who is aware of material nonpublic information about a companybuys or sells, or engages
in transactions with (e.g. hedging, shorting, swaps, etc.), that companya€™s securities or provides materialnonpublic
information to another person who may Trade (as defined below) on the basis of that information. The elements of
insider tradingand the potential penalties for such unlawful conduct are discussed

herein.A MateriallnformationA 4€ceMaterialinformationa€ is information that a reasonable investor would consider
important in making an investment decision (i.e., a decisionto buy, hold, or sell securities) or information that would
have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly alteredthe a4€"total mixa€™ of information made
available to them.A Anyinformation that could be expected to affect the Companya€™s stock price, whether it is
positive or negative, should be consideredmaterial. Material information is not limited to information of a financial
nature; rather, material information can relate to virtuallyany aspect of the Companya€ ™ s business. Material
information is also not limited to historical facts. You can be in possession ofmaterial information with respect to a
future event, such as a merger, acquisition or development of a new product candidate.A Thereis no bright-line
standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and
circumstances,and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to
define all categories ofmaterial information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as
material are:A A—earnings or expectations for the quarter or the year;A—forecasts or projections of future earnings or
losses, or other earnings guidance;a—changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend
earnings guidance;a—clinical development milestones;a—public offerings or private sales of debt or equity securities;a
—the Companya€™s ability to maintain the listing of its common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market;a—changes in
dividends, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;a—proposals or agreements involving a
merger, acquisition, tender offer, joint venture, divestiture or leveraged buy-out;a—changes in relationships with
manufacturers, suppliers, or obtaining or losing important contracts;a—development of a significant new product,
process or service;a—bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;a—cybersecurity
incidents;a—important product developments;a—important intellectual property developments;a—important financing
developments;ad—important personnel changes, including changes in senior management;a—criminal indictments or
material civil litigation or government investigations;a—significant disputes with manufacturers, suppliers or third-
party service providers;a—Ilabor disputes including strikes or lockouts;A A A A 4—substantial change in accounting
methods;a—debt service or liquidity problems;a—bankruptcy or insolvency;a—calls, redemptions or repurchases of
Company Securities; ora—change in auditors or notification that the auditora€™s reports may no longer be relied
upon.A Ifyou are unsure whether information is material, you should consult the Compliance Officer before making any
decision to disclose suchinformation (other than to persons who need to know it) or to Trade in or recommend
securities to which that information relates. TheCompliance Officera€™s approval or disapproval of a Trading clearance
is binding on the individual requesting trading clearance andcan only be modified in writing by the Board or the Audit
Committee.A NonpublicInformationA 4€ceNonpublicA€information is information which has not been made available or
otherwise disclosed to the public generally. This includes informationreceived from sources or in circumstances
indicating the information has not yet been generally circulated.A Two(2) business days after material nonpublic
information has been released to the investing public, it loses its status as material nonpublicinformation. However, for
nonpublic information to become public information it must be disseminated through recognized channels of
distributiondesigned to reach the securities marketplace or public disclosure documents filed with the SEC that are
available on EDGAR, and sufficienttime must pass for the information to become available in the market. It is the policy
of the Company to not consider material informationpublic until the second (2nd) business day after appropriate public
dissemination.A Toshow that material information is public, it is generally necessary to point to some fact verifying that



the information has become generallyavailable. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has
been disclosed through a press release disseminatedthrough newswire services, a broadcast on widely available
internet, radio or television programs, publication in a widely-availablenewspaper, magazine or news website, or public
disclosure documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 4€ceSECa€)that are available on the
SECa€™s website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is availableonly to
the Companya€™s employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers, institutional investors
orindustry participants. For example, discussions between the Company and another company about a potential
business deal that has notyet been publicly announced would be considered nonpublic information. In addition, the
circulation of rumors or &€cetalk on the street,a€even if accurate, widespread and reported in the media, does not
constitute the requisite public disclosure.A Materialnonpublic information is not made public by selective
dissemination. Material information improperly disclosed only to institutionalinvestors or to a favored analyst or a
group of analysts retains its status as nonpublic information, the use of which is subject toinsider trading laws.
Similarly, partial disclosure does not constitute public dissemination. So long as any material component of thematerial
nonpublic information has yet to be publicly disclosed, the information is deemed nonpublic and may not be

misused.A Asa general rule, no Trades should take place prior to the completion of the second (2nd) business day after
appropriate publicdissemination. As described in more detail below, you are also required to obtain pre-clearance for
any Trade. If you would like to seekpre-clearance prior to the completion of such second (2nd) business day, you may do
so in accordance with the a€ePre-ClearanceProceduresa€ section of this Policy, but the Compliance Officer has no
obligation to grant such pre-clearance. If the ComplianceOfficer grants pre-clearance for any particular Trade, the
Compliance Officer has no obligation to grant pre-clearance for any similaror other Trade. If pre-clearance has been
granted for another Covered Person, that does not mean your contemporaneous Trade has alsobeen pre-cleared or
approved; each Covered Persond€™s Trade must be pre-cleared.A A A A Aswith questions of materiality, if you are not
sure whether information is considered public, you should either consult with the ComplianceOfficer or assume that the
information is nonpublic and treat it as confidential.A TransactionsSubject to this PolicyA ThisPolicy applies to any and
all transactions in Company Securities, including common stock, preferred stock, options or warrants to
purchasecommon stock, securities that are convertible into or exercisable for common stock or preferred stock of the
Company or any other securitiesthat the Company may issue, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the
Company such as exchange-traded put or call optionsor swaps relating to the Companya€™ s securities (collectively,
d€ceCompany Securitiesa€). Transactions subject tothis Policy include sales, purchases, gifts (see discussion on gifts
below), pledges, hedges, and other acquisitions, dispositions, ortransfers of securities, in each case, directly or
indirectly (each of the foregoing transactions, a &€ceTradea€ or a€oeTradinga€within the meaning of this

Policy).A GiftsA Forpurposes of this Policy, gifts or other transfers to Family Members, whether for estate planning or
otherwise, or to charities or otherthird parties, are considered a€oeTradinga€ within the meaning of this Policy. Gifts
are subject to the requirements and restrictionsoutlined in this Policy and require pre-clearance in accordance with the
a€oePre-Clearance Proceduresa€ section of thisPolicy.A Pre-ClearanceA Asdescribed in more detail below in the
a€ePre-Clearance Proceduresa€ section of this Policy, all Covered Persons are prohibitedfrom Trading in Company
Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the Trade in accordance with the a€mePre-ClearanceProceduresa€
section of this Policy. The transactions described in the 4€ceExempt Transactionsa€ section of thisPolicy do not require
pre-clearance.A Prohibitionon Illegal Insider TradingA NoTrading on Material Nonpublic Information. If you are aware
of material nonpublic information about the Company or Company Securities,you may not Trade Company Securities,
except as otherwise specified in this Policy (see a€eExempt Transactionsa€ sectionbelow). In addition, it is the policy of
the Company that no Covered Persons who, in the course of working for the Company, learns ofmaterial nonpublic
information about a company, including but not limited to a customer or supplier of the Company, or a company thatis
involved in a potential transaction or business relationship with the Company (a 4€ceRelated Companya€), may Tradein
that companya€™ s securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material.A NoTipping. If you are
aware of material nonpublic information about the Company, or if you are aware of material nonpublic
informationabout a Related Company that you learned in the course of working for the Company, you may not
communicate or pass (a€ceTipa€)that information on to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to
have that information, or to persons outside theCompany, including Family Members, Controlled Entities, friends or
anyone else. The federal securities laws impose liability on any personwho Tips or communicates (the &€ceTippera€)
material nonpublic information to another person or entity (the 4€ceTippeea€)who then Trades on the basis of the
information. Penalties may apply regardless of whether or not the Tipper Trades or derives any benefitsfrom the
Tippeed€™s Trading activities. A A A A BlackoutPeriods. Trading is prohibited during Blackout Periods (as defined
below) or an Event-Specific Blackout (as defined below), as describedin more detail in the a€ceQuarterly Trading
Restrictionsa€, a€eEvent-Specific Blackout Proceduresa€ anda€cePre-Clearance Proceduresa€ sections

below.A AdditionalProhibited TransactionsA Prohibitionon Short Sales. Neither you, your Family Members nor your
Controlled Entities may sell any Company Securities that are not ownedby such person at the time of the sale (a
a€ceshort salea€) including a 4€cesale against the boxa€ (a salewith delayed delivery).A Tradingin Standardized
Options. An a€oeoptiona€ is the right either to buy or sell a specified amount or value of a particularunderlying interest
at a fixed exercise price by exercising the option before its specified expiration date. An option which gives aright to
buy is a &€cecalla€ option, and an option which gives a right to sell is a a€ceputd€ option. Standardizedoptions (which
are so labeled as a result of their standardized terms) offer the opportunity to invest using substantial leverage
andtherefore lend themselves to significant potential for abusive Trading on material nonpublic information.
Standardized options also expiresoon after issuance and thus necessarily involve short-term speculation, even where
the date of expiration of the option makes the optionexempt from certain SEC restrictions. The writing of a call or the
acquisition of a put also involves a &€cebet against the companya€and therefore presents a clear conflict of interest for
you. As a result, neither you, your Family Members nor your Controlled Entitiesmay Trade in standardized options
relating to Company Securities at any time.A HedgingTransactions. Certain forms of hedging or monetization
transactions, such as zero-cost collars and forward sale contracts, allowyou to lock in much of the value of your stock
holdings, often in exchange for all or part of the potential for upside appreciation inthe stock. These transactions allow
you to continue to own the covered securities, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership.When that occurs,
you may no longer have the same objectives as the Companya€™s other shareholders. Therefore, you, your Family
Members,and your Controlled Entities are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions.A MarginAccounts and
Pledges. Securities held in a margin account may be sold by the broker without the customera€™s consent if the
customerfails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged or hypothecated as collateral for a loan may be sold in



foreclosure if theborrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when you
are aware of material nonpublicinformation or otherwise are not permitted to Trade in Company Securities, neither
you, your Family Members nor your Controlled Entitiesmay hold Company Securities in a margin account or pledge
Company Securities as collateral for a loan unless such transaction has beenpre-approved by the Compliance

Officer.A ExemptTransactionsA ThisPolicy does not apply to the following transactions, except as specifically

noted:A StockOption Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of any employee stock option acquired
pursuant to the Companya€ ™ sequity plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has
elected to have the Company withhold sharessubject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy
does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-assistedcashless exercise of an option, or any other market
sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of anoption.A A A A RestrictedStock
Awards and Restricted Stock Units. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or of a tax withholding
rightpursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements
upon the vesting ofany restricted stock. This Policy, however, does apply to any market sale of restricted stock,
including sales to satisfy tax obligationsrelated to the vesting of the restricted stock.A Transactionswith the Company.
This Policy does not apply to the purchase of Company Securities from the Company or the sale of the Company
Securitiesto the Company.A Exceptfor above, there are no Trading exemptions to this Policy. Securities laws do not
recognize any mitigating circumstances. Tradesthat may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as in
the case of an emergency), or small Trades, or Trades to payyour taxes, are not permitted.A QuarterlyTrading
RestrictionsA Thereare times when the Company may be engaged in a material nonpublic development. Although you
may not know the specifics of the development,if you engaged in a Trade before such development was disclosed to the
public or resolved you might expose yourself and the Company toa charge of insider trading that could be costly and
difficult to refute. In addition, a Trade by you during such a development couldresult in significant adverse publicity for
the Company.A Therefore,except with respect to Trades pursuant to a 10b-5 Plan described below, Covered Persons
may only purchase or sell Company Securities(subject to any Event-Specific Blackouts) during the three or four
quarterly open trading windows that occur each year and only afterpre-clearing your intent to Trade with the
Compliance Officer.A NoCovered Persons may Trade any Company securities (other than as specified by this Policy),
during a a€ceBlackout Perioda€.A Blackout Period begins on the fourteenth (14th) calendar day prior to the end of each
fiscal quarter and ends on the second(2nd) business day after issuance of a press release or other announcement by the
Company disclosing quarterly or annual earnings.In other words, Covered Persons, subject to obtaining pre-clearance
and only so long as they are not subject to an Event-Specific Blackout,may only conduct transactions in Company
Securities during the open trading window period beginning on the third (3rd) businessday following the public release
of the Companya€™ s quarterly earnings and ending at the close of business on the thirteenth (13th)calendar day prior
to the end of the next fiscal quarter. In accordance with the procedure for waivers described below, in special
circumstancesa waiver may be given to allow a Trade to occur outside of an open trading window.A Event-
SpecificBlackout PROCEDURESA Fromtime to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known
by only a few Covered Persons. So long as the event remainsmaterial and nonpublic, certain Covered Persons who are
aware of the event may be designated by the Compliance Officer as restrictedfrom Trading. In the event of an Event-
Specific Blackout, the Compliance Officer will notify these Covered Persons in writing (orby email) that they may not
Trade in Company Securities, whether or not the Compliance Officer discloses the reason for the restriction.For so long
as the event remains material and nonpublic, the Covered Persons designated by the Compliance Officer may not Trade
CompanySecurities. In addition, the Companya€™s financial results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal
quarter that, in thejudgment of the Compliance Officer, designated Covered Persons must refrain from Trading in
Company Securities even sooner than the typicalBlackout Period described above. The existence of an Event-Specific
Trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period willnot be announced to the Company as a whole, and may
not be communicated to any other person. Even if the Compliance Officer has not designatedyou as a person who may
not Trade due to an event-specific restriction, you should not Trade while aware of material nonpublic
information.Exceptions will not be granted during an event-specific Trading restriction period.A A A A Pre-
clearanceProceduresA AllCovered Persons are prohibited from Trading in Company Securities without first obtaining
pre-clearance of the transaction from the ComplianceOfficer (i.e., a Company Insider is required to get pre-clearance
for Trades on behalf of his, her or their Family Members or ControlledEntities). A request for pre-clearance must be
submitted in writing to the Compliance Officer at least two (2) business days in advanceof the proposed Trade by
submission of the Trade Pre-Clearance Request Form attached here as Annex A. The Compliance Officer isunder no
obligation to approve a Trade submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the Trade, even if similar
or otherTrades have been pre-cleared. The Compliance Officer may seek advice of outside counsel as such Compliance
Officer may consider appropriate.A Whena request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider
whether he, she or they may be aware of any material nonpublicinformation about the Company, and should describe
fully those circumstances to the Compliance Officer. The requestor should also indicatewhether he, she or they have
effected any non-exempt a€ceopposite-waya€ transactions within the past six (6) months, and shouldbe prepared to
report the proposed Trade on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with
SECRule 144 and file a Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale.A Ifa Covered Person seeks pre-clearance and
permission to engage in the Trade is denied, then such Covered Person must refrain from initiatingany Trade in
Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of the restriction. All Trades in Company Securities are
prohibitedunless and until the Covered Person receives written confirmation from the Compliance Officer that the
proposed Trade has been approved.Approvals are effective for two (2) business days after receipt of written approval (if
such approval is not otherwise rescinded) andthe Trade must be completed within this period (or a new approval must
be obtained). Once the Blackout Period begins (or upon the notificationof an event-specific Trading restriction (an
a€eEvent-Specific Blackouta€)), any approval for Trades that were previouslypre-cleared are automatically rescinded
and all pending pre-clearance requests are automatically deemed denied.A Thecash exercise of stock options to
purchase shares of common stock of the Company or the purchase from the Company of common stock ofthe Company
is not subject to the pre-clearance procedures outlined above, but the shares so acquired may not be sold except during
anopen trading window, after authorization from the Compliance Officer has been received, and after all other
requirements of this Policyhave been satisfied. Accordingly, the immediate sale of some or all of the shares obtained
from the exercise of stock options througha broker is covered by these pre-clearance procedures.A Evenif you receive
pre-clearance and it is during an open trading window, neither you, your Family Members, nor your Controlled
Entitiesshould Trade in Company Securities if you are in possession of material nonpublic information about the



Company.A A A A Rule10b5-1 PlansA Rule10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, provides an
affirmative defense, under certain conditions, against allegationsthat a Covered Person Traded in Company Securities
while aware of material nonpublic information. The SEC has established regulationsunder which individuals may Trade
securities in compliance with a€ceinsider tradinga€ laws (more specifically, Rule 10b5-1 ofthe Securities Exchange Act
of 1934) if such Trades are made pursuant to (i) a binding contract to Trade the security, (ii) instructionsprovided to a
third person to execute the Trade for the instructing person or entitya€™s account or (iii) an adopted written planfor
trading securities (a 4€0e10b5-1 Plana€); provided, that at the time of the decision to enter into such contract orplan or
decision to provide such instructions, you were not aware of material, nonpublic information. In addition to other
requirementsset forth in such regulations, the contract, instructions or plan must (a) specify the amount, price and date
of the Trade or (b) providea written formula or algorithm or computer program for determining the amounts, prices and
dates of such Trades. In addition, a 10b5-1Plan must not permit you to exercise any subsequent influence over how,
when, or whether to effect Trades; provided, in addition, thatany other person who, pursuant to the 10b5-1 Plan, did
exercise such influence must not have been aware of the material nonpublic informationwhen doing

so.A CoveredPersons are prohibited from entering into a 10b5-1 Plan during (i) a Blackout Period, (ii) when they are
subject to an Event-SpecificBlackout, or (iii) at any time when they are aware of material nonpublic information about
the Company. Pre-clearance is requiredprior to entry into a 10b5-1 Plan, termination of a 10b5-1 Plan, or a modification
of a 10b5-1 Plan. A copy of a 10b5-1 Plan must besubmitted to the Compliance Officer for review and pre-clearance at
least three (3) business days prior to the anticipated entry intoa 10b5-1 Plan. The 10b5-1 Plan document must be
reviewed and pre-cleared by the Compliance Officer prior to being signed by the CoveredPerson. The Company has
discretion to refuse approval of any 10b5-1 Plan document for any reason and need not provide any reason forsuch
refusal to the Covered Person. Once a 10b5-1 Plan is adopted, the Covered Person must not exercise any influence over
the amountof securities to be Traded, the price at which they are to be Traded, or the date of any Trade. The 10b5-1
Plan must include a cooling-offperiod consistent with applicable SEC rules before Trading can commence.A Post-
TradeReportingA Youare required to report to the Compliance Officer any Trade, including gifts, in Company Securities
by you, your Family Members or ControlledEntities no later than the first (1st) business day following the date of your
Trade. Each report you make to the ComplianceOfficer should include the date of the Trade, quantity, price, and broker
through which the Trade was effected. This reporting requirementmay be satisfied by sending (or having your broker
send) duplicate confirmations of Trades to the Compliance Officer if such informationis received by the required

date.A Theforegoing reporting requirement is designed to help monitor compliance with the pre-clearance procedures
set forth herein and to enablethe Company to help those persons who are subject to reporting obligations under Section
16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 tocomply with such reporting obligations. Each officer and director, however,
and not the Company, is personally responsible for ensuringthat his, her or their Trades do not give rise to a€ceshort
swinga€ liability under Section 16 and for filing timely reportsof Trades with the SEC.A theConsequences of Violations
of this PolicyA Tradingof Company Securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of
material nonpublic information to others whothen Trade in Company Securities, is prohibited by the federal and state
laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by theSEC, U.S. Attorneys, and state enforcement authorities as
well as the laws of foreign jurisdictions. Punishment for insider trading violationsis severe, and could include significant
fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities concentrate their efforts on the individualswho Trade, or who
Tip information to others who Trade, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on companies and
othera€cecontrolling personsa€ (such as directors, officers and other supervisory personnel) if they fail to take
reasonable stepsto prevent insider trading by company personnel.A A A A Aperson can be subject to some or all of the
penalties below even if he, she or they do not personally benefit from the violation (i.e.,if the violation was one for
tipping information). Penalties include:A 4—jail sentences of up to 20 years;A—disgorgement of profits or losses
avoided;a—civil fines for the person who committed the violation of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided,
whether or not the person actually benefited;4—criminal fines (no matter how small the profit) up to $5 million (for
individuals) and up to $25 million (for entities); anda—fines for the employer or other controlling person, such as a
supervisor, of up to the greater of $1 million or three times the amount of the profit gained or loss avoided.A Inaddition,
your failure to comply with this Policy may subject you to Company-imposed sanctions, including dismissal for cause,
whetheror not your failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even an SEC
investigation that doesnot result in prosecution, can tarnish your reputation and irreparably damage a career.A Post-
TerminationTransactionsA ThisPolicy continues to apply to any and all Trades in Company Securities following
termination of your employment or other services to theCompany. If you are in possession of material nonpublic
information when you are terminated, you must not Trade in Company Securitiesuntil that information has become
public or is no longer material. The pre-clearance procedures specified above, however, will ceaseto apply to Trades in
Company Securities upon the expiration of any Blackout Period applicable at the time of the termination of

service.A Reportingof ViolationsA Ifyou know or have reason to believe that this Policy has been or may be violated, you
should bring the actual or potential violation tothe attention of the Compliance Officer.A TrainingsRegarding Insider
TradingA Alldirectors, officers and employees of the Company are required to annually attend trainings hosted or
recommended by the Company regardingthe laws governing insider trading.A Modificationsand WaiversA TheCompany
reserves the right to amend or modify the procedures set forth herein at any time. Waiver of any provision of this Policy
ina specific instance may be authorized in writing by the Compliance Officer (or his, her or their

designee).A QuestionsA Ifyou have any questions regarding this Policy, you should contact the Compliance Officer.A A
A A ACKNOWLEDGMENTAND CERTIFICATIONA Theundersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of this Policy. The
undersigned has read and understands (or has had explained) this Policyand agrees to be governed by this Policy at all
times and the confidentiality of nonpublic information.A Inaddition, the undersigned hereby acknowledges and
understands that, if the undersigned is an employee of the Company including one ofits subsidiaries, the
undersigneda€™s failure to comply in all respects with the Companya€™s policies, including the Policy setforth herein,
is a basis for termination for cause of the undersigneda€™s employment from the Company and any subsidiary
thereofto which the undersigneda€ ™s employment now relates or may in the future relate.A Signature: A A A A A A
A A A Printed Name: A A Date: A A Thisdocument states a policy of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. and is not
intended to be regarded as the rendering of legal advice.This policy statement is intended to promote compliance with
existing law and is not intended to create or impose liability that wouldnot exist in the absence of the policy
statement.A A A A AnnexAA SONNETBIOTHERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC.TRADEPRE-CLEARANCE REQUEST
FORMA NOTE:All Trades in Company Securities must be pre-cleared by the Compliance Officer designated in the
PolicyA , or such other person whois designated by the Board of Directors of the Company. A request for pre-clearance



should be submitted to the Compliance Officer atleast two (2) business days in advance of the proposed Trade. All
Trades in Company Securities are prohibited unless and until you receivewritten confirmation from the Compliance
Officer that your proposed Trade has been approved. Approvals are effective for two (2) businessdays after receipt of
written approval (if such approval is not otherwise rescinded) and the Trade must be completed within this period(or a
new approval must be obtained). If you received pre-clearance for a Trade, and then a Blackout Period, or an Event-
Specific Blackout,begins before the Trade is executed, all of your previously pre-cleared Trades are automatically
rescinded and all pre-clearance requestsare deemed revoked and retroactively A

denied.A Name: A Dateof Request: A Pleasecheck one of the
below boxes and fill in the share numbers:A &~ I hereby request clearance to purchase up to shares of
common stock of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.A &~ I hereby request clearance to sell up to

sharesof common stock of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc.A Bysigning below, the undersigned acknowledges and
agrees that (i) the undersigned has received a copy of the Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings,Inc. Insider Trading Policy
dated December 16, 2024 (the &€cePolicya€), (ii) the undersigned will comply with theterms of the Policy, (iii) the
undersigned is not in possession of material non-public information concerning the Company, and (iv) theundersigned
will comply with all applicable laws in connection with the proposed Trade, including, but not limited to, insider
tradinglaws.A Signature: A A A Ifyour Trade request is approved, you will receive a copy of this form countersigned by
the Compliance Officer.A Accepted and Approved: A A A A A Jay Cross, Compliance Officer A A Date of Approval:
A A A A A A Exhibit23.1A Consentof Independent Registered Public Accounting FirmA Weconsent to the
incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-283490, 333-238542, 333-256183, 333-264832 and
333-274122)on Form S-8, (Nos. 333-276250, 333-280705, 333-237795, 333-237354, 333-252049 and 333-267171) on
Form S-3, and(Nos. 333-279095, 333-282850, 333-258092, 333-269307, 333-273516 and 333-274581) on Form S-1 of
our report dated December 17, 2024, withrespect to the consolidated financial statements of Sonnet BioTherapeutics
Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries.A /s/KPMG LLPA Philadelphia,PennsylvaniaDecember 17, 2024A A A

A Exhibit31.1A CERTIFICATIONOF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICERPURSUANTTO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002A I,Pankaj Mohan certify that:A 1.1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (the &€ceRegistranta€) for the period ended September 30, 2024;A 2.Based on
my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessaryto make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to theperiod covered by this report;A 3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all materialrespects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in thisreport;A 4.The

Registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange ActRules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:A a.designed such disclosure
controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by otherswithin those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;A b.designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
underour supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statementsfor external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;A c.evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrantd€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusionsabout the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation;andA d.disclosed in this report any change in the Registranta€™s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registranta€ ™ smost recent fiscal quarter (the
Registranta€™ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; andA 5.The Registranta€™s other
certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financialreporting,
to the Registranta€™ s auditors and the audit committee of the Registranta€™ s board of directors (or persons
performingthe equivalent functions):A a.all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation
of internal control over financial reporting which arereasonably likely to adversely affect the Registranta€™ s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information;andA b.any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registranta€™ sinternal control over financial
reporting. A Date: December 17, 2024 A A /s/ Pankaj Mohan A Pankaj Mohan A President and Chief Executive Officer
A (Principal Executive Officer) A A A A Exhibit31.2A CERTIFICATIONOF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL
OFFICERPURSUANTTO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002A I,Jay Cross certify that:A 1.1 have
reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings, Inc. (the 4€eRegistranta€) for the
period ended September 30, 2024;A 2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessaryto make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to theperiod covered by this report;A 3.Based on my
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
materialrespects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in thisreport;A 4.The Registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing
and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange ActRules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant
and have:A a.designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision,to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by otherswithin those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;A b.designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed underour supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;A c.evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrantd€™s disclosure controls and
procedures and presented in this report our conclusionsabout the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;andA d.disclosed in this report
any change in the Registranta€™ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

Registranta€ ™ smost recent fiscal quarter (the Registranta€™s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that




has materially affected,or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registranta€™s internal control over financial
reporting; andA 5.The Registranta€™s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financialreporting, to the Registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of the

Registranta€™ s board of directors (or persons performingthe equivalent functions):A a.all significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which arereasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;andA b.any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the A
Registranta€™ sinternal control over financial reporting.A Date: December 17, 2024 A A /s/ Jay Cross A Jay Cross A
Chief Financial Officer A (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) A A A

A Exhibit32.1A CERTIFICATIONPURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,ASADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002A Inconnection with the Annual Report of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc. (the 4€ceCompanya€) on Form 10-K for the year endedSeptember 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the a€eReporta€), I, Pankaj Mohan,President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9060f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that, to my know]edge:A (1) The Report fully complies with tpe requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and A (2) The information contained in the Report
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A Date:December 17, 2024A /s/ Pankaj Mohan A Pankaj Mohan A President and Chief Executive Officer A (Principal
Executive Officer) A A Theforegoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is
not being filed as part of the Report oras a separate disclosure document.A A A

A Exhibit32.2A CERTIFICATIONPURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,ASADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002A Inconnection with the Annual Report of Sonnet BioTherapeutics Holdings,
Inc. (the 4€ceCompanya€) on Form 10-K for the year endedSeptember 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the a€eReportd€), I, Jay Cross,Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyAct of 2002, that,
to my knowledge:A (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and A (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. A Date:December 17, 2024A /s/ Jay
Cross A Jay Cross A Chief Financial Officer A (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) A A Theforegoing
certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report
oras a separate disclosure document.A A A



